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Under this Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the ñProgrammeò), FORTIS BANK NV/SA (ñFortis Bankò) and BNP PARIBAS FORTIS FUNDING (ñBP2Fò) and together with Fortis Bank, the ñIssuersò and 

each an ñIssuerò) may, from time to time, issue Euro Medium Term Notes (the ñNotesò), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives and subject to obtaining any appropriate approval or 

other consents. Notes issued by BP2F will be guaranteed on a subordinated or unsubordinated basis by Fortis Bank NV/SA (the ñGuarantorò). 
  

This base prospectus (the ñBase Prospectusò) prepared in connection with the Programme constitutes two base prospectuses, the Fortis Bank Base Prospectus and the BP2F Base Prospectus (each as defined below) 

and each a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 November 2003 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered 

to the public or admitted to trading (the ñProspectus Directiveò), as revised, supplemented or amended from time to time by the Issuers and the Guarantor. As a result, Notes issued under the Programme may be offered 

to the public or/and admitted to trading on a regulated market as more fully described below and subject to the relevant implementing measures of the Prospectus Directive in the relevant Member State. The term 

"regulated market" as used herein shall mean a regulated market as defined in Directive 2004/39/EC on markets in financial instruments.  

The Fortis Bank base prospectus (the ñFortis Bank Base Prospectusò) will comprise this Base Prospectus with the exception of (a) the information in the sections entitled ñDescription of BNP Paribas Fortis 

Funding.ò, ñRisk Factors ï Additional Investment Considerations Relating to the Business of BP2Fò and ñDescription of the Guaranteeò and (b) the audited annual financial statements of BP2F for the financial years 

ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2011. The BP2F base prospectus (the ñBP2F Base Prospectusò) will comprise this Base Prospectus. 

Notes issued by BP2F under the Programme may be in the form of the new global note, the format for international debt securities which will ensure compliance of the Notes with European Central Bank (ñECBò) 

Standard 3 eligibility criteria for use as collateral in Eurosystem monetary operations. Notes issued by Fortis Bank will not be issued in the form of a new global note but, being deposited with the National Bank of 

Belgium, will be eligible for use as collateral in Eurosystem monetary operations. 

A general description of the Programme can be found on page 49. The aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding from time to time will not exceed EUR 30,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies, 

as calculated by reference to the aggregate principal amount of the Notes), subject to any duly authorised increase. The Notes will be issued on a continuous basis. The Notes may bear interest at a fixed or floating rate, 

on a variable coupon amount basis or any combination of those or may be issued on a fully discounted basis and not bear interest, and the amount payable on the redemption of Notes may be fixed or variable. The Notes 

may also be redeemed by delivery of shares, bonds or loans. Notes will be issued in series (each a ñSeriesò) having one or more issue dates and the same maturity date (if any), bearing interest (if any) on the same basis 

and at the same rate and on terms otherwise identical. The length of interest periods, and the rate of interest in respect thereof, may differ from the length and the rate of interest in respect of subsequent or, as the case 

may be, preceding interest periods. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a ñTrancheò) on different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche will be set forth in a set of final terms to this Base Prospectus 

which is the final terms document substantially in the relevant form set out in the section entitled ñForm of Final Termsò on page 256 which will be completed at the time of the agreement to issue each Tranche of 

Notes and which will constitute final terms for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive (the ñFinal Termsò). 

The Issuers may redeem the Notes if certain changes in Luxembourg or Belgian taxation law occur or, if the Final Terms issued in respect of any Series so provides, in the circumstances set out in it. An Issuer and, if 

applicable, the Guarantor, may agree with any Dealer (as defined below) that Notes may be issued, offered to the public, and/or admitted to trading on a regulated market in a form not contemplated by the Terms and 

Conditions of the Notes described in this Base Prospectus, in which event a supplement to the Base Prospectus, or, if appropriate, a Drawdown Prospectus (as defined below), will be submitted for approval to the 

relevant competent authority and will be made available. 

In the case of a Drawdown Prospectus, each reference in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the relevant Final Terms shall be read and construed as a reference to such information 

being specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise. 

Moreover, an investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. Prospective investors and purchasers should consider the investment considerations set forth in the section entitled ñRisk 

Factorsò on page 11 as well as the selling restrictions as set out in the section entitled ñPlan of Distributionò on page 246. 

This Programme has been rated by Moodyôs Investors Service Limited (ñMoodyôsò), Standard & Poorôs Ratings Services, a Division of the McGraw Hill Companies Inc. (ñS&Pò), and Fitch Ratings Ltd. (ñFitchò). 

Each of Moodyôs, S&P and Fitch is a credit rating agency established and operating in the European Community and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 

September 2009 on credit rating agencies (the "CRA Regulation") as set out within the list of registered CRAs dated 6 January 2012 by ESMA (http://esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs). 

http://esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs
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Nevertheless, some Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme may be assigned a specific rating that will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to the Programme. A security rating is not a 

recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the relevant assigning rating agency. 

This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Luxembourg Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the ñCSSFò), which is the Luxembourg competent authority for the purpose of the Prospectus 

Directive, as a base prospectus issued in compliance with the Prospectus Directive, the Luxembourg Law dated 10 July 2005 on prospectuses for securities, and any other relevant implementing legislation in 

Luxembourg for the purpose of giving information with regard to the issue of Notes under the Programme during the period of twelve months after the date of publication of this Base Prospectus. Consequently Notes 

issued under the Programme may be offered to the public, in accordance with the requirements of the Prospectus Directive. By approving a prospectus, the CSSF shall give no undertaking as to the economical and 

financial soundness of the operation or the quality or solvency of the Issuers. 

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to listing on the official list and to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock 

Exchange (Bourse de Luxembourg) (the "Luxembourg Regulated Market"), the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Amsterdam (the "Amsterdam Regulated Market") and the regulated market of NYSE Euronext 

Brussels (the "Brussels Regulated Market") under the Prospectus Directive during the period of 12 months after the date of publication of this Base Prospectus. The Luxembourg Regulated Market, the Amsterdam 

Regulated Market and the Brussels Regulated Market are each a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2004/39/EC. Application may also be made for Notes under the Programme to be admitted to trading on 

another regulated market or on the Euro MTF during the period of 12 months after the date of publication of this Base Prospectus.  The Programme also permits Notes to be issued on the basis that they will not be 

admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system or to be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by such other or further listing authorities, stock 

exchanges and/or quotation systems as may be agreed with the Issuers. 

The CSSF has been requested to provide the Belgian Financial Services and Markets Authority (the ñBelgian FSMAò), the Dutch Autoriteit Financiële Markten ("AFM "), the French Autorité des marchés financiers 

("AMF "), the Austrian Österreichische Finanzmarktaufsicht ("FMA ") and the German Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht ("BaFin")  (in their respective capacities as the relevant host Member Statesô (as 

defined below) competent authority for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive) with a certificate of approval attesting that the Base Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus Directive.  

The CSSF may be requested, from time to time, to provide certificates of approval attesting that the Base Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus Directive to the competent authorities (for 

the purposes of the Prospectus Directive) of other European Economic Area Member States. 

The Notes will be offered by the Issuers through Fortis Bank NV/SA (the ñDealerò, which expression shall include any additional dealers appointed under this Programme from time to time, for a specific Tranche of 

Notes or on an ongoing basis, and details of which in relation to each Tranche will be set forth in the relevant Final Terms). The Issuers or the Dealers may reject any offer as a whole or, subject to the terms of such 

offer, in part. Dealers may also purchase Notes on their own behalf. An issue of Notes may also be underwritten by two or more Dealers on a several basis only or on a joint and several basis. For further details, please 

refer to the section entitled ñPlan of Distributionò on page 246. 

Each Tranche of Notes issued by BP2F in bearer form will, unless otherwise provided on the Final Terms, initially be represented by a temporary global Note which will be deposited on the issue date with (i) a 

common depositary or a common safekeeper (as the case may be) on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., (ñEuroclearò) and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme, Luxembourg (ñClearstream, Luxembourgò) 

and/or any other relevant clearing system. Interests in temporary global Notes will be exchangeable for interests in permanent global Notes (together with any temporary global Note, the ñGlobal Notesò) or, if so 

provided in the relevant temporary Global Note, for definitive Notes in bearer or registered form after the date falling 40 days after the completion of distribution of the relevant Tranche upon certification as to non-U.S. 

beneficial ownership in the manner and upon compliance with the procedures described under ñSummary of Provisions relating to Global Notesò. Interests in a permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for definitive 

Notes in bearer form or registered form, in each case as described in the section entitled ñSummary of Provisions relating to Global Notesò on page 198. 

In the case of Notes issued by Fortis Bank and if so provided in the relevant Final Terms, the Notes will be represented by a permanent Global Note which will be deposited on or about the issue date with the 

National Bank of Belgium or any successor thereto (the ñNBBò) as operator of the X/N System or its custodian. 

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) below may apply, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented 

the Prospectus Directive (each a ñRelevant Member Stateò) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a 

prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus as 

completed by Final Terms in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises from the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor or the Dealers to publish a prospectus pursuant 

to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer has been approved by the 

competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State and (in either case) 

published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by Final Terms which specify that offers may be made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) 

of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State and such offer is made on or prior to the date specified for such purpose in such prospectus or Final Terms as applicable. Except to the extent sub-paragraph 

(ii)  above may apply, neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the Dealers have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or the 

Dealers to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer. 

In the case of Junior Subordinated Notes issued by BP2F only, payments of principal and interest are conditional upon the Guarantor being solvent at the time of payment and in the event of the winding-up of the 

BP2F, the Guarantor shall become the principal debtor and the Noteholders shall cease to have any rights or claims against BP2F, as more fully described in the section entitled ñTerms and Conditions of the Notes ï 

Status and Guaranteeò and ñTerms and Conditions of the Notes ï Events of Defaultò. 

Arranger and Dealer for the Programme 
Fortis Bank 

 

This Base Prospectus is dated 13 June 2012 
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Any Notes issued under the Programme are issued subject to the provisions set out herein. This does not affect any Notes 

already issued or any Notes issued after the date of this Base Prospectus and forming a single Series with Notes issued prior to the 

date of this Base Prospectus. This Base Prospectus should be read in conjunction with any supplement hereto and any other 

documents or information incorporated herein by reference and, in relation to any Tranche of Notes which is subject to Final 

Terms, must be read and construed together with the relevant Final Terms. 

Responsibility Statement 

This Base Prospectus has been prepared for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuers, the Guarantor, their 

respective subsidiaries (if any) and the Notes. 

This Base Prospectus may only be used for the purposes for which it has been published.  Subject as provided in the applicable 

Final Terms, the only persons authorised to use this Base Prospectus (and, therefore, acting in association with the Issuer) in 

connection with an offer of Notes before or after the relevant Issue Date are the persons named in and authorised pursuant to the 

applicable Final Terms as the relevant Dealer or the Managers, or as the financial intermediaries in relation to the Notes, as the 

case may be. 

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus. Each of 

the Issuers and the Guarantor declare that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case the information 

contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import. 

Notice 

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor confirms that this Base Prospectus contains all such information as investors and their 

professional advisers would reasonably require, and reasonably expect to find, for the purpose of making an informed assessment 

of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses, and prospects of the Issuers and, where applicable, the 

Guarantor and of the rights attaching to the relevant Notes. 

Each Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes will be issued on the terms set out herein in the section entitled ñTerms and 

Conditions of the Notesò (the ñConditionsò) as supplemented by a document specific to such Tranche called Final Terms or in a 

separate prospectus specific to such Tranche (the ñDrawdown Prospectusò) as described in the section entitled ñFinal Terms and 

Drawdown Prospectusesò below. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus, each reference 

in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the relevant Final Terms shall be read and construed as a 

reference to such information being specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the context requires 

otherwise. 

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed with any supplement hereto and with any other documents or information 

incorporated by reference herein and in relation to any Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes which is the subject of Final Terms, 

must be read and construed together with the relevant Final Terms. 

Neither of the Issuers nor the Guarantor have authorised the making or provision of any representation or information 

regarding the Issuers, the Guarantor or the Notes other than as contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or 

any Final Terms or as approved for such purpose by the Issuers or the Guarantor. Any such representation or information should 

not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuers, the Guarantor or any Dealer. 

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note shall, in any 

circumstances, create any implication that the information contained in this Base Prospectus is true subsequent to the date hereof 

or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that there has been no adverse change or any 

event reasonably likely to involve any adverse change in the prospects or financial or trading position of the Issuers or the 

Guarantor since the date thereof or, if later, the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently supplemented, or 

that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is 

supplied, or if different, the date indicated on the same. 

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering or sale of Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. 

Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus comes are required by the Issuers, the Guarantor and the Dealers to inform 
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themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States 

Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and include Notes in bearer form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to 

certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. For a description of 

certain restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Base Prospectus please refer to the section entitled 

ñPlan of Distributionò of this Base Prospectus. 

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms constitutes an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the 

Guarantor or the Dealers to subscribe for or purchase, any Notes and should not be considered as a recommendation by the 

Issuers, the Guarantor, the Dealers or any of them that the recipient of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms should subscribe 

for or purchase any Notes. Each recipient of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms shall be taken to have made its own 

investigation and appraisal of the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuers and the Guarantor. 

Neither the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates have authorised the whole or any part of this Base Prospectus, nor 

separately verified all the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus and none of them makes any 

representation, express or implied, or accepts any responsibility, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the 

information (including that incorporated by reference) in this Base Prospectus. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other 

financial statements incorporated by reference are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not 

be considered as a recommendation by the Issuers, the Guarantor or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus 

or any other financial statements incorporated by reference should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should 

determine for itself the relevance of the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus and in the 

relevant Final Terms, and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the 

Dealers undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuers or the Guarantor during the life of the arrangements 

contemplated by this Base Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information (including 

that incorporated by reference) coming to the attention of any of the Dealers. 

The Stabilising Manager, named in the relevant Final Terms, shall comply with all relevant laws, regulations and directives. 

References in the next paragraph to ñthis issueò are to each Series in relation to which a Stabilising Manager is appointed. 

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the Stabilising Manager(s) 

(or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in the applicable Final Terms may over-allot Notes (provided that, 

in the case of any Tranche of Notes to be admitted to listing on the official list and to trading on the Luxembourg Regulated 

Market and/or any other regulated market as defined in Directive 2004/39/EC, the aggregate principal amount of Notes allotted 

does not exceed 105 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the relevant Tranche) or effect transactions with a view to 

supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no 

assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of a Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabilisation 

action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of 

the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 

30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche 

of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment shall be conducted in accordance with all applicable laws and rules. 

In this Base Prospectus, references to a ñMember Stateò are references to a Member State of the European Economic Area, 

references to ñEURò, ñeuroò or ñúò refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European Economic and 

Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended, references to ñGBPò or ñÃò refer to 

Sterling, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, references to ñdollarsò, ñU.S. dollarsò, ñU.S.$ò, ñUSDò or ñ$ò refer to 

United States dollars, references to ñJapanese Yenò, ñYenò, ñJPYò and ñÔò refer to the lawful currency of Japan, references to 

ñSwiss Francsò and ñCHFò refer to the lawful currency of Switzerland, references to ñRoublesò refer to the lawful currency of 

the Russian Federation, references to ñS$ò refer to the lawful currency of Singapore, and references to ñbillionsò are to thousand 

millions. 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 5 - 70-40523764 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

 

Page 

 
  
  
  

Summary ...................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Risk Factors ................................................................................................................................................................ 11 

Information Incorporated by Reference .................................................................................................................... 46 

Final Terms and Drawdown Prospectus .................................................................................................................... 48 

General Description of the Programme ..................................................................................................................... 49 

Terms and Conditions of the Notes ........................................................................................................................... 55 

Part 1: Medium Term Notes ...................................................................................................................................... 55 

Part 2: Index Linked Notes ......................................................................................................................................... 80 

Part 2A: Single Index .................................................................................................................................................. 80 

Part 2B: Basket Of Indices .......................................................................................................................................... 86 

Part 3: Equity Linked Notes ........................................................................................................................................ 93 

Part 3A: Single Share .................................................................................................................................................. 93 

Part 3B: Basket Of Shares ......................................................................................................................................... 103 

Part 4: Fund-Linked Notes ........................................................................................................................................ 113 

Part 4A: Single Fund ................................................................................................................................................. 113 

Part 4B: Fund-Linked Notes (Basket of Fund Interests) ........................................................................................... 129 

PART 5: Credit-Linked Notes .................................................................................................................................... 146 

Use of Proceeds ....................................................................................................................................................... 197 

Summary of Provisions Relating to Global Notes .................................................................................................... 198 

Description of Fortis Bank NV/SA ............................................................................................................................ 203 

Description of BNP Paribas Fortis Funding .............................................................................................................. 216 

Description of the Guarantee .................................................................................................................................. 223 

Taxation .................................................................................................................................................................... 229 

Plan of Distribution .................................................................................................................................................. 246 

Form of Final Terms ................................................................................................................................................. 256 

General Information ................................................................................................................................................ 286 

  

 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 6 - 70-40523764 

 

SUMMARY  

This summary must be read as an introduction to the Base Prospectus of the Issuers dated 13 June 2012 that 

constitutes a base prospectus for Fortis Bank and a base prospectus for BP2F for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the 

Prospectus Directive. Any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on a consideration of this Base Prospectus as a 

whole, including the documents incorporated by reference. Such Base Prospectus is available for viewing on the website of 

the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) (in the case of Notes listed on the Official List and admitted to trading 

on the Luxembourg Regulated Market) and on the website of Fortis Bank (www.bnpparibasfortis.com) (under the heading 

"Investors") ). Following the implementation of the relevant provisions of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) 

in each Member State of the European Economic Area no civil liability will attach to the persons taking responsibility for 

the Base Prospectus (the ñResponsible Personsò) in any such Member State solely on the basis of this summary, including 

any translation thereof, unless it is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this 

Base Prospectus. Where a claim relating to information contained in this Base Prospectus is brought before a court in a 

Member State of the European Economic Area, the plaintiff may, under the national legislation of the Member State where 

the claim is brought, be required to bear the costs of translating the Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings are 

initiated.  

1.  Key Information About the Notes Issued Under the Programme 

The Notes may be issued by BNP Paribas Fortis Funding (ñBP2Fò) or by Fortis Bank NV/SA (ñFortis Bankò) (each an 

ñIssuerò and together the ñIssuersò). Each of the Notes issued by BP2F have the benefit of a guarantee from Fortis Bank (the 

ñGuarantorò). The guarantee relating to such Notes may be a senior guarantee, a senior subordinated guarantee or a junior 

subordinated guarantee. 

The Arranger of this Euro Medium Term Note Programme is Fortis Bank. The Fiscal Agent, Principal Paying Agent and 

Luxembourg Listing Agent is BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch. 

The Issuers may, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, from time to time issue Notes 

denominated in any currency. The aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed EUR 

30,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies), subject to any duly authorised increase. 

The Notes may be issued in bearer form or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F only) in registered form, with or without 

interest coupons, and in certain circumstances, (in the case of Notes issued by Fortis Bank only) in denominations of not less than 

EUR 1,000 (or nearly equivalent in another currency). 

The Notes may be issued as unsubordinated obligations, senior subordinated obligations or junior subordinated obligations of 

the relevant Issuer. The Notes will have the benefit of the events of default set out in the section entitled ñTerms and Conditions of 

the Notesò. 

The aggregate principal amount, any interest rate or interest calculation, the issue price, maturity, redemption amount, optional 

redemption and any other terms and conditions not contained herein with respect to each Tranche of Notes will be established at 

the time of issuance and set forth in the relevant Final Terms. 

The Notes and all matters arising from or connected with the Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance 

with, English law except for (i) in the case of Notes issued by BP2F, Conditions 3(b) and 3(c) which shall be governed by, and 

construed in accordance with Luxembourg law and Conditions 3(e) and 3(f) which shall be governed by, and construed in 

accordance with Belgian law and (ii) in the case of Notes issued by Fortis Bank, Conditions 3(b), 3(c) and 10(a)(ii) which shall be 

governed by, and construed in accordance with Belgian law. Guarantees to which Condition 3(d) applies are governed by, and 

shall be construed in accordance with English law. Guarantees to which Condition 3(e) applies and Guarantees to which Condition 

3(f) applies are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the Kingdom of Belgium. 

A general description of the Programme can be found on page 49 of the Base Prospectus. 
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The distribution of the Base Prospectus and the offering or sale of Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. 

Prospective investors and purchasers should consider the selling restrictions as set out in the section entitled ñPlan of Distributionò 

on page 246 of this Base Prospectus. 

2.  The Issuers and the Guarantor 

2.1 Fortis Bank 

Fortis Bank is a public company with limited liability (naamloze vennootschap/société anonyme) under Belgian law. The 

registered office of the company is located at 1000 Brussels, Montagne du Parc 3, where its headquarters are based. 

In Belgium, Fortis Bank is subject to the supervision by both the prudential authority NBB (National Bank of Belgium) and the 

market authority FSMA (Financial Services and Markets Authority).  

Following the implementation on May 13, 2009 of a protocole dôaccord dated October 10, 2008 (and as further amended) 

between BNP Paribas, the Belgian Federal Public Service for Participations and Investments ("SFPI/FPIM "), Fortis Holding and 

Fortis Bank (the "Protocole dôAccord"), Fortis Bank is owned at 74.93 per cent. by BNP Paribas and at 25 per cent. by the 

Belgian State, through the SFPI/FPIM. 

Since May 14, 2009, for its retail, private and commercial activities in the Belgian market, Fortis Bank operates under the 

commercial name of BNP Paribas Fortis. 

Fortis Bank offers a comprehensive package of financial services through its own channels and via other partners to private, 

professional and wealthy clients in the Belgian market, as well as in Poland and Turkey.  Fortis Bank employs 33,850 people. 

Fortis Bank has built up a strong presence in the retail and private banking market, operating through a variety of distribution 

channels. In Belgium, the company delivers universal banking and insurance services and solutions to its retail customers. In other 

countries, the product offer is tailored to specific customer segments.  

Private Banking offers integrated and international asset and liability management solutions to high net worth individuals in 

Belgium, their businesses and their advisers.  

Fortis Bank also offers financial services to companies and institutional clients and provides integrated solutions to enterprise 

and entrepreneur. Corporate and Public Banking fulfils the financial needs of corporate and midcap enterprises, public entities and 

local authorities through an integrated international network of business centres. 

In May 2009, Fortis Bank joined the BNP Paribas group (the ñBNP Paribas Groupò) (of which BNP Paribas is the parent 

company), a European leader in banking and financial services. 

2.2 BP2F 

BP2F has its registered office at 67, Boulevard Grande-Duchesse Charlotte, L-1331 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of 

Luxembourg. It is owned at 99.995 per cent. by Fortis Bank and acts as a financing vehicle for the Fortis Bank group. 

BP2Fôs main object is to grant loans to Fortis Bank and its affiliates. In order to implement its main objective, BP2F may issue 

bonds or similar securities, raise loans, with or without a guarantee and in general have recourse to any sources of finance. BP2F 

can carry out any operation it perceives as being necessary to the accomplishment and development of its business, whilst staying 

within the limits of the Luxembourg law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies (as amended). 

The long-term debt of BP2F is admitted to listing on the official list and trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market and/or 

on NYSE Euronext Amsterdam and/or on NYSE Euronext Brussels. The debt securities are sold to investors all over the world but 

within the scope of any applicable selling restrictions. 
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3.  Risk Factors 

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. Prospective investors and purchasers should in 

particular and among other things consider the investment considerations set forth in the sections entitled ñRisk Factorsò 

on page 11 of the Base Prospectus. 

3.1 Risk Factors relating to the Issuers and the Guarantor  

The following is a summary of some of the investment considerations relating to the business of Fortis Bank: 

 (a) As part of the financial services industry, Fortis Bank faces substantial competitive pressures which could adversely affect 

the results of its operations. 

 (b) Difficult market and economic conditions including, without limitation, concerns regarding the ability of certain countries 

in the eurozone to refinance their debt obligations, could in the future have a material adverse effect on the operating 

environment for financial institutions and hence on Fortis Bankôs financial condition, results of operations and cost of risk. 

 (c) Legislative action and regulatory measures taken in response to the global financial crisis may materially impact Fortis 

Bank and the financial and economic environment in which it operates. 

 (d) Fortis Bankôs access to and cost of funding could be adversely affected by a further deterioration of the euro zone 

sovereign debt crisis, worsening economic conditions, a ratings downgrade or other factors. 

 

(e) The soundness and conduct of other financial institutions and market participants could adversely affect Fortis Bank. 

 (f) Fortis Bank may incur significant losses on its trading and investment activities due to market fluctuations and volatility. 

 (g)  A substantial increase in new provisions or a shortfall in the level of previously recorded provisions could adversely affect 

Fortis Bankôs results of operations and financial condition. 

 (h) Fortis Bank may generate lower revenues from brokerage and other commission and fee-based businesses during market 

downturns. 

 (i) Fortis Bankôs hedging strategies may not prevent losses. 

 (j) Significant interest rate changes could adversely affect Fortis Bankôs net banking income or profitability. 

 (k) Fortis Bankôs business is exposed to liquidity risks.  

 (l) Fortis Bankôs risk management methods may leave Fortis Bank exposed to unidentified, unanticipated or incorrectly 

quantified risks, which could lead to material losses or material increases in liabilities. 

 (m) While each of Fortis Bankôs businesses manages its operational risks, these risks remain an inherent part of all of the 

Fortis Bankôs businesses. 

 (n) Fortis Bank has significant counterparty risk exposure and exposure to systemic risks. 

 (o) Fortis Bankôs competitive position could be harmed if its reputation is damaged. 

 (p) Catastrophic events, terrorist attacks and other acts of war could have a negative impact on Fortis Bankôs business and 

results. 

 (q) An interruption in or a breach of Fortis  Bankôs information systems may result in lost business and other losses. 

 (r) Fortis Bank's results of operations can be adversely affected by significant adverse regulatory developments. 
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 (s) There can be no assurance that legislative action and other measures taken by governments and regulators in Belgium and 

Luxembourg or globally will fully and promptly stabilize the financial system, and Fortis Bank may be adversely affected 

by measures taken in connection with such legislation. 

 (t) Fortis Bankôs business is sensitive to changes in governmental policies and international econimic conditions that could 

limit its operating flexibility and reduce its profitability. 

 (u) Litigation or other proceedings or actions may adversely affect Fortis Bankôs business, financial condition and results of 

operations. 

 (v) Uncertainty linked to fair value accounting and use of estimates by Fortis Bank. 

 (w) Fortis Bank faces various risks and uncertainties connected to the integration of the operations of Fortis Bank following its 

acquisition by BNP Paribas.  

 (x) A deterioration of the credit rating of BNP Paribas of its debt quality could adversely affect Fortis Bank. 

The following is a summary of some of the additional investment considerations relating to the business of BP2F: 

(a) The primary credit protection for notes issued by BP2F will derive from the guarantees given by Fortis Bank. 

(b) BP2Fôs ability to make payments under the Notes may depend on the operating performance of those companies to which 

the proceeds of the Notes are lent. 

(c) The financial condition of the operating companies to which the proceeds of the Notes are lent may deteriorate and this 

may affect BP2Fôs ability to make payments under the Notes which it issues. 

(d) During deteriorating or challenging economic conditions BP2F may find it difficult to raise further finance. 

(e) Transfer pricing tax rules in Luxembourg generate additional costs, which may vary from time to time. 

3.2 Risk Factors relating to Notes issued under the Programme 

The following is a summary of some of the investment considerations relating to Notes issued under the Programme: 

(a) An investment in Notes linked to an index, exchange rate, reference rates, shares, securities, or any other underlying 

entails significant risks not associated with a similar investment in fixed or floating rate debt securities. Notes may not be a 

suitable investment for all investors. 

(b) Application has been made for the Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to listing on the official list and to 

trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market. However, Notes may also be issued under the Programme whereby they 

will be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by other stock exchanges, listing authorities and/or quotation systems, 

or may be issued on the basis that they will not be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, 

stock exchange and/or quotation system. 

(c) The Notes shall be accepted for clearing through one or more clearing systems as specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

Global Notes are to be held by or on behalf of the clearing systems and therefore, potential investors will have to rely on 

the clearing system procedures for transfer, payment and communications with the Issuer. 

(d) The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity at par or at such other Redemption Amount as may be specified in the 

relevant Final Terms. 

(e) There is at the time of issue no active trading market for the Notes unless, in the case of any particular Tranche, such 

Tranche is to be consolidated with and form a single series with a Tranche of Notes which is already issued and for which 

there is such a market. 
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(f) The market value of the Notes may be volatile and may be adversely affected by a number of factors. 

(g) Fortis Bank Group and its affiliates are subject to various potential conflicts of interest in respect of the Notes, including in 

relation to its hedging and market-making activities which could have an adverse effect on the Notes. 

(h) The Calculation Agent has substantial discretion to make adjustments to the Notes and may be subject to conflicts of 

interest in exercising this discretion. 

 (i) Purchasing the Notes as a hedge may not be effective and holders do not have any ownership interest in the Underlying; 

 (j) The actual yield received by an investor may be reduced from the stated yield by transaction costs and taxes that may be 

payable by investors. 

(k) The Notes may be terminated prior to their stated maturity date in certain circumstances. 

(l) The Notes may be subject to risks associated with Notes held in global form, settlement risk, risks associated with nominee 

arrangements and with trading in clearing systems. 

(m) Credit ratings may not reflect all risks. 

(n) Payments on the Notes may be subject to U.S. withholding under FATCA. 

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes:  

(o) Structured Notes in general are subject to specific risks more specifically Inversely-Linked Notes, Absolute Performance 

Notes, Swing Notes, Path Dependent Notes, Range Notes, Trigger Notes, Notes subject to optional redemption by the 

Issuer and Notes redeemed by physical delivery. 

(p) Specific risks may apply to Reverse Convertible Notes, Partly-Paid Notes, Inverse Floating Rate Notes, Variable Rate 

Notes, Fixed to Floating Rate Notes, Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium, Floating Rate Notes, Zero coupon 

Notes and Subordinated Notes. 

(q) There are additional risks relating to Notes with interest and/or principal linked to one or more types of Underlying such as 

Index-Linked Notes, Dual Currency Notes, Inflation-Linked Notes, Equity-Linked Notes, Fund-Linked Notes and Credit-

Linked Notes. 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 11 - 70-40523764 

 

RISK FACTORS  

The Issuers believe that the following factors may affect the value of the Notes issued under the Programme. Most of these 

factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuers are not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of 

any such contingency occurring. 

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the 

Programme are also described below. 

The Issuers believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under 

the Programme, but the inability of the relevant Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any 

Notes may occur for other reasons and the Issuers do not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any 

Notes are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base Prospectus 

and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision. 

Before making an investment decision with respect to any Notes issued under the Programme, prospective investors should 

consult their own stockbroker, bank manager, lawyer, accountant or other financial, legal and tax advisers and carefully review 

the risks entailed by an investment in the Notes and consider such an investment decision in the light of the prospective investorôs 

personal circumstances. 

Words and expressions defined elsewhere in this Base Prospectus shall have the same meaning in this section. 

Risk factors relating to the Issuers and the Guarantor  

1.  Risk factors relating to the business of Fortis Bank NV/SA 

 (a) As part of the financial services industry, Fortis Bank faces substantial competitive pressure which could adversely affect 

the results of operations. 

There is substantial competition in Belgium, Luxembourg and the other regions in which Fortis Bank carries on business for 

the types of banking, asset management and insurance, and other products and services Fortis Bank provides. 

Such competition is most pronounced in the core Benelux markets of Fortis Bank where Fortis Bank faces competition from 

companies such as KBC Bank, ING Group, Belfius and BIL. As a result, Fortis Bankôs strategy is to maintain customer loyalty and 

retention, which can be influenced by a number of factors, including service levels, the prices and attributes of products and 

services, financial strength and actions taken by competitors. If Fortis Bank is unable to compete with attractive product and 

service offerings that are profitable, Fortis Bank may lose market share or incur losses on some or all of Fortis Bankôs activities. 

Competitive pressures could result in increased pricing pressures on a number of Fortis Bankôs products and services, 

particularly as competitors seek to win market share, and may harm Fortis Bankôs ability to maintain or increase profitability. 

 (b) Difficult market and economic conditions could in the future have a material adverse effect on the operating environment 

for financial institutions and hence on Fortis Bankôs financial condition, results of operations and cost of risk. 

As part of a global financial institution, the Fortis Bankôs businesses can be highly sensitive to changes in the financial markets 

and economic conditions generally in Europe (especially in Belgium and Luxembourg). Fortis Bank could be confronted with a 

significant deterioration of market and economic conditions resulting, among other things, from crises affecting capital, credit or 

liquidity markets, regional or global recessions, sharp fluctuations in commodity prices (including oil), currency exchange rates or 

interest rates, inflation or deflation, sovereign debt rating downgrades, restructurings or defaults, or adverse geopolitical events 

(such as natural disasters, acts of terrorism and military conflicts). Market disruptions and sharp economic downturns, which may 

develop quickly and hence not be fully hedged, could affect the operating environment for financial institutions for short or 

extended periods and have a material adverse effect on Fortis Bankôs financial condition, results of operations or cost of risk.  

European markets have recently experienced significant disruptions as a result of concerns regarding the ability of certain 

countries in the eurozone to refinance their debt obligations and of the financial assistance provided to certain European Union 
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member states. These disruptions have contributed to increased volatility in the exchange rate of the euro against other major 

currencies, affected the levels of stock market indices and created uncertainty regarding the near-term economic prospects of 

countries in the European Union as well as the quality of bank loans to sovereign debtors in the European Union.  

Fortis Bank holds and in the future may hold substantial portfolios of sovereign debt obligations issued by the governments of, 

and has and may in the future have substantial amounts of loans outstanding to borrowers in, certain of the countries that have been 

most significantly affected by the current crisis. Fortis Bank is also active in the interbank financial market and as a result, is 

indirectly exposed to risks relating to the sovereign debt held by the financial institutions with which it does business. More 

generally, the sovereign debt crisis has had, and may continue to have, an indirect impact on financial markets and, increasingly, 

economies, in Europe and worldwide, and therefore on the environment in which Fortis Bank operates. 

If economic conditions in Europe or in other parts of the world were to deteriorate, particularly in the context of an 

exacerbation of the sovereign debt crisis (such as a sovereign default), Fortis Bank could be required to record additional 

impairment charges on its sovereign debt holdings or record further losses on sales thereof, and the resulting market and political 

disruptions could have a significant adverse impact on the credit quality of Fortis Bankôs customers and financial institution 

counterparties, on market parameters such as interest rates, currency exchange rates and stock market indices, and on Fortis Bankôs 

liquidity and ability to raise financing on acceptable terms. 

 (c) Legislative action and regulatory measures taken in response to the global financial crisis may materially impact Fortis 

Bank and the financial and economic environment in which it operates 

Legislation and regulations recently have been enacted or proposed with a view to introduce a number of changes, some 
permanent, in the global financial environment. While the objective of these new measures is to avoid a recurrence of the financial 
crisis, the impact of the new measures could be to change substantially the environment in which Fortis Bank and other financial 
institutions operate.  

The new measures that have been or may be proposed and adopted include more stringent capital and liquidity requirements, 
taxes on financial transactions, restrictions and taxes on employee compensation over specified levels, limits on the types of 
activities that commercial banks can undertake (particularly proprietary trading and, potentially, investment banking activities 
more generally), restrictions on certain types of financial products such as derivatives, and the creation of new and strengthened 
regulatory bodies. 

Certain measures that have been or are in the process of being adopted, and will be applicable to Fortis Bank, prudential 
frameworks such as Basel 3 and Capital Requirements Directive 4, the requirements in relation to them announced by the 
European Banking Authority, will increase Fortis Bankôs regulatory capital and liquidity requirements and may limit its 
permissible leverage. Fortis Bank has announced certain measures in relation to these requirements; ensuring and maintaining 
compliance with them in the future may lead Fortis Bank to take various measures, such as further reducing its balance sheet or 
bolstering its capital base, that could weigh on its profitability and adversely affect its financial condition and results of operations.  

Some of the new regulatory measures are proposals that are under discussion and that are subject to revision, and would in any 
case need adaptation to each countryôs regulatory framework by national regulators. As a result, it is not possible to predict which 
proposed new measures will ultimately be adopted, what their final form will be or what impact they will have on Fortis Bank. 
Depending on the nature and scope of regulatory measures that are ultimately adopted, they could (in addition to having the effects 
noted above) affect Fortis Bankôs ability to conduct (or impose limitations on) certain types of activities, its ability to attract and 
retain talent (particularly in its investment banking and financing businesses) and more generally its competitiveness and 
profitability, which would in turn have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and results of operations. Finally, it is 
difficult to predict what impact these measures might have on financial market conditions. It is conceivable that they could trigger 
or exacerbate future financial crises, particularly if they required significantly enhanced disclosure of risks or problem loan 
exposures that could be misinterpreted by investors, hence heightening their concern about banks and therefore restricting their 
sources of financing. 

 (d) Fortis Bankôs access to and cost of funding could be adversely affected by a further deterioration of the euro zone 

sovereign debt crisis, worsening economic conditions, a ratings downgrade or other factors. 

The Euro-zone sovereign debt crisis as well as the general macroeconomic environment adversely affected the availability and 

cost of funding for European banks in 2011. This was due to several factors, including a sharp increase in the perception of bank 
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credit risk due to their exposure to sovereign debt in particular, credit rating downgrades of sovereigns and of banks, and debt 

market speculation. Many European banks, including Fortis Bank, experienced restricted access to wholesale debt markets and to 

the interbank market, as well as a general increase in their cost of funding. Accordingly, reliance on direct borrowing from the 

European Central Bank increased substantially. Were such adverse credit market conditions to persist for an extended period or 

worsen due to factors relating to the economy or the financial industry in general or to Fortis Bank in particular (such as ratings 

downgrades), the effect on the liquidity of the European financial sector in general and Fortis Bank in particular could be 

materially adverse. 

 (e) The soundness and conduct of other financial institutions and market participants could adversely affect Fortis Bank. 

Fortis Bankôs ability to engage in funding, investment and derivative transactions could be adversely affected by the soundness 
of other financial institutions or market participants. Financial services institutions are interrelated as a result of trading, clearing, 
counterparty, funding or other relationships. As a result, defaults, or even rumors or questions about, one or more financial services 
institutions, or the financial services industry generally, have led to market-wide liquidity problems and could lead to further losses 
or defaults. Fortis Bank has exposure to many counterparties in the financial industry, directly and indirectly, including brokers and 
dealers, commercial banks, investment banks, mutual and hedge funds, and other institutional clients, with which it regularly 
executes transactions. Many of these transactions expose Fortis Bank to credit risk in the event of default of a group of Fortis 
Bankôs counterparties or clients. In addition, Fortis Bankôs credit risk may be exacerbated when the collateral held by it cannot be 
realized upon or is liquidated at prices not sufficient to recover the full amount of the loan or derivative exposure due to Fortis 
Bank. 

In addition, misconduct by financial market participants can have a material adverse effect on financial institutions due to the 
interrelated nature of the financial markets. There can be no assurance that any losses resulting from the risks summarized above 
will not materially and adversely affect Fortis Bankôs results of operations. 

 (f) Fortis Bank may incur significant losses on its trading and investment activities due to market fluctuations and volatility. 

Fortis Bank maintains trading and investment positions in the debt, currency, commodity and equity markets, and in private 
equity, property and other assets. These positions could be adversely affected by volatility in financial and other markets, i.e. the 
degree to which prices fluctuate over a particular period in a particular market, regardless of market levels. The capital and credit 
markets have been experiencing unprecedented volatility and disruption since mid-2007 and particularly since the bankruptcy 
filing of Lehman Brothers in mid-September 2008. As a result Fortis Bank incurred significant losses on its trading and investment 
activities. There can be no assurance that this extreme volatility and market disruption will not re-occur in the near future but Fortis 
Bank has taken action, where possible, to decrease the trading exposure and to decrease the size of the potential losses on its 
trading activities as a result. Volatility trends (or other trends in parameters that are sensitive to market fluctuations such as 
correlations) that prove substantially different from Fortis Bankôs expectations may lead to losses relating to a broad range of other 
trading and hedging products Fortis Bank uses, including swaps, forwards and futures, options and structured products. 

To the extent that Fortis Bank owns assets, or has net long positions, in any of those markets, a market downturn could result 

in losses from a decline in the value of its positions. Conversely, to the extent that Fortis Bank has sold assets that it does not own, 

or has net short positions, in any of those markets, a market upturn could expose it to potentially unlimited losses as it attempts to 

cover its net short positions by acquiring assets in a rising market. Fortis Bank may from time to time have a trading strategy of 

holding a long position in one asset and a short position in another, from which it expects to earn net revenues based on changes in 

the relative value of the two assets. If, however, the relative value of the two assets changes in a direction or manner that Fortis 

Bank did not anticipate or against which it is not hedged, Fortis Bank might realize a loss on those paired positions. Such losses, if 

significant, could adversely affect Fortis Bankôs results of operations and financial condition. 

 (g) A substantial increase in new provisions or a shortfall in the level of previously recorded provisions could adversely affect 

Fortis Bankôs results of operations and financial condition. 

In connection with its lending activities, Fortis Bank regularly establishes provisions for loan losses. Fortis Bankôs overall level 

of provisions is based on its assessment of prior loss experience, the volume and type of lending being conducted, industry 

standards, past due loans, economic conditions and other factors related to the recoverability of various loans. Although Fortis 

Bank uses its best efforts to establish an appropriate level of provisions, its lending businesses may have to increase their 

provisions for loan losses substantially in the future as a result of increases in non-performing assets or for other reasons, as was 

the case in the second half of 2008 and throughout 2009. Any significant increase in provisions for loan losses or a significant 
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change in Fortis Bankôs estimate of the risk of loss inherent in its portfolio of non-impaired loans, as well as the occurrence of loan 

losses in excess of the related provisions, could have a material adverse effect on Fortis Bankôs results of operations and financial 

condition. 

 (h) Fortis Bank may generate lower revenues from brokerage and other commission and fee-based businesses during market 

downturns. 

Market downturn can  lead to a decline in the volume of transactions that Fortis Bank executes for its clients and, therefore, to 

a decline in its net banking income from this activity. In addition, because the fees that Fortis Bank charges for managing its 

clientsô portfolios are in many cases based on the value or on the performance of those portfolios, a market downturn that reduces 

the value of its clientsô portfolios or increases the amount of withdrawals would reduce the revenues Fortis Bank receives from its 

asset management, equity derivatives and private banking businesses. Even in the absence of a market downturn, below-market 

performance by Fortis Bankôs mutual funds may result in increased withdrawals and reduced inflows, which would reduce the 

revenues Fortis Bank receives from its asset management business. 

 (i) Fortis Bankôs hedging strategies may not prevent losses. 

If any of the variety of instruments and strategies that Fortis Bank uses to hedge its exposure to various types of risk in its 

businesses is not effective, Fortis Bank may incur losses. Many of its strategies are based on historical trading patterns and 

correlations. However, the hedging strategies may not protect against all future risks or may not be fully effective in mitigating 

Fortis Bankôs risk exposure in all market environments or against all types of risk in the future. Unexpected market developments 

may also reduce the effectiveness of Fortis Bankôs hedging strategies. In addition, the manner in which gains and losses resulting 

from certain ineffective hedges are recorded may result in additional volatility in Fortis Bankôs reported earnings. 

 (j) Significant interest rate changes could adversely affect Fortis Bankôs net banking income or profitability. 

The amount of net interest income earned by Fortis Bank during any given period significantly affects its overall net banking 

income and profitability for that period. Interest rates are sensitive to many factors beyond Fortis Bankôs control. Changes in 

market interest rates could affect the interest rates charged on interest-earning assets differently than the interest rates paid on 

interest-bearing liabilities. Any adverse change in the yield curve could cause a decline in Fortis Bankôs net interest income from 

its lending activities. In addition, maturity mismatches and increases in the interest rates relating to Fortis Bankôs short-term 

financing may adversely affect Fortis Bankôs profitability. 

 (k) Fortis Bankôs business is exposed to liquidity risks. 

Liquidity risk is inherent in much of Fortis Bankôs business. Each asset purchased and liability sold has liquidity characteristics 

that are unique. Some liabilities are surrenderable while some assets, such as privately placed loans, mortgage loans, real estate and 

limited partnership interests, have low liquidity. Additionally, protracted market declines can reduce the liquidity of markets that 

are typically liquid. If, in the course of Fortis Bankôs banking, insurance or other activities, Fortis Bank requires significant 

amounts of cash on short notice in excess of anticipated cash requirements, Fortis Bank may have difficulty selling these 

investments at attractive prices, in a timely manner, or both. 

Any downgrade in Fortis Bankôs ratings may increase Fortis Bankôs borrowing costs, limit Fortis Bankôs access to capital 

markets and adversely affect Fortis Bankôs ability to sell or market Fortis Bankôs products, engage in business transactions ð 

particularly longer term and derivatives transactions ð and retain Fortis Bankôs current customers. This, in turn, could reduce 

Fortis Bankôs liquidity and have an adverse effect on Fortis Bankôs operating results and financial condition. 

 (l) Fortis Bankôs risk management methods may leave Fortis Bank exposed to unidentified, unanticipated or incorrectly 

quantified risks, which could lead to material losses or material increases in liabilities. 

Fortis Bank devotes significant resources to developing risk management policies, procedures and assessment methods for 

Fortis Bankôs businesses. Fortis Bank uses a sophisticated value-at-risk (VaR) model, duration analysis and sensitivity analysis as 

well as other risk assessment methods. Nonetheless, Fortis Bankôs risk management techniques and strategies may not be fully 

effective in mitigating Fortis Bankôs risk exposure in all economic market environments or against all types of risk, including risks 

that Fortis Bank fails to identify or anticipate. Some of Fortis Bankôs qualitative tools and metrics for managing risk are based 
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upon use of observed historical market behaviour. Fortis Bank applies statistical and other tools to these observations to arrive at 

quantifications of risk exposures. These tools and metrics may fail to predict future risk exposures. Fortis Bank losses thus could 

be significantly greater than Fortis Bankôs measures would indicate. In addition, Fortis Bankôs quantified modelling does not take 

all risks into account. Fortis Bank more qualitative approach to managing risks takes into account a broader set of risks, but is less 

precise than quantified modelling and could prove insufficient. Unanticipated or incorrectly quantified risk exposures could result 

in material losses in Fortis Bankôs banking, asset management and insurance businesses. 

 (m)  While each of Fortis Bankôs businesses manages its operational risks, these risks remain an inherent part of all of Fortis 

Bankôs businesses. 

Fortis Bank is subject to operational risk because of the uncertainty inherent in all business undertakings and decisions. This 

risk can be broken down into business risk and event risk. 

 

Business risk is the risk of óbeing in businessô, which affects any enterprise, financial or non-financial. It is the risk of loss due 

to changes in the competitive environment that damage the businessôs franchise or operating economics. Typically, the fluctuation 

originates with variations in volume, pricing or margins against a fixed cost base. Business risk is thus mostly externally driven (by 

regulatory, fiscal, market and or competition changes, as well as strategic, reputation risks and other related risks). 

Event risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events. 

This definition includes legal and compliance risk. Event risk is often internally driven (internal and external fraud involving 

employees, clients, products and business practices, as well as technological and infrastructure failures and other related 

malfunctions) and can be limited through management processes and controls. 

Fortis Bank attempts to keep these risks at appropriate levels by maintaining a sound and well controlled environment in light 

of the characteristics its business, the markets and the regulatory environments in which Fortis Bank operates. While these control 

measures mitigate operational risks they do not eliminate them. 

 (n) Fortis Bank has significant counterparty risk exposure and exposure to systemic risks. 

Fortis Bankôs business is subject to general credit risks, including credit risks of borrowers and other counterparties. Third 

parties that owe Fortis Bank money, securities or other assets may not pay or perform under their obligations. These parties include 

borrowers under loans made, the issuers whose securities Fortis Bank holds, customers, trading counterparties, counterparties 

under swaps and credit and other derivative contracts, clearing agents, exchanges, clearing houses and other financial 

intermediaries. These parties may default on their obligations to Fortis Bank due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, downturns in the 

economy or real estate values, operational failure or other reasons. 

In addition, in the past, the general credit environment has been adversely affected by significant instances of fraud. Concerns 

about, or a default by, one institution could lead to significant liquidity problems, losses or defaults by other institutions because 

the commercial soundness of many financial institutions may be closely related as a result of their credit, trading, clearing or other 

relationships. This risk is sometimes referred to as ñsystemic riskò and may adversely affect financial intermediaries, such as 

clearing agencies, clearing houses, banks, securities firms and exchanges with whom Fortis Bank interacts on a daily basis, and 

could have an adverse effect on Fortis Bankôs business. 

 (o) Fortis Bankôs competitive position could be harmed if its reputation is damaged. 

In the highly competitive environment arising from globalization and convergence in the financial services industry, a 

reputation for financial strength and integrity is critical to Fortis Bankôs ability to attract and retain customers. Fortis Bankôs 

reputation could be harmed if it fails to adequately promote and market its products and services. Fortis Bankôs reputation could 

also be damaged if, as it increases its client base and the scale of its businesses, Fortis Bankôs comprehensive procedures and 

controls dealing with conflicts of interest fail, or appear to fail, to address conflicts of interest properly. At the same time, Fortis 

Bankôs reputation could be damaged also by other compliance risks, including but not limited to, employee misconduct, 

misconduct by market participants or funds to which Fortis Bank is exposed, a decline in, a restatement of, or corrections to its 

financial results, as well as any adverse legal or regulatory action. The loss of business that could result from damage to Fortis 

Bankôs reputation could have an adverse effect on its results of operations and financial position. 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 16 - 70-40523764 

 

 (p) Catastrophic events, terrorist attacks and other acts of war could have a negative impact on Fortis Bankôs business and 

results. 

Catastrophic events, terrorist attacks, other acts of war or hostility, and responses to those acts may create economic and 

political uncertainties, which could have a negative impact on economic conditions in the regions in which Fortis Bank operates 

and, more specifically, on Fortis Bankôs business and results in ways that cannot be predicted. 

 (q) An interruption in or a breach of Fortis  Bankôs information systems may result in lost business and other losses. 

As with most other banks, Fortis Bank relies heavily on communications and information systems to conduct its business. Any 

failure or interruption or breach in security of these systems could result in failures or interruptions in Fortis Bankôs customer 

relationship management, general ledger, deposit, servicing and/or loan organization systems. Fortis Bank cannot provide 

assurances that such failures or interruptions will not occur or, if they do occur, that they will be adequately addressed. The 

occurrence of any failures or interruptions could have an adverse effect on Fortis Bankôs financial condition and results of 

operations. 

 (r) Fortis Bank results of operations can be adversely affected by significant adverse regulatory developments. 

The Issuers conducts its businesses subject to ongoing regulation and associated regulatory risks, including the effects of 

changes in the laws, regulations, policies and interpretations in the European Union and the other regions in which Fortis Bank 

does business. The timing and form of future changes in regulation are unpredictable and beyond Fortis Bankôs control, and 

changes made could materially adversely affect Fortis Bankôs business, the products and services Fortis Bank offers or the value of 

its assets or extent of its liabilities. 

 (s) There can be no assurance that legislative action and other measures taken by governments and regulators in Belgium or 

Luxembourg or globally will fully and promptly stabilize the financial system, and Fortis Bank may be adversely affected by 

measures taken in connection with such legislation. 

In response to the financial crisis, governments and regulators have enacted legislation and taken measures to help stabilize the 

financial system and increase the flow of credit to the economy. These measures have included the purchase or guarantee of 

distressed or illiquid assets; recapitalization through the purchase of securities issued by financial institutions (including ordinary 

shares, preferred shares, or hybrid or quasi-equity instruments); government guarantees of debt issued by financial institutions; and 

government-sponsored mergers and acquisitions of and divestments by financial institutions. In Belgium, the government has 

given its guarantee or has granted a liquidity facility to financial institutions. There can be no assurance as to the actual impact that 

these measures and related actions will have on the financial markets generally and on Fortis Bank specifically. 

In addition to the measures described above, which were taken or proposed specifically in response to the financial crisis, 

Fortis Bank is exposed to the risk of legislative or regulatory changes in all of the countries in which it operates, including, but not 

limited to, the following: 

¶ monetary, interest rate and other policies of central banks and regulatory authorities; 

¶ general changes in government or regulatory policy that may significantly influence investorsô decisions, particularly in 

the markets in which Fortis Bank operates; 

¶ general changes in regulatory requirements applicable to the financial industry, such as rules relating to applicable capital 

adequacy and liquidity frameworks; 

¶ changes in tax legislation or the application thereof; 

¶ changes in the competitive environment and prices; 

¶ changes in accounting norms; 

¶ changes in financial reporting requirements; and 
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¶ expropriation, nationalization, confiscation of assets and changes in legislation relating to foreign ownership. 

These changes, the scope and implications of which are highly unpredictable, could substantially affect Fortis Bank, and have 

an adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 (t) Fortis Bankôs business is sensitive to changes in governmental policies and international economic conditions that could 

limit its operating flexibility  and reduce its profitability. 

Fortis Bankôs business and results of operations may be materially affected by market fluctuations and by economic factors, 

including governmental, political and economic developments relating to inflation, interest rates, taxation, currency fluctuations, 

trade regulations, social or political instability, diplomatic relations, international conflicts and other factors that could limit its 

operating flexibility and reduce Fortis Bankôs profitability. In addition, results of operations in the past have been, and in the future 

may continue to be, materially affected by many factors of a global nature, including: political, economic and market conditions; 

the availability and cost of capital; the level and volatility of equity prices, commodity prices and interest rates; currency values 

and other market indices; technological changes and events; the availability and cost of credit; inflation; and investor sentiment and 

confidence in the financial markets. In addition, there has been a heightened level of legislative, legal and regulatory developments 

related to the financial services industry in the European Union and elsewhere that potentially could increase costs, thereby 

affecting Fortis Bankôs future results of operations. Such factors may also have an impact on Fortis Bankôs ability to achieve its 

strategic objectives. 

In addition, there is continuing political and regulatory scrutiny of the operation of the retail banking and consumer credit 

industries in Belgium and elsewhere. The nature and impact of future changes in policies and regulatory action are not predictable 

and are beyond Fortis Bankôs control but could have an adverse impact on Fortis Bankôs businesses and earnings. 

In the European Union, these regulatory actions included an inquiry into retail banking in all of the Member States by the 

European Commissionôs Directorate General for Competition. The inquiry examined retail banking in Europe generally. On 

31 January 2007, the European Commission announced that barriers to competition in certain areas of retail banking, payment 

cards and payment systems in the European Union had been identified. The European Commission indicated that it will use its 

powers to address these barriers and will encourage national competition authorities to enforce European and national competition 

laws where appropriate. Any action taken by the European Commission and national competition authorities could have an adverse 

impact on Fortis Bankôs payment cards and payment systems businesses and on its retail banking activities in the European Union 

countries in which it operates. 

 (u) Litigation or other proceedings or actions may adversely affect Fortis Bankôs business, financial condition and results of 

operations. 

The Issuersô business is subject to the risk of litigation by customers, employees, shareholders or others through private 

actions, class actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory actions or other litigation. The outcome of litigation or similar 

proceedings or actions is difficult to assess or quantify. Plaintiffs in these types of actions may seek recovery of large or 

indeterminate amounts or other remedies that may affect Fortis Bankôs ability to conduct business, and the magnitude of the 

potential loss relating to such actions may remain unknown for substantial periods of time. The cost to defend future actions may 

be significant. There may also be adverse publicity associated with litigation that could decrease customer acceptance of Fortis 

Bankôs services, regardless of whether the allegations are valid or whether Fortis Bank is ultimately found liable. As a result, the 

possibility can not be ruled out that the outcome of such litigations or investigations may adversely affect Fortis Bankôs business, 

financial condition and results of operations. 

In particular, several shareholders and groups representing shareholders of Ageas SA/NV and Ageas N.V. (previously 

respectively Fortis SA/NV and Fortis N.V.) have initiated proceedings in Belgium and in The Netherlands against, amongst others, 

Fortis Bank SA/NV in connection with the restructuring of Fortis at the end of September and beginning of October 2008, and in 

connection with the rights issue of Fortis in September and October 2007. Moreover, other litigations or investigations are pending 

to which Fortis Bank is not a party at this moment. It cannot be ruled out that the outcome of such litigations and/or investigations 

might also have an impact on Fortis Bank. In a press release dated 8 June 2012, Deminor, representing several shareholders of 

Ageas SA/NV and Ageas N.V., announced that it will on behalf of such shareholders sue both Merrill Lynch and Fortis Bank 

before the Commercial court of Brussels in connection with their role as financial advisors to Ageas in its rights issue of September 

2007 to finance the acquisition of ABN AMRO, alleging that the banks have breached their duties as financial advisors. In 
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addition, the Commercial court of Brussels in a verdict rendered on 23 March 2012 has rejected all claims of the MCS Noteholders 

against Ageas, Fortis Bank and others. An appeal against this judgement is expected 

 (v) Uncertainty linked to fair value accounting and use of estimates 

According to Fortis Bankôs valuation rules financial assets can be carried at fair value through profit or loss. Concerned assets 

include financial assets held for trading, including non-cash flow hedging derivatives, and financial assets that Fortis Bank has 

irrevocably designated to be held at fair value through profit or loss (ófair value optionô). The fair value of a financial instrument is 

determined based on quoted prices in active markets. When quoted prices in active markets are not available, valuation techniques 

are used. Valuation techniques make maximum use of market inputs but are affected by the assumptions used, including discount 

rates and estimates of future cash flows, and take into consideration, where applicable, model risks. Such techniques include 

market prices of comparable investments, discounted cash flows, option pricing models and market multiples valuation methods. 

In the rare case where it is not possible to determine the fair value of a financial instrument, it is accounted for at cost. The effect of 

changing the assumptions for those financial instruments for which the fair values are measured using valuation techniques that are 

determined in full or in part on assumptions that are not supported by observable inputs may have a material adverse effect on 

Fortis Bankôs earnings. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain accounting estimates and 

assumptions. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying these accounting policies. Actual 

results may differ from those estimates and judgmental decisions. 

Financial institutions may use different accounting categorizations for the same or similar financial assets due to their different 

intentions regarding those assets. In determining fair value of financial instruments, different financial institutions may use 

different valuation techniques, assumptions, judgments and estimates which may result in lower or higher fair values for such 

financial instruments. 

 (w) Risks and uncertainties connected to the integration of the operations of Fortis Bank following its acquisition by BNP 

Paribas 

The integration of the operations of Fortis Bank following its acquisition by BNP Paribas is ongoing. It is a process that is 

complex, expensive and that presents a number of challenges for the management of Fortis Bank and BNP Paribas, its staff and 

potentially its customers. Although the integration is currently achieving all the foreseen objectives, the integration may not be able 

to achieve the anticipated synergies or other expected benefits of the acquisition. The expected business growth opportunities, 

revenue benefits, cost synergies and other operational efficiencies and other benefits expected from the integration may not 

develop or may be delayed. To the extent that higher integration costs are incurred or lower revenue benefits or fewer cost savings 

are achieved than was expected, BNP Paribasô and Fortis Bankôs operating results, financial conditions and prospects and share 

price may suffer. 

While the legal acquisition has already occurred, the technical integration of Fortis Bank and BNP Paribas, including the 

integration of the banksô IT systems and other processes is ongoing and is expected to take some time to be fully completed. The 

potential for future growth of the integrated entity will depend on a number of factors, including the ability of Fortis Bank and 

BNP Paribas to integrate the operating systems, achieve synergies in a timely manner and control costs. 

Challenges may also be faced with respect to obtaining required approvals of various regulatory agencies, retaining key 

employees, redeploying resources in different areas of operations to improve efficiency, unifying financial reporting and internal 

control procedures, minimising diversion of management attention from ongoing business concerns, addressing differences 

between Fortis Bankôs and BNP Paribasô business culture, processes, controls, procedures, systems, accounting practices and 

implementation of accounting standards. 

 (x) A deterioration of the credit rating of BNP Paribas of its debt quality could adversely affect Fortis Bank 

As part of the BNP Paribas Group, Fortis Bank can be highly sensitive to a downgrade by rating agencies of the rating of the 

parent company of the BNP Paribas Group or a deterioration of its debt quality. BNP Paribas took control of Fortis Bank on 12 

May 2009 and subsequently increased its stake in Fortis Bank to 74.93 per cent. BNP Paribas is now the major shareholder of 

Fortis Bank.  
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2. Additional investment considerations relating to the business of BP2F 

All of the risks listed and described above under the section "Risk Factors relating to the business of Fortis Bank" above are 

applicable to BP2F but must be considered in the light of the specific activities, businesses, location, jurisdiction, applicable laws, 

composition of assets and liabilities, finances, and other relevant features of BP2F. 

The risk factors relating specifically to BP2F must then be read and construed accordingly. 

The primary credit protection for Notes issued by BP2F will derive from the guarantees given by Fortis Bank. The principal 

activity of BP2F is to act as a financing vehicle for Fortis Bank and its affiliates by issuing bonds (including Notes under the 

programme) or similar securities, raising loans with or without a guarantee and in general having recourse to any sources of 

finance. The Notes issued by BP2F have the benefit of guarantees issued by Fortis Bank so the primary credit protection for 

investors will derive from these guarantees. 

When BP2F issues structured notes, it hedges the structured components with Fortis Bank and BNP Paribas (London or/and 

Paris). BP2F's ability to make payments of the structured coupon may depend on the ability of these hedging counterparties to 

meet their obligations under the hedge. 

BP2Fôs ability to make payments under the Notes may depend on the operating performance of those companies to which the 

proceeds of the Notes are lent. BP2F will lend the proceeds from the Notes to certain of Fortis Bank groupôs operating companies. 

Investors are, therefore, also exposed to the operating performance of the operating companies to which BP2F may lend proceeds, 

whose performance could change over time. 

The financial condition of the operating companies to which the proceeds of the Notes are lent may deteriorate and this may 

affect BP2Fôs ability to make payments under the Notes as BP2Fôs ability to meet its obligations will be reliant on the financial 

condition of the operating companies, if such operating companiesô financial condition were to deteriorate and to the extent that 

funds are not available under the guarantees, BP2F and holders of notes could suffer direct and materially adverse consequences, 

including insufficient coupon payments on the Notes and, if a liquidation or bankruptcy of BP2F were to occur, loss by holders of 

all or part of their investment. 

BP2F is not an operating company so has limited capital resources. Its financial condition therefore depends on its ability to 

issue securities and otherwise raise finance. A deteriorating or challenging economic situation can make it more difficult for BP2F 

to raise finance, or may make the terms on which it is able to do so more onerous, which could have a negative effect on BP2Fôs 

financial condition. 

Transfer pricing tax rules in Luxembourg generate additional costs, which may vary from time to time 

On 8 April 2011 the Luxembourg direct tax authorities issued Circular L.I.R. 164/2 bis (Circular Bis), which clarifies the 

conditions for application of their previous circular dated 28 January 2011 relating to the tax treatment of intra-group financing 

transactions (Advance Pricing Arrangements (APA)).  

According to Luxembourg and OECD principles, any related party transaction should be performed at armôs length. In other 

words, remuneration should be in line with what independent third parties would have charged in a similar transaction. These 

transfer pricing principles apply to intra-group financings (being defined as any financing granted between companies that 

participate directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of each other or have a common person doing so).  

 

Furthermore, it states that from 1 January 2012, the tax authorities will no longer be bound by APAs obtained before 28 January 

2011 in relation to intra-group financing transactions which would otherwise fall within the scope of the Initial Circular.  

In order to file an APA with the Luxembourg tax authorities, any Luxembourg tax resident company should meet the following 

conditions: 

1. Substance requirement  

¶ majority of its directors should be Luxembourg resident or having more than 50% of their professional income taxable in 

Luxembourg (taxable in Luxembourg according to article 10-1 to 4 of the Luxembourg Income Tax Law); 
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¶ local directors should have the appropriate expertise and the capacity to bind the company by their decisions; 

¶ its key management decisions should be taken in Luxembourg; 

¶ appropriate staff should reflect the nature and volume of activity performed in Luxembourg; and 

¶ a bank account should be opened with a Luxembourg resident bank or a Luxembourg branch of a resident bank. 

2. Minimum capital requirement  

The financing activity will have to be adequately equity financed. According to the circular, equity financing is deemed 

sufficient if it is at least equal to 1% of the financing or EUR 2 million. 

3. Transfer pricing  analysis  

Normally a transfer pricing analysis has to cover all the investment and take into account the particular risks linked to each of 

them.  

The filing of the APA will thus generate additional costs, which may vary from time to time. 

Investors are cautioned that all such risks should be borne in mind and analysed when investing in the securities of BP2F. 

Risk factors that may affect the Notes generally 

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors 

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In 

particular, each potential investor should: 

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing 

in the Notes and the information contained, or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus, the Final Terms relating 

to the Notes or any applicable supplement; 

(ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial 

situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio; 

(iii)  have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes 

with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is 

different from the potential investorôs currency; 

(iv)  understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial 

markets; and 

(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate, 

foreign exchange, financial markets and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable 

risks. 

Some Notes are sophisticated financial instruments. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are sophisticated 

financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform 

under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential 

investorôs overall investment portfolio. 

None of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Dealer or any of their respective affiliates is responsible for the lawfulness or suitability of 

the acquisition of any Notes by a prospective investor or purchaser of Notes or for compliance by a prospective investor or 

purchaser of Notes (whether it is acquiring the Notes in a principal or in a fiduciary capacity) with any law, regulation, directive or 

policy applicable to it or, if it is acquiring the Notes in a fiduciary capacity, any law, regulation, directive or policy applicable to 

the beneficiary. A prospective investor or purchaser of Notes may not rely on the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Dealer or any of their 

respective affiliates when making determinations in relation to any of these matters. 
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Currency Risks 

Notes are issued in the currency specified in the Final Terms applicable thereto (the "note currency") and as such income and 

prinipal arising from such Notes are subject to exchange rate risk for an investor who has to convert another currency (the 

"investor currency") into such note currency to purchase the Notes. Investors should be aware that as a result of such risk they may 

receive at maturity an amount in the note currency that, if converted back into the investor currency by the investor, may be less 

than the initially converted amount. The same cross-currency exposure risk applies to the interest payments made in the note 

currency that are intended to be converted at a spot rate into an investor currency by the Noteholder. 

The Notes entail particular risks 

The Notes to be issued under the Programme will entail particular risks. The Notes are investment instruments which may or 

may not bear interest and which at maturity or earlier in case of early termination pay the final redemption amount or the early 

redemption amount (except in the case of physically settled notes) which may or may not be equal to the nominal amount of the 

relevant Note. 

In the case of physically settled Notes, the relevant Issuer or the Noteholder may have the option at maturity or at an earlier 

date to exchange the Notes for the Share Amount, depending upon the terms of such physically settled Notes. 

Notes which are not principal protected may result in the holder thereof losing some or, in certain limited cases, all of such 

holderôs initial investment. In addition, all Notes, including Notes which are expressed to be fully or partially principal protected, 

will give an investor exposure to the credit and default risk of the Issuer and Guarantor. 

Notes issued under the Programme may be structured such that principal, interest and/or premium, if any, payable on such 

Notes are determined by reference to the value or level of various underlying factors or a combination thereof, including, but not 

limited to, a single share, a basket of shares, an index, a basket of indices, one or more currencies (including exchange rates or 

swap indices between currencies or composite currencies), commodities, interest rates, the value of the credit of underlying 

reference entity, reference entities, reference obligation(s), underlying obligation(s), units, shares or interests in a single fund or 

basket of funds, formulae or other variables (the ñUnderlyingò). Notes where the principal amount, interest amount and/or 

premium payable (if any) is dependent upon the performance of the Underlying may result in the Holder receiving no, or only a 

limited return on his investment. 

The price at which a holder of Notes will be able to sell Notes prior to their redemption may be at a substantial discount to the 

market value of the Notes at the issue date depending upon the performance of the Underlying at the time of sale. 

The value of the Notes may fluctuate 

The value of the Notes may move up and down between their date of purchase and their maturity date. Holders of the Notes 

may sustain a total loss of their investment depending on the factors stated below (subject to any principal protection provided for 

under the terms of the relevant Notes, if applicable). Prospective purchasers should therefore ensure that they understand fully the 

nature of the Notes before they invest in the Notes. 

Several factors, many of which are beyond the relevant Issuersô and Guarantorsô control, will influence the value of the Notes 

at any time, including (but not limited to) the following: 

 (a) General economic conditions. The market for debt securities is influenced by economic and market conditions, interest 
rates, currency exchange rates and inflation rates in Europe and other countries and areas. There can be no assurance that 
events occurring elsewhere will not cause market volatility or that such volatility will not adversely affect the price of 
Notes or that economic and market conditions will not have any other adverse effect. In particular, in 2008 the global 
economy entered the most severe downturn for 80 years. Economic conditions remain fragile, and there is a risk that major 
economies may suffer a "double dip" recession where the improvements in a number of markets reverse. Such a 
deterioration in market conditions could adversely affect the price of the Notes or have another adverse effect. 

 (b) Valuation of the Underlying. Where the Notes are linked to the performance of an Underlying, the market value of the 
Notes at any time is expected to be affected primarily by changes in the price, value level or rate (as the case may be) of 
the Underlying to which such Notes are linked. It is impossible to predict how the price, value, level or rate (as the case 
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may be) of the relevant Underlying will vary over time. Factors that may have an effect on the price, value, level or rate (as 
the case may be) of the Underlying include, in the case of a share or share index, the rate of return of the Underlying and 
the financial position and prospects of the relevant issuer of the Underlying or any component thereof. In addition, the 
price, value, level or rate (as the case may be) of the Underlying may depend on a number of interrelated factors, including 
economic, financial and political events and, in the case of a share or share index, their effect on the capital markets 
generally and on the relevant stock exchanges in particular. Potential investors should also note that whilst the market 
value of the Notes is linked to the changes in the price, value, level or rate (as the case may be) of the relevant Underlying 
and will be influenced (positively or negatively) by such changes, any change may not be comparable and may be 
disproportionate. It is possible that while the price, value, level or rate (as the case may be) of the Underlying is increasing, 
the value of the Notes may fall. 

 (c) Because the Global Notes are held by or on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, investors will 
have to rely on their procedures for transfer, payment and communication with the relevant Issuer and/or (in the 
case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor. Notes issued under the Programme may be represented by one or more 
Global Notes. Such Global Notes will be deposited with a common depositary or a common safekeeper, as the case may 
be, for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, the NBB in the case of Notes issued by Fortis Bank where the relevant 
Global Note is deposited with the NBB as operator of the X/N System. Except in the circumstances described in the 
relevant Global Note, investors will not be entitled to receive definitive Notes. Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, 
or the NBB, as the case may be, will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Notes. While the Notes are 
represented by one or more Global Notes, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear 
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or the NBB, as the case may be. 

While the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Notes issued by 
BP2F) the Guarantor will discharge their payment obligations under the Notes by making payments to the common 
depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or the NBB, as the case may be for distribution to their account 
holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg, or the X/N System operated by the NBB, as the case may be, to receive payments under the relevant Notes. 
The Issuers and the Guarantor have no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, 
beneficial interests in the Global Notes. 

 (d) Interest Rates. Investors in Notes are exposed to the risk that subsequent changes in interest rates may adversely affect the 
value of the Notes. Investments in the Notes may involve interest rate risk with respect to the currency of denomination of 
the Underlying and/or the Notes. A variety of factors influence interest rates such as macro economic, governmental, 
speculative and market sentiment factors. Such fluctuations may have an impact on the value of the Notes at any time prior 
to valuation of the Underlying relating to the Notes. 

 (e) Volatility of the Underlyi ng. The term ñvolatilityò of an Underlying refers to the actual and anticipated frequency and 
magnitude of changes of the price, value, level or rate (as the case may be) of an Underlying. Volatility is affected by a 
number of factors such as macro economic factors, speculative trading and supply and demand in the options, futures and 
other derivatives markets. Volatility of an Underlying will move up and down over time (sometimes more sharply than 
others) and different Underlyings will most likely have separate volatilities at any particular time. Where Notes are linked 
to an Underlying, the volatility of the Underlying(s) may have an effect on the volatility of the Notes. 

 (f) Exchange Rates. Even where payments in respect of the Notes are not expressly linked to a rate or rates of exchange 
between currencies, the value of the Notes could, in certain circumstances, be affected by such factors as fluctuations in 
the rates of exchange between any currency in which any payment in respect of the Notes is to be made and any currency 
in which the Underlying is traded, appreciation or depreciation of any such currencies and any existing or future 
governmental or other restrictions on the exchangeability of such currencies. There can be no assurance that rates of 
exchange between any relevant currencies which are current rates at the date of issue of any Notes will be representative of 
the relevant rates of exchange used in computing the value of the relevant Notes at any time thereafter. 

 (g) Disruption. If so provided in the applicable terms, the Calculation Agent may determine that a Market Disruption Event 

has occurred or exists at a relevant time. Any such determination may affect the value of the Notes and/or may delay 

settlement in respect of the Notes. In addition, if so provided in the applicable terms, the relevant Calculation Agent may 

determine that a Settlement Disruption Event has occurred or exists at any relevant time in relation to a physically settled 

Note. Any such determination may cause a delay in delivery of the Underlying and, in the event that a Disruption Cash 

Settlement Price is paid in lieu of delivery of the Underlying, the cash price paid may be adversely affected. Prospective 

purchasers should review the applicable terms (including the Final Terms) to ascertain whether and how such provisions 

apply to the Notes. 
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There may not be a secondary market in the Notes 

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may be 

not very liquid or not liquid at all. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them 

with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that 

are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or 

have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would 

have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely 

adverse effect on the market value of Notes. 

Potential investors should consequently be willing to hold the Notes through their life. The nature and extent of any secondary 

market in the Notes cannot be predicted. As a consequence any person intending to hold the Notes should consider liquidity in the 

Notes as a risk. If the Notes are listed or quoted on an exchange or quotation system this does not imply greater or lesser liquidity 

than if equivalent Notes were not so listed or quoted. However, if Notes are not listed or quoted there may be a lack of 

transparency with regard to pricing information. Liquidity may also be affected by legal restrictions on offers for sale in certain 

jurisdictions. The relevant Issuer may affect the liquidity of the Notes by purchasing and holding the Notes for its own account 

during trading in the secondary market. Any such Notes may be resold at any time into the market. 

Purchasing the Notes as a hedge may not be effective 

Any person intending to use the Notes as a hedge instrument should recognise the correlation risk. The Notes may not be a 

perfect hedge to an Underlying or portfolio of which the Underlying forms a part. In addition, it may not be possible to liquidate 

the Notes at a level which directly reflects the price of the Underlying or portfolio of which the Underlying forms a part. 

Potential Conflicts of Interest 

Potential conflicts of interest may exist between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Dealer, the Delivery Agent, the 

Calculation Agent and the Noteholders, including (but not limited to) with respect to certain determinations and judgements that 

the Calculation Agent may make pursuant to the Conditions that may influence any interest amount due on, and for the amount 

receivable upon redemption of, the Notes. 

The Issuers and their affiliates (including, if applicable, any Dealer) may engage in trading activities (including hedging 

activities) related to any Notes, any Underlying and any other instruments or derivative products for their proprietary accounts or 

for other accounts under their management. The Issuers and their affiliates (including, if applicable, any Dealer) may also issue 

other derivative instruments in respect of or related to any Notes or any Underlying. The Issuers and their affiliates (including, if 

applicable, any Dealer) may also act as underwriter in connection with future offerings of shares or other securities related to an 

issue of Notes or may act as financial adviser to certain companies or companies whose shares are included in the Underlying or in 

a commercial banking capacity for such companies. The Issuers and their affiliates (including, if applicable, any Dealer) may carry 

out activities that minimise its and/or their risks related to the Notes, including effecting transactions for their own account or for 

the account of their customers and hold long or short positions in the Underlying whether for risk reduction purposes or otherwise. 

In connection with such hedging or marketmaking activities or with respect to proprietary or other trading activities by the Issuers 

and their affiliates, the Issuers and their affiliates may enter into transactions in the Underlying which may affect the market price, 

liquidity or value of the Underlying and/or the Notes and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of the holders of the 

Notes. The Issuers and their affiliates are likely to modify their hedging positions throughout the life of the Notes whether by 

effecting transactions in the Underlying or in derivatives linked to the Underlying. Further, it is possible that the advisory services 

that the Issuers and their affiliates provide in the ordinary course of their business could have an adverse effect on the value of the 

Underlying. Such activities could present certain conflicts of interest, could influence the prices of the Underlying or other 

securities and could adversely affect the value of the Notes. 

Actions taken by the Calculation Agent may affect the Notes 

The Calculation Agent is the agent of the relevant Issuer and not the agent of the Noteholders. The relevant Issuer may itself 
act as the Calculation Agent. The Calculation Agent will have discretion to make such adjustments to the Notes as it considers 
appropriate in certain circumstances (as set out in the Conditions of the Notes or the applicable Final Terms) including, but not 
limited to, certain corporate actions in respect of Shares where the Underlying comprises Shares. In making these adjustments the 
Calculation Agent is entitled to exercise substantial discretion and may be subject to conflicts of interest in exercising this 
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discretion. The Calculation Agent is not required to make adjustments with respect to each and every corporate action or other 
event or circumstance entitling it to make an adjustment. 

Holders have no ownership interest in the Underlying 

The Notes convey no interest in the Underlying. The relevant Issuer may choose not to hold the Underlying or any derivatives 
contracts or other instruments linked to the Underlying. Under the Conditions of the Notes, there is no restriction on the ability of 
the relevant Issuer and/or its affiliates to sell, pledge or otherwise convey all right, title and interest in any Underlying or any 
derivative contracts or other instruments linked to the Underlying. 

The Notes do not represent a claim against any Underlying (or any issuer, sponsor, manager or other connected person in 
respect of an Underlying Reference) and Noteholders will not have any right of recourse under the Notes to any such Underlying 
(or any issuer, sponsor, manager or other connected person in respect of an Underlying). The Notes are not in any way sponsored, 
endorsed or promoted by any issuer, sponsor, manager or other connected person in respect of an Underlying and such entities 
have no obligation to take into account the consequences of their actions on any Noteholders. 

Risk of Leveraged Exposure 

Leverage involves the use of a number of financial techniques to increase the exposure to an Underlying, and can therefore 
magnify both returns and losses. While the use of leverage allows for potential multiples of a return (assuming a return is achieved) 
when the Underlying moves in the anticipated direction, it will conversely magnify losses when the Underlying moves against 
expectations. If the relevant Notes include leverage, potential holders of such Notes should note that these Notes will involve a 
higher level of risk, and that whenever there are losses such losses will be higher (other things being equal) than those of a similar 
Note which is not leveraged. Investors should therefore only invest in leveraged Notes if they fully understand the effect of 
leverage. 

Taxes may be payable by investors 

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay stamp duties, taxes or other 
documentary charges in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes are transferred. In addition, if so 
indicated in the relevant Final Terms, payments in respect of the Notes may be made subject to deduction for or on account of 
withholding taxes imposed within Luxembourg or the jurisdiction in which the Specified Branch (if any) is located, as provided in 
Condition 8 and without the relevant Issuer being obliged to make additional payments in respect of such deduction or 
withholding. Consequently, the payment of principal, interest and/or premium, if any, in respect of the Notes may be less than 
expected. The Final Terms will specify in each case whether the Issuer will pay additional amounts as specified in the Conditions. 
Potential purchasers should consult their own independent tax advisers. In addition, potential purchasers should be aware that tax 
regulations and their application by the relevant taxation authorities change from time to time. Accordingly, it is not possible to 
predict the precise tax treatment that will apply at any given time. 

The Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity date  

The relevant Issuer may at its discretion and without obligation redeem the Notes early for tax reasons, following an event of 
default, because the relevant Issuer determines that the performance of its obligations under the Notes has become illegal or 
impractical in whole or in part for any reason or, in the case of Index-Linked Notes, Equity-Linked Notes or Fund-Linked Notes 
because the Calculation Agent determines that a Hedging Disruption Event has occurred, which includes where it is no longer legal 
or practical to maintain any hedging arrangement with respect to the Notes. If the relevant Issuer redeems the Notes early, the 
relevant Issuer will, if so provided in the applicable terms and if and to the extent permitted by applicable law, pay the holder of 
each such Note the Redemption Amount as defined in the Conditions. In addition, the applicable terms may provide for redemption 
at the option of the Issuer on the Optional Redemption Dates at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (as defined in the applicable 
terms). In the event of any early redemption, a Noteholder may not be able to reinvest the Redemption Amount in a comparable 
security. The relevant Issuer is not liable for any disadvantage a holder of Notes incurs in respect of the new investment or non-
investment of its capital. 

Risks associated with Notes held in global form 

Bearer Notes and Registered Notes will initially be held by or on behalf of one or more clearing systems specified in the 

applicable Final Terms (each a ñRelevant Clearing Systemò), either in the form of a Global Note or Global Certificate which will 

be exchangeable for definitive Notes or Individual Certificates only in limited circumstances described in the Global Notes or 
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Global Certificates. For so long as any Notes are held by or on behalf of a Relevant Clearing System, payments of principal, 

interest and any other amounts will be made through the Relevant Clearing System, where required, against presentation or 

surrender (as the case may be) of the relevant Global Note or Global Certificate and, in the case of a temporary Global Note, 

certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. The risk is that the bearer of the relevant Global Note or the registered holder of 

the relevant Global Certificate, typically a depositary for the Relevant Clearing System, and not the holders of only a beneficial 

interest in the Global Note or Global Certificate shall be treated by the relevant Issuer and any Paying Agent as the sole holder of 

the relevant Notes with respect to the payment of principal, interest (if any) and any other amounts payable in respect of the Notes 

or any securities deliverable in respect of the Notes. Notes which are held by or on behalf of a Relevant Clearing System will be 

transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of the Relevant Clearing System. 

Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Notes or Global Certificates will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the 

relevant Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by the Relevant Clearing 

System to appoint appropriate proxies. Similarly, holders of beneficial interests in the Global Notes or Global Certificates will not 

have a direct right under the Global Notes or Global Certificates to take enforcement action against the relevant Issuer in the event 

of a default under the relevant Notes but will have to rely upon their rights under the Deed of Covenant. 

Settlement Risk 

Settlement of the Notes is subject to all applicable laws, regulations and practices in force at the relevant time and neither the 

relevant Issuer nor any Agent shall incur any liability whatsoever if it is unable to effect the transactions contemplated as a result 

of any such laws, regulations or practices. Neither the relevant Issuer nor any Agent shall under any circumstances be liable for any 

acts or defaults of any clearing system in relation to the performance of its duties in relation to the Notes. 

Risk associated with nominee arrangements 

Where a nominee service provider is used by an investor to hold Notes or such investor holds interests in any Note through 

accounts with a Relevant Clearing System, such investor will receive payments in respect of principal, interest, or any other 

amounts due, or securities deliverable, as applicable, solely on the basis of the arrangements entered into by the investor with the 

relevant nominee service provider or Relevant Clearing System, as the case may be. Furthermore, such investor must rely on the 

relevant nominee service provider or Relevant Clearing System to distribute all payments or securities attributable to the relevant 

Notes which are received from the relevant Issuer. Accordingly, such an investor will be exposed to the credit risk of, and default 

risk in respect of, the relevant nominee service provider or Relevant Clearing System, as well as the relevant Issuer. 

In addition, such a Holder will only be able to sell any Notes held by it prior to their stated maturity date with the assistance of 

the relevant nominee service provider. None of the Issuers or any Paying Agent shall be responsible for the acts or omissions of 

any relevant nominee service provider or Relevant Clearing System nor makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, 

as to the service provided by any relevant nominee service provider or Relevant Clearing System. 

Modification, waivers and substitution 

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests 

generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at 

the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 

Trading in the clearing systems 

In relation to any issue of Notes which have a minimum denomination and are tradeable in the clearing systems in amounts 

above such minimum denomination which are smaller than it, should definitive Notes be required to be issued, a holder who does 

not have an integral multiple of the minimum denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time 

may not receive all of his entitlement in the form of definitive Notes unless and until such time as his holding becomes an integral 

multiple of the minimum denomination. 

The return on an investment in Notes will be affected by charges incurred by investors 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 26 - 70-40523764 

 

An investorôs total return on an investment in any Notes will be affected by the level of fees charged by the nominee service 

provider and/or Relevant Clearing System used by the investor. Such a person or institution may charge fees for the opening and 

operation of an investment account, transfers of Notes, custody services and on payments of interest, principal and other amounts 

or delivery of securities. Potential investors are therefore advised to investigate the basis on which any such fees will be charged on 

the relevant Notes. 

When Notes are purchased or sold, several types of incidental costs (including transaction fees and commissions) are incurred 

in addition to the current price of the security. These incidental costs may significantly reduce or even exclude the profit potential 

of the Notes. For instance, credit institutions as a rule charge their clients for own commissions which are either fixed minimum 

commissions or pro-rata commissions depending on the order value. To the extent that additional ð domestic or foreign ð parties 

are involved in the execution of an order, including but not limited to domestic dealers or brokers in foreign markets, Noteholders 

must take into account that they may also be charged for the brokerage fees, commissions and other fees and expenses of such 

parties (third party costs). 

In addition to such costs directly related to the purchase of securities (direct costs), Noteholders must also take into account 

any follow-up costs (such as custody fees). Prospective investors should inform themselves about any additional costs incurred in 

connection with the purchase, custody or sale of the Notes before investing in the Notes. 

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks 

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Issuers or the Notes. The ratings may not 

reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may 

affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or 

withdrawn by the rating agency at any time. A rating agency may fail to withdraw its rating in a timely manner. 

A credit rating reduction may result in a reduction in the trading value of the Notes 

The value of the Notes is expected to be affected, in part, by investorsô general appraisal of the creditworthiness of the Issuers 

and, if applicable, the Guarantor. Such perceptions are generally influenced by the ratings accorded to the outstanding securities of 

the Issuers by standard statistical rating services, such as Moodyôs Investors Service Limited (ñMoodyôsò), Standard & Poorôs 

Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw Hill Companies, Inc. (ñStandard & Poorôsò) and Fitch Ratings Ltd. (ñFitchò). A 

reduction in the rating, if any, accorded to outstanding debt securities of the Issuers by one of these or other rating agencies could 

result in a reduction in the trading value of the Notes. 

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments 

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by 

certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) Notes are 

legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its 

purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine 

the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules. 

Change of law 

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are predominantly based on English law. No assurance can be given as to the impact of 

any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus. 

Payments on the Notes may be subject to U.S. withholding under FATCA 

The Issuers (and where appropriate, the Guarantor) and other financial institutions through which payments on the Notes are 

made may be required to withhold at a rate of up to 30 per cent. on all, or a portion of, payments made after 31 December 2016 in 

respect of any Notes which are issued (or materially modified) after 31 December 2012 or that are treated as equity for U.S. federal 

tax purposes whenever issued, pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (commonly referred to 

as "FATCA "). 
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The Issuers and the Guarantor are each a foreign financial institution ("FFI ") for the purposes of FATCA. If the relevant Issuer 

agrees to provide certain information on its account holders pursuant to a FATCA agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue 

Service ("IRS") (i.e. the relevant Issuer is a "Participating FFI ") then withholding may be triggered if: (i) the relevant Issuer has a 

positive ñpassthru payment percentageò (as determined under FATCA), and (ii) (a) an investor does not provide information 

sufficient for the relevant Participating FFI to determine whether the investor is a U.S. person or should otherwise be treated as 

holding a óóUnited States Accountôô of the Issuer, (b) an investor does not consent, where necessary, to have its information 

disclosed to the IRS or (c) any FFI that is an investor, or through which payment on the Notes is made, is not a Participating FFI. 

If an amount in respect of FATCA were to be deducted or withheld from interest, principal or other payments on or with 

respect to the Notes, the Issuer would have no obligation to pay additional amounts or otherwise indemnify a holder for any such 

withholding or deduction by the Issuer, a Paying Agent or any other party as a result of the deduction or withholding of such 

amount. As a result, investors may, if FATCA is implemented as currently proposed by the IRS, receive less interest or principal 

than expected. 

An investor that is not a Participating FFI that is withheld upon generally will be able to obtain a refund only to the extent an 

applicable income tax treaty with the United States entitles the investor to a reduced rate of tax on the payment that was subject to 

withholding under FATCA, provided the required information is furnished in a timely manner to the IRS.   

Significant aspects of the application of FATCA are not currently clear and the above description is based on proposed 

regulations and interim guidance. Investors should consult their own advisors about the application of FATCA, in particular if they 

may be classified as financial institutions under the FATCA rules. 

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes 

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may, in addition to the risks described 

above, have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. 

Prospective investors should consult their own financial, tax and legal advisors as to the risks entailed by an investment in such 

Notes and the suitability of such Notes in light of their particular circumstances and ensure that its acquisition is fully consistent 

with their financial needs and investment policies, is lawful under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and/or in which it 

operates, and is a suitable investment for it to make. The Issuers believe that such Notes should only be purchased by investors 

who are, or who are purchasing under the guidance of, financial institutions or other professional investors that are in a position to 

understand the special risks that an investment in these instruments involves, in particular relating to options and derivatives and 

related transactions, and should be prepared to sustain a total loss of the purchase price of their Notes. 

Set out below is a description of some of the most common of such features.  

Structured Notes in general 

An investment in Notes, the payment of principal, interest and/or premium of which is determined by reference to one or more 

Underlyings (either directly or indirectly) and has certain structural features or combination of structural features (ñStructured 

Notesò), may entail significant risks not associated with similar investments in a conventional debt security or a direct investment 

in the Underlying, including the risks that the resulting rate of return will be less than that on a conventional debt security or the 

Underlying and/or that an investor may lose the value of its entire investment or part of it, as the case may be. Neither the current 

nor the historical value of the relevant Underlying should be taken as an indication of future performance of (i) such Underlying or 

(ii) the trading or market value of a Note, during the term of any Note. 

An issue of Structured Notes does not give a holder the right to reimbursement of the nominal value of such Note. Accordingly,  

investment in Structured Notes is reserved for investors who are prepared to accept the risk that all or part of their capital may be 

lost. 

The Underlying(s) and/or the composition thereof, method of calculation (if applicable) or other factors of the Underlying(s) 

may change in the future. There is no assurance that issuers, sponsors, licensors of the Underlying(s) or any other third party (as 

the case may be) who have an influence on the Underlying(s) will not change the composition thereof, method of calculation or 

other factors of the Underlying(s). Any such change to the Underlying(s) may be beyond the control of the relevant Issuer and may 

adversely affect the value of the Notes. 
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If the formula used to determine the amount of principal, interest and/or premium, if any, and/or securities deliverable (if 

applicable) with respect to such Notes contains a multiplier or leverage factor, the effect of any change in the Underlying(s) will be 

magnified. In recent years, values of certain Underlying(s) have been highly volatile; such volatility in the past is not necessarily 

indicative, however, of fluctuations that may occur in the future. 

An investment in Structured Notes linked to an Underlying therefore entails significant risks that are not associated with 

similar investments in a conventional fixed or floating rate debt security. These risks include, among other things, the possibility 

that: 

Å the Underlying may be subject to significant changes, whether due to the composition of any such Underlying itself, or 

because of fluctuations in value of the Underlying; 

Å the resulting interest rate will be less (or may be more) than that payable on a conventional debt security issued by the 

relevant Issuer at the same time; 

Å the holder of an Structured Note linked to an Underlying could lose all or a substantial portion of the principal of such 

Note (whether payable at maturity or upon redemption or repayment), and, if the principal is lost, interest may cease to be 

payable on such Note; 

Å any Note that is linked to more than one type of Underlying, or on formulae that encompass the risks associated with more 

than one type of Underlying, may carry levels of risk that are greater than Notes that are indexed to one type of Underlying 

only; 

Å it may not be possible for investors to hedge their exposure to these various risks relating to Structured Notes linked to an 

Underlying;  

Å a significant market disruption could mean that any Underlying ceases to exist; and 

Å as a result of one or more of the above factors the trading or market value of the Structured Notes may be volatile or non-

correlated with the Underlying. 

 (i)   Inversely Linked Notes  

Where the principal, interest and/or premium payable on the Notes is inversely linked to one or more Underlyings 

(ñInversely Linked Notesò), investors should note that any increase in the price, value, level or rate of the Underlying will not 

lead to a corresponding increase in the principal, interest and/or premium payable on the Notes and consequently the value of 

the Notes. Any increase in the price, value, level or rate of the Underlying will result in a decrease in the principal, interest 

and/or premium payable on the Notes, and therefore the market value of such Inversely-Linked Notes. 

 (ii)  Absolute Performance Notes and Swing Notes  

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the principal, interest and/or premium payable on the Notes is linked to the 

absolute performance of one or more Underlyings (ñAbsolute Performance Notesò). The principal, interest and/or premium 

payable on such Absolute Performance Notes will not reflect the direct performance of the Underlying(s), but will instead 

reflect the volatility in the performance of the Underlying(s). Investors should note that in the case of Absolute Performance 

Notes, an increase or decrease in the price, value, level or rate of the Underlying(s) will not necessarily mean a corresponding 

increase or decrease in the value of the Notes. 

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the principal, interest and/or premium payable is linked to the absolute 

performance of components in a basket of Underlyings (ñSwing Notesò). Swing Notes are a type of Absolute Performance 

Notes, and the risks relating to Absolute Performance Notes also relate to Swing Notes. 

 (iii)  Path Dependent Notes  
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The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where interest payments are dependent on the interest calculated to be payable on the 

immediately preceding interest period (ñPath Dependent Notesò). Such Path Dependent Notes may be structured such that 

the interest payable is calculated with reference to the interest calculated to be payable for the preceding interest period by, 

including but not limited to, the addition, subtraction, multiplication or division of another factor. Path Dependent Notes are 

subject to the risk that if the interest calculated to be payable in respect of one interest period is low, then the interest 

calculated to be payable in respect of subsequent periods will also be low. Path Dependent Notes are subject to the risk that the 

increase in interest payable between interest periods may not be as high as expected, and in some cases, there may be no 

increase in interest payable or there may be a decrease in the interest payable. The change of the interest between interest 

periods may also be subject to a multiplier and such Notes are subject to the additional risk that if at any time the interest 

payable becomes zero, the interest payable on any subsequent interest periods will also be zero and will remain zero for the life 

of the Notes. 

 (iv) Range Notes  

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes whose principal, interest and/or premium payable is dependent on the performance of 

one or more Underlyings, as observed at such intervals as specified in the relevant Final Terms and within such period as 

specified in the relevant Final Terms, and the performance of such Underlying(s) as compared to a reference range (ñRange 

Notesò). The principal, interest and/or premium payable on such Notes is calculated on various factors including but not 

limited to the frequency at which the Underlying is observed to have been at, within or outside the reference range. Such 

reference range may or may not be fixed. Investors should be aware that the principal, interest and/or premium payable on 

Range Notes may be specified as only accruing or calculated to be payable with reference to the days on which the price, 

value, level or rate (as the case may be) of such Underlying(s) (the ñUnderlying Rateò) is at, within or outside of the 

reference range, as set out in the relevant Final Terms. If the Underlying Rate does not fix at or fall within or outside of such 

range on one or more days during the term of the Notes, then the return on the Notes may be lower than expected, or may even 

be zero. Noteholders should note that no principal, interest and/or premium accrues or becomes payable with reference to such 

days when the Underlying Rate does not fix at or does not fall within or outside of the reference range. 

Conversely, it may be the case that the Range Notes are structured such that any principal, interest and/or premium ceases 

to become payable with reference to the days on which the Underlying Rate is at, within or outside the reference range, as set 

out in the relevant Final Terms. If the Underlying Rate fixes at or falls within or outside such range on one or more days during 

the term of the Notes, then the return of the Notes may be lower than expected, or may even be zero. 

 (v) Trigger Notes  

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the interest payable is linked to an Underlying and the redemption date of the 

Notes is dependent on the total aggregate amount payable reaching a predetermined target level (the ñTriggerò) (ñTrigger 

Notesò). Once the aggregate amounts paid out on the Note has reached or exceeded the Trigger, the Note will be automatically 

redeemed and no further interest on the Notes will be payable. Investors in such Trigger Notes bear the risk that they have no 

certainty as to the timing of redemption and when they will receive a return of their capital on the Notes. 

 (vi) Notes subject to optional redemption by the relevant Issuer 

Notes may be subject to optional redemption by the relevant Issuer. An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to 

limit their market value. During any period when the relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those 

Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any 

redemption period. 

The relevant Issuer may choose to redeem Notes early for various reasons. For example, the relevant Issuer may choose to 

redeem Notes early when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor 

generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the 

Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider 

reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time and that it may not be able to find a comparable product to 

the Note being redeemed at the time of redemption. In addition, the yields received upon redemption may be lower than 

expected, and the redeemed face amount of the Notes may be lower than the purchase price for the Notes and part of the 

Noteholdersô investment may be lost. 
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 (vii) Risks related to Notes redeemed by physical delivery  

If the Notes are, at the option of the relevant Issuer, either physically settled by delivery of shares or other securities or 

cash settled, then there will be a time lag, if the relevant Issuer chooses to physically settle the Notes, following exercise by the 

relevant Issuer of its option until such shares or securities are delivered to the relevant Holderôs account. Any such delay 

between the time of exercise by the relevant Issuer of its option and the delivery of the Share Amount will be specified in the 

Conditions. However, such delay could be significantly longer if the Calculation Agent determines that a Settlement 

Disruption Event has occurred at the relevant time. Such additional delay could adversely affect the Share Amount. 

If a Noteholder does not provide the relevant Issuer through the Delivery Agent with sufficient instructions in a timely 

manner to enable the relevant Issuer through the Delivery Agent to effect any required delivery of shares or other securities, 

the due date for such delivery shall be postponed accordingly, which may result in a delay in delivery of the applicable Share 

Amount. 

In the event of the delivery of shares and/or securities upon redemption of their Notes (as specified in the relevant Final 

Terms), Noteholders shall be required to make certain notifications and take other actions as set out in the Conditions. The 

failure to deliver any certifications required by the Conditions could result in the loss or inability to receive amounts or 

deliveries otherwise due under the Notes. Prospective purchasers should review the Conditions to ascertain whether and how 

such provisions apply to the Notes. Delivery of shares and/or securities is subject to all applicable laws, regulations and 

practices and the relevant Issuer shall not incur any liability whatsoever if it is unable to deliver or procure the delivery of such 

shares and/or securities to the relevant Noteholder because of any such laws, regulations or practices. 

Each Noteholder should be aware that if their Notes may be redeemed by physical delivery of shares and/or securities 

and/or other financial instruments (as specified in the relevant Final Terms), it shall be deemed at the time of purchase to 

acknowledge its understanding and acceptance of this matter and to have made its own examination and assessment of its 

capacity and power to receive shares and/or securities and/or other financial instruments and not to have relied on any 

representation of the relevant Issuer, any Agent or the relevant Dealer regarding this matter. In particular, the relevant Issuer 

and any of its Agents shall not be in any way responsible for checking the capacity and power of any Noteholder to have its 

Notes redeemed by delivery of shares and/or securities and/or other financial instruments (even if it has notice of any other 

facts and circumstances), and the relevant Noteholder shall bear full responsibility for any consequences that may arise from 

the delivery to it of shares and/or securities and/or other financial instruments or, as the case may be, non-delivery as a 

consequence of the Noteholder not having the required capacity and power to receive delivery of such shares and/or securities. 

 (viii) Effect of Substantial Redemptions  

Substantial redemptions by holders of Fund Interest Units in a fund within a short period of time could require the fundôs 

investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s) to liquidate positions more rapidly than would otherwise be desirable, which could 

adversely affect the value of the fundôs assets. The resulting reduction in the fundôs assets could make it more difficult to 

generate a positive rate of return or to recoup losses due to a reduced equity base. 

 (ix) Business Dependent Upon Key Individuals  

All investment decisions with respect to a fundôs assets are made by its investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s). Holders 

of Fund Interest Units in a fund may have no right or power to take part in the management of the fund. As a result, the success 

of the fund for the foreseeable future will depend largely upon the ability of the investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s). 

There is no assurance that the strategies employed by the fund will achieve attractive returns or will be successful. 

Additionally, should the principal decision makers of the investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s) no longer be associated with 

the investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s), die or become otherwise incapacitated for any period of time, the value or 

profitability of the fundôs investments may suffer. 

 (x) Investments in Affiliated or Related Entities  

A fund may invest a portion of its assets in investment funds, structured fund products, collateralized fund obligation 

transactions and/or with other accounts managed by the fundôs investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s), any of their affiliates 

and/or related parties. As a result, the investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s), any of their affiliates or related parties, may 
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receive fees based on these investments directly from the fund and, directly or indirectly, from such other investment funds, 

collateralized fund obligation transactions, structured hedge fund products or accounts in which the fund invests. 

 (xi) Correlation with market performance  

Mutual funds typically have a higher correlation with the market performance than hedge funds and are typically 

structured so that the return on the Fund Interest Units in the mutual fund will reflect the general performance of market 

conditions. Investors should note that while mutual funds typically aim to achieve a performance which is better than the 

average market performance through the use of stock-picking skills or market timing or other strategies, there is no guarantee 

that the performance of a particular mutual fund will necessarily be better than the average market performance. As such, 

amounts due to investors in Fund-Linked Notes may be the same as (or worse than) general market performance and this 

amount could have been achieved at a lower cost through investments other than the Fund-Linked Notes. 

Reverse Convertible Notes 

Reverse Convertible Notes are interest bearing investment instruments which, at maturity, are either, at the option of the 

relevant Issuer, redeemed by (i) payment of a Cash Amount, or (ii) payment of a cash amount equal to the level of the Underlying 

or delivery of the Underlying, in each case, subject to the Final Terms of the relevant Reverse Convertible Note. As such, reverse 

convertible notes entail the same level of risk of decrease in value as a direct investment in the Underlying. Investors should be 

aware that their entire investment may be lost. Since reverse convertible notes are of limited maturity, unlike direct investments, 

investors are not able to hold them beyond their stated maturity date in the expectation of a recovery in the price of the Underlying. 

The price at which a Holder will be able to sell reverse convertible notes prior to maturity may be at a potentially substantial 

discount to the market value of the reverse convertible notes at the issue date, if, at such time and in addition to any other factors, 

the value of the Underlying is below, equal to or not sufficiently above the value of the Underlying at the issue date. 

Partly -Paid Notes 

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the issue price is payable in more than one instalment. Failure to pay any 

subsequent instalment could result in an investor losing all of his investment. 

Inverse Floating Rate Notes 

Investments in Notes which bear interest at an inverse floating rate comprise (i) a fixed base rate minus (ii) a reference rate 

(ñInverse Floating Rate Notesò). Investors should note that any increase in the value or level of the Underlying will not lead to a 

corresponding increase in the principal, interest and/or premium payable on the Notes and consequently the value of the Notes. 

Any increase in the value or level of the Underlying will result in a decrease in the principal, interest and/or premium payable on 

the Notes, and therefore the market value of such Notes. The market value of such Notes is usually more volatile than the market 

value of floating rate Notes based on the same reference rate (and with otherwise comparable terms). Inverse Floating Rate Notes 

are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an 

increase in prevailing interest rates, which may further reduce the market value of these Notes. 

Variable Rate Notes 

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes where the redemption amount, interest and/or premium, if any payable on the Notes is 

linked to changes in one or more rates and/or Underlyings specified in the Final Terms during the period specified therein. 

Prospective purchasers of the Notes should make their own independent evaluation of the risks associated with an investment in 

the Notes. The Underlying Rates to which the Variable Rate Notes are linked to may be volatile and unpredictable. Investors 

should be aware that it may be possible that there may be significant changes in such Underlying Rates and such changes may lead 

to a decrease in the value of the value of the Notes and the amount of redemption amount, interest and/or premium, if any, payable 

on the Notes. 

Fixed to Floating Rate Notes 
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Fixed to floating rate Notes initially bear interest at a fixed rate. Conversion from a fixed rate to a floating rate then takes place 

either automatically or at the option of the relevant Issuer (if certain predetermined conditions are met or at the sole discretion of 

the relevant Issuer). The conversion (whether automatic or optional) of the interest rate will affect the secondary market and the 

market value of the Notes since the conversion may lead to a lower overall cost of borrowing. If a fixed rate is converted to a 

floating rate, the spread on the fixed to floating rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable 

floating rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on 

other Notes. 

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium 

The market values of Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in 

relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing Notes. Generally, the longer the 

remaining term of the Notes, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing Notes with comparable 

maturities. 

Noteholders will not be able to calculate in advance their rate of return on Floating Rate Notes. 

A key difference between Floating Rate Notes and Fixed Rate Notes is that interest income on Floating Rate Notes cannot be 

anticipated. Due to varying interest income, investors are not able to determine a definite yield of Floating Rate Notes at the time 

they purchase them, so that their return on investment cannot be compared with that of investments having longer fixed interest 

periods. If the terms and conditions of the Notes provide for frequent interest payment dates, investors are exposed to the 

reinvestment risk if market interest rates decline. That is, investors may reinvest the interest income paid to them only at the 

relevant lower interest rates then prevailing. In addition, the relevant Issuerôs ability to issue both Fixed Rate Notes may affect the 

market value and secondary market (if any) of the Floating Rate Notes (and vice versa). 

Zero coupon Notes are subject to higher price fluctuations than non-discounted Notes. 

Changes in market interest rates generally have a substantially stronger impact on the prices of zero coupon Notes than on the 

prices of ordinary notes because the discounted issue prices are substantially below par. If market interest rates increase, zero 

coupon Notes can suffer higher price losses than other notes having the same maturity and credit rating. 

Subordinated Notes 

 (i) The relevant Issuerôs obligations under Subordinated Notes are subordinated 

If the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor is declared insolvent and any applicable winding up, bankruptcy, insolvency or 

other similar or analogous proceedings are initiated, such Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) will be required to pay 

the holders of senior debt and meet its obligations to all its other creditors (including unsecured creditors and depositors but 

excluding any obligations in respect of subordinated debt) in full before it can make any payments on the relevant subordinated 

Notes. If this occurs, the relevant Issuer or Guarantor (as the case may be) may not have enough assets remaining after these 

payments to pay amounts due under the Notes or the Guarantees (as the case may be). 

The relevant Issuerôs obligations under Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and will rank junior in 

priority of payment to Senior Liabilities. Senior Liabilities means all of the relevant Issuerôs liabilities which constitute direct, 

unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer. Although Subordinated Notes may pay a 

higher rate of interest than comparable Notes which are not subordinated, there is a real risk that an investor in Subordinated 

Notes will lose all or some of his investment should the relevant Issuer become insolvent. 

 (ii)  Non Payment under Subordinated Notes  

If the relevant Issuer does not make payment for a period of 7 days or more after the due date for the payment of principal 

or premium (if any) or for a period of 14 days or more after an Interest Payment Date for the payment of interest due in respect 

of any of the Subordinated Notes on such date, Noteholder(s) of Subordinated Notes have limited rights against the relevant 

Issuer in the event of any such failure to pay (see Condition 3(b)). 
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Any deferral of interest payments will likely have an adverse effect on the market price of the Subordinated Notes. In 

addition, as a result of the interest deferral provision of the Subordinated Notes, the market price of the Subordinated Notes 

may be more volatile than the market prices of other debt securities on which original issue discount or interest accrues that are 

not subject to such deferrals and may be more sensitive generally to adverse changes in the relevant Issuerôs financial 

condition. 

(iii)  Issue of Subordinated Notes by the relevant Issuer - Future capital adequacy requirement for "Tier 2" instruments  

On 16 December 2010 and on 13 January 2011, the Basel Committee issued its final guidance on fundamental reforms to 

the regulatory capital framework known as "Basel III". The Basel III reforms require "Tier 1" and "Tier 2" capital instruments 

to be more loss-absorbing. The European Commission proposed on 20 July 2011 two capital adequacy requirements texts 

(CRR I / CRD IV) replacing Directives no. 2006/48/EC of 14 June 2006 and no. 2006/49/EC of 14 June 2006 (together, CRD 

I), Directive no. 2009/111/EC of 16 September 2009 (CRD II) and Directive no. 2010/76/EC of 24 November 2010 (CRD III). 

These texts, which transpose the Basel III reforms and will be applicable from 1 January 2013, are currently under review by 

the European Parliament and the European Council. The requirements will be subject to a series of transitional arrangements 

and will be phased in over a period of time.  

None of the Issuers will issue any Subordinated Notes under this Base Prospectus the proceeds of which are intended to 

be eligible as "Tier 2" capital until the relevant Issuer is comfortable that the provisions of the Subordinated Notes as currently 

drafted in this Base Prospectus would be in compliance with such implementing regulations (including any national 

transposition, if applicable) and any relevant regulations issued by the National Bank of Belgium. A Supplement to this Base 

Prospectus will be published by the relevant Issuer prior to any issue of Subordinated Notes under this Base Prospectus. 

Index-Linked Notes, Dual Currency Notes and Inflation-Linked Notes 

 (i) Index-Linked Notes in general  

Index-Linked Notes are debt securities whose redemption amounts, interest payments and/or premium, if any, are linked 

to the performance of one or more indices, by way of a specified formula or in such other manner as shall be specified in the 

relevant Final Terms. Such index or indices may contain substantial credit, interest rate or other risks. The amount of principal, 

interest and/or premium, if any, payable by the relevant Issuer might be substantially less than the issue price or, as the case 

may be, the purchase price invested by the Noteholder and may even be zero in which case the Noteholder may lose his entire 

investment or a payment of interest, principal or premium may occur at a different time than expected. 

Index-Linked Notes are not in any way sponsored, endorsed, sold or promoted by the index sponsor or the respective 

licensor of the index and such index sponsor or licensor makes no warranty or representation whatsoever, express or implied, 

either as to the results to be obtained from the use of the index and/or the figure at which the index stands at any particular time. 

Each index is determined, composed and calculated by its respective index sponsor or licensor, without regard to the relevant 

Issuer or the Notes. None of the index sponsors or licensors is responsible for or has participated in the determination of the 

timing of, prices at, or quantities of the Notes to be issued or in determination or calculation of the equation by which the Notes 

settle into cash. None of the index sponsors or licensors has any obligation or liability in connection with the administration, 

marketing or trading of the Notes. The index sponsor or licensor of an index has no responsibility for any calculation agency 

adjustment made for the index. 

The index itself and the way the index is calculated may change, or the index may be terminated, and there can be no 

assurance that the index sponsors or licensors will not change the methods by which they calculate the index. In certain 

circumstances, the actions or omissions of the sponsor of an index to which the Index-Linked Notes are linked and others 

outside the control of the relevant Issuer and may adversely affect the rights of the Noteholders and/or the value of the Index-

Linked Notes, including actions that may give rise to an adjustment to, or early redemption of, the Index-Linked Notes. 

None of the Issuers, Dealer(s) or any of their affiliates makes any representation as to an index. Any of such persons may 

have acquired, or during the term of the Notes may acquire, non-public information with respect to an index that is or may be 

material in the context of Index-Linked Notes. The issue of Index-Linked Notes will not create any obligation on the part of 

any such persons to disclose to the Noteholders or any other party such information (whether or not confidential). In some 

cases, Index-Linked Notes may be linked to an index or indices which have been developed internally by an affiliate of the 
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Issuers (ñFortis Bank Indicesò). In developing and maintaining such Fortis Bank Indices, the affiliates of the Issuers will be 

involved in determining any changes to be made to the methodology and calculation of the Fortis Bank Indices, the 

composition of the Fortis Bank Indices and any other activities related to and affecting the level of the Fortis Bank Indices. 

Such activities could present certain conflicts of interest and could adversely influence the level of the Fortis Bank Indices, and 

could consequently adversely affect the value of the Notes. 

An investment in Index-Linked Notes is not the same as an investment in the components of the Index and does not 

confer any legal or beneficial interest in the components of the Index or any voting rights, rights to receive dividends or other 

rights that a holder of the components of an Index would have. 

 (ii)  Dual Currency Notes  

The relevant Issuer may issue Notes with principal, interest and/or premium payable in one or more currencies which may 

be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated (ñDual Currency Notesò). In addition to the risk factors 

that may apply to Notes in general, Structured Notes in general and Index-Linked Notes in general, potential investors should 

be aware that in relation to Dual Currency Notes: 

 (a) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;  

 (b) they may receive no interest and/or premium;  

 (c) payment of principal, interest and/or premium (if applicable) may occur at a different time or in a different currency than 

expected; 

 (d) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal; and 

 (e) there may be movements in currency exchange rates which may result in significant fluctuations that may not correlate 

with changes in interest rates, currencies or related factors. 

 (iii)  Inflation-Linked Notes  

Inflation-Linked Notes are Notes whose redemption amount, interest amounts and/or premium, if any, may be linked to 

the performance of one or more inflation or price indices during a specified period (as set out in the relevant Final Terms). 

Investment in Inflation-Linked Notes involves risks not associated with an investment in conventional debt securities. In 

addition to the risk factors that may apply to Notes in general, Structured Notes in general and Index-Linked Notes in general, 

potential investors should be aware that in relation to Inflation-Linked Notes: 

 (a) the payment of principal, interest and/or premium is linked to the change in the level of the relevant inflation or price 

index. If there is little or no change in inflation, the level of the inflation or price index may not change. If there is 

deflation, the level of the inflation or price index may decrease; consequently, the payment of principal, interest and/or 

premium, if any, may be less than expected, may be zero or may be the principal protected amount, if any (as specified in 

the relevant Final Terms); 

 (b) the inflation or price index itself and the way such inflation or price index is calculated may change in the future. There 

can be no assurance that the sponsor of the relevant inflation or price index will not change the method by which it 

calculates the index. In addition, changes in the way the inflation or price index is calculated could reduce the level of the 

index, lower the redemption amount, interest amount and/or premium, if any, payable on the Notes and consequently 

significantly reduce the value of the Notes. If the relevant inflation or price index is substantially altered or has been 

terminated and/or a substitute index is employed to calculate the redemption amount, interest amounts and/or premium, if 

any, payable on the Notes, as described in the applicable Final Terms, that substitution may adversely affect the value of 

the Notes; 

 (c) the historical levels of the relevant inflation or price index are not an indication of future levels of such index. Fluctuations 

and trends in the inflation or price index that may have occurred in the past are not necessarily indicative of fluctuations or 

trends that may occur in the future. Noteholders will receive the redemption amount, interest amounts and/or premium, if 
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any, which will be affected by changes in the relevant inflation or price index and such changes may be significant. 

Changes in the inflation or price index may be a result of various factors over which the relevant Issuer has no control; and 

 (d) where an ñadjustedò inflation or price index is being used in calculating the redemption amount, interest amounts and/or 

premium, if any, payable on the Notes, there is a risk that the adjustments that have been made by the sponsor of such 

ñadjustedò inflation or price index have not been made accurately in reducing the impact of seasonally and trends which 

affect inflation. Conversely, where a ñnon-adjustedò inflation or price index is being used in calculating the redemption 

amount, interest amounts and/or premium, if any, payable on the Notes, Noteholders should be aware that such ñnon-

adjustedò inflation or price index is subject to the effects of seasonality and trends which affect inflation. 

Equity -Linked Notes 

The interest amount and/or the redemption amount in relation to Equity-Linked Notes is linked to the performance of a share 

or of a basket of shares (the ñUnderlying Sharesò). An investment in these Notes entails significant risks not associated with a 

similar investment in fixed or floating rate debt securities. An investment in Equity-Linked Notes may bear similar market risks to 

a direct equity investment and investors should take advice accordingly. Investors should also note the risk factors relating to Notes 

in general and the risk factors relating to Structured Notes in general. 

Changes in the value of the Underlying Shares cannot be predicted. If so provided in the relevant Final Terms, the Equity-

Linked Notes may be subject to early redemption by reference to changes in the value of the Underlying Shares. If Equity-Linked 

Notes are redeemed prior to maturity, the value may be less than the nominal amount. 

No investigation has been made of the financial condition or creditworthiness of any issuer of the Underlying Shares or 

components thereof in connection with the issue of the Equity-Linked Notes. Prospective investors should obtain and evaluate 

information concerning the Underlying Shares and each issuer thereof as if they were investing directly in the Underlying Shares. 

Prospective investors should understand that the historical performance of the Underlying Shares or component thereof should not 

be viewed as predictive of any future performance. 

The value of Equity-Linked Notes prior to maturity is expected to depend on a number of factors including the performance 

achieved by the Underlying Shares until that time, prevailing market interest rates, macro-economic and micro-economic factors, 

general market volatility and time to maturity. Such factors interact in complex ways and may result in the price at which a 

Noteholder will be able to sell its Notes prior to maturity being at a substantial discount from the principal amount outstanding on 

the Notes. 

Investors in the Notes should note that an investment in Equity-Linked Notes is not the same as an investment in the 

Underlying Shares and does not (prior to settlement of any exchange of Equity-Linked Notes for the Underlying Shares if 

applicable) confer any legal or beneficial interest in the Underlying Shares, or any voting rights, rights to receive dividends or 

other rights that a holder of the Underlying Shares would have. 

In certain circumstances, the actions or omissions of the issuer or issuers of Underlying Shares to which the Equity-Linked 

Notes relate or for which the Equity-Linked Notes are exchangeable may adversely affect the rights of the Noteholders and/or the 

value of the Notes, including actions which may give rise to an adjustment to, or early redemption of the Notes. 

Fund-Linked Notes 

The redemption amount or, if applicable, the interest amount in relation to Fund-Linked Notes is linked to the performance of 

a unit, share or other interest in a fund (each a ñFund Interest Unitò) or a basket of Fund Interest Units. Such funds may include 

mutual funds, hedge funds, funds of hedge funds or any other types of fund in any jurisdiction, or any combination of the 

foregoing. Investments offering direct or indirect exposure to the performance of funds are generally considered to be particularly 

risky. 

An investment in Fund-Linked Notes entails significant risks not associated with a similar investment in fixed or floating rate 

debt securities. An investment in Fund-Linked Notes may bear similar market risks to a direct investment in funds and investors 

should take advice accordingly. Investors should also note the risks relating to the Notes in general and the risks relating to 

Structured Notes in general. 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 36 - 70-40523764 

 

Prospective investors in any Fund-Linked Notes should be aware that depending on the terms of the relevant Fund-Linked 

Notes (i) they may receive no or only a limited amount of interest, (ii) payment of principal or interest (if applicable) may occur at 

a different time than expected, (iii) except to the extent that the relevant Fund-Linked Notes are 100 per cent. principal protected at 

scheduled maturity, they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment and (iv) even if the Fund-Linked Notes are 100 

per cent. principal protected at scheduled maturity, they may still lose all or a substantial portion of their investment if they sell 

their Fund-Linked Notes prior to the Maturity Date or if the relevant Fund-Linked Notes are redeemed prior to the Maturity Date 

for any reason.  

Prospective investors should note that payments on redemption of Fund-Linked Notes at maturity or early redemption may be 

postponed up to a specified long stop date if the Issuer determines that a hypothetical investor in the relevant fund units or shares 

would not, having submitted a notice requesting redemption at the relevant time, have received the redemption proceeds on or prior 

to the date which is four Currency Business Days prior to the scheduled settlement date. In addition, if the specified long stop date 

is reached, for the purposes of determining the Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount or any other redemption 

amounts, as applicable, the affected fund interest units or shares will be deemed to have a zero value. 

Prospective investors should also be aware that, depending on the terms of the relevant Fund-Linked Notes, if one or more 

Fund Events occurs then Fund Interest Replacement (which requires the Calculation Agent to substitute the affected Fund Interest 

Units with other Fund Interest Units with similar characteristics, unless no successor Fund Interest Units have been identified 

within a specified period) will apply unless the Calculation Agent determines that Fund Interest Replacement is not appropriate or 

commercially reasonable in which case Calculation Agent Adjustment (which requires the Calculation Agent to make such 

adjustments to the terms of the relevant Fund-Linked Notes to account for such Fund Event as it considers appropriate (including, 

without limitation, to the calculation of and payment dates of amounts due under the Notes)) will apply unless the Calculation 

Agent determines that no adjustment it could make would produce a reasonable result in which case the Issuer shall redeem the 

Notes early at their Early Redemption Amount. The effect of a substitution of affected Fund Interest Units with other Fund Interest 

Units with similar characteristics may have an adverse effect on the return and risk profile of the relevant Fund-Linked Notes, and 

consequently, the value of such Notes. 

In addition, investors should note that if Fund-Linked Notes are redeemed following the occurrence of a Fund Event, the 

Redemption Amount they receive may be considerably less than the principal amount of the Notes and may even be zero. If the 

Fund-Linked Notes are principal protected (in whole or in part) at scheduled maturity, the Redemption Amount will be floored at 

the net present value of a payment of the protected amount at maturity. However investors should note that if the Fund-Linked 

Notes are not principal protected (in whole or in part) at scheduled maturity the Redemption Amount they receive may be 

considerably less than the amount which they invested and may even be zero. 

Consequently potential investors in Fund-Linked Notes should carefully consider the Fund Events in respect of such Fund-

Linked Notes. 

Changes in the value of the Fund Interest Units referenced by any Fund-Linked Notes cannot be predicted. In addition, the 

movements in the value of Fund Interest Units may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in 

interest rates, currencies or other indices and the timing of changes in the relevant value of the Fund Interest Units may affect the 

actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the 

price or prices of the units, shares or interests in the fund or funds, the greater the effect on yield. 

If the amount of principal and/or interest payable is determined in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or by 

reference to some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the value of the relevant Fund Interest Units on principal or (if 

applicable) interest payable will be magnified. 

Prospective investors should obtain and evaluate information concerning the relevant Fund Interest Units and the relevant 

fund(s) as if they were investing directly in those Fund Interest Units. Prospective investors should understand that the historical 

performance of any Fund Interest Units should not be viewed as predictive of any future performance. Prospective investors should 

carefully review the prospectus, information memorandum and/or offering circular (if any) issued by any relevant fund or funds 

before purchasing any Notes and, in particular, the risk factors or risk warnings set out therein. 

Prospective investors should also note that simply observing the performance or any trend in the performance of the 

underlying Fund Interest Units would not provide an accurate indication of the performance of the Notes. The performance of the 

Fund-Linked Notes may be less than or more than the performance of the underlying Fund Interest Units. 
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The value of Fund-Linked Notes prior to maturity is expected to depend on a number of factors including the performance 

achieved by the relevant Fund Interest Units until that time, prevailing market interest rates, macro-economic and micro-economic 

factors, general market volatility, volatility of the price of units or shares in the fund or funds and time to maturity. Such factors 

interact in complex ways and may result in the price at which a Noteholder will be able to sell its Notes prior to maturity being at a 

substantial discount from the principal amount outstanding on the Notes. The value of Fund Interest Units may be affected by 

economic, financial and political events in one or more jurisdictions, including factors affecting the exchange(s) or quotation 

system(s) (if any) on which any Fund Interest Units may be traded. In addition, the value of Fund Interest Units may be affected by 

the performance of the relevant fundôs service providers (each a ñService Providerò) including the fundôs investment manager(s) 

and/or adviser(s), administrator and custodian. None of the Issuer, the Dealer or any of their respective affiliates makes any 

representation as to the creditworthiness of any fund or any of its Service Providers. 

Investors in Fund-Linked Notes should note that an investment in Fund-Linked Notes is not the same as an investment in the 

relevant Fund Interest Units and does not confer any legal or beneficial interest in such Fund Interest Units, or any voting rights, 

rights to receive dividends or other rights that a holder of such Fund Interest Units would have. 

In certain circumstances, the actions or omissions of the fund or funds to which the Fund-Linked Notes relate or any Service 

Providers may adversely affect the rights of the Noteholders and/or the value of the Notes, including actions which may give rise 

to an adjustment to, or early redemption of, the Notes. 

None of the Issuer, the Dealer or any of their respective affiliates is responsible for the lawfulness or suitability of the 

acquisition of the Fund-Linked Notes by a prospective investor or purchaser of Notes or for compliance by a prospective investor 

or purchaser of Notes (whether it is acquiring the Notes in a principal or in a fiduciary capacity) with any law, regulation, directive 

or policy applicable to it or, if it is acquiring the Notes in a fiduciary capacity, the beneficiary. A prospective investor or purchaser 

of Notes may not rely on the Issuer, the Dealer or any of their respective affiliates when making determinations in relation to any 

of these matters. 

There are substantial risks in directly or indirectly investing in funds including, without limitation, the risks set out below. 

Prospective investors should note that references to funds below can refer both to the funds referenced in any Fund-Linked Notes 

and also to any funds in which any of those funds invests its assets from time to time. 

 (i) Regulatory supervision: mutual funds subject to high level of regulation; hedge funds are largely unregulated 

Mutual funds are generally subject to a high level of regulation and various compliance requirements including, but not 

limited to, the level of information disclosure, the scope of their investments and the types of assets in which they are allowed 

to invest. Mutual funds may therefore be subject to the risk that regulation may be amended such that the requirements 

imposed on the mutual fund may become onerous or impose additional costs which may consequently have an adverse effect 

on the value of the units of the mutual fund. 

Hedge funds are largely unregulated and are not usually subject to the mutual fund requirements to provide certain 

periodic and standardised pricing and valuation information to their investors. Hedge funds typically have very few restrictions 

on their investment powers. 

 (ii)  Lack of transparency and publicly available information  

Hedge funds, unlike more regulated mutual funds registered for distribution to the public, are subject to limited 

regulatory, disclosure and reporting requirements. Hedge funds might provide no transparency regarding their underlying 

investments (including sub-funds in a fund of funds structure) and it may therefore not be possible to monitor the specific 

investments made by the hedge fund or, in a fund of funds structure, to know whether the sub-fund investments are consistent 

with the hedge fundôs investment strategy or risk levels. No, or only a relatively small amount of, publicly available 

information about hedge funds, their holdings and performance, may be available. 

 (iii)  Leverage  

Mutual funds generally have upper limits on leverage. Hedge funds, however, may be leveraged and may be very highly 

leveraged. Hedge funds might not be limited in the extent to which they use various lines of credit and other forms of leverage 
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(for example, swaps, futures, options, repurchase agreements and margin transactions). Leverage presents the potential for a 

higher rate of return but also increases the volatility of the fund and increases the risk of a total loss of the amount invested. 

 (iv) Illiquid investments; Suspension of Subscriptions and Redemptions 

Funds may make investments which have very poor liquidity. For example, a fund may make investments which are 

difficult or impossible to transfer (as a result of legal restrictions or otherwise) or for which no liquid market exists. Illiquidity 

of investments could adversely affect a fundôs ability to meet redemption requests. Funds generally have a large discretion to 

suspend subscription for and/or redemption of shares or units therein for many reasons, which may include without limitation a 

lack of liquidity in its underlying investments. In addition, the more illiquid the investment the more likely a realisation of that 

investment will be on unfavourable terms, which could in turn have an adverse effect on the value and performance of the 

fund. 

 (v) Effect of Substantial Redemptions  

Substantial redemptions by holders of Fund Interest Units in a fund within a short period of time could require the fundôs 

investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s) to liquidate positions more rapidly than would otherwise be desirable, which could 

adversely affect the value of the fundôs assets. The resulting reduction in the fundôs assets could make it more difficult to 

generate a positive rate of return or to recoup losses due to a reduced equity base. 

 (vi) Short sales  

Funds might engage in short selling, which involves the sale of a security that it does not own made in the expectation that 

the price of that security is going to fall and the fund will then be able to cover the sale by buying the security back at a lower 

price. This may expose the fund to potentially unlimited risk of an increase in the price of such security, which could therefore 

result in a potentially unlimited loss. 

 (vii) Derivative financial instruments risk  

Due to the potential use of derivative financial instruments and structured products combined with the possibility of 

borrowing, the assets of a fund might not be enough to cover its commitments. 

 (viii) Concentration risk  

A fundôs assets and/or investments may be concentrated in a few markets, countries, industries, commodities, sectors of 

an economy or issuers. If so, adverse movements in a particular market, country, industry, commodity, economy or industry or 

in the value of the securities of a particular issuer could have a severely negative effect on the value of such a fund. In addition, 

a fund may use a single advisor or employ a single strategy, which could mean a lack of diversification and higher risk. 

 (ix) Investment in securities of issuers in emerging markets  

Some funds may invest in securities of issuers in emerging markets. Emerging markets are at an early stage of 

development. Such investment involves special risks including currency rate fluctuations, political and economic instability, 

foreign taxes and different regulatory, auditing and reporting standards. The political, regulatory and economic risks inherent 

in investments in emerging marketsô securities are significant and may differ in kind and degree from the risks presented by 

investments in the worldôs major securities markets. These may include greater price volatility, substantially less liquidity and 

controls on foreign investment and limitations on repatriation of invested capital. Costs relating to investment will also tend to 

be higher. Variations in interest rates will influence the value of funds investing in bonds and other fixed income securities. 

 (x) Role of investment adviser or manager; investment strategies 

Funds will generally have appointed one or more investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s) to pursue its investment 

strategies and the performance of the hedge fund will depend on the performance of the investments selected by those 

investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s). Investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s) generally have a large amount of discretion 

to invest the assets of the fund and there can be no assurance that investment decisions will be successful or profitable. 
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 (xi) Business Dependent Upon Key Individuals  

All investment decisions with respect to a fundôs assets are made by its investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s). Holders 

of Fund Interest Units in a fund may have no right or power to take part in the management of the fund. As a result, the success 

of the fund for the foreseeable future will depend largely upon the ability of the investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s). 

There is no assurance that the strategies employed by the fund will achieve attractive returns or will be successful. 

Additionally, should the principal decision makers of the investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s) no longer be associated with 

the investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s), die or become otherwise incapacitated for any period of time, the value or 

profitability of the fundôs investments may suffer. 

 (xii) Assets may be held with entities with limited regulatory obligations 

Some funds might appoint a bank, broker, prime broker or derivative counterparty to be responsible for clearing, 

financing and reporting services with respect to the securities transactions entered into by or on behalf of the fund. In certain 

cases such banks, brokers, prime brokers or derivative counterparties may not have the same capabilities, size and/or credit 

rating as a large European bank (and may in some cases have no credit rating at all) and may in some cases have no or limited 

regulatory obligations. If the insolvency of any such entity the fund may lose some or all of the investments held or entered 

into with such entity. 

 (xiii) Fee arrangements  

Funds typically have extensive and complex fee structures.  

A hedge fund would typically agree to pay a performance or incentive fee in addition to an advisory fee to its investment 

manager(s) and/or adviser(s). Any such performance or incentive fee may be substantial and, as it is usually linked to the 

performance of the hedge fund over the relevant period of time, may lead an investment manager and/or adviser to take riskier 

or more speculative approaches than would be the case if such fees were not paid to the investment manager and/or adviser, or 

were not linked to the performance of the hedge fund. 

Although mutual funds do not typically pay a performance or incentive fee in addition to an advisory fee to its investment 

manager(s) and/or adviser(s), mutual funds will generally pay fees that have been regulated by law. The regulations regarding 

the fees that may be paid by mutual funds may be subject to change, and if they are amended so as to impose additional fees on 

investors in mutual funds, this may have an adverse effect of the value of the units or shares in the mutual fund. 

In addition, a fund will usually be obliged to pay fees to its directors and to its other Service Providers (for example, its 

administrator and its custodian or similar entities) and also any legal, accounting, auditing and administrative charges, and any 

extraordinary expenses, in each case regardless of whether it realises profits. 

 (xiv) Currency and exchange risks and other risks  

Funds might be subject to currency and exchange risks in respect of assets held in other currencies, tax risks in respect of 

assets invested in other jurisdictions, political risks relating to political, social and economic factors which may affect their 

assets, which could be held in countries which may be subject to economic difficulties, political or social unrest. 

 (xv) Foreign exchange/currency risk  

Funds may invest their assets in securities denominated in a wide range of currencies and, consequently, the net asset 

value of the Fund Interest Units of such a Fund will fluctuate in accordance with the changes in the foreign exchange rate 

between the currency of such Fund Interest Unit and the currencies in which its investments are denominated. 

 (xvi) Investments in Affiliated or Related Entities  

A fund may invest a portion of its assets in investment funds, structured fund products, collateralized fund obligation 

transactions and/or with other accounts managed by the fundôs investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s), any of their affiliates 

and/or related parties. As a result, the investment manager(s) and/or adviser(s), any of their affiliates or related parties, may 
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receive fees based on these investments directly from the fund and, directly or indirectly, from such other investment funds, 

collateralized fund obligation transactions, structured hedge fund products or accounts in which the fund invests. 

 (xvii) Correlation with market performance  

Mutual funds typically have a higher correlation with the market performance than hedge funds and are typically 

structured so that the return on the Fund Interest Units in the mutual fund will reflect the general performance of market 

conditions. Investors should note that while mutual funds typically aim to achieve a performance which is better than the 

average market performance through the use of stock-picking skills or market timing or other strategies, there is no guarantee 

that the performance of a particular mutual fund will necessarily be better than the average market performance. As such, 

amounts due to investors in Fund-Linked Notes may be the same as (or worse than) general market performance and this 

amount could have been achieved at a lower cost through investments other than the Fund-Linked Notes. 

 (xviii) Operating histories  

Funds may have short or no operating histories, in which case it would not be possible to evaluate the merits of an 

investment in the fund based on past performance. In any event, past results are not necessarily indicative of future 

performance. No assurance can be given that a fund will perform well or that it will achieve its investment objectives. 

Substantial losses or total losses may be incurred by funds. 

Credit -Linked Notes 

 (i) General 

Investment in the Credit-Linked Notes is directed at investors who are conversant with the considerable risks involved in 

credit derivatives, who are willing to assume such risks, and who can absorb a partial or complete loss of principal and interest. 

The Credit-Linked Notes carry various risks including, without limitation, the insolvency risk of the relevant Issuer and, where 

applicable, the Guarantor and the insolvency, payment default and credit risk of the Reference Entities. 

The amount of principal and/or interest payable in respect of the Credit-Linked Notes is dependent upon whether certain 

events ("Credit Events") have occurred with respect to one or more entities comprising Reference Entities (each, a 

"Reference Entity" and collectively the "Reference Entities" or the "Reference Portfolio").  If one or more Credit Events 

occur in relation to the Reference Entities, the amount of principal to be redeemed under the Notes upon maturity or early 

redemption and the amounts of interest under the Notes payable until maturity and early redemption is highly likely to be 

reduced.  Accordingly, the amount payable to investors on redemption may be substantially less than the initial principal 

amount of the Notes and may even be zero. 

Consequently, each prospective purchaser of the Notes should understand that the Notes are not principal or coupon 

guaranteed and it may lose, in part or in whole, amounts invested in the Notes, for instance, but not limited to, as the result of a 

Credit Event occurring with respect to one or more Reference Entities. An investor should not consider purchasing these Notes 

without taking detailed advice from a specialised professional adviser. 

In the case of Credit-Linked Notes with physical settlement, Noteholders may receive in lieu of any payment of principal, 

certain securities of the Reference Entities which may have a market value substantially less than that of the initial investment 

of such Noteholder. Prospective investors should note that they may be required to take delivery of these securities and should 

ensure that they have the capacity to receive such obligations on purchasing the Notes. 

Where cash settlement or auction settlement applies, the occurrence of a Credit Event in relation to any Reference Entity 

from time to time may result in a redemption of the Notes in a reduced principal amount or at zero, and, (if applicable) in a 

reduction of the amount on which interest is calculated. 

Where the Notes provide for physical delivery, the relevant Issuer may determine that the specified assets to be delivered 

are either (a) assets which for any reason (including, without limitation, failure of the relevant clearance system or due to any 

law, regulation, court order or market conditions or the non-receipt of any requisite consents with respect to the delivery of 

assets which are loans) it is impossible or illegal to deliver on the specified settlement date or (b) assets which the relevant 
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Issuer and/or any affiliate has not received under the terms of any transaction entered into by the relevant Issuer and/or such 

affiliate to hedge the relevant Issuerôs obligations in respect of the Notes. Any such determination may delay settlement in 

respect of the Notes and/or cause the obligation to deliver such specified assets to be replaced by an obligation to pay a cash 

amount which, in either case, may affect the value of the Notes and, in the case of payment of a cash amount, will affect the 

timing of the valuation of such Notes and as a result, the amount of principal payable on redemption. Prospective Investors 

should review the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the applicable Final Terms to ascertain whether and how such 

provisions should apply to the Notes. 

The terms and conditions of the Credit-Linked Notes provide an option for the Calculation Agent to adjust the applicable 

credit-linked terms and conditions if the relevant Issuer to adhere to any protocols published by ISDA after the Issue Date of 

the relevant Credit-Linked Notes.  These protocols may set out alternative settlement or valuation methods in relation to a 

Reference Entity.  The Calculation Agent is under no obligation to inform Noteholders of any changes that it may make to the 

applicable credit-linked terms and condition and is not required to take the interests of Noteholders into account when making 

such changes.  In certain circumstances this may reduce the amount that Noteholders actually receive on redemption of the 

Credit-linked Note in comparison to what they might have received had the relevant terms and conditions not been altered.   

The relevant Issuer's obligations in respect of Credit-Linked Notes are irrespective of the existence or amount of the relevant 

Issuer's and/or any affiliates' credit exposure to a Reference Entity and the Issuer and/or any affiliate need not suffer any loss 

nor provide evidence of any loss as a result of the occurrence of a Credit Event. 

Investors in the Notes have to make their own analysis as to the suitability of investment in the Notes, the terms and 

conditions of which are set out in the relevant Final Terms, and may not rely on any prior representations made which would 

not be in accordance with the information described in the relevant Final Terms. 

 (ii)  Limited liquidity of Credit-Linked Notes  

There can be no assurance that a secondary market for the Notes will develop or, if a secondary market does develop, that 

it will provide the Noteholders with liquidity or that it will continue for the life of the Notes. 

No person has granted any undertaking to provide any secondary market for the Notes. 

Consequently, any purchaser of the Notes must be prepared to hold the Notes for an indefinite period of time or until final 

redemption or maturity of the Notes. The purchase of the Notes is only suitable for investors who can bear the risks associated 

with a lack of liquidity in the Notes. 

 (iii)  Credit observation period  

Holders of the Notes may suffer a loss of some or all of the principal amount of the Notes in respect of one or more Credit 

Events that occur prior to the Trade Date or the Issue Date. Neither the Calculation Agent or the Issuer nor any of their 

respective affiliates has any responsibility to inform any Noteholder, or avoid or mitigate the effects of a Credit Event that has 

taken place prior to the Trade Date or the Issue Date. 

 (iv) Actions of Reference Entities  

Actions of Reference Entities (for example, merger or demerger or the repayment or transfer of indebtedness) may 

adversely affect the value of the Notes. Holders of the Notes should be aware that the Reference Entities to which the value of 

the Notes is exposed, and the terms of such exposure, may change over the terms of the Notes. 

 (v) Limited provision of information about the Reference Entities 

This Prospectus does not provide any information with respect to the Reference Entities. Investors should conduct their 

own investigation and analysis with respect to the creditworthiness of Reference Entities and the likelihood of the occurrence 

of a Succession Event or Credit Event. 
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Reference Entities may not be subject to regular reporting requirements under United Kingdom securities laws. The 

Reference Entities may report information in accordance with different disclosure and accounting standards. Consequently, the 

information available for such Reference Entities may be different from, and in some cases less than, the information available 

for entities that are subject to the reporting requirements under the United Kingdom securities laws. None of the Issuer or the 

Calculation Agent or any of their respective affiliates make any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of any 

information available with respect to the Reference Entities. 

None of the relevant Issuers or the Calculation Agent or any of their respective affiliates will have any obligation to keep 

investors informed as to any matters with respect to the Reference Entities or any of their obligations, including whether or not 

circumstances exist that give rise to the possibility of the occurrence of a Credit Event or a Succession Event with respect to 

the Reference Entities. 

 (vi)  Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee and Market Auctions 

The institutions of the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee have the ability to make determinations that may 

materially affect the Noteholders, such as the occurrence of a Credit Event or a Succession Event.  The Credit Derivatives 

Determinations Committee may be able to make determinations without action or knowledge of the Noteholders.  

Noteholders may have no role in the composition of the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee or the process for 

selecting institutions to participate on the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee from time to time.  

Noteholders may have no recourse against either the institutions serving on the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee 

or the external reviewers. Institutions serving on the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee and the external reviewers, 

among others, disclaim any duty of care or liability arising in connection with the performance of duties or the provision of 

advice under the Rules (as defined below), except in the case of gross negligence, fraud or wilful misconduct.  Furthermore, 

the institutions on the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee do not owe any duty to the Noteholders and the 

Noteholders will be prevented from pursuing claims with respect to actions taken by such institutions under the Rules.  

Noteholders should also be aware that institutions serving on the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee have no duty 

to research or verify the veracity of information on which a specific determination is based. In addition, the Credit Derivatives 

Determinations Committee is not obligated to follow previous determinations and, therefore, could reach a conflicting 

determination on a similar set of facts. If any of the Issuers or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any of their respective affiliates 

serve as a member of the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee at any time, then they will act without regard to the 

interests of the Noteholders. 

Noteholders are responsible for obtaining information relating to deliberations of the Credit Derivatives Determinations 

Committee. Neither of the Issuers or, if applicable, the Guarantor nor any of their respective affiliates shall be obliged to 

inform the Noteholders of such information (other than as expressly provided in respect of the Notes, if applicable). 

Investors should read the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees Rules (the "Rules") set forth in Annex A to the 2009 

ISDA Credit Derivatives Determinations Committees and Auction Settlement Supplement to the 2003 ISDA Credit 

Derivatives Definitions (published on July 14, 2009), as amended from time to time, and reach their own views prior to 

making any investment decisions. Investors should however note that the Rules may be amended from time to time without the 

consent or input of the Noteholders and the powers of the Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee may be expanded or 

modified as a result.  

If a Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee publishes auction settlement terms in respect of a Reference Entity (and the 

relevant seniority of the Reference Obligation), then, if auction settlement applies to the Notes, the Calculation Agent will 

determine the Final Price of the Reference Obligation in accordance with such auction settlement terms and may amend any 

other terms to be consistent with the provisions of such auction settlement terms. The losses determined pursuant to a market 

auction process may be greater than the losses which would have been determined in the absence of the auction. In particular, 

the auction process may be affected by technical factors or operational errors which would not otherwise apply or may be the 

subject of actual or attempted manipulation. Auctions may be conducted by ISDA or by a relevant third party. Neither the 

Calculation Agent, the Issuer nor any of their respective affiliates has any responsibility for verifying that any auction price is 

reflective of current market values, for establishing any auction methodology or for verifying that any auction has been 
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conducted in accordance with its rules.  If the Calculation Agent or the Issuer or any of their respective affiliate thereof 

participates in any auction, then it will do so without regard to the interests of the holders of the Notes. Such participation may 

have a material effect on the outcome of the relevant auction. 

 (vii) Conflicts of interest, Fortis Bank  

Potential investors should pay attention to the fact that Fortis Bank is arranger, Issuer or Guarantor, and may be 

Calculation Agent, protection buyer under a credit default swap in relation to an identical Reference Portfolio (in such 

capacity, the ñCredit Default Swap Counterpartyò), and is underwriting the issue of the Notes, so that various potential and 

actual conflicts of interest may arise. In order to mitigate the occurrence of such conflicts of interest, Fortis Bank, when acting 

in its various capacities in connection with the issue of the Notes, shall comply with the standards of conduct applicable 

generally to banks in Belgium, as applied by Fortis Bankôs internal compliance procedure. Fortis Bank acting in such 

capacities shall have only the duties and responsibilities expressly agreed to by it in its relevant capacity and shall not, by 

virtue of its acting in any other capacity, be deemed to have other duties or responsibilities or be deemed to hold a standard of 

care other than as expressly provided with respect to each such capacity. 

In case of the occurrence of a conflict of interest as described above, the Credit Default Swap Counterparty shall not be 

obliged to give priority to the interests of the Issuer. For the avoidance of doubt, the Credit Default Swap Counterparty shall be 

under no obligation to prioritise the Issuer over any other issuer involved in its commercial arrangements outside the 

arrangements relating to the Notes. 

As Calculation Agent, Fortis Bank acts solely as agent of the Issuer and as Guarantor (in case of Notes issued by BP2F) 

and it does not assume any obligation, relationship of agency, trust or other responsibility toward the Noteholders. Therefore, 

potential conflicts of interest may exist between the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders, including with respect to certain 

determinations and judgments that the Calculation Agent may make under the Conditions, which may influence the amount 

receivable upon redemption of the Notes and the amount of interest receivable. 

As Calculation Agent, Fortis Bank will make certain determinations and judgments in good faith and in a commercially 

reasonably manner. Such determinations and judgments including the valuation of a Credit Event on a Reference Entity, which 

will impact the calculation of the coupon and the redemption amount. The interests of Fortis Bank as Credit Swap 

Counterparty do not correspond with and can be opposite to the interests of the Noteholders. 

 (viii) Conflicts of Interest, BP2F  

BP2F, as Issuer, may from time to time enter into credit default swap agreements with Fortis Bank or other counterparties 

in respect of Notes which it issues. Fortis Bank, as guarantor of notes issued by BP2F, may enter into credit default swap 

agreements with other counterparties. BP2F, as Issuer, may issue further credit-linked notes, involving the same, similar or 

other Reference Entities. 

 (ix) Independent review and advice  

Each prospective purchaser of Notes must determine, based on its own independent review (including as to the financial 

condition and affairs and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer and, where applicable the Guarantor, 

any Reference Entity and the terms of the Notes) and such professional advice (including, without limitation, tax, accounting, 

credit, legal and regulatory advice) as it deems appropriate under the circumstances, whether an investment in the Notes is 

appropriate in its particular circumstances. 

In so doing, and without restricting the generality of the preceding paragraph, such prospective purchaser must determine 

that its acquisition and holding of the Notes (i) is fully consistent with its (or if it is acquiring the Notes in a fiduciary capacity, 

the beneficiaryôs) financial needs, objectives and condition, (ii) complies and is fully consistent with its articles of association 

and with all investment policies, guidelines and restrictions applicable to it (whether acquiring the Notes as principal or in a 

fiduciary capacity) and (iii) is a fit, proper and suitable investment for it (or if it is acquiring the Notes in a fiduciary capacity, 

for the beneficiary), notwithstanding the clear and substantial risks inherent in investing in or holding the Notes. 
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Neither the relevant Final Terms, any other parts of the Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection 

with any Notes (i) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (ii) should be considered as a 

recommendation or constituting an invitation by the relevant Issuer, or any other person that any recipient of the Final Terms, 

any other part of the Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with any of them should purchase any 

Notes. 

In case of any doubt about the content or the meaning of the Final Terms, the functioning of the Notes or about the risk 

involved in purchasing the Notes, investors should consult a specialised financial adviser or abstain from investing. 

Neither the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger, the Calculation Agent, the Delivery Agent, the Credit Swap 

Counterparty, the Paying Agents, Fiscal Agent or any other party makes any representation as to the credit quality of any 

Reference Entity. Any of such persons may have acquired, or during the term of the Notes may acquire, non-public 

information with respect to such Reference Entity. None of such persons is under any obligation to make available any 

information relating to, or keep under review on the Noteholdersô behalf, the business, financial conditions, prospects, 

creditworthiness or status of affairs of any Reference Entity or conduct any investigation or due diligence into any Reference 

Entity.  

(x) Increased credit risk in "Nth-to-default" Credit-Linked Notes 

Where the Notes are Nth-to-Default CLNs, the Notes will be subject to redemption in full as described above upon the 

occurrence of a Credit Event in relation to the nth Reference Entity.  

 (xi) Concentration of credit risk 

the Notes are Nth-to-Default CLNs or Linear Basket CLNs, the credit risk to investors in the Notes may be increased, amongst 

other things, as a result of the concentration of Reference Entities in a particular industry sector or geographic area, or the 

exposure of the Reference Entities to similar financial or other risks as other Reference Entities. 

 (xii) Issuer and Calculation Agent rights 

Each Issuer will exercise its rights under the terms of the Notes, including in particular any right to designate a Credit Event 

and any right to select obligations of the affected Reference Entity for valuation or delivery, in its own interests and those of its 

affiliates, and not in the interests of investors in the Notes. The exercise of such rights in such manner, for example by the 

selection of the eligible obligations of the Reference Entity having the lowest possible market value for valuation or delivery, 

as applicable, may result in an increased credit loss for holders of the Notes. 

The determination by the Calculation Agent of any amount or of any state of affairs, circumstance, event or other matter, or the 

formation of any opinion or the exercise of any discretion required or permitted to be determined, formed or exercised by the 

Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding on the Noteholders. In performing its duties 

pursuant to the Notes and making any determinations expressed to be made by it, for example, as to substitute Reference 

Obligations or Successors, the Calculation Agent shall act in its sole and absolute discretion and is under no obligation to act in 

the interests of the Noteholders, nor will it be liable to account for any profit or other benefit which may accrue to it as a result 

of such determinations. The Calculation Agent is not bound to follow, or act in accordance with, any determination of the 

relevant Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee. 

 (xiii ) Deferral of payments 

In certain circumstances, for example where (i) a Credit Event has occurred and the related credit loss has not been determined 

as at the relevant date for payment, (ii) where a potential Credit Event exists as at the scheduled maturity of the Notes, or (iii) 

pending a resolution of a Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee, payment of the redemption amount of the Notes 

and/or interest on the Notes may be deferred for a material period in whole or part without compensation to the holders of the 

Notes. 

 (xiv) Valuation 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 45 - 70-40523764 

 

If the Notes are cash settled, then, following the occurrence of a Credit Event, the Calculation Agent may be required to seek 

quotations in respect of selected obligations of the affected Reference Entity. Quotations obtained may be "bid-side" - that is, 

they may be reduced to take account of a bid-offer spread charged by the relevant dealer. Such quotations may not be 

available, or the level of such quotations may be substantially reduced as a result of illiquidity in the relevant markets or as a 

result of factors other than the credit risk of the affected Reference Entity (for example, liquidity constraints affecting market 

dealers). Accordingly, any quotations so obtained may be significantly lower than the value of the relevant obligation which 

would be determined by reference to (for example) the present value of related cash flows. Quotations may be deemed to be 

zero in the event that no such quotations are available. 

Where credit losses are determined on the basis of a market protocol, such losses may be greater than the losses which would 

have been determined in the absence of such protocol.  If the Calculation Agent or any affiliate thereof participates in any 

auction for the purposes of such a protocol, then it will do so without regard to the interests of the holders of the Notes.  Such 

participation may have a material effect on the outcome of the relevant auction.  

 (xv) "Cheapest-to-Deliver" risk 

Since the Issuer, as buyer of protection, has discretion to choose the portfolio of obligations to be valued or delivered 

following a Credit Event in respect of a Reference Entity where Cash or Physical Settlement apply, it is likely that the portfolio 

of obligations selected will be obligations of the Reference Entity with the lowest market value that are permitted to be 

selected pursuant to the Notes. This could result in a lower recovery value and hence greater losses for investors in the Notes. 

 (xvi) No information 

None of the Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Calculation Agent or any other party is obliged to disclose to holders of 

the Notes any information which they may have at the Issue Date or receive thereafter in relation to any Reference Entity. 

 (xvii) No interest in obligations of Reference Entities 

The Notes do not constitute an acquisition by the holders of the Notes of any interest in any obligation of a Reference Entity. 

The relevant Issuer does not grant any security interest over any such obligation. 
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INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  

The following documents shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus: 

1. The 2011 annual report of Fortis Bank including, in particular, the audited annual financial statements of Fortis Bank, 

including, among other things: 

 (a) the audited consolidated profit and loss account, balance sheet and statement of net 
income and changes in assets and liabilities recognized directly in equity of Fortis Bank 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 pages 48-50 

(b) the audited consolidated statement of cash flows of Fortis Bank for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011 pages 51 

(c) the notes to the consolidated balance sheet and income statement for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011 

pages 75-79, 116-140 and 149-
200 

(d) the joint statutory auditorôs report to the general shareholdersôs meeting on the 
consolidated financial statements of the company Fortis Bank SA/NV as of and for the 
year ended 31 December 2011 (including their opinion with explanatory paragraphs) pages 201-204 

(e)  the section headed óIndemnification of Directorsô describing decisions of the Board of 
Fortis Bank of 13 January 2011 and 26 May 2011 pages 212-213 

 

2. The 2010 annual report of Fortis Bank including, in particular, the audited annual financial statements of Fortis Bank, 

including, among other things: 

 (a) the audited consolidated profit and loss account, balance sheet and income statement of 
Fortis Bank for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 pages 41-42 

(b) the audited consolidated cash flow statement of Fortis Bank for the financial year ended 
31 December 2010 pages 44 

(c) the notes to the consolidated balance sheet and income statement for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2010 

pages 68-72, 108-129 and 137-
196 

(d) the unqualified statutory auditorôs report of the joint statutory auditors on the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (including their opinion with 
explanatory paragraphs) submitted to the General Shareholderôs Meeting of Fortis Bank pages 197-200 

(e)  the section headed óIndemnification of Directorsô describing decisions of the Board of 
Fortis Bank of 2 December 2010 and 13 January 2011 pages 231-232 

(f)  the section headed 'Information related to Article 524 of the Belgian Companies code 
providing additional information on transactions with BNP Paribas  pages 233-248 

 

3. The 2011 audited annual accounts of BP2F, including, among other things: 
 

(a) the balance sheet and profit and loss account  Pages 15-17 

(b) the notes to the annual accounts Pages 18-25 

(c) the unqualified auditorôs report to the audited annual accounts for the financial year ended 
31 December 2011 Pages 13-14 
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4.    The 2010 audited annual accounts of BP2F, including, among other things: 
 

(a) the balance sheet and profit and loss account  Pages 12-13 

(b) the notes to the annual accounts Pages 14-21 

(c) the unqualified auditorôs report to the audited annual accounts for the financial year ended 
31 December 2010 

 
Pages 3-4 

5. The unaudited cash flow statements of BP2F for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 and, in respect of 

each, the agreed-upon procedures-style report thereon issued by PricewaterhouseCoopers S.à r.l. as independent auditor 

(réviseur d'entreprises) and as approved independent auditor (réviseur d'entreprises agréé);  

6. The terms and conditions set out on pages 8 to 26 of the offering circular dated 5 September 2003 relating to the Programme 

under the heading ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò (the ñ2003 Conditionsò); 

7. The terms and conditions set out on pages 8 to 26 of the offering circular dated 3 September 2004 relating to the Programme 

under the heading ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò (the ñ2004 Conditionsò); 

8. The terms and conditions set out on pages 20 to 71 of the base prospectus dated 3 November 2005 relating to the Programme 

under the heading ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò (the ñ2005 Conditionsò); 

9. The terms and conditions set out on pages 27 to 125 of the base prospectus dated 29 September 2006 relating to the 

Programme under the heading ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò (the ñ2006 Conditionsò); 

10. The terms and conditions set out on pages 26 to 142 of the base prospectus dated 9 July 2007 relating to the Programme under 

the heading ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò (the ñ2007 Conditionsò); 

11. The terms and conditions set out on page 36 to 195 of the base prospectus dated 23 September 2008 relating to the Programme 

under the heading ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò (the ñ2008 Conditionsò);  

12. The terms and conditions set out on page 46 to 208 of the base prospectus dated 17 June 2009 relating to the Programme under 

the heading ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò (the ñ2009 Conditionsò); 

13. The terms and conditions set out on page 50 to 240 of the base prospectus dated 17 June 2010 relating to the Programme under 

the heading ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò (the ñ2010 Conditionsò); and 

14. The terms and conditions set out on page 53 to 194 of the base prospectus dated 17 June 2011 relating to the Programme under 

the heading ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò (the ñ2011 Conditionsò). 

Apart from the information itemised in the table above, information contained in the documents which have been incorporated 

by reference have been included for informational purposes only. This Base Prospectus, together with applicable Final Terms 

issued in respect of each Tranche of Notes, may only be used in connection with the offer, sale and admission to listing, trading 

and/or quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system of Notes in an aggregate principal amount of not 

more than EUR 30,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) outstanding at any time. 

Copies of this Base Prospectus (and all documents forming part thereof) are available free of charge from the principal offices 

of the respective Paying Agents and the Listing Agent in Luxembourg and the respective registered offices of the Issuers. In 

addition, this Base Prospectus, the documents incorporated by reference as stated above, any Supplements to this Base Prospectus 

and the Final Terms of any Tranche admitted to listing on the official list and to trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market will 

be available in electronic form on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) (in the case of Notes admitted 

to the Official List and admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market), on the website of NYSE Euronext 

(www.nyx.com) (in the case of Notes admitted to the Official List and admitted to trading on the regulated market of NYSE 

Euronext Amsterdam or NYSE Euronext Brussels). 

http://www.nyx.com/
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FINAL TERMS AND DRAWDOWN PROSPECTUS  

In this section the expression ñnecessary informationò means, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, the information necessary 

to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects 

of the Issuers and the Guarantor and of the rights attaching to the Notes. In relation to the different types of Notes which may be 

issued under the Programme, the Issuers and the Guarantor have endeavoured to include in this Base Prospectus all of the 

necessary information except for information relating to the Notes which is not known at the date of this Base Prospectus and 

which can only be determined at the time of an individual issue of a Tranche of Notes. 

Any information relating to the Notes which is not included in this Base Prospectus and which is required in order to complete 

the necessary information in relation to a Tranche of Notes will therefore be contained either in the relevant Final Terms or in a 

Drawdown Prospectus. Such information will be contained in the relevant Final Terms unless any of such information constitutes a 

significant new factor relating to the information contained in this Base Prospectus in which case such information, together with 

all of the other necessary information in relation to the relevant series of Notes, will be contained in a Drawdown Prospectus. 

For a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of Final Terms, those Final Terms will, for the purposes of that Tranche only, 

supplement the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and this Base Prospectus and must be read in conjunction with this Base 

Prospectus. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of Final Terms are the 

Terms and Conditions of the Notes as supplemented, amended and/or replaced to the extent described in the relevant Final Terms 

or Drawdown Prospectus, as the case may be. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the 

subject of a Drawdown Prospectus will be the Conditions as supplemented, amended and/or replaced to the extent described in the 

relevant Drawdown Prospectus. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown Prospectus, each reference 

in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the relevant Final Terms shall be read and construed as a 

reference to such information being specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the context requires 

otherwise. 

An Issuer and, if applicable, the Guarantor, may agree with any Dealer that Notes may be issued, offered to the public, and/or 

admitted to trading on a regulated market in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes described in this 

Base Prospectus, in which event a supplement to the Base Prospectus or a Drawdown Prospectus, will be submitted for approval to 

the relevant competent authority and will be made available. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown 

Prospectus, each reference in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the relevant Final Terms shall be 

read and construed as a reference to such information being specified or identified in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the 

context requires otherwise. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a 

Drawdown Prospectus will be the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as supplemented, amended and/or replaced to the extent 

described in the relevant Drawdown Prospectus. 

In accordance with Article 5.3 of the Prospectus Directive, the Drawdown Prospectus will be drawn up as a single document, 

incorporating by reference, if applicable, the relevant part of the Base Prospectus. 

The Issuers and the Guarantor have undertaken in connection with the admission to listing on the official list and to trading of 

the Notes on the Luxembourg Regulated Market, and/or the admission to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other competent 

authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, or/and in connection with an offer to the public of Notes, that if at any time 

there shall occur any significant new factor which is not reflected in this Base Prospectus or any supplements thereto and/or there 

shall be any material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the information included in this Base Prospectus or any supplements thereto, 

in each case, which is capable of affecting the assessment of the Notes, the Issuers and the Guarantor will prepare or procure the 

preparation of and make available a supplement to this Base Prospectus or, as the case may be, a new Base Prospectus for use in 

connection with any subsequent issue of Notes to be offered to the public or/and admitted to listing on the official list and to 

trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market and/or admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other competent 

authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system. If the terms of the Programme are modified or amended in a manner which 

would make the Base Prospectus inaccurate or misleading, a new Base Prospectus or supplement will be prepared. 
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME  

 

The following description of key features of the Programme is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Base 

Prospectus. The Notes may be issued on such terms as may be agreed between the relevant Dealer(s) and the Issuer(s) and, unless 

otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to any particular Tranche or Series, will be subject to the Terms and 

Conditions set out below. Each Series of Notes will be subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives and 

subject to obtaining any appropriate official or other consents. 
 

Issuers:  Fortis Bank and BP2F.  
  

Guarantor:   Fortis Bank (in respect of Notes issued by BP2F).  
  

Description:  Euro Medium Term Note Programme.  
  

Guarantee:  Each of the Notes issued by BP2F have the benefit of a guarantee (the 

ñGuaranteeò) from the Guarantor.  
  

Arranger:   Fortis Bank NV/SA.  
  

Dealer:  Fortis Bank NV/SA and such other Dealers as may be appointed from time to 

time by the Issuer in respect of one or more Tranche of Notes or in respect of the 

whole programme.  
  

Fiscal Agent and Principal Paying Agent:  BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 
  

Domiciliary Agent:   Fortis Bank NV/SA.  
  

Alternative Principal Paying Agent:  Fortis Bank NV/SA.  
  

Paying Agents:  Fortis Bank NV/SA 

 
  

Luxembourg Listing Agent:  BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 
  

Amsterdam Listing Agent:   Fortis Bank NV/SA, or such other person appointed specified as an Amsterdam 

Listing Agent in respect of any issue of Notes in the applicable final terms 
  

Brussels Listing Agent:   Fortis Bank NV/SA, or such other person appointed specified as a Brussels 

Listing Agent in respect of any issue of Notes in the applicable final terms 
  

Final Terms or Drawdown Prospectus:  Notes issued under the Programme may be issued either (1) pursuant to this Base 

Prospectus and completed by a set of Final Terms or (2) pursuant to a separate 

prospectus prepared in connection with a particular Tranche of Notes (a 

ñDrawdown Prospectusò) as more fully described in the section entitled ñFinal 

Terms and Drawdown Prospectusesò.  
  

Terms and Conditions:  Final Terms will be prepared in respect of each Tranche of Notes a copy of which 

will, in the case of Notes to be admitted to listing on the official list and to trading 

on the Luxembourg Regulated Market be delivered to the Luxembourg Stock 

Exchange and in the case of Notes to be admitted to listing, trading and/or 

quotation by any other competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation 

system, be delivered to such competent authority, stock exchange and/or 

quotation system. The terms and conditions applicable to each Tranche will be 

those set out herein under ñTerms and Conditions of the Notesò as supplemented, 

modified or replaced by the relevant Final Terms. In case of offer to the public, 

the Final Terms will be filed with the relevant competent authority as soon as 

practicable and if possible in advance of the beginning of the offer.  
  

Size:  This Base Prospectus, together with applicable Final Terms issued in respect of 

each Tranche of Notes, may only be used in connection with the offer, sale or/and 
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admission to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock 

exchange and/or quotation system of Notes in an aggregate principal amount of 

not more than EUR 30,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies at the 

date of issue) outstanding at any time, subject to any duly authorised increase.  
  

Currencies:  Notes may be issued in U.S. dollars, Canadian dollars, Australian dollars, New 

Zealand dollars, Sterling, Euro, Japanese yen, Swedish kronor, Danish kroner, 

Hungarian Forints, New Turkish Lira, Russian Rouble or in any other currencies 

if the relevant Issuer and the Dealers so agree, subject in each case to all 

necessary consents being obtained and, subject to compliance with all relevant 

laws, regulations and directives.  
  

Maturities:   Any maturity or no fixed maturity date, subject, in relation to specific currencies, 

to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank 

requirements.  
  

   If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year and either (a) the issue proceeds 

are received by the relevant Issuer in the United Kingdom or (b) the activity of 

issuing the Notes is carried on from an establishment maintained by that Issuer in 

the United Kingdom, such Notes must: (i) have a minimum redemption value of 

£100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) and be issued only to persons 

whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or 

disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their 

businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose 

of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or 

(ii)  be issued in other circumstances which do not constitute a contravention of 

section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the ñFSMAò) by that 

Issuer.  
  

Issue Price:  Notes may be issued at par or at a discount or premium to par or with a zero 

coupon as specified in the relevant Final Terms. Partly-paid Notes may also be 

issued, the issue price of which will be payable in two or more installments. The 

price and amount of Notes to be issued under the Programme will be determined 

by the relevant Issuer, where applicable, the Guarantor, and the relevant Dealer(s) 

at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing market conditions.  
  

Method of Issue:  The Notes will be issued in one or more Series (which may be issued on the same 

date or which may be issued in more than one Tranche on different dates). The 

Notes with respect to each Series will either mature on the same date or have no 

fixed maturity date, bear interest (if any) on the same basis and otherwise be 

subject to identical terms and may be issued in Tranches on a continuous basis 

with, save as mentioned below, no minimum issue size. Further Notes may be 

issued as part of an existing Series.  
  

Fixed Interest Rate Notes:  Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified 

in the relevant Final Terms and at maturity (if any).  
  

Floating Rate Notes:  Floating Rate Notes will bear interest set separately for each Series by reference 

to LIBOR, LIBID, LIMEAN or EURIBOR (or such other benchmark as may be 

specified in the relevant Final Terms) as adjusted for any applicable margin. 

Interest periods will be specified in the relevant Final Terms.  
  

Equity -Linked Notes:  Payments of principal or of interest in respect of Equity-Linked Notes may be 

calculated by reference to a share or a basket of shares or to such other factors or 

formulae referencing a share or a basket of shares as the Issuer and the relevant 

Dealer may agree. Equity-Linked Notes will not be linked to the equity of the 

Issuer nor will they be linked to the equity of companies controlled by Fortis 
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Bank.  
  

Credit -Linked Notes:  Notes with respect to which payment of principal and interest is linked to the 

credit of a specified Reference Entity or Reference Entities will be issued on such 

terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and 

specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

 

If a Credit Event occurs with respect to one of the specified Reference Entities 

and the Conditions to Settlement are satisfied during the Notice Delivery Period, 

each Credit-Linked Note will be redeemed by (A) the payment of its pro rata 

share of the Auction Settlement Amount, if the applicable Settlement Method is 

Auction Settlement and no Fallback Settlement Event occurs (in which case, each 

Credit-Linked Note will be redeemed in accordance with the applicable Fallback 

Settlement Method), (B) the payment of its pro rata share of the Cash Settlement 

Amount, if the applicable Settlement Method is Cash Settlement, or (C) the 

Delivery of a pro rata share of the Deliverable Obligations, if the applicable 

Settlement Method is Physical Settlement or (D) as otherwise specified in the 

Final Terms.   

 

Payments of interest in respect of Credit-Linked Notes may cease or be 

suspended upon the occurrence of certain events.   
  

Index-Linked Notes:  Payments of principal in respect of Index-Linked Redemption Amount Notes or 

of interest in respect of Index-Linked Interest Notes will be calculated by 

reference to such index and/or formula or to changes in the price of securities or 

commodities or to such other factors as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer may 

agree.  
  

Zero Coupon Notes:  Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their principal amount or at a discount to 

par and will not bear interest.  
  

Variable Coupon Amount Notes:  The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Variable Coupon Amount 

Notes will specify the basis for calculating the amounts of interest payable, which 

may be by reference to indexes, shares, reference rates or formula or as otherwise 

provided in the relevant Final Terms.  
  

Fixed Redemption Amount Notes:  Fixed Redemption Amount Notes may be redeemable at par, at a premium to par 

or at a discount to par by specifying the redemption amount in the relevant Final 

Terms.  
  

Variable Redemption Notes:  The Final Terms in respect of each issue of Variable Redemption Amount Notes 

should specify the basis for calculating the redemption amounts payable, which 

may be calculated by reference to indexes, shares, reference rates or formula or as 

otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms. The redemption at maturity can 

be done at par, at an amount that is above or below the nominal amount of the 

Notes, or by delivery of shares, bonds or loans.  
  

Fund-Linked Notes:  Payments in respect of principal (whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of 

Fund-Linked Notes will be calculated by reference to units, interests or shares in 

a single fund or basket of funds on such terms as may be agreed between the 

Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.  
  

   Fund-Linked Notes may be subject to (a) substitution of a fund with a 

replacement fund (b) adjustment (including as to the valuation of the underlying 

fund interest units and the calculation and due date for payment of payments due 

under the Fund-Linked Notes) or (c) early redemption, if certain events occur 

with respect to a fund (such as, without limitation, insolvency, merger, certain 
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litigation action, certain regulatory events, suspensions of subscriptions or 

redemptions, compulsory redemption of fund interest units, reporting disruption, 

dealing restrictions, certain changes in net asset value of a fund, certain 

modifications to documents or investment objectives/strategies, certain breaches 

or non-compliance with investment objectives/strategies and/or certain breaches 

by service providers and, in addition, in the case of hedge funds or funds of hedge 

funds, events relating to discrepancies or potential inaccuracy of the audited net 

asset value) or if certain valuation or settlement disruption events occur with 

respect to the fund interest units or the Issuerôs or any of its affiliatesô hedging 

arrangements. Fund-Linked Notes linked to exchange traded funds may in 

addition be subject to (a) substitution of a fund with a replacement fund 

(b) adjustment (including as to the valuation of the underlying fund interest units 

and the calculation and due date for payment of payments due under the Fund-

Linked Notes) or (c) early redemption, if certain events occur with respect to a 

fund (such as events affecting the value of a fund interest unit (including fund 

interest divisions or consolidation), de-listing of a fund interest unit, insolvency, 

merger or nationalisation of the fund, or a tender offer or redenomination of a 

fund interest unit).  
  

Other Notes:  Further terms applicable to Indexed Notes, High Interest Notes, Low Interest 

Notes, Step-up Notes, Step-down Notes, Dual Currency Notes, Reverse Dual 

Currency Notes, Optional Dual Currency Notes, Partly Paid Notes, Credit-Linked 

Notes, Snowball Notes, Thunderball Notes, Swing Notes, Target 

Redemption Notes, Range Accrual Notes, Reverse Convertible Notes, 

Autocallable Notes, Fixed-to-Floating Rate Notes, Variable Rate Notes, Inverse 

Floating Rate Notes, Inflation Linked Notes, Equity-Linked Notes, Index-Linked 

Notes, Fund-Linked Notes or any variant, and any other type of Note which the 

Issuer and any Dealer or Dealers may agree to issue under the Programme will be 

set out in the relevant Final Terms.  
  

Form of Notes:  Notes may be in bearer or (only in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) registered 

form, or, in bearer form exchangeable for notes in registered form. Each Tranche 

of bearer Notes which is not intended to be issued in new global note (ñNGNò) 

form (a ñClassic Global Noteò or ñCGNò) as specified in the relevant Final 

Terms will initially be represented by a temporary Global Note and will be 

deposited on or around the issue date with a depositary or a common depositary 

on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant 

clearing system and (only in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) each Global Note 

which is intended to be issued in NGN form, as specified in the relevant Final 

Terms will be deposited on or around the relevant issue date with a common 

safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and interests therein 

will be credited to the accounts of the relevant purchasers with Euroclear and/or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system. In the case 

of Bearer Notes which are exchangeable under the terms thereof for Registered 

Notes, the Registered Notes will be in global form, and will be registered in the 

name of BNP Paribas Securities Services acting as common depositary on behalf 

of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system. 
  

   Interests in each temporary Global Note will be exchanged for interests in a 

permanent Global Note not earlier than 40 days after the issue date upon 

certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interests in each permanent 

Global Note may be exchanged for definitive Notes ("Definitive Notes") in 

bearer form or (only in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) registered form on 

60 daysô prior notice. The physical delivery of Definitive Notes will not be 

possible in Belgium.  
  

   In the case of Notes issued by Fortis Bank and as provided in the relevant Final 
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Terms, the Notes will be represented by a permanent Global Note which will be 

deposited on or about the issue date with the NBB as operator of the X/N System 

or its custodian and interests therein will be credited to the accounts of the 

relevant purchasers with the X/N System, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system. Such Notes will not be 

issued in NGN form. Please refer to the section entitled ñSummary of Provisions 

relating to Global Notesò.  
  

Denominations:  Notes will be issued in any denominations agreed between the relevant Issuer and 

the relevant Dealer(s), subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or 

securities settlement systems and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements.  
  

Optional Redemption:  The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state whether such 

Notes may be redeemed at the option of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor (as 

the case may be) (either in whole or in part) and/or the holders, and if so, the 

terms applicable to such redemption.  
  

Early Redemption:  Except as provided in ñOptional Redemptionò above, Notes will be redeemable 

at the option of the Issuer only for tax reasons.  
  

Redemption by Instalments:  The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes which are redeemable in 

two or more installments will set out the dates on which, and the amounts in 

which, such Notes may be redeemed.  
  

Listi ng and Admission to Trading:   Notes may be admitted to listing on the official list and to trading on the 

Luxembourg Regulated Market or the Euro MTF, and/or NYSE Euronext in 

Brussels and/or NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam and/or admitted to listing, trading 

and/or quotation by any other competent authority, stock exchange and/or 

quotation system specified in the relevant Final Terms. Notes issued by Fortis 

Bank under the Programme which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated 

market situated or operating within a Member State or which are to be offered to 

the public in one or more Member States (where the terms ñregulated marketò 

and ñoffer to the publicò are within the meaning of any measures implementing 

the Prospectus Directive in any relevant Member State) may not (a) have a 

minimum denomination of less than EUR 1,000 (or nearly equivalent in another 

currency) or (b) carry the right to acquire shares (or transferable securities 

equivalent to shares) issued by the Issuers or by any entity belonging to the 

Issuerôs group. Subject thereto, Notes may also be issued on the basis that they 

will not be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent 

authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system.  
  

Status of Notes and the Guarantee:  Notes issued by the Issuers may either be direct, unconditional, unsubordinated 

and unsecured obligations, or subordinated obligations of such Issuer. The 

Guarantees will either be direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured 

obligations of the Guarantor or subordinated obligations of the Guarantor.  
  

Cross Default:  The Unsubordinated Notes will contain a cross default in respect of indebtedness 

for borrowed money of the Issuers and the Guarantor (in respect of Notes issued 

by BP2F) as more fully set out in ñTerms and Conditions of the Notes ð 10. 

Events of Defaultò.  
  

Taxation:  All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes and the Guarantees 

by the Issuer or the Guarantor will be made without deduction for or on account 

of withholding taxes (if any), imposed in Luxembourg (in the case of BP2F) or 

Belgium (in the case of Fortis Bank), unless otherwise specified in the relevant 

Final Terms, subject to customary exceptions as specified in the Terms and 

Conditions.  
  



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 54 - 70-40523764 

 

Governing Law:  The Notes and all non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with 

the Notes are governed by English law except for (i) in the case of Notes issued 

by BP2F, Conditions 3(b) and 3(c) in addition to all non-contractual obligations 

arising out of or in connection therewith which shall be governed by Luxembourg 

law and Conditions 3(e) and 3(f) in addition to all non-contractual obligations 

arising out of or in connection therewith which shall be governed by Belgian law 

and (ii) in the case of Notes issued by Fortis Bank, Conditions 3(b), 3(c) and 

10(a)(ii) in addition to all non-contractual obligations arising out of or in 

connection therewith which shall be governed by Belgian law.  
  

   Guarantees of Fortis Bank applicable in relation to any Senior Notes issued by 

BP2F are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with English law 

and Guarantees of Fortis Bank applicable in relation to any subordinated Notes 

issued by BP2F are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the 

laws of the Kingdom of Belgium.  
  

Selling Restrictions:  For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes 

and on the distribution of offering material under the laws of Belgium, France, 

Poland, Italy, Spain, The Netherlands, the United Kingdom, in the European 

Economic Area, Hong Kong, Japan, Singapore, Switzerland, the United States of 

America, and Luxembourg please refer to the section entitled ñPlan of 

Distributionò of this Base Prospectus.  
  

   Such description is only a summary at the date of the Base Prospectus of certain 

restrictions that can vary from time to time. Prospective investors and purchasers 

of Notes must inform themselves about all the relevant, applicable and up-to-date 

restrictions prior to investing in the applicable Notes. Moreover the selling 

restrictions that are applicable to a Tranche of Notes can be modified in the 

relevant Final Terms if agreed by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) 

and the relevant Dealer.  
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TERMS AND CONDIT IONS OF THE NOTES 

PART 1: MEDIUM TERM NOTES  

The following is the text of the terms and conditions which, subject to completion and amendment and as supplemented or 

varied in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Final Terms in relation to any particular Tranche or Series, will be 

endorsed on the Notes in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) representing each Series, details of the 

relevant Series being shown on the relevant Notes and in the relevant Final Terms: 

Notes will be issued in series (each a ñSeriesò) having one or more issue dates and the same maturity date (if any), bearing 

interest (if any) on the same basis and at the same rate and on terms otherwise identical. The length of interest periods, and the rate 

of interest in respect thereof, may differ from the length, and the rate of interest in respect of subsequent or, as the case may be, 

preceding interest periods. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a ñTrancheò) on different issue dates. The specific terms 

of each Series will be set forth in a set of final terms (ñFinal Termsò) based on the form included in the Base Prospectus dated 13 

June 2012. 

The Notes are issued pursuant to an Amended and Restated Agency Agreement dated 13 June 2012 (as amended or 

supplemented from time to time, the ñAgency Agreementò) between BNP Paribas Fortis Funding (ñBP2Fò) and Fortis Bank 

NV/SA (ñFortis Bankò and together with BP2F, the ñIssuersò and each, an ñIssuerò), Fortis Bank (the ñGuarantorò), BNP 

Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch as fiscal agent (the ñFiscal Agentò), registrar (the ñRegistrarò), principal paying 

agent (the ñPrincipal Paying Agentò), transfer agent (the ñTransfer Agentò), BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg 

Branch, Fortis Bank NV/SA or any third party appoint in such capacity as calculation agent (each a ñCalculation Agentò), Fortis 

Bank NV/SA as alternative principal paying agent (the ñAlternative Principal Paying Agentò) (together with the Principal Paying 

Agent and any additional or other paying agents in respect of the Notes from time to time appointed, the ñPaying Agentsò) and as 

transfer agent (together with the Transfer Agent referred to above and any additional or other transfer agents in respect of the Notes 

from time to time appointed, the ñTransfer Agentsò) and Fortis Bank NV/SA as domiciliary agent (ñDomiciliary Agentò). For the 

purposes of these Conditions, ñPrincipal Paying Agentò means, in relation to any series of Notes, the Fiscal Agent or the Principal 

Paying Agent specified above or the Alternative Principal Paying Agent, as specified on the relevant Note. The initial Calculation 

Agent (if any) is specified on the relevant Note. In relation to the Notes issued by Fortis Bank which are to be cleared through the 

book-entry clearance and settlement system (the ñX/N Systemò) ñX/N Notesò operated by the National Bank of Belgium or any 

successor thereto (the ñNBBò), if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, Fortis Bank has in addition to the Agency Agreement it 

entered into with, inter alia, Fortis Bank NV/SA as Domiciliary Agent, also entered into a clearing agreement with the NBB and 

the Domiciliary Agent on 3 November 2005 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the ñClearing Agreementò). The 

Notes have the benefit of a deed of covenant dated 13 June 2012 (the ñDeed of Covenantò as amended, supplemented and 

replaced) executed by the Issuers and the Guarantor. The Noteholders (as defined below), the holders of the coupons (the 

ñCouponsò) appertaining to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for 

further Coupons (the ñTalonsò) (the ñCouponholdersò) and the holders of the instalment receipts (the ñReceiptsò) appertaining to 

the payment of principal by installments (the ñReceiptholdersò) are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the Agency 

Agreement and the Deed of Covenant applicable to them. 

Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Clearing Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection at the 

specified offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents. 

1.  Form, Denomination and Title 

Notes are issued in bearer form (ñBearer Notesò, which expression includes Notes which are specified to be Exchangeable 

Bearer Notes) in the Specified Denomination(s) (as specified in the relevant Final Terms), (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F 

only) in registered form (ñRegistered Notesò) in amounts of the Denomination or an integral multiple thereof (ñAuthorised 

Denominationsò) or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F only) in bearer form exchangeable for Registered Notes 

(ñExchangeable Bearer Notesò) and, in each case, serially numbered. 

Bearer Notes are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached, save in the case of Notes which do not bear 

interest in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in 

these Conditions are not applicable. Any Bearer Note the principal amount of which is redeemable in installments is issued with 

one or more Receipts attached. 
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Title to the Bearer Notes and the Receipts, Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto shall pass by delivery. Title to the 

Registered Notes (even where such Registered Notes are in definitive form) shall pass by registration in the Register (except as 

otherwise required by law) which the relevant Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance with the provisions of 

the Agency Agreement and an up-to-date copy of the Register shall be kept at the registered office of the relevant Issuer. For the 

avoidance of doubt, title to Registered Notes issued by BP2F, shall as a matter of Luxembourg law, pass by registration in the 

duplicate Register maintained by it. As soon as any changes are made by the Registrar to the Register, the Registrar shall forthwith 

notify the relevant Issuer who shall ensure that its records in the duplicate Register are updated accordingly. For the purposes of 

Luxembourg law, if there is any inconsistency between the records set out in the Register maintained by the Registrar relating to 

Registered Notes issued by BP2F and the records set out in the duplicate Register maintained by BP2F, the records of the latter 

shall prevail.  

Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or required by law, the holder of any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon 

shall be deemed to be and may be treated as the absolute owner of any such Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon, as the case may be, 

for the purpose of receiving payment thereof or on account thereof and for all other purposes, whether or not such Note, Receipt, 

Coupon or Talon shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership, theft or loss thereof or any writing thereon made 

by anyone. 

In these Conditions, ñNoteholderò means the bearer of any Bearer Note and the Receipts relating to it or the person in whose 

name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), ñholderò (in relation to a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon) means the 

bearer of any Bearer Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may 

be) and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them on such Notes, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such 

term is not applicable to such Note. 

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of any Note under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 

1999. 

2.  Exchanges of Bearer Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes 

 (a) Exchange of Bearer Notes 

Subject as provided in Condition 2(e), Exchangeable Bearer Notes may be exchanged for the same aggregate principal amount 

of Registered Notes of an Authorised Denomination at the request in writing of the relevant Noteholder and upon surrender of each 

Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged, together with all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and Talons relating to it, at the 

specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent; provided, however, that where an Exchangeable Bearer Note is 

surrendered for exchange after the Record Date (as defined in Condition 6(b)) for any payment of interest, the Coupon in respect of 

that payment of interest need not be surrendered with it. Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes of 

one Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Denomination. Bearer Notes which are not Exchangeable 

Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes.  

 (b) Transfer of Registered Notes 

A Registered Note may be transferred in whole or in part in an Authorised Denomination upon the surrender of the Registered 

Note to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on it duly completed and executed, at the specified office of the 

Registrar or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of part only of a Registered Note a new Registered Note in respect of the 

balance not transferred will be issued to the transferor. 

 (c) Delivery of new Registered Notes 

Each new Registered Note to be issued upon exchange of Exchangeable Bearer Notes or transfer of Registered Notes will, 

within three business days (being a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the 

specified office of the Transfer Agent or the Registrar to whom such request for exchange or transfer shall have been delivered) of 

receipt of such request for exchange or form of transfer, be available for delivery at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of 

the Registrar (as the case may be) to whom such delivery shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery 

as aforesaid and as specified in the relevant request for exchange or form of transfer, be mailed at the risk of the holder entitled to 

the new Registered Note to such address as may be specified in such request for exchange or form of transfer. 
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 (d) Exchange free of charge 

Exchange of Notes on registration or transfer will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the relevant Issuer, the 

Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer 

Agent may require) in respect of any tax or other governmental charges which may be imposed in relation to it. 

 (e) Closed periods 

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered or an Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged 

for a Registered Note (i) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for any payment of principal on that Note, (ii) during 

the period of 15 days prior to any date on which Notes may be redeemed by the relevant Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 

5(e) or (iii) after any such Note has been drawn for redemption in whole or in part. An Exchangeable Bearer Note called for 

redemption may, however, be exchanged for a Registered Note which is simultaneously surrendered not later than the relevant 

Record Date. 

3.  Status and Guarantee 

 (a) Senior Notes 

This Condition 3(a) is applicable in relation to Notes issued by the relevant Issuer on an unsubordinated basis (the ñSenior 

Notesò). 

The Senior Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured and general obligations of the relevant Issuer 

and rank pari passu (subject to mandatorily preferred debts under applicable laws) without any preference among themselves and 

at least equally and rateably with all other present and future outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations, including 

guarantees and other obligations of a similar nature of such Issuer. 

 (b) Senior Subordinated Notes 

This Condition 3(b) is applicable in relation to Notes issued by the relevant Issuer to which both the following conditions 

apply, namely (i) the Notes have a Maturity Date and (ii) the Notes are being issued on a subordinated basis (ñSenior Subordinated 

Notesò). 

The obligations of the relevant Issuer in respect of the Senior Subordinated Notes constitute senior subordinated obligations of 

such Issuer and rank pari passu (subject to mandatorily preferred debts under applicable laws) without any preference among 

themselves and at least equally and rateably with all other present and future outstanding senior subordinated obligations, including 

guarantees and other obligations of a similar nature of such Issuer. Accordingly, the liabilities of the relevant Issuer under or 

pursuant to the Senior Subordinated Notes shall not be required to be satisfied until satisfaction of all indebtedness of such Issuer 

to the depositors (in the case of Fortis Bank) and Senior Creditors or the amount necessary for that purpose shall have been 

deposited in consignment. For the purposes of this Condition 3(b), ñSenior Creditorsò means all present and future unsubordinated 

creditors of the relevant Issuer. 

 (c) Junior Subordinated Notes 

This Condition 3(c) is applicable in relation to Notes issued by the relevant Issuer to which both the following conditions 

apply, namely (i) the Notes do not have a Maturity Date and (ii) the Notes are issued on a subordinated basis (ñJunior 

Subordinated Notesò). 

The obligations of the relevant Issuer in respect of Junior Subordinated Notes constitute direct, unsecured and junior 

subordinated obligations of such Issuer, conditional as described below, and rank (i) pari passu without any preference among 

themselves and with any other Junior Subordinated Notes and, in the case of Fortis Bank, the Junior Subordinated Guarantees 

granted by the Guarantor under Condition 3(f), (ii) junior to all present and future unsecured obligations of such Issuer which are 

or are expressed to be subordinated to the unsecured, unsubordinated obligations of such Issuer but not further or otherwise 

(ñSenior Subordinated Obligationsò), (iii)  at least equally and rateably with all other present and future obligations of such Issuer 

which rank or are expressed to rank junior to the Senior Subordinated Obligations and (iv) in priority to the rights and claims of 
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holders of all classes of equity (including holders of preference shares (if any)) issued by such Issuer, subject to mandatory 

provisions of Belgian law (in the case of Junior Subordinated Notes issued by Fortis Bank) or the laws of Luxembourg (in the case 

of Junior Subordinated Notes issued by BP2F). 

Claims in respect of the Junior Subordinated Notes are subordinated to the claims of Senior and Subordinated Creditors (as 

defined below), including holders of Senior Subordinated Notes and, in the case of Fortis Bank, holders of Senior Subordinated 

Notes issued by BP2F, in respect of a Senior Subordinated Guarantee granted by the Guarantor, and payments of principal and 

interest by the relevant Issuer in respect of Junior Subordinated Notes will be conditional upon such Issuer being solvent at the 

time of payment by that Issuer and no principal or interest shall be due and payable in respect of Junior Subordinated Notes except 

to the extent that (assuming a payment was then due by the relevant Issuer) such Issuer could make such payment in whole or in 

part, rateably with payments in respect of Other Pari Passu Claims (as defined below), and still be solvent immediately thereafter. 

For the purposes of these Conditions the relevant Issuer shall be solvent if (i) it is able to pay its debts as they fall due and (ii) its 

Assets exceed its Liabilities (in each case as defined below) (other than its Liabilities to persons who are not Senior and 

Subordinated Creditors). A report as to the solvency of the relevant Issuer by two directors of such Issuer or (if such Issuer is in 

winding-up, liquidation or bankruptcy) the liquidator of such Issuer, shall in the absence of proven error be treated and accepted by 

such Issuer, the Noteholders, and the Couponholders and the Receiptholders (if any) as correct and sufficient evidence thereof. 

For the purposes of this Condition 3(c), ñSenior and Subordinated Creditorsò means, all creditors of the relevant Issuer 

(including any holders of Senior Subordinated Notes, in the case of Fortis Bank, holders of Notes issued by BP2F, in respect of a 

Senior Subordinated Guarantee granted by the Guarantor, other than creditors whose claims are in respect of: (i) any class of equity 

(including preference shares), subject to mandatory provisions of Belgian law (in the case of Junior Subordinated Notes issued by 

Fortis Bank) or the laws of Luxembourg (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F), or (ii) unsecured, subordinated obligations which 

are or are expressed to be subordinated to the Senior Subordinated Obligations or (iii) any other obligations which rank or are 

expressed to rank either pari passu with or junior to the claims of the holders of Junior Subordinated Notes and Coupons and 

Receipts (if any) appertaining thereto; ñAssetsò means the total assets of the relevant Issuer and ñLiabilitiesò means the total 

liabilities of such Issuer, each as shown by the latest published audited balance sheet of such Issuer but adjusted for contingencies 

and for subsequent events, all valued in such manner as such directors or liquidator (as the case may be) may determine; and 

ñOther Pari Passu Claimsò means claims of creditors of the relevant Issuer which are subordinated so as to rank or are expressed 

to rank pari passu with the claims of the holders of Junior Subordinated Notes and Coupons and Receipts (if any) appertaining 

thereto. 

If the relevant Issuer would not otherwise be solvent for the purposes of these Conditions, the amount of the principal and 

sums which would otherwise be payable as interest on Junior Subordinated Notes will be available to meet the losses of such 

Issuer. 

 (d) Senior Guarantee 

This Condition 3(d) is applicable in relation to any Senior Notes issued by BP2F. 

The Guarantor has, by the guarantees endorsed on such Senior Notes and, in the case of the Registered Notes, contained in the 

Deed of Covenant (the ñSenior Guaranteesò), unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due and punctual payment of all 

amounts due from BP2F under such Senior Notes and the Receipts and Coupons relating to them (including any additional 

amounts payable under Condition 7 below), when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether by declaration or 

acceleration or otherwise. 

The Senior Guarantees constitute direct, unconditional, irrevocable, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the 

Guarantor and rank pari passu (subject to mandatorily preferred debts under applicable laws) equally and rateably with all other 

present and future outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor. 

 (e) Senior Subordinated Guarantee 

This Condition 3(e) is applicable in relation to any Senior Subordinated Notes issued by BP2F. 

The Guarantor has, by the guarantees endorsed on such Senior Subordinated Notes and, in the case of the Registered Notes, 

contained in the Deed of Covenant (the ñSenior Subordinated Guaranteesò), unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed, on a 
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subordinated basis, the due and punctual payment of all amounts due from BP2F under such Senior Subordinated Notes and the 

Receipts and Coupons relating to them (including any additional amounts payable under Condition 7 below) when and as the same 

shall become due and payable, whether by declaration or acceleration or otherwise. 

As more fully described in the Senior Subordinated Guarantees, the obligations of the Guarantor in respect of the Senior 

Subordinated Guarantees constitute senior subordinated obligations of the Guarantor. Accordingly, in the events specified in the 

Senior Subordinated Guarantees, the liabilities of the Guarantor under or pursuant to the Senior Subordinated Guarantees shall not 

be required to be satisfied until satisfaction of all indebtedness of the Guarantor to the depositors and Senior Creditors or the 

amount necessary for that purpose shall have been deposited in consignment. As more fully described in the Guarantees, ñSenior 

Creditorsò means all present and future unsubordinated creditors of the Guarantor. 

 (f) Junior Subordinated Guarantee 

This Condition 3(f) is applicable in relation to Junior Subordinated Notes issued by BP2F. 

The Guarantor has, by guarantees endorsed on such Junior Subordinated Notes and, in the case of the Registered Notes, 

contained in the Deed of Covenant (the ñJunior Subordinated Guaranteesò and together with the Senior Guarantees and the Senior 

Subordinated Guarantees, the ñGuaranteesò), as primary obligor guaranteed, on a subordinated basis, the due and punctual 

payment of all amounts payable by BP2F on or in respect of such Junior Subordinated Notes and the Receipts and Coupons 

relating to them (including any additional amounts payable under Condition 7 below) when and as the same shall become due and 

payable, whether by declaration or acceleration or otherwise. 

The Junior Subordinated Guarantees constitute direct, unsecured and junior subordinated obligations of the Guarantor, 

conditional as described below, and rank (i) pari passu without any preference among the other Junior Subordinated Guarantees 

and the Junior Subordinated Notes, (ii) junior to all present and future unsecured obligations of the Guarantor which are or are 

expressed to be subordinated to the unsecured, unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor but not further or otherwise (ñSenior 

Subordinated Obligationsò), (iii)  at least equally and rateably with all other present and future obligations of the Guarantor which 

rank or are expressed to rank junior to the Senior Subordinated Obligations and (iv) in priority to the rights and claims of holders 

of all classes of equity (including holders of preference shares (if any)) issued by the Guarantor, subject to mandatory provisions of 

Belgian law. 

Claims in respect of the Junior Subordinated Guarantees are subordinated to the claims of Senior and Subordinated Creditors 

(as defined below), including holders of Senior Subordinated Notes issued by Fortis Bank and holders of Senior Subordinated 

Notes issued by BP2F in respect of a Senior Subordinated Guarantee granted by the Guarantor, and payments of principal and 

interest by BP2F in respect of such Junior Subordinated Notes will be conditional upon the Guarantor being solvent at the time of 

payment by BP2F and no principal or interest shall be due and payable in respect of such Junior Subordinated Notes except to the 

extent that (assuming a payment was then due by the Guarantor) the Guarantor could make such payment in whole or in part, 

rateably with payments in respect of Other Pari Passu Claims (as defined below), and still be solvent immediately thereafter. For 

the purposes of these Conditions the Guarantor shall be solvent if (i) it is able to pay its debts as they fall due and (ii) its Assets 

exceed its Liabilities (in each case as defined below) (other than its Liabilities to persons who are not Senior and Subordinated 

Creditors). A report as to the solvency of the Guarantor by two directors of the Guarantor or (if the Guarantor is in winding-up, 

liquidation or bankruptcy) the liquidator of the Guarantor, shall in the absence of proven error be treated and accepted by the 

relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Noteholders, and the Couponholders and the Receiptholders (if any) as correct and sufficient 

evidence thereof. 

For the purposes of this Condition 3(f), ñSenior and Subordinated Creditorsò means all creditors of the Guarantor (including 

any holders of Senior Subordinated Notes issued by Fortis Bank and holders of Senior Subordinated Notes issued by BP2F in 

respect of the Senior Subordinated Guarantee granted by the Guarantor) other than creditors whose claims are in respect of: (i) any 

class of equity (including preference shares), subject to mandatory provisions of Belgian law, or (ii) unsecured, subordinated 

obligations which are or are expressed to be subordinated to the Senior Subordinated Obligations of the Guarantor or (iii) any other 

obligations which rank or are expressed to rank either pari passu with or junior to the claims of the holders of Junior Subordinated 

Notes and Coupons and Receipts (if any) appertaining thereto under the Junior Subordinated Guarantees; ñAssetsò means the total 

assets of the Guarantor and ñLiabilitiesò means the total liabilities of the Guarantor, each as shown by the latest published audited 

balance sheet of the Guarantor but adjusted for contingencies and for subsequent events, all valued in such manner as such 

directors or liquidator (as the case may be) may determine; and ñOther Pari Passu Claimsò means claims of creditors of the 
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Guarantor which are subordinated so as to rank or are expressed to rank pari passu with the claims of the holders of Junior 

Subordinated Notes and Coupons and Receipts (if any) appertaining thereto under the Junior Subordinated Guarantees. 

If the Guarantor would not otherwise be solvent for the purposes of these Conditions, the amount of the principal and sums 

which would otherwise be payable as interest on Junior Subordinated Notes will be available to meet the losses of the Guarantor. 

4.  Interest 

 (a) Accrual of interest 

Each Note bears interest on its outstanding principal amount or, in relation to any Credit-Linked Notes, its average daily 

outstanding principal amount from and including the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a 

percentage) equal to the Interest Rate payable (subject, in the case of Junior Subordinated Notes, to Condition 3(c) and (f), if such 

Notes have the benefit of a Junior Subordinated Guarantee) in arrear on each Interest Payment Date provided (in the case of Junior 

Subordinated Notes) that such date is a Compulsory Interest Payment Date in which case interest shall be payable in respect of the 

interest accrued in the Interest Period ending on the day immediately preceding such date. 

In the case of Junior Subordinated Notes, on any Optional Interest Payment Date there may be paid (if the relevant Issuer or 

the Guarantor, as the case may be, so elects but subject to Condition 3(c) and (f), if such Notes have the benefit of a Junior 

Subordinated Guarantee) the interest accrued in the Interest Period ending on the day immediately preceding such date but the 

relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, shall not have any obligation to make such payment and any failure to pay 

shall not constitute a default by the relevant Issuer or (where such Issuer is BP2F) the Guarantor for any purpose. Any interest not 

paid in respect of Junior Subordinated Notes on an Optional Interest Payment Date shall, so long as the same remains unpaid, 

constitute ñArrears of Interestò which term shall include interest on such unpaid interest as referred to below. Arrears of Interest 

may at the option of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor as the case may be, be paid in whole or in part at any time upon the 

expiration of not less than seven days notice to such effect given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13, but all 

Arrears of Interest on all Notes outstanding shall (subject to Condition 3(c) and (f), if the Notes have the benefit of a Junior 

Subordinated Guarantee) become due in full on whichever is the earliest of (i) the Interest Payment Date immediately following 

the date upon which a dividend is next declared or paid on any class of share capital of BP2F or the Guarantor (as the case may 

be), (ii) the date set for any redemption pursuant to Condition 5(b) or (e) and (iii) the date that an order is made or an effective 

resolution is passed for the winding-up, liquidation or bankruptcy of BP2F or the Guarantor (as the case may be). If notice is given 

by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, of its intention to pay the whole or part of Arrears of Interest, the 

relevant Issuer shall be obliged (subject to Condition 3(c) or (f), as the case may be,) to do so upon the expiration of such notice. 

Where Arrears of Interest are paid in part, each such payment shall be applied in or towards satisfaction of the full amount of the 

Arrears of Interest accrued in respect of the earliest Interest Period in respect of which Arrears of Interest have accrued and have 

not been paid in full. Arrears of Interest shall bear interest at the rate applicable to the Notes. 

Interest will cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation payment of principal is 

improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest will continue to accrue (as well after as before judgment) at the Interest 

Rate in the manner provided in this Condition 4 to the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7). 

With respect to any Credit-Linked Notes to which Part 5 is specified as applicable in the Final Terms, the provisions set out in 

Part 5 in relation to interest shall apply. 

 (b) Business Day Convention 

If any date which is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall 

on a day which is not a Relevant Business Day, then, if the convention (the "Business Day Convention") specified is (i) the 

Floating Rate Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Relevant Business Day unless it would thereby 

fall into the next calendar month, in which event (A) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Relevant 

Business Day and (B) each subsequent such date shall be the last Relevant Business Day of the month in which such date would 

have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (ii) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the 

next day which is a Relevant Business Day, (iii) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed 

to the next day which is a Relevant Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such 
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date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Relevant Business Day or (iv) the Preceding Business Day Convention, 

such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Relevant Business Day. 

 (c) Interest Rate on Fixed Rate Notes 

If the Interest Rate is specified as being Fixed Rate and unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms and unless the 

Notes are Credit-Linked Notes, the amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest Period shall be the relevant 

Fixed Coupon Amount and, if the Notes are in more than one Specified Denomination, shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount 

in respect of the relevant Specified Denomination. 

 (d) Interest Rate on Floating Rate Notes 

If the Interest Rate is specified as being Floating Rate and Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms, 

the Interest Rate will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the basis of the following provisions: 

 (i) At or about the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date in respect of each Interest Accrual Period, the 

Calculation Agent will: 

 (A) in the case of Notes which specify that the Primary Source for Interest Rate Quotations shall be derived from a 

specified page, section or other part of a particular information service (each as specified on such Notes), determine 

the Interest Rate for each Interest Accrual Period which shall, subject as provided below, be (x) the Relevant Rate so 

appearing in or on that page, section or other part of such information service as aforesaid (where such Relevant Rate 

is a composite quotation or interest rate per annum or is customarily supplied by one entity) or (y) the arithmetic mean 

(rounded, if necessary, to the next higher one-hundred thousandth of a percentage point) of the Relevant Rates of the 

persons at the time whose Relevant Rates so appear in or on that page, section or other part of such information 

service as aforesaid, in any such case in respect of euro-currency deposits in the relevant currency for a period equal to 

the Specified Duration and as adjusted by the Spread or Spread Multiplier (if any) or by the Maximum or Minimum 

Interest Rate; and 

 (B) in the case of Notes which specify that the Primary Source for Interest Rate Quotations shall be the Reference Banks 

specified on such Notes and in the case of Notes falling within paragraph (i)(A) above but in respect of which no 

Relevant Rate appears at or about such Relevant Time or, as the case may be, which are to be determined by reference 

to quotations of persons appearing in or on the relevant page, section or other part of such information service as 

aforesaid but in respect of which less than two Relevant Rates appear at or about such Relevant Time, request the 

principal offices in the Relevant Financial Centre (or, in the case of Notes denominated in euro, the principal offices in 

the euro-zone selected by the Calculation Agent) of each of the Reference Banks specified on such Notes (or, as the 

case may be, any substitute Reference Bank appointed from time to time pursuant to paragraph (g) below) to provide 

the Calculation Agent with its Relevant Rate quoted to leading banks for euro-currency deposits in the relevant 

currency for a period equivalent to the Specified Duration. Where this paragraph (i)(B) shall apply, the Interest Rate 

for the relevant Interest Accrual Period shall, subject as provided below, be the arithmetic mean (rounded, if 

necessary, to the next higher one-hundred thousandth of a percentage point) of such Relevant Rates as adjusted by the 

Spread or Spread Multiplier (if any) or by the Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate, as calculated by the Calculation 

Agent. 

 (ii)  If, at or about the Relevant Time on any Interest Determination Date where the Interest Rate falls to be determined 

pursuant to paragraph (i)(B) in respect of a Note, two or three only of such Reference Banks provide such relevant 

quotations, the Interest Rate for the relevant Interest Accrual Period shall, subject as provided below, be determined as 

aforesaid on the basis of the Relevant Rates quoted by such Reference Banks. 

 (iii)  If, at or about the Relevant Time on any Interest Determination Date where the Interest Rate falls to be determined 

pursuant to paragraph (i)(B), only one or none of such Reference Banks provide such Relevant Rates, the Interest Rate for 

the relevant Interest Accrual period shall be, subject as provided below, whichever is the higher of: 
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 (A) the Interest Rate in effect for the last preceding Interest Accrual Period to which paragraphs (i)(A) or (B) or (ii) above 

shall have applied (after readjustment for any difference between any Spread or Spread Multiplier applicable to the 

preceding Interest Accrual Period and to the relevant Interest Accrual Period); and 

 (B) the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) which the Calculation Agent determines to be the arithmetic mean 

(rounded, if necessary, to the next higher one-hundred thousandth of a percentage point) of the Relevant Rates in 

respect of the relevant currency which banks in the principal financial centre of the country of such currency (or, in the 

case of Notes denominated in euro, in such financial centre or centres in the euro-zone selected by the Calculation 

Agent) selected by the Calculation Agent (after consultation with the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Notes issued 

by BP2F) the Guarantor) are quoting at or about the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date for a 

period equivalent to the Specified Duration to leading banks carrying on business in that principal financial centre (or, 

in the case of Notes denominated in euro, in such financial centre or centres in the euro-zone selected by the 

Calculation Agent), as adjusted by the Spread or Spread Multiplier (if any) except that, if the banks so selected by the 

Calculation Agent are not quoting as aforesaid, the Interest Rate shall be the Interest Rate specified in paragraph 

(iii)(A) above. 

 (e) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes 

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Interest Rate is to be 

determined, the Interest Rate for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable 

Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (d), ñISDA Rateò for an Interest Period means a rate 

equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of X/N Notes, the Domiciliary Agent under 

an interest rate swap transaction if the Fiscal Agent or, as the case may be, the Domiciliary Agent were acting as Calculation Agent 

for that swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions as published by the 

International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (the ñISDA Definitionsò) and under which: 

 (i) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms; 

 (ii)  the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and 

 (iii)  the relevant Reset Date is either (i) if the applicable Floating Rate Option is based on the London inter-bank offered rate 

(ñLIBORò) for a currency, the first day of that Interest Period, (ii) if the applicable Floating Rate Option is based on the 

euro-zone inter-bank offered rate (ñEURIBORò), the first day of that Interest Period or (iii) in any other case, as specified 

in the applicable Final Terms. 

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (e), ñFloating Rateò, ñCalculation Agentò, ñFloating Rate Optionò and ñDesignated 

Maturityò have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions. 

 (f) Minimum/Maximum Interest Rates, Spreads and Spread Multipliers 

If any figure is expressed to be as adjusted by a Spread or Spread Multiplier, such adjustment shall be made by adding or 

subtracting any Spread specified in the relevant Final Terms or multiplying by any Spread Multiplier specified in such Final 

Terms, subject always to the next paragraph. 

If a Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate is specified in such Final Terms, then the Interest Rate shall in no event exceed the 

maximum or be less than the minimum. 

 (g) Calculation 

The amount of interest payable in respect of any Note for any period for which a Fixed Coupon Amount is not specified or not 

applicable shall be calculated by multiplying the product of the Interest Rate and the Calculation Amount of such Note by the Day 

Count Fraction and rounding, if necessary, the resultant figure to the nearest minimum unit of the relevant currency (half of such 

unit being rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of such Note 

divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose a ñminimum unitò means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the 

lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one 
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cent. Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable in respect of such 

Interest Period will be the sum of the amounts of interest payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods. 

 (h) Determination and Publication of Interest Rate and Interest Amounts by the Calculation Agent 

If a Calculation Agent is provided for in relation to any Note, it will, as soon as practicable after the Relevant Time on each 

Interest Determination Date, determine the Interest Rate and calculate the amount of interest payable (the ñInterest Amountsò) in 

respect of each Denomination of the Notes (in the case of Bearer Notes) and the minimum Denomination (in the case of Registered 

Notes) for the relevant Interest Accrual Period and cause the Interest Rate and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Period and the 

relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Principal Paying Agent, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Registrar, the 

Domiciliary Agent (if applicable), each of the Paying Agents, any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system on 

which the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and the Noteholders as soon as possible after their determination 

but in no event later than the fourth Relevant Business Day thereafter. The Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so 

published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in 

the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 9, the accrued 

interest and the Interest Rate payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously by the 

Calculation Agent in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Interest Rate or the Interest Amount so calculated 

need be made. The determination of the Interest Rate and the Interest Amounts by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of 

manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties. If the Calculation Amount is less than the minimum Specified Denomination 

the Calculation Agent shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only the Calculation Amount 

and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum Specified Denomination. 

 (i) Calculation Agent and Reference Banks 

The relevant Issuer will procure that there shall at all times be four Reference Banks with offices in the Relevant Financial 

Centre (or, in the case of Notes denominated in euro, in the financial centre or centres selected by the relevant Issuer) and a 

Calculation Agent if provision is made for them in the Conditions applicable to such Notes and for so long as it is outstanding. If 

any Reference Bank (acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to continue to act as a Reference Bank, then the 

Calculation Agent will appoint another Reference Bank with an office in the Relevant Financial Centre (or, in the case of Notes 

denominated in euro, in the financial centre or centres in the euro-zone) to act as such in its place. If the Calculation Agent is 

unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Interest Rate for any Interest Period or to 

calculate the Interest Amounts, the relevant Issuer will appoint the London office of a leading bank engaged in the London 

interbank market to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been 

appointed as aforesaid. 

 (j) Definitions 

As used in these Conditions:  

 ñAdditional Business Centre(s)ò means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final Terms. 

 ñBusiness Dayò means a Relevant Business Day or, if different for any purpose, as specified in the Final Terms. 

 ñCalculation Amountò has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms.  

 ñCompulsory Interest Payment Dateò means any Interest Payment Date if, in the calendar year immediately preceding such 

Interest Payment Date, any dividend has been declared or paid on any class of share capital of the Guarantor and if the Guarantor is 

solvent. 

 ñDay Count Fractionò means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any period of time (the 

ñCalculation Periodò), such day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or the applicable Final Terms: 

 (i) if ñActual/Actual (ICMA)ò is so specified:  
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 (a) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which it falls, the actual number of 

days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and 

(2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and 

 (b) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of: 

 (A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular Period in which it begins divided by 

the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any 

year; and 

 (B) the actually number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular Period divided by the product of 

(a) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; 

 (ii)  if ñActual/Actualò is so specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion 

of the Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation 

Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period 

falling in a non-leap year divided by 365); 

 (iii)  if ñActual/365 (Fixed)ò is so specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365; 

 (iv) if ñActual/360ò is so specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360; 

 (v) if ñ30/360ò, ñ360/360ò or ñBond Basisò is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, 

calculated on a formula basis as follows: 
Day Count Fraction = [360 x (Y2 ï Y1)] + [30 x (M2 ï M1)] + (D2 ï D1) 
  360 

where:  

 ñY1ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

 ñY2ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation 

Period falls; 

 ñM1ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

 ñM2ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the 

Calculation Period falls; 

 ñD1ò is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in 

which case D1 will be 30; and 

 ñD2ò is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, 

unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which case D2 will be 30; and 

 (vi) if ñ30E/360ò or ñEurobond Basisò is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, 

calculated on a formula basis as follows: 
Day Count Fraction  [360 x (Y2 ï Y1)] + [30 x (M2 ï M1)] + (D2 ï D1) 
  360 

 

where:  

 ñY1ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

 ñY2ò is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation 

Period falls; 
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 ñM1ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls; 

 ñM2ò is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the 

Calculation Period falls; 

 ñD1 is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which 

case Di will be 30; and 

 ñD2ò is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, 

unless such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30. 

 ñeuroò means the single currency of the participating member states of the European Union, as contemplated by the Treaty on 

European Union. 

 ñeuro-zoneò means the region comprising the member states of the European Union which adopt or have adopted the euro as 

their lawful currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Communities, as amended. 

 ñInterest Accrual Periodò means the period beginning on and including the Interest Commencement Date and ending on but 

excluding the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Period Date and ending 

on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Period Date or such other period as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñInterest Commencement Dateò means the date of issue of the relevant Notes (the ñIssue Dateò) or such other date as may 

be specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñInterest Determination Dateò means, in respect of any Interest Accrual Period, that number of Relevant Business Days 

prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period or to the relevant Interest Payment Date as is set out in the relevant Final 

Terms. 

 ñInterest Payment Dateò means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, 

the relevant Final Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the relevant Final Terms: 

 (i) as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; or 

 (ii)  if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention and an 

interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being the Specified Period, each of such 

dates as may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at such 

Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the case of the first Interest Payment 

Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other case). 

 ñInterest Periodò means the period beginning on the Interest Commencement Date and ending on the first Interest Payment 

Date and each successive period beginning on an Interest Payment Date and ending on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date. 

 ñInterest Period Dateò means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

 ñInterest Rateò means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of the relevant Notes and which is either 

specified, or calculated in accordance with the provisions, of such Notes. 

 ñLuxembourg Regulated Marketò means the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. 

 ñOptional Interest Payment Dateò means any Interest Payment Date other than a Compulsory Interest Payment Date. 

 ñRegular Periodò means:  
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 (i) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and 

including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period 

from and including one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date; 

 (ii)  in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular 

payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, 

where ñRegular Dateò means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and 

 (iii)  in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be 
paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but 
excluding the next Regular Date, where 

 ñRegular Dateò means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the Interest 
Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period. 

 ñRelevant Business Dayò means:  

 (i) in the case of a specified currency other than euro, a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign 
exchange markets are generally open for business in the principal financial centre for that currency and/or each of the 
Additional Business Centre(s) so specified; and/or 

 (ii)  in the case of euro, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which banks and foreign exchange markets are generally 
open for business in each (if any) Additional Business Centre. 

 ñRelevant Financial Centre(s)ò means London or such other financial centre as may be specified on such Note. 

 ñRelevant Rateò means:  

 (i) an offered rate in the case of a Note the Benchmark for which relates to an offered rate; 

 (ii)  a bid rate in the case of a Note the Benchmark for which relates to a bid rate; and 

 (iii)  the mean of an offered and bid rate in the case of a Note the Benchmark for which relates to the mean of an offered and 
bid rate. 

 ñRelevant Timeò means the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre specified in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is 
specified, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of 
deposits in the relevant currency in the interbank market in that Relevant Financial Centre. 

 ñSpecified Durationò means the Interest Period unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

 ñTARGET2ò means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer payment system which 
utilises a single shared platform and which was launched on 19 November 2007. 

 ñTARGET Settlement Dayò means any day on which TARGET2 is open for the settlements of payment in euro. 

 (k) Interest Rate on Zero Coupon Notes 

Where a Note the Interest Rate of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity Date and is not paid 
when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be the Redemption Amount of such Note as determined in 
accordance with Condition 5(d)(iii). As from the Maturity Date, the Interest Rate for any overdue principal of such a Note shall be 
a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield shown on such Note. 

 (l) Interest Rate on Variable Coupon Amount Notes 
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If the Variable Coupon Amount Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the Interest Rate 
applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be determined in the manner specified in the relevant Final Terms. 

 (m) Calculations by the Calculation Agent 

The Calculation Agent, the Issuer and the Guarantor (if any) will have no responsibility for good faith errors or omissions in 
any calculations made or provided by the Calculations Agent. The calculations and determinations of the Calculation Agent will be 
made in accordance with the Conditions having regards, in each case, to the relevant criteria stipulated in the Conditions, in the 
relevant Final Terms and, where relevant, on the basis of information provided to or obtained by it as well as after such further 
enquiries as it deems necessary. Such calculations will, in the absence of manifest error, be final, conclusive and binding on the 
holders of Notes. 

5.  Redemption, Purchase and Options 

 (a) Final Redemption 

Unless the relevant Note is a Junior Subordinated Note, or it is previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided 

below or its maturity is extended pursuant to any Issuerôs or Noteholderôs option in accordance with Condition 5(e) or (f), such 

Note will be redeemed at its Redemption Amount (which, unless otherwise provided, is its principal amount) or, in relation to any 

Credit-Linked Note, its outstanding principal amount on the later of (i) the Maturity Date specified in the relevant Final Terms; 

(ii)  to the extent that ñGrace Period Extensionò is applicable in relation to any Credit-Linked Notes, the Business Day following 

the latest Grace Period Extension Date, if applicable; (iii) the Business Day following the latest Repudiation/Moratorium 

Evaluation Date in relation to any Credit-Linked Notes, if applicable, (iv) the Business Day following the last Auction Settlement 

Date, Physical Settlement Date or Cash Settlement Date to occur, as the case may be, and (v) the Extended Maturity Date. If the 

relevant Note is a Junior Subordinated Note, the relevant Issuer shall not be at liberty to redeem such Note except pursuant to 

Condition 5(b) or (if applicable) Condition 5(e) and references to Maturity Date in these Conditions are not applicable. 

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be redeemed by the relevant Issuer 

at its Redemption Amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms in the relevant 

Specified Currency on the Maturity Date. Where the Notes are or relate to: 

(i) A single index, Part 2 shall apply;  

(ii ) A basket of indices, Part 2B shall apply;  

(iii ) A single share, Part 3A shall apply;  

(iv) A basket of shares, Part 3B shall apply;  

(v) A single fund, Part 4A shall apply;  

(vi) A basket of funds, Part 4B shall apply; and 

(vii ) Credit-Linked Notes, Part 5 shall apply. 

 (b) Redemption for taxation reasons 

If, as a result of any amendment to or change in the laws or regulations of Luxembourg or Belgium or any political subdivision 

thereof or any authority or agency therein or thereof or in the interpretation or administration of any such laws or regulations which 

becomes effective on or after the Issue Date, the Issuer (or, if the Guarantees were called, the Guarantor) would, on the occasion of 

the next payment date in respect of the Notes, be required to pay additional amounts as provided in Condition 7, the relevant Issuer 

may, at its option, on any Interest Payment Date or, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, at any time on giving not more than 

45 nor less than 30 daysô notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable) in accordance with Condition 13 redeem all, 

but not some only, of the Notes at their Redemption Amount which, unless otherwise provided, is its principal amount or, in 

relation to a Credit-Linked Note, its outstanding principal amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption, 

provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the relevant 
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Issuer (or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor) would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment 

in respect of the Notes (or the Guarantees) then due. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 

5(b), the relevant Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of X/N Notes, the Domiciliary Agent a certificate signed by 

two persons each of whom is a Director of the relevant Issuer stating that the relevant Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption 

and setting forth a statement of the facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the relevant Issuer so to redeem have 

occurred. 

 (c) Purchases 

The Issuers, the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries may at any time purchase Notes (provided that, in the case of Bearer 
Notes, all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons appertaining thereto are attached or surrendered therewith) in 
the open market or otherwise at any price. 

 (d) Early Redemption of Zero Coupon Notes 

 (i) The Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note the Interest Rate of which is specified to be Zero Coupon upon 
redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 5(b) or, if applicable, Condition 5(e) or (f) or upon it becoming due and 
payable as provided in Condition 9 shall be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note. 

 (ii)  Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (iii) below, the ñAmortised Face Amountò of any such Note shall be the sum of 
(A) the Reference Price shown on such Note and (B) the aggregate amortisation of the difference between the Reference 
Price and the principal amount of such Note from its date of issue to the date on which such Note becomes due and 
payable at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield shown on such Note compounded 
annually. Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the basis of the Day 
Count Fraction (as set out in the Final Terms in respect of such Note). 

 (iii)  If the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption pursuant to Condition 5(b) or, if 
applicable, Condition 5(e) or (f), or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 9 is not paid when due, the 
Redemption Amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as defined 
in sub-paragraph (ii) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect as though the reference therein to the date on 
which the Note becomes due and payable were replaced by a reference to the Relevant Date. The calculation of the 
Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph will continue to be made (as well after as before 
judgment), until the Relevant Date unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount 
due and payable shall be the principal amount of such Note together with any interest which may accrue in accordance 
with Condition 4(k). 

 (e) Redemption at the Option of the relevant Issuer and Exercise of such Issuerôs Options 

If so provided in the relevant Note or in any event if such Notes do not have a Maturity Date, the relevant Issuer shall, or (in 
the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor on giving irrevocable notice to the Noteholders falling within such Issuerôs 
Option Period (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) redeem, or exercise any such Issuerôs option in relation to, all or (in the 
case only of Notes which have a Maturity Date), if so provided, some of such Notes in the principal amount or integral multiples 
thereof and on the date or dates so provided. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Redemption Amount (as specified in 
the relevant Final Terms) or, in relation to any Credit-Linked Note, at its outstanding principal amount together with interest 
accrued (if any) to the date fixed for redemption. 

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed, or the relevant Issuerôs option shall be exercised, on 
the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition. 

In the case of a partial redemption or a partial exercise of such option the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the serial 
numbers of the Notes to be redeemed, which shall have been selected by drawing lots in such place as the Fiscal Agent or, in the 
case of X/N Notes, the Domiciliary Agent may approve and in such manner as it deems appropriate, subject to compliance with 
any applicable laws and competent authority, stock exchange or quotation systemôs requirements and, if applicable, the rules and 
procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream Luxembourg as 
either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion). 

 (f) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders and Exercise of Noteholdersô Options 
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If so provided on the relevant Note, the relevant Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any such Note, redeem such Note on 
the date or dates so provided at its Redemption Amount (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) or, in relation to any Credit-
Linked Note its outstanding principal amount, together with interest accrued (if any) to the date fixed for redemption. 

To exercise such option or any other Noteholdersô option which may be set out on the relevant Note the holder must deposit 
such Note with any Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (in the case of Registered 
Notes) at its specified office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice (ñExercise Noticeò) in the form obtainable 
from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent within the Noteholdersô Option Period (as specified in the relevant 
Final Terms). No Note so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the Agency Agreement) 
without the prior consent of the relevant Issuer. 

 (g)  Redemption for illegality 

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but 
not in part, at any time on such date as the Issuer may notify to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 if the Issuer 
determines that the performance by the Issuer of its obligations under the Notes has become unlawful under any applicable present 
or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial authority or 
power. 

Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 5(g) will be redeemed at the Redemption Amount, or, in relation to any Credit-
Linked Note, at its outstanding principal amount calculated in accordance with these Conditions with interest accrued to (but 
excluding) the date of redemption. 

 (h) Redemption by Instalments 

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided in this Condition 5 or the relevant Instalment Date (being 
one of the dates so specified on the relevant Note) is extended pursuant to any Issuerôs or Noteholderôs option in accordance with 
Condition 5(e) or (f), each Note which provides for Instalment Dates and Instalment Amounts will be partially redeemed on each 
Instalment Date at the Instalment Amount specified on it, whereupon the outstanding principal amount of such Note shall be 
reduced by the Instalment Amount for all purposes. 

 (i) Cancellation  

All Notes redeemed by the relevant Issuer and all Notes purchased (otherwise than in the ordinary course of business of 
dealing in securities or as a nominee) by or on behalf of such Issuer (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F), the Guarantor or any of 
their subsidiaries will be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached 
thereto or surrendered therewith) and may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of such Issuer and/or (in the case of Notes 
issued by BP2F) the Guarantor in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged, and where such Notes are admitted to listing on 
the official list and to trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market, the Issuer will forthwith inform the Luxembourg Stock 
Exchange of any such cancellation. 

 (j) Consents 

Any redemption by the relevant Issuer of such Junior Subordinated Notes pursuant to Condition 5(b) or (if applicable) 
Condition 5(e) and any purchase and cancellation of such Junior Subordinated Notes pursuant to Condition 5(c) and (h) will be 
subject to the prior consent of the National Bank of Belgium. 

 (k) Early redemption in whole or in part upon the occurrence of a Credit Event 

If the Final Terms specify the Notes to be Credit-Linked Notes then the Final Terms shall include a condition to permit the 
early redemption in whole or in part of the Notes upon the designation of an Event Determination Date (as defined in Part 5). 

6.  Payments and Talons 

 (a) Bearer Notes 
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Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes will, subject as mentioned below and (in the case of Junior 
Subordinated Notes) subject to Condition 3(c) or (f), if such Notes have the benefit of a Junior Subordinated Guarantee, be made 
against presentation and surrender of the relevant Receipts (in the case of payments of Instalment Amounts other than on the due 
date for redemption and provided that the Receipt is presented for payment together with its relative Note), Notes (in the case of 
all other payments of principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 6(f)(vi)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, 
save as specified in Condition 6(f)(vi)), as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by 
a cheque payable in the currency in which such payment is due drawn on, or, at the option of the holders, by transfer to an account 
denominated in that currency with, a bank in the principal financial centre of that currency; Provided that (i) in the case of 
Sterling, the cheque shall be drawn on a town clearing branch of a bank in the City of London, (ii) in the case of Rouble, the 
transfer may be to a Rouble account or on an account which accepts Rouble payments (iii) in the case of euro, the transfer may be 
to a euro account or on an account which accepts euro payments and (iv) in the case of Japanese yen, the transfer will be to a non-
resident Japanese yen account with an authorised foreign exchange bank (in the case of payment to a non-resident of Japan). 

 (b) Registered Notes 

 (i) Payments of principal (which for the purposes of this Condition 6(b) shall include final Instalment Amounts but not other 
Instalment Amounts) in respect of Registered Notes will be made, subject (in the case of Junior Subordinated Notes) to 
Condition 3(d) or (f), if such Notes have the benefit of a Junior Subordinated Guarantee, against presentation and surrender 
of the relevant Notes at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in the manner provided in 
paragraph (a) above. 

 (ii)  Interest (which for the purpose of this Condition 6(b) shall include all Instalment Amounts other than final Instalment 
Amounts) on Registered Notes will be paid, subject (in the case of Junior Subordinated Notes) to Condition 3(d) or (f), if 
such Notes have the benefit of a Junior Subordinated Guarantee, to the person shown on the Register at the close of 
business on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date"). Payments of interest on each 
Registered Note will be made in the currency in which such payments are due by cheque drawn on a bank (being a town 
clearing branch of a bank in the case of Sterling) in the principal financial centre of the country of the currency concerned 
and mailed to the holder (or to the first named of joint holders) of such Note at its address appearing in the Registrar 
maintained by the Registrar. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent 
before the Record Date and subject as provided in paragraph (a) above, such payment of interest may be made by transfer 
to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the principal financial centre of the country 
of that currency or, in the case of euro, to a euro account or an account to which euro can be paid. 

 (c) Payments in the United States 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. dollars, payments in respect thereof may be made 
at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the relevant Issuer shall have 
appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents 
would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such 
amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on payment or 
receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in the opinion of the 
relevant Issuer, adverse tax consequence to such Issuer. 

 (d) Payments subject to law  

All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives, but without prejudice to 
the provisions of Condition 7. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders 
in respect of such payments. 

 (e) Appointment of Agents 

The Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuers and the 
Guarantor and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the 
Calculation Agent act solely as agents of the Issuers and the Guarantor and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency 
or trust for or with any holder. The Issuers and the Guarantor reserve the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of 
any Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or the Calculation Agent and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or 
Transfer Agents, provided that the Issuers will at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a Principal Paying Agent, (iii) a 
Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, (iv) at least a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes having a specified office in a 
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European city outside Belgium (and, so long as the Notes are admitted to listing on the official list and to trading on the 
Luxembourg Regulated Market and/or admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other competent authority, stock 
exchange and/or quotation system, a Transfer Agent with a registered office in Luxembourg and/or such other place as may be 
required by the rules of such other competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system), (v) a Calculation Agent where 
the Conditions so require one, (vi) at least a Paying Agent having a specified office in a European city outside Belgium (and, so 
long as the Notes are admitted to listing on the official list and to trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market a Paying Agent 
having a specified office in Luxembourg and/or such other place as may be required by the rules and regulations of such other 
competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system), and (vii) the relevant Issuer and (in the case of Notes issued by 
BP2F) the Guarantor will ensure that they maintain a Paying Agent in a European Union member state that will not be obliged to 
withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council 
Meeting of 26 ï 27 November 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced to conform to, such Directive. 

In addition, the relevant Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any Bearer Notes 

denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in paragraph (c) above. 

For as long as any Notes issued by Fortis Bank and cleared through the X/N System, Fortis Bank NV/SA, in its capacity as 

Domiciliary Agent, has agreed in the Agency Agreement to perform all its duties and obligations under the Clearing Agreement 

and has undertaken (i) to remain a participant in such X/N System as long as possible and (ii) to appoint an appropriate substitute 

agent which will assume all such duties and obligations should Fortis Bank NV/SA no longer be able to do so. 

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office will promptly be given to the Noteholders in accordance with 

Condition 13. 

 (f) Unmatured Coupons and Receipts and unexchanged Talons 

 (i) Unless the Notes provide that the relative Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes, 

Notes should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) appertaining thereto, failing which 

an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, 

that proportion of that amount of such missing unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total 

principal due) will be deducted from the Redemption Amount due for payment. Any amount so deducted will be paid in 

the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date 

for the payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 8). 

 (ii)  If the relevant Notes so provide, upon the due date for redemption of any Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note 

(whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them. 

 (iii)  Upon the due date for redemption of any Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note (whether or not attached) 

shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon. 

 (iv) Upon the due date for redemption of any Note which is redeemable in installments, all Receipts relating to such Note 

having an Instalment Date falling on or after such due date (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment 

shall be made in respect of them. 

 (v) Where any Note which provides that the relative Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those 

Notes is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons and any unexchanged Talon relating to it, and where 

any Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against 

the provisions of such indemnity as the relevant Issuer may require. 

 (vi) If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding 

due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against 

presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Note, if such Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form. 

Interest accrued on a Note which only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note 

against presentation thereof. 

 (g) Non-Business Days 
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If any date for payment in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a business day, the holder shall not be entitled to 

payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this 

paragraph, ñbusiness dayò means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are 

open for business in the relevant place of presentation and in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as ñBusiness Day 

Jurisdictionsò on the Note and: 

 (i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than euro) where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained 

with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in 

the principal financial centre of the country of such currency; or 

 (ii)  (in the case of a payment in euro) a TARGET Settlement Day. 

 (h) Talons 

On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Note, the 

Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of X/N 

Notes, the Domiciliary Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (but excluding any Coupons which may have become void 

pursuant to Condition 8). 

7.  Taxation 

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons by the relevant Issuer or (in the 

case of Notes issued by BP2F) (if the Guarantees were called) the Guarantor will be made without deduction or withholding for, or 

on account of, any present or future taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on 

behalf of (in the case of BP2F) Luxembourg or any political subdivision thereof or any authority or agency therein or thereof 

having the power to tax or, where applicable, (in the case of the Guarantor) Belgium or any political subdivision thereof or any 

authority or agency therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such deduction or withholding is required by law. In such event, 

and unless otherwise indicated in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor will pay such 

additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders, Receiptholders or, as the case 

may be, the Couponholders after such deduction or withholding shall equal the respective amounts which would have been 

receivable under these Conditions in respect of the Notes, Receipts or, as the case may be, Coupons by the Noteholders, 

Receiptholders and (if applicable) the Couponholders in the absence of such deduction or withholding, except that no such 

additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note, Receipt or Coupon: 

 (i) issued by Fortis Bank, where such Note, Receipt or Coupon is not cleared through the X/N System; or 

 (ii)  issued by Fortis Bank where such Note, Receipt or Coupon is cleared through the X/N System, and where such deduction 

or withholding is imposed or levied because the holder (or the beneficial owner) is not an Eligible Investor (unless that 

person was an Eligible Investor at the time of its acquisition of the relevant Note, Receipt or Coupon and has since ceased 

from being an Eligible Investor by reason of a change in the Belgian tax laws or regulations or in the interpretation or 

application thereof), or is an Eligible Investor but is not holding the relevant Note, Receipt or Coupon in an exempt 

securities account with a qualifying clearing system in accordance with the Belgian law of 6 August 1993 relating to 

transactions in certain securities; or 

 (iii)  presented for payment in Belgium; or  

 (iv) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is able to avoid such withholding or deduction by placing such Note, 

Receipt or Coupon in safe custody with a Belgian bank and by making a declaration of non-residence or other similar 

claim for exemption to the relevant tax authority; or 

 (v) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder where such holder is liable to such taxes or duties in respect of such Note, 

Receipt or Coupon by reason of its having some connection with Belgium other than by reason only of the holding of such 

Note, Receipt or Coupon or the receipt of the relevant payment in respect thereof; or 
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 (vi) presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder thereof would have 

been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting the same for payment on such thirtieth day; or 

 (vii)  where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual or a residual entity within the 

meaning of the European Council Directive 2003/48/EC and is required to be made pursuant to (i) European Council 

Directive 2003/48/EC or any other directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26 ï 

27 November 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive, 

(ii)  the law of 23 December 2005 (as amended)  introducing a 10 per cent. withholding tax as regards Luxembourg 

resident individuals and (iii) the agreements on savings income concluded by the State of Luxembourg with several 

dependant or associated territories of the EU (including Jersey, Guernsey, the Isle of Man, the British Virgin Islands, 

Montserrat, the Dutch Antilles and Aruba); or 

 (viii) presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by 

presenting the relevant Note, Receipt or Coupon to another Paying Agent in a member state of the European Union. 

As used in these Conditions, ñRelevant Dateò in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon means the date on which payment in 
respect thereof first became due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which 
payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders in 
accordance with Condition 13 that, upon further presentation of the Note, Receipt or Coupon being made in accordance with the 
Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation, ñEligible Investorò means 
from time to time a person who is allowed to hold securities through a so called ñX accountò (being an account exempted from 
withholding tax) in the X/N System in accordance with Article 4 of the Belgian Royal Decree of 26 May 1994, as amended or 
replaced from time to time and ñX/N Systemò means the book-entry clearance and settlement system operated by the National 
Bank of Belgium. References in these Conditions to (i) ñprincipalò shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of 
the Notes, all Instalment Amounts, Redemption Amounts, Amortised Face Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of 
principal payable pursuant to Condition 5 or any amendment or supplement to it, (ii) ñinterestò shall be deemed to include all 
Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 4 or any amendment or supplement to it and 
(iii)  ñprincipalò and/or ñinterestò shall be deemed to include any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition. 

Notwithstanding any other provisions contained herein, the relevant Issuer (or, if applicable, the Guarantor) shall be permitted 
to withhold or deduct any amounts required by the rules of Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (or any 
amended or successor provisions), pursuant to any inter-governmental agreement or implementing legislation adopted by another 
jurisdiction in connection with these provisions, or pursuant to any agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("FATCA 
withholding ") as a result of a holder, beneficial owner or an intermediary that is not an agent of the Issuer not being entitled to 
receive payments free of FATCA withholding.  The relevant Issuer (or, if applicable, the Guarantor) will have no obligation to pay 
additional amounts or otherwise indemnify an investor for any such FATCA withholding deducted or withheld by the Issuer, the 
paying agent or any other party. 

8.  Prescription  

Claims against the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor for payment in respect of the Notes, Guarantees, Receipts and Coupons 
(which, for this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within ten years (in the case of 
principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect thereof. 

9. Events of Default 

 (a) Notes other than Senior Subordinated Notes and Junior Subordinated Notes 

This Condition 9(a) is applicable in relation to all Senior Notes.  

If any of the following events (ñEvents of Defaultò) occurs and is continuing, the holder of any Note may give written notice 
to the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of X/N Notes, the Domiciliary Agent at its specified office that such Note is immediately 
repayable, whereupon the Redemption Amount which, unless otherwise provided, is the principal amount of such Note together 
with accrued interest to the date of payment shall become immediately due and payable unless prior to the date that such written 
notice is received by the Fiscal Agent or, as the case may be, the Domiciliary Agent, the relevant Issuer or, where applicable, the 
Guarantor shall have cured or the relevant Issuer or, where applicable, the Guarantor shall otherwise have made good all Events of 
Default in respect of the Notes: 
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 (i) default in the payment of any principal or interest due in respect of the Notes or any of them and such default continuing 
for a period of 30 days; or 

 (ii)  default by the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor in the due performance or observance 
of any other obligation, condition or other provision under or in relation to the Notes or the Guarantees, as the case may 
be, if such default is not cured within 45 days after receipt by the Fiscal Agent or, as the case may be, the Domiciliary 
Agent of written notice thereof given by any Noteholder requiring the same to be remedied; or 

 (iii)  default by the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor in the payment of the principal of, or 
premium or prepayment charge (if any) or interest on, any other loan indebtedness of or assumed or guaranteed by the 
relevant Issuer or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor (which indebtedness in the case of the Guarantor 
has an aggregate principal amount of at least EUR 50,000,000 or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies), when 
and as the same shall become due and payable, if such default shall continue for more than the period of grace, if any, 
originally applicable thereto and the time for payment of such interest or principal has not been effectively extended, or in 
the event that any loan indebtedness of or assumed by the relevant Issuer or (in the Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor 
(which indebtedness in the case of the Guarantor has an aggregate principal amount of at least EUR 50,000,000 or its 
equivalent in any other currency or currencies), shall have become repayable before the due date thereof as a result of 
acceleration of maturity caused by the occurrence of an event of default thereunder; or 

 (iv) the relevant Issuer is dissolved or wound up or otherwise ceases to exist prior to the redemption of all outstanding Notes 
or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor is dissolved or wound up or otherwise ceases to exist prior to the 
redemption of all outstanding Notes, except as a result of a Permitted Reorganisation, or the relevant Issuer ceases to be 
subsidiary of the Guarantor (save in the case of a substitution pursuant to Condition 10 (c) where the substitute is the 
Guarantor or the Issuer is Fortis Bank); or 

 (v) the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor becomes insolvent, is unable to pay its debts 
generally (or in the case of the Guarantor is in staking van betaling/cessation de paiements (suspension of payments)) as 
they fall due, stops, suspends or threatens to stop or suspend payment of all or a material part of its debts or ceases or 
threatens to cease to carry on its business, or proposes or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition 
with or for the benefit of its creditors, or a moratorium is agreed or declared in respect of or affecting all or a material part 
of the indebtedness of the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor, or if the relevant Issuer 
or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor commences a voluntary case or other proceeding under any 
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, consents to the entry of an order for 
relief in any involuntary case or other proceeding under any such law as to the appointment of or the taking possession by 
a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian, assignee, sequestrator or similar official of the relevant Issuer or (in the case of 
Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor or of any substantial part of its property or as the winding up or liquidation of the 
relevant Issuer, or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) if the Guarantor applies for a liquidation/vereffening (liquidation) 
or faillite/faillissement (bankruptcy) or any procedures having similar or equivalent effect shall have been initiated in 
respect of the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor; or 

 (vi) a court having jurisdiction in the premises enters a decree or order for relief in respect of the relevant Issuer or (in the case 
of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor in an involuntary case or other proceeding under any applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian, assignee, 
sequestrator or other similar official of the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor or of any 
substantial part of its property, or ordering the winding up or liquidation of its affairs, and any such decree or order 
continues unstayed in effect for a period of 30 consecutive days; or 

 (vii)  it becomes unlawful for the relevant Issuer or (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor to perform any of their 
respective obligations under the Notes or the Guarantees, or any of their obligations ceases to be valid, binding or 
enforceable; or 

 (viii) the Guarantees are not or are claimed by the Guarantor not to be in full force and effect in accordance with their terms. 

In this Condition:  

 ñPermitted Reorganisationò means an amalgamation, merger, consolidation, reorganisation or other similar arrangement 
entered into by the Guarantor under which: 
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 (i) the whole of the business, undertaking and assets of the Guarantor are transferred to and all the liabilities and obligations 
of the Guarantor are assumed by the new or surviving entity either: 

 (A) automatically by operation of applicable law; or  

 (B) the new or surviving entity assumes all the obligations of the Guarantor under the terms of the Agency Agreement, the 
Notes and the Guarantees as fully as if it had been named in the Agency Agreement, the Notes and the Guarantees in 
place of the Guarantor; and, in either case, 

 (ii)  the new or surviving entity will immediately after such amalgamation, merger, consolidation, reorganisation or other 
similar arrangement be subject to a European Union regulatory authority. 

Any such notice by a Noteholder to the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of X/N Notes, the Domiciliary Agent shall specify the 
serial number(s) of the Note(s) concerned. 

 (b) Senior Subordinated Notes  

This Condition 9(b) is applicable in relation to Senior Subordinated Notes.  

Any holder of a Senior Subordinated Note may, by notice to the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of X/N Notes, the Domiciliary 
Agent and the relevant Issuer, declare his Note to be due and payable, and such Note shall accordingly become immediately due 
and payable at its principal amount together with accrued interest to the date of repayment if an order is made or an effective 
resolution is passed for the bankruptcy (faillissement/faillite), or liquidation (vereffening/liquidation) of the relevant Issuer or the 
Guarantor, as the case may be. 

 (c) Junior Subordinated Notes 

This Condition 9(c) is applicable in relation to Junior Subordinated Notes.  

 (i) Any holder of a Junior Subordinated Note may, by notice to the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of X/N Notes, the Domiciliary 
Agent and the relevant Issuer, declare his Note to be due and payable, and such Note shall accordingly (subject to the 
provisions of Condition 3(c) or Condition 3(f), as the case may be,) become immediately due and payable at its principal 
amount together with accrued interest to the date of repayment and any Arrears of Interest if an order is made or an 
effective resolution is passed for the bankruptcy (faillissement/faillite) or liquidation (vereffening/liquidation) of the 
relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be. 

 (ii)  A Noteholder may at its discretion institute such proceedings against the relevant Issuer as it may think fit to enforce any 
obligation, condition, undertaking or provision binding on the relevant Issuer under the Notes or the Coupons or the 
Receipts (if any) provided that such Issuer shall not by virtue of any such proceedings be obliged to pay any sum or sums 
sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it. 

 (iii)  No remedy against the relevant Issuer, other than the institution of the proceedings referred to in sub-paragraph (ii) above 
or the proving or claiming in any winding-up of such Issuer, shall be available to the Noteholders or the Couponholders or 
the Receiptholders (if any) whether for the recovery of amounts owing in respect of the Notes or the Coupons or in respect 
of any breach by the Issuer of any other obligation, condition or provision binding on it under the Notes or the Coupons or 
the Receipts (if any). 

 (iv) In the event of an order being made or an effective resolution being passed for the winding-up, liquidation or bankruptcy 
of BP2F; then immediately thereupon and without further formality the Guarantor shall become the principal debtor under 
the Notes and the Coupons and the Receipts (if any) in place of BP2F and the Guarantees shall cease to be of any effect 
and the Noteholders and the Couponholders and the Receiptholders (if any) shall cease to have any rights or claims 
whatsoever against BP2F; provided that: 

 (A) the obligations of the Guarantor as principal debtor as aforesaid shall be subordinated to the same extent as its 
obligations under the Guarantees; and 
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 (B) no Noteholder or Couponholder or Receiptholder shall, as a result of any change in principal debtor as aforesaid, be 
entitled to claim from BP2F or the Guarantor any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of 
such change upon individual Noteholders or Couponholders or Receiptholders except to the extent provided for by 
Condition 7 (save that Condition 7(i) does not apply in these circumstances). 

10. Meeting of Noteholders, Modifications and Substitution 

 (a) Meetings of Noteholders 

 (i) In the case of Notes issued by BP2F, the Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to 
consider any matter affecting their interest, including modification by Extraordinary Resolution of the Notes (including 
these Conditions in so far as the same may apply to such Notes). An Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such 
meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether present or not and on all relevant Couponholders subject to 
applicable laws, except that any Extraordinary Resolution proposed, inter alia, (1) to amend the dates of maturity or 
redemption of the Notes, any Instalment Date or any date for payment of interest thereon, (2) to reduce or cancel the 
principal amount or any Instalment Amount of, or any premium payable on redemption of, the Notes, (3) to reduce the rate 
or rates of interest in respect of the Notes or to vary the method or basis of calculating the rate or rates or amount of 
interest or the basis for calculating the Interest Amount in the respect thereof, (4) if there is shown on the face of the Notes 
a Minimum Interest Rate and/or a Maximum Interest Rate, to reduce such Minimum Interest Rate and or a Maximum 
Interest Rate, (5) to change any method of calculating the Redemption Amount or, in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, to 
change the method of calculating the Amortised Face Amount, (6) to change the currency or currencies of payment of the 
Notes, (7) to cancel or change the provisions of any Guarantee, (8) to take any steps which the relevant Note specifies may 
only be taken following approval by an Extraordinary Resolution to which the special quorum provisions apply or (9) to 
modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of Noteholders or the majority required to pass the 
Extraordinary Resolution, will only be binding if passed at a meeting of the Noteholders (or at any adjournment thereof) at 
which a special quorum (provided for in the Agency Agreement) is present. For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of 
Articles 86 to 94 ï 8 of the Luxembourg law on commercial companies dated 10 August 1915, as amended, are hereby 
excluded. 

 (ii)  In the case of Notes issued by Fortis Bank, all meetings of Noteholders will be held in accordance with the provisions of 

Article 568 sq. of the Belgian Company Code with respect to bondholders meetings. Subject to the quorum and majority 

requirements set out in Article 574 of the Belgian Company Code, and if required thereunder subject to validation by the 

Brussels court of appeal, the meeting of Noteholders shall be entitled to modify or waive any provision of these 

Conditions. Resolutions duly passed in accordance with these provisions of the Belgian Company Code at any meeting of 

Noteholders shall be binding on all Noteholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting and whether or not they 

vote in favour of such a resolution. A summary of such resolutions, setting out the decisions adopted at the meeting of 

Noteholders, shall be published in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices), so long as the Notes are admitted to listing on 

the official list and to trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market and its rules so require. All convening notices for 

meetings of Noteholders shall be made in accordance with Article 570 of the Belgian Company Code, which currently 

requires an announcement to be published not less than fifteen days prior to the meeting, in the Belgian Official Gazette 

(ñMoniteur Belge/Belgisch Staatsbladò) and in a newspaper of national distribution in Belgium. Convening notices will 

also be published once, not less than eight days prior to the meeting, in accordance with Condition 13 (Notices). 

These Conditions may be amended, modified, or varied in relation to any Series of Notes by the terms of the relevant 

Final Terms in relation to such Series. Without limitation to the generality of these Conditions, Notes may be issued on a 

partly -paid, instalment or other basis, where the interest rate, aggregate principal amount and/or other terms may be 

varied from time to time (as specified in the applicable Final Terms relating thereto). 

 (b) Modification of Agency Agreement 

The Issuers and the Guarantor shall only permit any modification of, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed 

breach of or any failure to comply with, the Agency Agreement, if to do so could not reasonably be expected to be prejudicial to 

the interests of the Noteholders. 

 (c) Substitution 
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An Issuer, or any previous substituted company, may at any time, without the consent of the Noteholders or the 

Couponholders, substitute for itself as principal debtor under the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons any company 

(the ñSubstituteò) which is the Guarantor (save where such Issuer is Fortis Bank), or a subsidiary of the Guarantor, provided that 

no payment in respect of the Notes, the Receipts or the Coupons is at the relevant time overdue. The substitution shall be made by 

a deed poll (the ñDeed Pollò), to be substantially in the form scheduled to the Agency Agreement as Schedule 8, and may take 

place only if (i) the Substitute shall, by means of the Deed Poll, agree to indemnify each Noteholder and Couponholder against any 

tax, duty, assessment or governmental charge which is imposed on it by (or by any authority in or of) the jurisdiction of the country 

of the Substituteôs residence for tax purposes and, if different, of its incorporation with respect to any Note, Receipt, Coupon or 

Talon and which would not have been so imposed had the substitution not been made, as well as against any tax, duty, assessment 

or governmental charge, and any cost or expense, relating to the substitution, (ii) where the Substitute is not the Guarantor, the 

obligations of the Substitute under the Deed Poll, the Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons shall be unconditionally and 

irrevocably guaranteed by the Guarantor by means of the Deed Poll, (iii) all action, conditions and things required to be taken, 

fulfi lled and done (including the obtaining of any necessary consents) to ensure that the Deed Poll, the Notes, Receipts, Coupons 

and Talons represent valid, legally binding and enforceable obligations of the Substitute and, in the case of the Deed Poll (where 

the Substitute is not the Guarantor), of the Guarantor have been taken, fulfilled and done and are in full force and effect, (iv) the 

Substitute shall have become party to the Agency Agreement, with any appropriate consequential amendments, as if it had been an 

original party to it, (v) legal opinions addressed to the Noteholders shall have been delivered to them (care of the Fiscal Agent) 

from a lawyer or firm of lawyers with a leading securities practice in each jurisdiction referred to in (i) above and in England as to 

the fulfilment of the preceding conditions of this paragraph (c) and the other matters specified in the Deed Poll and (vi) the relevant 

Issuer shall have given at least 14 daysô prior notice of such substitution to the Noteholders, stating that copies or, pending 

execution, the agreed text of all documents in relation to the substitution which are referred to above, or which might otherwise 

reasonably be regarded as material to Noteholders, will be available for inspection at the specified offices of each of the Paying 

Agents. References in Condition 9 to obligations under the Notes shall be deemed to include obligations under the Deed Poll, and, 

where the Deed Poll contains a guarantee, the events listed in Condition 9 shall be deemed to include that guarantee not being (or 

being claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force and effect. The Issuer and the Substitute shall also notify the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange in respect of such a substitution, procure that a supplement to the Base Prospectus be prepared and comply with 

the relevant rules and regulations of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or such other competent authority, stock exchange 

and/or quotation system on which the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation. 

11. Replacement of Notes, Receipts, Coupons and Talons 

If a Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced, subject to applicable 

laws and the regulations of the relevant competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, at the specified office of 

such Paying Agent as may from time to time be designated by the relevant Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation 

is given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (in the case of Bearer Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons) and of the 

Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes), in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection 

therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, inter alia, that if the allegedly lost, stolen 

or destroyed Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for 

further Coupons, there will be paid to the relevant Issuer on demand the amount payable by such Issuer in respect of such Notes, 

Receipts, Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as such Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Receipts, Coupons 

or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued. 

12. Fur ther Issues 

The relevant Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue further 

notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with 

such Notes, and references in these Conditions to ñNotesò shall be construed accordingly. 

13. Notices 

 (a) Notes in global form 

So long as any Tranche of Notes is represented by a Global Note and such Global Note is held on behalf of a clearing system, 

notices to holders of Notes of that Tranche will, save where another means of effective communication has been specified herein or 

in the relevant Final Terms, be deemed to be validly given if given by delivery of the relevant notice to the clearing system for 
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communication by it to Noteholders in respect of the relevant Notes. If such delivery is not practicable, notices will be deemed to 

be validly given if published in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe. 

Notices to Holders of Notes of any Tranche may, at the sole discretion of the Issuer and solely for informational purposes, also 

be published on the website of the Issuer and/or of any other entity specified in the relevant Final Terms for this purpose. 

 (b) Notes admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation 

So long as any Tranche of Notes is admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange or 

quotation system, notices to Holders of Notes of that Tranche will, save where another means of effective communication has been 

specified herein or in the relevant Final Terms, be deemed to be validly given if: 

 (i) in the case a Tranche of Notes admitted to listing on the official list and to trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market 

(so long as such Notes are admitted to listing on the official list and to trading on the Luxembourg Regulated Market and 

any applicable laws, rules or regulations so require), published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in 

Luxembourg (which is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort) or on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 

(www.bourse.Iu), and/or in such other manner as may be required by applicable laws, rules and regulations from time to 

time; and/or 

 (ii)  in the case of a Tranche of Notes admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other competent authority, stock 

exchange and/or quotation system, if published in such manner as may be required by applicable laws, rules and 

regulations from time to time; 

 (c) In any other cases 

Where both Condition 13(a) and Condition 13(b) are inapplicable, notices will, save where another means of effective 

communication has been specified herein or in the relevant Final Terms, be deemed to be validly given if published in a leading 

daily newspaper having general circulation in the United Kingdom (which is expected to be the Financial Times), or, if such 

publication is not practicable, if published in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe. 

 (d) General 

For the avoidance of doubt, where both Condition 13(a) and Condition 13(b) apply, notices must be given in the manner 

specified in Condition 13(a) and in the manner specified in Condition 13(b) in order to be deemed to have been validly given. 

Any notice given in accordance with Condition 13(a), Condition 13(b) or Condition 13(c) above will be deemed to have been 

validly given on the date and time of first such notification (or, if required to be notified in more than one manner, on the first date 

on which notification shall have been made in all required manners). 

Holders of Coupons will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice validly given to Holders of 

Notes in accordance with this Condition. 

14. Currency Indemnity  

If any sum due from the Issuer in respect of the Notes or the Coupons or any order or judgment given or made in relation 

thereto has to be converted from the currency (the ñfirst currencyò) in which the same is payable under these Conditions or such 

order or judgment into another currency (the ñsecond currencyò) for the purpose of (a) making or filing a claim or proof against the 

Issuer, (b) obtaining an order or judgment in any court or other tribunal or (c) enforcing any order or judgment given or made in 

relation to the Notes, the Issuer shall indemnify each Noteholder, on the written demand of such Noteholder addressed to the Issuer 

and delivered to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, against any loss suffered as a result of any discrepancy 

between (i) the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the sum in question from the first currency into the second 

currency and (ii) the rate or rates of exchange at which such Noteholder may in the ordinary course of business purchase the first 

currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of any such order, judgment, 

claim or proof. 
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This indemnity constitutes a separate and independent obligation of the Issuer and shall give rise to a separate and independent 

cause of action. 

15. Rounding 

For the purposes of any calculations referred to in these Conditions (unless otherwise specified in these Conditions or the 

relevant Final Terms), (a) all percentages resulting from such calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one 

hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 per cent.), (b) all United States 

dollar amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest cent (with one half cent being rounded 

up), (c) all Japanese Yen amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded downwards to the next lower whole 

Japanese Yen amount, and (d) all amounts denominated in any other currency used in or resulting from such calculations will be 

rounded to the nearest two decimal places in such currency, with 0.005 being rounded upwards. 

16. Governing Law and Jurisdiction 

 (a) Governing Law 

The Notes and all non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes are governed by English law 

except for (i) in the case of Notes issued by BP2F, Conditions 3(b) and 3(c) in addition to all non-contractual obligations arising 

out of or in connection therewith which shall be governed by Luxembourg law and Conditions 3(e) and 3(f) in addition to all non-

contractual obligations arising out of or in connection therewith which shall be governed by Belgian law and (ii) in the case of 

Notes issued by Fortis Bank, Conditions 3(b), 3(c) and 10(a)(ii) in addition to all non-contractual obligations arising out of or in 

connection therewith which shall be governed by Belgian law. 

Guarantees to which Condition 3(d) applies and all non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are 

governed by English law. 

Guarantees to which Condition 3(e) applies and all non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them and 

Guarantees to which Condition 3(f) applies and all non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are 

governed by the laws of the Kingdom of Belgium. 

 (b) Jurisdiction 

The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, 

Coupons, Talons or Guarantees (including a dispute relating to the existence, validity or termination of any of the foregoing or any 

non-contractual obligation arising out of or in connection with them) or the consequences of their nullity and accordingly any legal 

action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with any Notes, Receipts, Coupons, Talons or Guarantees (ñProceedingsò) 

may be brought in such courts. Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England 

and waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been 

brought in an inconvenient forum. These submissions are made for the benefit of each of the holders of the Notes, Receipts, 

Coupons and Talons and shall not affect the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction 

nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction 

(whether concurrently or not). 

 (c) Service of Process 

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor irrevocably appoints BNP Paribas London Branch (10 Harewood Avenue, London NW1 

6AA, United Kingdom) to receive, for it and on its behalf, service of process in any Proceedings in England. Such service shall be 

deemed completed on delivery to such process agent (whether or not it is forwarded to and received by the relevant Issuer or (in 

the case of Notes issued by BP2F) the Guarantor). If for any reason such process agent ceases to be able to act as such or no longer 

has an address in London, each of the Issuers and the Guarantor irrevocably agrees to appoint a substitute process agent and shall 

immediately notify Noteholders (in the case of Notes issued by BP2F) of such appointment in accordance with Condition 13. 

Nothing shall affect the right to serve process in any manner permitted by law. 
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PART 2: INDEX LINKED NOTES  

PART 2A: SINGLE INDEX  

The terms and conditions applicable to Notes linked to a single index shall comprise the Terms and Conditions of the Medium 
Term Notes set out in Part 1 (the ñPrincipal Conditionsò) and the additional Terms and Conditions set out below (the ñSingle 
Index Linked Conditionsò), in each case subject to completion and/or amendment in the applicable Final Terms. In the event of 
any inconsistency between the Principal Conditions and the Single Index Linked Conditions, the Single Index Linked Conditions 
set out below shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between (i) the Principal Conditions and/or the Single Index Linked 
Conditions and (ii) the Final Terms, the Final Terms shall prevail. 

1.  Final Redemption 

Subject to any applicable automatic redemption and/or early redemption and/or put options and/or call options set forth in the 
Final Terms not having occurred prior to any applicable date specified therein, for the purposes of Condition 5(a) the Final 
Redemption Amount payable per Note on the Maturity Date (subject to the provisions of Condition 5(l) and 5(m)) shall be an 
amount in the Specified Currency determined by the Calculation Agent as set forth in the Final Terms. 

2.  Definitions 

For the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Notes, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below: 

 ñAdditional Disruption Eventò means any event(s) specified as such in the Final Terms. 

 ñAveraging Datesò means, in respect of each Valuation Date, each of the dates specified as such in the applicable Final 
Terms, if any, or if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject 
to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñBarrier Levelò means the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final 
Terms, subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 5(m) as set out below. 

 ñDisrupted Dayò means any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in the applicable 
Final Terms, the Index Sponsor fails to publish the level of the Index or, if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is not so specified, the 
Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session, (ii) any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its 
regular trading session or (iii) on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred. 

 ñEarly Closureò means the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the relevant Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s), if 
any, prior to its/their Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by the relevant Exchange(s) or Related 
Exchange(s) at least one hour prior to the earlier of (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange(s) 
or such Related Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the 
relevant Exchange(s) or such Related Exchange(s) system(s) for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day. 

 ñExchange(s)ò means the exchange specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in the 
applicable Final Terms, in respect of any securities comprised in the Index, the stock exchanges (from time to time) on which in 
the determination of the Calculation Agent such securities are listed for the purposes of such Index or any successor to any such 
exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the securities comprised in the 
Index has temporarily been relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity 
relative to the securities underlying such Index on such successor or substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original 
Exchange). 

 ñExchange Business Dayò means any Scheduled Trading Day on which the relevant Exchange and each Related Exchange 
are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, notwithstanding such relevant Exchange or any such relevant 
Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time. 

 ñExchange Disruptionò means any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as determined by the 
Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general (i) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, if ñMulti -
Exchange Indexò is specified in the Final Terms, any security comprised in the Index on any relevant Exchange or, if ñMulti-
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Exchange Indexò is not so specified, securities that comprise 20 per cent or more of the level of the Index on the Exchange or 
(ii)  to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, futures or options contracts relating to the Index on any relevant Related 
Exchange. 

 ñExpiration Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms, or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading 

Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñFinal Index Levelò means:  

 (i) in respect of any Valuation Date or Observation Date, the Index Level on such Valuation Date or Observation Date; and 

 (ii)  in respect of the Averaging Dates relating to an Observation Period or a Valuation Date, the arithmetic average as 

determined by the Calculation Agent (rounded to the nearest unit of the Specified Currency in which the Index is valued 

(with halves being rounded up)) of the Index Levels on each of such Averaging Dates. 

 ñIndexò means the index specified in the Final Terms, or any Successor Index.  

 ñIndex Cancellationò means the Index Sponsor cancels the Index and no Successor Index exists. 

 ñIndex Disruptionò means the Index Sponsor fails to calculate and announce the Index Level. 

 ñIndex Levelò means, on any relevant Scheduled Trading Day, the official closing level of the Index, as calculated and 

published by the Index Sponsor. 

 ñIndex Modificationò means the Index Sponsor announces that it will make (in the opinion of the relevant Issuer) a material 

change in the formula for or the method of calculating the Index or in any other way materially modifies the Index (other than a 

modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain the Index in the event of changes in constituent securities and 

capitalization and other routine events). 

 ñIndex Sponsorò means either (x) the index sponsor specified in the Final Terms or such other corporation or entity as 

determined by the Calculation Agent that (a) is responsible for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of 

calculation and adjustments, if any, related to the Index and (b) announces (directly or through an agent) the level of the Index on a 

regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day, failing whom such person acceptable to the Calculation Agent who calculates 

and announces the Index or any agent or person acting on behalf of such person or (y) if no such index sponsor is specified in the 

Final Terms, then the corporation or entity as determined by the Calculation Agent that (a) is responsible for setting and reviewing 

the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation and adjustments, if any, related to the Index and (b) announces (directly or 

through an agent) the level of the Index on a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day, failing whom such person 

acceptable to the Calculation Agent who calculates and announces the Index or any agent or person acting on behalf of such 

person. 

 ñInitial Index Levelò means the level of the Index specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the applicable 

Final Terms or, if no such level is so specified or otherwise so determined, the level of the Index as determined by the Calculation 

Agent as of the Valuation Time on the Strike Date, subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 5(m) as set out below. 

 ñMarket Disruption Eventò means the occurrence or existence on any Scheduled Trading Day of (i) a Trading Disruption or 

(ii)  an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines in its sole discretion is material at any time 

during the one hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time or (iii) an Early Closure, provided that, if ñMulti-Exchange 

Indexò is specified in the Final Terms, the securities comprised in the Index in respect of which an Early Closure, an Exchange 

Disruption and/or a Trading Disruption occurs or exists amount, in the determination of the relevant Issuer, in aggregate to 20 per 

cent. or more of the level of the Index. For the purpose of determining whether a Market Disruption Event exists at any time in 

respect of a security included in the Index at any time, then the relevant percentage contribution of that security to the level of the 

Index shall be based on a comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that security and (y) the overall 

level of the Index, in each case immediately before the occurrence of such Market Disruption Event, as determined by the 

Calculation Agent. 
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 ñObservation Dateò means each date, if any, specified as such in the Final Terms, or if any such date is not a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñObservation Periodò has the meaning ascribed to it in the Final Terms.  

 ñRelated Exchangeò means each exchange or quotation system as the Calculation Agent determines on which trading has a 

material effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to the Index, 

or such other options or futures exchange(s) as the relevant Issuer may select, any transferee or successor to any such exchange or 

quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in futures or options contracts relating to the 

Index has temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to 

the futures or options contracts relating to the Index on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original 

Related Exchange). 

 ñScheduled Closing Timeò means in respect of the relevant Exchange(s) or a Related Exchange and a Scheduled Trading 

Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of the relevant Exchange(s) or such Related Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, 

without regard to after hours or any other trading outside of the regular trading session hours. 

 ñScheduled Trading Dayò means (i) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in the Final Terms, any day on which the Index 

Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the Index and each Related Exchange is scheduled to be open for trading for its regular 

trading session and (ii) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is not so specified in the Final Terms, any day on which the Exchange and each 

Related Exchange is scheduled to be open for trading for its regular trading session. 

 ñStrike Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms, or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the 

next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñStrike Priceò means the value (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms.  

 ñSuccessor Indexò means where the Index is (i) not calculated and announced by the Index Sponsor but is calculated and 

announced by a successor sponsor acceptable to the Calculation Agent or (ii) replaced by a successor index using, in the 

determination of the Calculation Agent, the same or a substantially similar formula for and method of calculation as used in the 

calculation of the Index, such successor index or index calculated and announced by the successor sponsor. 

 ñTrading Disruptionò means any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by an Exchange or a Related Exchange or 

otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange or the relevant 

Related Exchange or otherwise (i) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in the Final Terms, on any relevant Exchange(s) relating 

to any security comprised in the Index or, if ñapplicable Multi-Exchange Indexò is not so specified in the Final Terms, on the 

Exchange relating to securities that comprise 20 per cent or more of the level of the Index, or (ii) in futures or options contracts 

relating to the Index on a Related Exchange. 

 ñValuation Dateò means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if any such date is not a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, subject to the provisions of Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñValuation Timeò means:  

 (a) except where ñMulti-Exchange Index is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the time specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms or, if no time is so specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange on the relevant 

Averaging Date, Expiration Date, Observation Date, Strike Date or Valuation Date, as the case may be. If the relevant 

Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing time for 

its regular trading session, then (subject to Condition 5(l) (as set out below)) the Valuation Time shall be such actual 

closing time; or 

 (b) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the time specified as such in the applicable Final 

Terms or if no time is so specified: 

 (i) for the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event has occurred; 
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 (x) in respect of any Component Security, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange; and 

 (y) in respect of any options contracts or futures contracts on the Index, the close of trading on the relevant Related 

Exchange; and 

 (ii)  in all other circumstances, the time at which the official closing level of the Index is calculated and published by the 

Index Sponsor. 

3.  Disrupted Days 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5(l) as follows: 

 ñ(l) Disrupted Days 

If the Calculation Agent determines that an Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, an Observation Date, the Strike Date 

or a Valuation Date, as the case may be, is a Disrupted Day, then such Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, such 

Observation Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date, as the case may be, shall be the first succeeding Scheduled 

Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each of the eight Scheduled Trading Days immediately following the 

original date that, but for  the determination by the relevant Issuer of the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, would have been 

such Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, such Observation Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date, as the case may 

be, is a Disrupted Day. In that case: 

 (a) that eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be such Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, such Observation 

Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date, as the case may be, in respect of the Index, notwithstanding the fact that such 

day is a Disrupted Day; and 

 (b) the Calculation Agent shall determine the Index Level on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day in accordance with the 

formula for and method of calculating the Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day using the 

Exchange-traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day of each security 

comprised in the Index (or, if the Calculation Agent determines that an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred 

in respect of a relevant security on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant 

security as of the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day). Notwithstanding the provisions of any other 

Condition, if the Calculation Agent determines that a Disrupted Day has occurred on an Averaging Date, the Expiration 

Date, an Observation Date or the Strike Date or a Valuation Date, payment of the Final Redemption Amount any/or any 

amount of interest (if the payment of interest is index-linked), as the case may be, shall be postponed to the later of (i) the 

Maturity Date and/or the relevant Interest Payment Date and (ii) the date that is three Business Days (or such other period 

specified in the Final Terms) following the postponed Averaging Date, Expiration Date, Observation Date, Strike Date or 

Valuation Date, as the case may be. For the avoidance of doubt, no additional amounts shall be payable in respect of the 

postponement of any payment of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any amount of interest in accordance with this 

Condition 5(l). 

The relevant Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes, in accordance with Condition 13, of the occurrence of a 

Disrupted Day if it results in the postponement of any payment in respect of the Notes.ò 

4.  Adjustments, Consequences of Certain Events and Currency 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5(m) as follows: 

 ñ(m) Adjustments and Currency  

 (i) Index Modification, Index Cancellation and/or Index Disruption 

If the Calculation Agent determines that an Index Modification, Index Cancellation or Index Disruption has occurred or 

any other event or events occur which the Calculation Agent determines necessitate(s) an adjustment or adjustments to the 

Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount and/or any other relevant term of the Notes, the relevant issuer may make 
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any adjustment or adjustments to the Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount and/or any other relevant term of the 

Notes as it deems necessary. The relevant issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes of any such adjustment in 

accordance with Condition 13. 

 (ii)  Price Correction  

In the event that any price or level published on the relevant Exchange(s) or by the Index Sponsor and which is utilised 

for any calculation or determination made under the Notes is subsequently corrected and the correction is published by the 

relevant Exchange(s) or Index Sponsor(s) within three Business Days (or such other period specified in the Final Terms) after 

the original publication, the Calculation Agent will determine the amount (if any) that is payable following that correction, 

and, to the extent necessary, the relevant Issuer will adjust the terms and conditions of the Notes to account for such correction. 

 (iii)  Currency  

If the Calculation Agent determines that any event occurs affecting the Specified Currency (whether relating to its 

convertibility into other currencies or otherwise) which the Calculation Agent determines necessitates an adjustment or 

adjustments to the Final Redemption Amount, Redemption Amount, Strike Price and/or any other relevant term of the Notes 

(including the date on which any amount is payable by the relevant Issuer), the relevant Issuer may make such adjustment or 

adjustments to the Final Redemption Amount, Redemption Amount, Strike Price and/or any other relevant term of the Notes as 

it deems necessary. The relevant Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes of any such adjustment in accordance with 

Condition 13. 

 (iv) Additional Disruption Event  

If the Calculation Agent determines that an Additional Disruption Event has occurred, the relevant Issuer may redeem 

each Note at its Redemption Amount on such date as the Issuer may notify, to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 

14 (unless provided for otherwise in the Final Terms). Notice of any redemption of the Notes or determination pursuant to this 

paragraph shall be given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.ò 

5.  Index Disclaimer 

The Notes are not sponsored, endorsed, sold or promoted by the Index or the Index Sponsor and the Index Sponsor has made 

no representation whatsoever, whether express or implied, either as to the results to be obtained from the use of the Index and/or 

the levels at which the Index stands at any particular time on any particular date or otherwise. The Index Sponsor shall not be liable 

(whether in negligence or otherwise) to any person for any error in the Index and the Index Sponsor is under no obligation to 

advise any person of any error therein. The Index Sponsor has made no representation whatsoever, whether express or implied, as 

to the advisability of purchasing or assuming any risk in connection with the Notes. Neither the relevant Issuer nor the Calculation 

Agent shall have any liability to any person for any act or failure to act by the Index Sponsor in connection with the calculation, 

adjustment or maintenance of the Index. Neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, nor the Calculation Agent has any affiliation 

with or control over the Index or the Index Sponsor or any control over the computation, composition or dissemination of the 

Index. Although the relevant Issuer and the Calculation Agent will obtain information concerning the Index from publicly 

available sources they believe to be reliable, they will not independently verify this information. Accordingly, no representation, 

warranty or undertaking (express or implied) is made and no responsibility is accepted by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor or the 

Calculation Agent as to the accuracy, completeness and timeliness of information concerning the Index. 

6.  Hedging Disruption Events 

6.1 A ñHedging Disruption Eventò shall occur if the Calculation Agent reasonably determines in good faith that: 

 (a) the Issuer or any affiliate (a ñHedging Partyò) is unable (including without limitation by reason of illegality), or that it is 

impracticable for a Hedging Party, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish, 

substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) (each a ñRelevant Hedging Transactionò) it 

deems necessary or appropriate to hedge its exposure to price variations of the Index inherent in its obligations, in the case 

of the Issuer, under the Notes or, in the case of an affiliate, under any transaction pursuant to which it hedges the Issuerôs 
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exposure to the Index under the Notes, or (ii) realise, recover or remit to any person the proceeds of such transaction or 

asset; and/or 

 (b) the Issuer would incur an increased cost in respect of the Relevant Hedging Transactions related to the performance of its 

obligations under the Notes (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or 

other adverse effect on its tax position); and/or 

 (c) any Hedging Party would incur a materially increased (as compared with circumstances existing on the Issue Date) amount 

of tax, duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, 

unwind or dispose of any Relevant Hedging Transaction, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such Relevant 

Hedging Transaction; unless any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the 

creditworthiness of the Hedging Party. 

6.2 A Hedging Disruption Event may include, but is not limited to, the following: 

 (a) a change in any applicable law (including, without limitation, any tax law) or the promulgation of, or change in, the 

interpretation of any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law (including 

any action taken by a taxing authority); or 

 (b) the general unavailability of market participants who will so enter into a Relevant Hedging Transaction on commercially 

reasonable terms. 

6.3 In the event of a Hedging Disruption Event:  

 (a) the Issuer may elect to redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount on such date as the Issuer may notify to Noteholders 

in accordance with Condition 13; and 

 (b) subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment or adjustments to the 

Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount and/or any other term of the Notes as it considers appropriate in order 

to maintain the theoretical value of the Notes after adjusting for the relevant Hedging Disruption Event. 

6.4 The Calculation Agent shall as soon as reasonably practicable give instructions to the Issuer to notify the Noteholders in 

accordance with Condition 13, if it determines that a Hedging Disruption Event has occurred and such notice shall specify the 

consequence of such Hedging Disruption Event as determined pursuant to this paragraph 6. 
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PART 2B: BASKET OF INDICES  

 

The terms and conditions applicable to Notes linked to a basket of indices shall comprise the Terms and Conditions of the 

Medium Term Notes set out in Part 1 (the ñPrincipal Conditionsò) and the additional Terms and Conditions set out below (the 

ñBasket Index Linked Conditionsò), in each case subject to completion and/or amendment in the applicable Final Terms. In the 

event of any inconsistency between the Principal Conditions and the Basket Index Linked Conditions, the Basket Index Linked 

Conditions set out below shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between (i) the Principal Conditions and/or the Basket 

Index Linked Conditions and (ii) the Final Terms, the Final Terms shall prevail. 

1.  Final Redemption 

Subject to any applicable automatic redemption and/or early redemption and/or put options and/or call options set forth in the 

Final Terms not having occurred prior to any applicable date specified therein, for the purposes of Condition 5(a) the Final 

Redemption Amount payable per Note on the Maturity Date (subject to the provisions of Condition 5(l) and 5(m)) shall be an 

amount in the Specified Currency determined by the Calculation Agent as set forth in the Final Terms. 

2.  Definitions 

For the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Notes, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below: 

 ñAdditional Disruption Eventò means any event(s) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAveraging Datesò means, in respect of an Index and each Valuation Date each of the dates specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms, if any, or if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of the relevant Index, the next 

following Scheduled Trading Day in respect of that Index, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñBarrier Levelò means the level of the Basket specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final 

Terms, subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 5(m) as set out below. 

 ñBasketò means a basket composed of the Indices specified in the Final Terms.  

 ñDisrupted Dayò means, in respect of an Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is 

specified in the Final Terms, the relevant Index Sponsor fails to publish the level of the relevant Index or, if ñMulti-Exchange 

Indexò is not so specified in relation to that Index, the relevant Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session, 

(ii)  any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session or (iii) a Market Disruption Event has 

occurred. 

 ñEarly Closureò means, in respect of an Index, the closure on any Exchange Business Day of any relevant Exchange(s) or 

Related Exchange(s) prior to its/their Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by such Exchange(s) 

or Related Exchange(s) at least one hour prior to the earlier of (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such 

Exchange(s) or Related Exchange(s) on such Exchange Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into 

the relevant Exchange(s) or such Related Exchange(s) system(s) for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business 

Day. 

 ñExchange(s)ò means, in respect of an Index, the exchange or quotation system specified for such Index in the applicable 

Final Terms and, if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in relation to that Index in the applicable Final Terms, in respect of any 

securities comprised in such Index, the stock exchanges (from time to time) on which in the determination of the Calculation Agent 

such securities are listed for the purposes of such Index or any successor to any such exchange or quotation system or any 

substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the securities comprised in the relevant Index has temporarily been 

relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the securities 

underlying such Index on such successor or substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Exchange). 
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 ñExchange Business Dayò means, in respect of an Index, any Scheduled Trading Day on which the relevant Exchange(s) and 

each Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, notwithstanding any such Exchange(s) 

or Related Exchange(s) closing prior to its/their Scheduled Closing Time. 

 ñExchange Disruptionò means, in respect of an Index, any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as 

determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general (i) to effect transactions in, or obtain market 

values for, (x) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in relation to that Index in the applicable Final Terms any security comprised 

in such Index on any relevant Exchange and (y) if ñMulti -Exchange Indexò is not so specified in relation to that Index in the Final 

Terms, securities that comprise 20 per cent, or more of the level of such Index on the relevant Exchange or (ii) to effect 

transactions in, or obtain market values for, futures or options contracts relating to such Index on any relevant Related Exchange. 

 ñExpiration Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms or, if such date is not a Scheduled Trading 

Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l). 

 ñFinal Index Levelò means:  

 (i) (a) in respect of any Index and any Valuation Date or Observation Date, the Index Level on such Valuation Date or 

Observation Date or (b) in respect of any Index and the Averaging Dates relating to an Observation Period or a Valuation 

Date, the arithmetic average as determined by the Calculation Agent (rounded to the nearest unit of the Specified Currency 

in which such Index is valued (with halves being rounded up)) of the Index Levels of such Index on each of such 

Averaging Dates; or 

 (ii)  (a) in respect of the Basket and any Valuation Date or Observation Date, a value for the Basket determined by the 

Calculation Agent equal to the sum of the values of each Index as the product in respect of each Index of (i) the Index 

Level of such Index on such Valuation Date or Observation Date and (ii) the relevant Weight, or (b) in respect of the 

Basket and the Averaging Dates relating to an Observation Period or Valuation Date, the arithmetic average as determined 

by the Calculation Agent of the values for the Basket calculated on each of such Averaging Date as the sum of the values 

of each Index as the product in respect of each Index of (i) the Index Level of such Index on each of such Averaging Dates 

and (ii) the relevant Weight; 

all being subject to adjustment in accordance Condition 5(m) as set out below.  

 ñIndexò means one of the indices specified in the definition of Basket or any Successor Index, ñIndicesò means all such 

indices together. 

 ñIndex Cancellationò means, in respect of an Index, the Index Sponsor in respect of such Index permanently cancels the 

Index and no Successor Index exists. 

 ñIndex Disruptionò means, in respect of an Index, the Index Sponsor in respect of such Index fails to calculate and announce 

the Index Level. 

 ñIndex Levelò means, in respect of an Index, on any relevant Scheduled Trading Day, the official closing level of the relevant 

Index, as calculated and published by the relevant Index Sponsor. 

 ñIndex Modificationò means, in respect of an Index, the relevant Index Sponsor announces that it will make a material 

change in the formula for or the method of calculating such Index or in any other way materially modifies such Index (other than a 

modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain such Index in the event of changes in constituent securities and 

capitalization and other routine events). 

 ñIndex Sponsorò means, in respect of an Index, either (x) the index sponsor specified in the Final Terms or such other 

corporation or entity as determined by the Calculation Agent that (a) is responsible for setting and reviewing the rules and 

procedures and the methods of calculation and adjustments, if any, related to such Index and (b) announces (directly or through an 

agent) the level of such Index on a regular basis during each Scheduled Trading Day failing whom such person acceptable to the 

Calculation Agent who calculates and announces the relevant Index or any agent or person acting on behalf of such person or (y) if 

no such index sponsor is specified in the Final Terms, then the corporation or entity as determined by the Calculation Agent that 
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(a) is responsible for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the methods of calculation and adjustments, if any, related 

to such Index and (b) announces (directly or through an agent) the level of such Index on a regular basis during each Scheduled 

Trading Day, failing whom such person acceptable to the Calculation Agent who calculates and announces the relevant Index or 

any agent or person acting on behalf of such person. 

 ñInitial Index Levelò means either (i) in respect of any Index, the level of such Index specified as such or otherwise 
determined in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such level is so specified or otherwise determined, the level of such Index as 
determined by the Calculation Agent as of the Valuation Time on the Strike Date; or (ii) in respect of the Basket, the level 
specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such level is specified or otherwise 
determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms, a value for the Basket determined by the Calculation Agent equal to the sum 
of the values of each Index as the product in respect of each Index of (i) the Index Level of such Index on the Strike Date and 
(ii)  the relevant Weight, all being subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 5(m) as set out below. 

 ñMarket Disruption Eventò means, in respect of an Index, the occurrence or existence on any Scheduled Trading Day of 
(i) a Trading Disruption or (ii) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines in its sole discretion 
is material, at any time during the one hour period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time or (iii) an Early Closure, provided 
that, if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in relation to that Index in the Final Terms, the securities comprised in the relevant 
Index in respect of which an Early Closure, an Exchange Disruption and/or a Trading Disruption occurs or exists amount, in the 
determination of the relevant Issuer, in aggregate to 20 per cent, or more of the level of such Index. For the purpose of determining 
whether a Market Disruption Event exists at any time in respect of a security included in the relevant Index at any time, then the 
relevant percentage contribution of that security to the level of such Index shall be based on a comparison of (x) the portion of the 
level of the relevant Index attributable to that security and (y) the overall level of such Index, in each case immediately before the 
occurrence of such Market Disruption Event, as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 ñObservation Dateò means, in respect of an Index, each date, if any, specified as such in the Final Terms or, if any such date 
is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Index, the next following such Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to 
Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñObservation Periodò has the meaning ascribed to it in the Final Terms.  

 ñRelated Exchangeò means, in respect of an Index, each exchange or quotation system as the Calculation Agent determines 
on which trading has a material effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options 
contracts relating to such Index, any transferee or successor to any such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange 
or quotation system to which trading in futures or options contracts relating to such Index has temporarily relocated (provided that 
the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options contracts relating to the 
relevant Index on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Related Exchange). 

 ñScheduled Closing Timeò means in respect of an Exchange or a Related Exchange and a Scheduled Trading Day, the 
scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or such Related Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to 
after hours or any other trading outside of the regular trading session hours. 

 ñScheduled Trading Dayò means, in respect of an Index, (i) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in relation to that Index 
in the Final Terms, any day on which the relevant Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of such Index and each Related 
Exchange is scheduled to be open for trading for its regular trading session and (ii) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is not so specified in 
relation to that Index in the Final Terms, any day on which each relevant Exchange and each Related Exchange is scheduled to be 
open for trading for its regular trading session. 

 ñStrike Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms, or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the 
next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñStrike Priceò means the value (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms.  

 ñSuccessor Indexò means, in respect of an Index, where such Index is (i) not calculated and announced by the relevant Index 
Sponsor but is calculated and announced by a successor sponsor acceptable to the relevant Issuer or (ii) replaced by a successor 
index using, in the determination of the relevant Issuer, the same or a substantially similar formula for and method of calculation as 
used in the calculation of the relevant Index, such successor index or index calculated and announced by the successor sponsor. 
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 ñTrading Disruptionò means, in respect of an Index, any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by a relevant 
Exchange or a Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the 
relevant Exchange or relevant Related Exchange or otherwise (i) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in relation to that Index in 
the Final Terms, on any relevant Exchange(s) relating to any security comprised in the relevant Index or, if ñMulti-Exchange 
Indexò is not so specified in relation to that Index in the Final Terms, on the Exchange relating to securities that comprise 20 per 
cent or more of the level of the relevant Index, or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Index on any relevant Related 
Exchange. 

 ñValuation Dateò means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if any such date is not a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, subject to the provisions of Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñValuation Timeò means:  

 (a) except where ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to the relevant Index, the time 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no time is so specified, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant 

Exchange on the relevant Averaging Date, Expiration Date, Observation Date, Strike Date or Valuation Date, as the case 

may be, in relation to each Index to be valued. If the relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time and the 

specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing time for its regular trading session, then (subject to Condition 5(l) (as 

set out below)) the Valuation Time shall be such actual closing time; or 

 (b) if ñMulti-Exchange Indexò is specified in the applicable Final Terms in relation to the relevant Index, the time specified as 

such in the applicable Final Terms or if no time is so specified: 

 (i) for the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event has occurred; 

 (x) in respect of any Component Security, the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange; and 

 (y) in respect of any options contracts or futures contracts on the Index, the close of trading on the relevant Related 

Exchange; and 

 (ii)  in all other circumstances, the time at which the official closing level of the Index is calculated and published by the 

Index Sponsor. 

 ñWeightò means, in respect of each Index comprised in the Basket, the percentage in respect of such Index specified as such 

in the applicable Final Terms. 

3.  Disrupted Days 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5(l) as follows: 

 ñ(l) Disrupted Days 

If the Calculation Agent determines that an Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, an Observation Date, the Strike Date or a 

Valuation Date as the case may be, is a Disrupted Day in respect of an Index, then such Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, such 

Observation Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date, as the case may be, for such Index shall be the first succeeding 

Scheduled Trading Day in respect of such Index that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each of the eight Scheduled Trading Days 

immediately following the original date that, but for the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, would have been such Averaging Date, the 

Expiration Date, such Observation Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date, as the case may be, is a Disrupted Day for such 

Index. In that case: 

 (a) that eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be such Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, such Observation 

Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date, as the case may be, for such Index, notwithstanding the fact that such day is 

a Disrupted Day; and 
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 (b) the Calculation Agent shall determine the Index Level of such Index on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day in accordance 

with the formula for and method of calculating such Index last in effect prior to the occurrence of the first Disrupted Day 

using the Exchange traded or quoted price as of the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day of each security 

comprised in the relevant Index (or, if the Calculation Agent determines that an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has 

occurred in respect of a relevant security on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day, its good faith estimate of the value for the 

relevant security as of the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day). 

Notwithstanding the provisions of any other Condition, if the Calculation Agent determines that a Disrupted Day has occurred 

in respect of an Index on an Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, an Observation Date, the Strike Date or a Valuation Date, 

payment of the Final Redemption Amount and/or amount of interest (if the payment of interest is index-linked), as the case may 

be, shall be postponed to the later of (i) the Maturity Date and/or the relevant Interest Payment Date and (ii) the date that is three 

Business Days (or such other period specified in the Final Terms) following the postponed Averaging Date, Expiration Date, 

Observation Date, Strike Date or Valuation Date, as the case may be, in respect of the Indices. For the avoidance of doubt, no 

additional amounts shall be payable in respect of the postponement of any payment of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any 

amount of interest in accordance with this clause. 

The relevant Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes, in accordance with Condition 13, of the occurrence of a 

Disrupted Day if it results in the postponement of any payment in respect of the Notes. 

4.  Adjustments, Consequences of Certain Events and Currency 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5(m) as follows: 

 ñ(m) Adjustments and Currency  

 (i) Index Modification, Index Cancellation and/or Index Disruption 

If the Calculation Agent determines that, in respect of any Index, an Index Modification, Index Cancellation or Index 

Disruption has occurred or any other event or events occur which the Calculation Agent determines necessitate(s) an 

adjustment or adjustments to the Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount and/or any other relevant term of the 

Notes, the Calculation Agent may make any adjustment or adjustments to the Final Redemption Amount and/or any other 

relevant term of the Notes as it deems necessary. The relevant Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes of any such 

adjustment in accordance with Condition 13. 

 (ii)  Price Correction  

In the event that any price or level published on any relevant Exchange or by any relevant Index Sponsor in respect of an 

Index and which is utilised for any calculation or determination made under the Notes is subsequently corrected and the 

correction is published by the relevant Exchange or the relevant Index Sponsor within three Business Days (or such other 

period as specified in the Final Terms) after the original publication, the Calculation Agent will determine the amount (if any) 

that is payable following that correction, and, to the extent necessary, the relevant Issuer will adjust the terms and conditions of 

the Notes to account for such correction. 

 (iii)  Currency  

the Calculation Agent determines that any event occurs affecting the Specified Currency (whether relating to its 

convertibility into other currencies or otherwise) which the Calculation Agent determines necessitates an adjustment or 

adjustments to the Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount, Strike Price and/or any other relevant term of the 

Notes (including the date on which any amount is payable by the Issuer), the Issuer may make such adjustment or adjustments 

to the Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount, Strike Price and/or any other relevant term of the Notes as it 

deems necessary. The relevant Issuer shall give notice of any such adjustment to the holders of the Notes in accordance with 

Condition 13. 

 (iv) Additional Disruption Events  
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If the Calculation Agent determines that an Additional Disruption Event has occurred, the Issuer may redeem each Note at 

its Redemption Amount on such date as the Issuer may notify to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. The 

relevant Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes of any redemption of the Notes or determination pursuant to this 

paragraph to the Agent who shall give notice as soon as practicable in accordance with Condition 13. 

5.  Index Disclaimer 

The Notes are not sponsored, endorsed, sold or promoted by any of the Indices or any of the Index Sponsors and none of the 
Index Sponsors has made any representation whatsoever, whether express or implied, either as to the results to be obtained from 
the use of the relevant Index and/or the levels at which any such Index stands at any particular time on any particular date or 
otherwise. None of the Index Sponsors shall be liable (whether in negligence or otherwise) to any person for any error in any 
relevant Index and none of the Index Sponsors are under any obligation to advise any person of any error therein. The Index 
Sponsors have made no representation whatsoever, whether express or implied, as to the advisability of purchasing or assuming 
any risk in connection with the Notes. Neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the Calculation Agent shall have any liability 
to any person for any act or failure to act by any Index Sponsor in connection with the calculation, adjustment or maintenance of 
any Index. Neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the Calculation Agent has any affiliation with or control over any of the 
Indices or any of the Index Sponsors or any control over the computation, composition or dissemination of the Indices. Although 
the relevant Issuer and the Calculation Agent will obtain information concerning the Indices from publicly available sources they 
believe to be reliable, they will not independently verify this information. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking 
(express or implied) is made and no responsibility is accepted by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor or the Calculation Agent as to 
the accuracy, completeness and timeliness of information concerning any Index. 

6.  Hedging Disruption Events 

6.1 A ñHedging Disruption Eventò shall occur if the Calculation Agent reasonably determines in good faith that: 

 (a) the Issuer or any affiliate (a ñHedging Partyò) is unable (including without limitation by reason of illegality), or that it is 
impracticable for a Hedging Party, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish, 
substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) (each a ñRelevant Hedging Transactionò) it 
deems necessary or appropriate to hedge its exposure to price variations of the Basket inherent in its obligations, in the 
case of the Issuer, under the Notes or, in the case of an affiliate, under any transaction pursuant to which it hedges the 
Issuerôs exposure to the Basket under the Notes, or (ii) realise, recover or remit to any person the proceeds of such 
transaction or asset; and/or 

 (b) the Issuer would incur an increased cost in respect of the Relevant Hedging Transactions related to the performance of its 
obligation under the Notes (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or 
other adverse effect on its tax position); and/or 

 (c) any Hedging Party would incur a materially increased (as compared with circumstances existing on the Issue Date) amount 
of tax, duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, 
unwind or dispose of any Relevant Hedging Transaction, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such Relevant 
Hedging Transaction; unless any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the 
creditworthiness of the Hedging Party. 

6.2 A Hedging Disruption Event may include, but is not limited to, the following: 

 (a) a change in any applicable law (including, without limitation, any tax law) or the promulgation of, or change in, the 
interpretation of any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law (including 
any action taken by a taxing authority); or 

 (b) the general unavailability of market participants who will so enter into a Relevant Hedging Transaction on commercially 
reasonable terms. 

6.3 In the event of a Hedging Disruption Event:  

 (a) the Issuer may elect to redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount on such date as the Issuer may notify to Noteholders 
in accordance with Condition 13; and 
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 (b) subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment or adjustments to the 
Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount and/or any other terms of the Notes as it considers appropriate in 
order to maintain the theoretical value of the Notes after adjusting for the relevant Hedging Disruption Event. 

6.4 The Calculation Agent shall as soon as reasonably practicable give instructions to the Issuer to notify the Noteholders in 
accordance with Condition 13, if it determines that a Hedging Disruption Event has occurred and such notice shall specify the 
consequence of such Hedging Disruption Event as determined pursuant to this paragraph 6. 
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PART 3: EQUITY LINKED NOTES  

 

PART 3A: SINGLE SHARE  

The terms and conditions applicable to Notes linked to a single share shall comprise the Terms and Conditions of the Medium 

Term Notes set out in Part 1 (the ñPrincipal Conditionsò) and the additional Terms and Conditions set out below (the ñEquity 

Linked Conditionsò), in each case subject to completion and/or amendment in the applicable Final Terms. In the event of any 

inconsistency between the Principal Conditions and the Equity Linked Conditions, the Equity Linked Conditions set out below 

shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between (i) the Principal Conditions and/or the Equity Linked Conditions and 

(ii)  the Final Terms, the Final Terms shall prevail. 

1.  Final Redemption 

Subject to any applicable automatic redemption and/or early redemption and/or put options and/or call options set forth in the 

Final Terms not having occurred prior to any applicable date specified therein, on the Maturity Date (subject to the provisions of 

Conditions 5(l) and 5(m)) the relevant Issuer shall (i) pay the Final Redemption Amount, which shall be an amount payable per 

Note in the Specified Currency determined by the Calculation Agent as set forth in the Final Terms and/or (if ñShare Deliveryò is 

specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, then in the circumstances described in the Final Terms) (ii) deliver the Share 

Amount(s) (subject to and in accordance with Condition 5(n)), all as further specified in the Final Terms. 

2.  Definitions 

For the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Notes, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below: 

 ñAdditional Disruption Eventò means Insolvency Filing and any event(s) specified as such (if any) in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

 ñAveraging Datesò means, in respect of each Valuation Date, each of the dates specified as such in the applicable Final 

Terms, if any, or if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject 

to the provisions of Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñBarrier Levelò means the price of a Share specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final 

Terms, subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 5(m) as set out below. 

 ñDe-listingò means that the Exchange announces that pursuant to its rules the Shares have ceased (or will cease) to be listed, 

traded or publicly quoted on the Exchange for any reason (other than a Merger Event or Tender Offer) and such Shares are not 

immediately re-listed, re-traded or requoted on an exchange or quotation system located in the same country as the Exchange (or, 

where the Exchange is within the European Union, in any member state of the European Union) and such Shares are no longer 

listed on an Exchange acceptable to the Issuer. 

 ñDelivery Agentò means such delivery agent as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñDelivery Dayò means, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, a day, if any, on which the 

Shares comprised in the Share Amount(s) may be delivered to the Noteholders in a manner which the Issuer determines to be 

appropriate. 

 ñDisrupted Dayò means any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular 

trading session, (ii) any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session or (iii) on which a Market 

Disruption Event has occurred. 

 ñDisruption Cash Settlement Priceò means, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, in 

respect of each Note, an amount in the Specified Currency equal to the fair economic value of the Share Amount, as determined by 

the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion. 
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 ñEarly Closureò means the closure on any Exchange Business Day of the Exchange or any Related Exchange prior to its 

Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by the Exchange or such Related Exchange at least one hour 

prior to the earlier of (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on the Exchange or such Related Exchange on such 

Exchange Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the Exchange or Related Exchange system 

for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day. 

 ñExchangeò means the exchange or quotation system specified in the Final Terms or any successor to such exchange or 

quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the Shares has temporarily been relocated 

(provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to such Shares on such successor 

or substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Exchange). 

 ñExchange Business Dayò means any Scheduled Trading Day on which the Exchange and each Related Exchange are open 

for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, notwithstanding the Exchange or any such Related Exchange closing 

prior to its Scheduled Closing Time. 

 ñExchange Disruptionò means, in respect of the Shares, any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs (as 

determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general (i) to effect transactions in, or obtain market 

values for, the Shares on the Exchange or (ii) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, futures or options contracts 

relating to the Shares on any Related Exchange. 

 ñExpiration Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms, or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading 

Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to the provisions of Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñExtraordinary Dividendò means, in respect of the Shares, the characterisation of a dividend or portion thereof as an 

Extraordinary Dividend by the relevant Issuer. 

 ñFinal Share Priceò means the price of one Share in the Share Currency quoted on the Exchange at the Valuation Time on 

the Expiration Date (or such other definition, if any, as may be specified in the Final Terms), as determined by the Calculation 

Agent and subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 5(m) as set out below. 

 ñFractional Amountò means, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, any fractional interest 

in one Share to which a Noteholder would be entitled pursuant to Condition 5(n)(iii) as set out below. 

 ñFractional Cash Amountò means, in respect of each Noteholder, the amount (rounded to the nearest smallest transferable 

unit of the Specified Currency, half such a unit being rounded downwards) calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with 

the following formula and translated into the Specified Currency by the Calculation Agent: 

Fractional Cash Amount = (Final Share Price x Fractional Amount). 

 ñInitial Share Priceò means the price of one Share in the Share Currency quoted on the Exchange at the Valuation Time on 

the Strike Date (or such other definition, if any, as may be specified in the Final Terms), as determined by the Calculation Agent 

and subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 5(m) as set out below. 

 ñInsolvencyò means, in respect of the Share Issuer, that by reason of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, bankruptcy, 

insolvency, dissolution or winding-up of or any analogous proceeding affecting the Share Issuer, (A) all the Shares of the Share 

Issuer are required to be transferred to a trustee, liquidator or other similar official or (B) holders of the Shares of the Share Issuer 

become legally prohibited from transferring them. 

 ñInsolvency Filingò means that the Calculation Agent determines that the Share Issuer has instituted or has had instituted 

against it by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it 

in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, or it consents to a proceeding 

seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law 

affecting creditorsô rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar 

official or it consents to such a petition. 
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 ñMarket Disruption Eventò means the occurrence or existence on any Scheduled Trading Day of (i) a Trading Disruption or 

(ii)  an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour 

period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time or (iii)  an Early Closure. 

 ñMerger Dateò means, in respect of a Merger Event, the closing date of such Merger Event or, where the Calculation Agent 

determines that a closing date cannot be determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as 

determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 ñMerger Eventò means, in respect of the Shares, any (i) reclassification or change of the Shares that results in a transfer of, or 

an irrevocable commitment to, transfer all of such Shares outstanding to another entity or person, (ii) consolidation, amalgamation, 

merger or binding share exchange of the Share Issuer with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation, 

amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange in which the Share Issuer is the continuing entity and which does not result in a 

reclassification or change of all of such Shares outstanding), (iii) takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal 

or other event by any entity or person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per cent. of the outstanding Shares of the Share Issuer 

that results in a transfer of, or an irrevocable commitment to, transfer all such Shares (other than such Shares owned or controlled 

by the such other entity or person), or (iv) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the Share Issuer or 

its subsidiaries with or into another entity in which the Share Issuer is the continuing entity and which does not result in a 

reclassification or change of all such Shares outstanding but results in the outstanding Shares (other than Shares owned or 

controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such event collectively representing less than 50 per cent. of the outstanding 

Shares immediately following such event (a ñReverse Mergerò), in each case if the Merger Date is on or before the Expiration 

Date (or such other date as may be specified in the Final Terms). 

 ñNationalisationò means that all the Shares of the Share Issuer or all or substantially all the assets of the Share Issuer are 

nationalized, expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to any governmental agency, authority, entity or 

instrumentality thereof. 

 ñNew Sharesò means ordinary or common shares, whether of the entity or person (other than the Share Issuer) involved in the 

Merger Event or a third party, that are, or that as of the Merger Date are promptly scheduled to be, (i) publicly quoted, traded or 

listed on an exchange or quotation system located in the same country as the Exchange (or, where the Exchange is within the 

European Union, in any member of state of the European Union) or on another exchange acceptable to the Issuer and (ii) not 

subject to any currency exchange controls, trading restrictions or other trading limitations. 

 ñObservation Dateò means each date, if any, specified as such in the Final Terms, or if any such date is not a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñObservation Periodò has the meaning ascribed to it in the Final Terms.  

 ñOther Considerationò means cash and/or any securities (other than New Shares) or assets (whether of the entity or person 

(other than the Share Issuer) involved in the Merger Event or a third party). 

 ñPotential Adjustment Eventò means any of the following:  

 (i) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of the Shares (unless resulting in a Merger Event), or a free distribution or 

dividend of any Shares to existing holders by way of bonus, capitalisation or similar issue; 

 (ii)  a distribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of the Shares of (A) Shares, or (B) other share capital or securities 

granting the right to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of liquidation of the Share Issuer equally or proportionately 

with such payments to holders of the Shares, or (C) share capital or other securities of another issuing institution acquired 

or owned (directly or indirectly) by the Share Issuer as a result of a spin-off or other similar transaction, or (D) any other 

type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any case for payment (cash or other consideration) at less than the 

prevailing market price as determined by the Calculation Agent; 

 (iii)  an Extraordinary Dividend;  

 (iv) a call by the Share Issuer in respect of Shares that are not fully paid; 
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 (v) a repurchase by the Share Issuer or any of its subsidiaries of Shares whether out of profits or capital and whether the 

consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or otherwise; 

 (vi) with respect to the Share Issuer, an event that results in any shareholder rights pursuant to a shareholder rights plan or 

arrangement directed against hostile takeovers that provides upon the occurrence of certain events for a distribution of 

preferred stock, warrants, debt instruments or stock rights at a price below their market value (as determined by the 

Calculation Agent) being distributed or becoming separated from shares of common stock or other shares of the capital 

stock of the Share Issuer (provided that any adjustment effected as a result of such an event shall be readjusted upon any 

redemption of such rights); 

(vii)  the effective date of a consolidation of an Underlying with another company or merger of an Underlying with another 

company; or 

 (viii ) any other event that may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the Shares. 

Following the declaration by a Share Issuer of the terms of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will, in its 

sole and absolute discretion, determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the 

theoretical value of the relevant Shares and, if so, will make the corresponding adjustment, if any, using its sole and absolute 

discretion. 

 ñPriceò means, in respect of a Share, on any Exchange Business Day, the price of one such Share in the Share Currency 

quoted on the relevant Exchange (i) if ñConstant Monitoringò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, at any given time 

on such Exchange Business Day or (ii) if ñValuation Time Onlyò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, at the 

Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day, all as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 ñRelated Exchangeò means each exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect (as determined by the 

Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to the Shares, or such other options or futures 

exchange(s) as the relevant Issuer may select, any transferee or successor to any such exchange or quotation system or any 

substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in futures or options contracts relating to the Shares has temporarily 

relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options 

contracts relating to the Shares on such temporary substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Related Exchange). 

 ñScheduled Closing Timeò means, in respect of the Exchange or a Related Exchange and a Scheduled Trading Day, the 

scheduled weekday closing time of the Exchange or Related Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after 

hours or any other trading outside of the regular trading session hours. 

 ñScheduled Trading Dayò means any day on which the Exchange and each Related Exchange is scheduled to be open for 

trading for its regular trading sessions. 

 ñSettlement Disruption Eventò means, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, an event 

determined by the Calculation Agent to be beyond the control of the relevant Issuer as a result of which the relevant Issuer cannot 

transfer (or it would be contrary to applicable laws and regulations for the relevant Issuer to transfer) the Shares comprised in the 

Share Amount(s) in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes. 

 ñShare Amountò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms.  

 ñShare Currencyò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms.  

 ñShare Delivery Dateò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñShare Issuerò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms.  

 ñSharesò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms.  
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 ñStrike Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or if such date is not a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñStrike Priceò means the price (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñTender Offerò means a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or 

person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining or having the right to obtain, by conversion or other 

means, greater than 10 per cent. and less than 100 per cent. of the outstanding voting shares of the Share Issuer, as determined by 

the Calculation Agent, based upon the making of filings with governmental or self-regulatory agencies or such other information as 

the Calculation Agent deems relevant. 

 ñTender Offer Dateò means, in respect of a Tender Offer, the date on which voting shares in an amount determined by the 

Calculation Agent are actually purchased or otherwise obtained (as determined by the Calculation Agent). 

 ñTrading Disruptionò means any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by the Exchange or a Related Exchange or 

otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the Exchange or such Related Exchange or 

otherwise (i) relating to the Shares on the Exchange or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Shares on a Related 

Exchange. 

 ñValuation Dateò means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if any such date is not a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, subject to the provisions of paragraph 3 (Disrupted Days) as set out 

below. 

 ñValuation Timeò means the Scheduled Closing Time on the Exchange on the relevant date. If the Exchange closes prior to 

its Scheduled Closing Time, and the specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing time for its regular trading session, then 

(subject to Condition 5(l)) the Valuation Time shall be such actual closing time. 

3.  Disrupted Days 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5(l) shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5(l) as follows: 

 ñ(l) Disrupted Days 

If the Calculation Agent determines that an Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, an Observation Date, the Strike Date or a 

Valuation Date, as the case may be, in respect of the Shares is a Disrupted Day, then the Strike Date, the Expiration Date, such 

Averaging Date, such Valuation Date or such Observation Date, as the case may be, shall be the first succeeding Scheduled 

Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each of the eight Scheduled Trading Days immediately following the original date 

that, but for the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, would have been such Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, such Observation 

Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date, as the case may be, is a Disrupted Day. In that case: 

 (a) that eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be such Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, such Observation 

Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date, as the case may be, in respect of the Shares, notwithstanding the fact that 

such day is a Disrupted Day; and 

 (b) the Calculation Agent shall determine the price of one Share as its good faith estimate of the price of one Share that would 

have prevailed, but for the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, at the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled Trading Day. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of any other Condition, if the Calculation Agent determines that a Disrupted Day has occurred 

on an Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, an Observation Date, the Strike Date or a Valuation Date, payment of any 

Redemption Amount and/or any amount of interest (if the payment of interest is share-linked), as the case may be, shall be 

postponed to the later of (i) the Maturity Date and/or the relevant Interest Payment Date and (ii) the date that is three Business 

Days (or such other period as specified in the Final Terms) following the postponed Averaging Date, Expiration Date, Observation 

Date, Strike Date or Valuation Date, as the case may be. For the avoidance of doubt, no additional amounts shall be payable in 

respect of the postponement of any payment of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any amount of interest in accordance with 

this clause. 
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The relevant Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes, in accordance with Condition 13, of the occurrence of a 

Disrupted Day if it results in the postponement of any payment in respect of the Notes.ò 

4.  Adjustments 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5(m) as follows: 

 ñ(m) Adjustments, Consequences of Certain Events and Currency 

 (i) Adjustments 

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Potential Adjustment Event has occurred or that there has been an adjustment 

to the settlement terms of listed contracts on the Shares traded on a Related Exchange, the Calculation Agent will determine 

whether such Potential Adjustment Event or adjustment has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the 

Shares and, if so, will (a) make the corresponding adjustment(s), if any, to any one or more of the Final Redemption Amount, 

the Redemption Amount and/or the Strike Price and/or any of the terms and conditions of the Notes as the Calculation Agent 

determines appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative effect (provided that no adjustments will be made to 

account solely for changes in volatility, expected dividend, stock loan rate or liquidity) and (b) determine the effective date(s) 

of the adjustment(s). The Calculation Agent may (but need not) determine the appropriate adjustment by reference to the 

adjustment in respect of such Potential Adjustment Event or adjustment to settlement terms made by an options exchange to 

options on the Shares traded on that options exchange. 

 (ii)  Consequences of a Merger Event 

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Merger Event has occurred, the relevant Issuer may: 

 (a) redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount (unless provided for otherwise in the Final Terms), on such date as the 

relevant Issuer may notify to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13; and/or 

 (b) make such adjustment to the exercise, settlement, payment or any other term or condition of the Notes as the Calculation 

Agent determines appropriate to account for the economic effect on the Notes of such Merger Event (provided that no 

adjustments will be made solely to account for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity 

relevant to the Shares or to the Notes), which may, but need not, be determined by reference to the adjustment(s) made in 

respect of such Merger Event by an options exchange to options on the Shares traded on such options exchange and 

determine the effective date of that adjustment; and/or 

 (c) save in respect of a Reverse Merger, on or after the relevant Merger Date, deem the New Shares and/or the amount of 

Other Consideration, if applicable (as subsequently modified in accordance with any relevant terms and including the 

proceeds of any redemption, if applicable), and their issuer (if any) to be the ñSharesò and the ñShare Issuerò, respectively, 

and if the Calculation Agent determines to be appropriate, the Calculation Agent will adjust any relevant terms of the 

Notes as it may determine. 

The relevant Issuer shall give notice of such redemption, adjustment or deemed change to Noteholders in accordance with 

Condition 13. 

 (iii)  Consequences of a Tender Offer 

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Tender Offer has occurred, then on or after the relevant Tender Offer Date the 

relevant Issuer may: 

 (a) redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount (unless provided for otherwise in the Final Terms), on such date as the Issuer 

may notify to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13; and/or 

 (b) make such adjustment to the exercise, settlement, payment or any other term or condition of the Notes as the Calculation 

Agent determines appropriate to account for the economic effect on the Notes of such Tender Offer (provided that no 
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adjustments will be made solely to account for changes in volatility or liquidity relevant to the Shares or to the Notes), 

which may, but need not, be determined by reference to the adjustment(s) made in respect of such Tender Offer by an 

options exchange to options on the Shares traded on such options exchange and determine the effective date of that 

adjustment. 

The relevant Issuer shall give notice of such redemption or adjustment to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 

13. 

 (iv) Nationalisation, Insolvency or De-listing 

If in respect of the Shares or the Share Issuer the Calculation Agent determines that there has been a Nationalisation, an 

Insolvency or a De-listing, the relevant Issuer may (i) request the Calculation Agent to determine the appropriate adjustment, if 

any, to be made to any one or more of the Final Redemption Amount and/or the Strike Price and/or any of the other terms and 

conditions of the Notes to account for the Nationalisation, Insolvency or Delisting, as the case may be, and determine the 

effective date of that adjustment or (ii) redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount as at the date of redemption taking into 

account the Nationalisation, Insolvency or De-listing (unless provided for otherwise in the Final Terms). Notice of any 

redemption of the Notes or determination pursuant to this paragraph shall be given to Noteholders in accordance with 

Condition 13. 

 (v) Price Correction 

In the event that any price or level published on the Exchange and which is utilised for any calculation or determination 

made under the Notes is subsequently corrected and the correction is published by the Exchange within three Business Days 

(or such other period specified in the Final Terms) after the original publication, the Calculation Agent will determine the 

amount (if any) that is payable following that correction, and, to the extent necessary, the relevant Issuer will adjust the terms 

and conditions of the Notes to account for such correction. 

 (vi) Currency 

If the Calculation Agent determines that any event occurs affecting the Specified Currency or the currency in which any 

of the Shares are quoted, listed and/or dealt in on the Exchange (whether relating to the convertibility of any such currency into 

other currencies or otherwise) which the Calculation Agent determines necessitates an adjustment or adjustments to the Final 

Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount, Strike Price (if applicable) and/or any other relevant term of the Notes 

(including the date on which any amount is payable by the relevant Issuer), the relevant Issuer may make such adjustment or 

adjustments to the Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount, Strike Price (if applicable) and/or any other relevant 

term of the Notes as it deems necessary. The relevant Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes of any such 

adjustment in accordance with Condition 13. 

 (vii)  Additional Disruption Events 

If the Calculation Agent determines that an Additional Disruption Event has occurred, the relevant Issuer may redeem 

each Note at its (as determined by the Calculation Agent) Redemption Amount as at the date of redemption taking into account 

the Additional Disruption Event (unless provided for otherwise in the Final Terms). Notice of any redemption of the Notes or 

determination pursuant to this paragraph shall be given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

 (viii)  Change in currency 

If, at any time after the Issue Date, there is any change in the currency in which the Shares are quoted, listed and/or dealt 

on the Exchange, then the relevant Issuer will adjust such of the terms and conditions of the Notes as the Calculation Agent 

determines appropriate to preserve the economic terms of the Notes. The Calculation Agent will make any conversion 

necessary for purposes of any such adjustment as of the Valuation Time at an appropriate mid-market spot rate of exchange 

determined by the Calculation Agent prevailing as of the Valuation Time. No adjustments under this section will affect the 

currency denomination of any payment obligation arising out of the Notes. 

5.  Delivery of Share Amount 
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For the purposes of the Notes, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, Condition 5 shall be 

amended by the addition of a new Condition 5 (n) as follows: 

 ñ(n) Delivery of Share Amount 

If the Notes are to be redeemed by the delivery of the Share Amounts, the relevant Issuer shall, on the Share Delivery 

Date, deliver or procure the delivery of the Share Amount in respect of each Note to such account in such clearing system as 

may be specified by the relevant Noteholder, at the risk and expense of the relevant Noteholder. If a Noteholder does not 

provide the relevant Issuer with sufficient instructions in a timely manner to enable the relevant Issuer to effect any required 

delivery of Shares, the due date for such delivery shall be postponed accordingly. The relevant Issuer shall determine whether 

any instructions received by it are sufficient and whether they have been received in time to enable delivery on any given date. 

As used herein, ñdeliveryò in relation to any Share Amount means the carrying out of the steps required of the relevant Issuer 

(or such person as it may procure to make the relevant delivery) in order to effect the transfer of the relevant Share Amount 

and ñdeliverò shall be construed accordingly. The relevant Issuer shall not be responsible for any delay or failure in the transfer 

of such Share Amount once such steps have been carried out, whether resulting from settlement periods of clearing systems, 

acts or omissions of registrars or otherwise and shall have no responsibility for the lawfulness of the acquisition of the Shares 

comprising the Share Amount or any interest therein by any Noteholder or any other person. 

In respect of each Share comprising the Share Amount, the relevant Issuer and the Delivery Agent shall not be under any 

obligation to register or procure the registration of the Noteholder or any other person as the registered shareholder in any 

register of members of the Share Issuer. Noteholders should note that the actual date on which they become holders of the 

Shares comprising their Share Amount will depend, among other factors, on the procedures of the relevant clearing systems 

and any share registrar and the effect of any Settlement Disruption Events. 

The relevant Issuer shall not at any time be obliged to account to a Noteholder for any amount or entitlement that it 

receives by way of a dividend or other distribution in respect of any of the Shares. Dividends and distributions in respect of the 

Shares which constitute a Potential Adjustment Event may however result in an adjustment being made pursuant to Condition 

5 (m). 

Neither the relevant Issuer nor any other person shall (a) be under any obligation to deliver (or procure any other person to 

deliver) to the Noteholders or any other person any letter, certificate, notice, circular or any other document received by that 

person in its capacity as the holder of the Shares, (b) be under any obligation to exercise or procure exercise of any or all rights 

(including voting rights) attaching to the Shares or (c) be under any liability to the Noteholders or any subsequent beneficial 

owners of the Shares in respect of any loss or damage which any Noteholder or subsequent beneficial owner may sustain or 

suffer as a result, whether directly or indirectly, of that person being registered at any time as the legal owner of the Shares. 

 (ii)  Consequences of a Settlement Disruption Event 

If the relevant Issuer determines that delivery of any Share Amount in respect of any Note by the relevant Issuer in 

accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes is not practicable or permitted by reason of a Settlement Disruption 

Event subsisting, then the Share Delivery Date in respect of such Share Amount shall be postponed to the first following 

Delivery Day in respect of which no such Settlement Disruption Event is subsisting and notice thereof shall be given in 

accordance with Condition 13, provided that the relevant Issuer may elect in its sole discretion to satisfy its obligations in 

respect of the relevant Note by delivering or procuring the delivery of such Share Amount using such other commercially 

reasonable manner as it may select and in such event the Share Delivery Date shall be such day as the relevant Issuer deems 

appropriate in connection with delivery of such Share Amount in such other commercially reasonable manner. No Noteholder 

shall be entitled to any payment whether of interest or otherwise on such Note in the event of any delay in the delivery of the 

Share Amount pursuant to this paragraph and no liability in respect thereof shall attach to the relevant Issuer. 

Where a Settlement Disruption Event affects some but not all of the Shares comprising the Share Amount, the Share 

Delivery Date for the Shares comprising such Share Amount which are not affected by the Settlement Disruption Event will be 

the originally designated Share Delivery Date. 

For so long as delivery of the Share Amount in respect of any Note is not practicable or permitted by reason of a 

Settlement Disruption Event, then in lieu of physical settlement and notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the relevant 
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Issuer may elect in its sole discretion to satisfy its obligations in respect of each Note by payment to the relevant Noteholder of 

the Disruption Cash Settlement Price on the third Business Day following the date that notice of such election is given to the 

Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. Payment of the Disruption Cash Settlement Price will be made in such manner 

as shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

The relevant Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 if a 

Settlement Disruption Event has occurred. 

 (iii)  Aggregate Share Amount 

The aggregate Share Amount to which a Noteholder may be entitled will be determined on the basis of the separate (for 

the avoidance of doubt, not aggregate) number of Notes held by the relevant Noteholder. The Issuer shall not be obliged to 

deliver fractions of a Share but shall be obliged to account for the Fractional Cash Amount of any such fractions to the relevant 

Noteholder on the Share Delivery Date and each such Share Amount to be delivered shall be rounded down to the next integral 

number of Shares. 

 (iv) Entitlement to Dividends and Rights under the Shares 

The Issuer is entitled to any rights under the Shares existing before or on the Maturity Date, if the day on which the 

Shares are first traded on the Exchange ñexò such right is prior to or on the Maturity Date of the Notes. If the delivery of the 

Shares, for whatever reason, is effected after the Maturity Date of the Notes, the Noteholders are, with respect to such rights, to 

be treated as if they had already become owners of the Shares on the Maturity Date of the Notes. 

 (v) Notes redeemed by the Shares ð Obligations of Issuer and Agent 

If the Notes are to be redeemed by the Shares, the Issuer or the Agent is under no obligation to pass on to the Noteholders 

any notices, circulars or other documents received by the Issuer prior to delivery of the Shares, even if such notices, circulars 

or other documents relate to events occurring after delivery of the Shares. If the delivery of the Shares, for whatever reason, is 

only effected after the Maturity Date of the Notes, the Issuer is not obliged to exercise any rights under the Shares during the 

intervening period. 

 (vi) Delivery of the Shares 

The delivery, if any, of the Shares will be made to the relevant account of the Noteholderôs bank or in such other 

commercial reasonable manner as the Issuer through the Delivery Agent shall, in its sole discretion, determine to be 

appropriate for such delivery. All expenses including any applicable depositary charges, transaction or exercise charges, stamp 

duty, stamp duty reserve tax and/or other taxes or duties arising from the delivery of the Shares shall be for the account of the 

relevant Noteholder. In case of delivery, the Shares will be deliverable at the risk of the relevant Noteholder on the Maturity 

Date. 

 (vii)  Publication of the Final Redemption Amount 

The Final Redemption Amount will be published as soon as possible after its determination on the following website: 

www.bnpparibasfortis.be or through the clearing systems (in this case, for any offer to the pubic which does not require the 

publication of a prospectus in accordance with the Prospectus Directive).ò 

6.  Prescription 

For the avoidance of doubt, Condition 8 shall apply to the Notes and claims for delivery of any Share Amount in respect of the 

Notes shall become void upon the expiry of five years from the Share Delivery Date. 

For the purposes of the Notes, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, then, on the date that is 

6 months after the Maturity Date, the Agent on behalf of the relevant Issuer shall be entitled (i) to sell the Shares with respect to 

Notes not presented for reimbursement and (ii) to determine the cash amount at which the Notes will be redeemed as from such 

date. 

http://www.bnpparibasfortis.be/
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7.  Hedging Disruption Events 

7.1 A ñHedging Disruption Eventò shall occur if the Calculation Agent reasonably determines in good faith that: 

 (a) the Issuer or any affiliate (a ñHedging Partyò) is unable (including without limitation by reason of illegality), or that it is 

impracticable for a Hedging Party, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish, 

substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) (each a ñRelevant Hedging Transactionò) it 

deems necessary or appropriate to hedge its exposure to price variations of the Shares inherent in its obligations, in the 

case of the Issuer, under the Notes or, in the case of an affiliate, under any transaction pursuant to which it hedges the 

Issuerôs exposure to the Shares under the Notes, or (ii) realise, recover or remit to any person the proceeds of such 

transaction or asset; and/or 

 (b) it has become illegal for any Hedging Party to hold, acquire or dispose of Shares; and/or 

 (c) the Issuer would incur an increased cost in respect of the Relevant Hedging Transactions related to the performance of its 

obligation under the Notes (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or 

other adverse effect on its tax position); and/or 

 (d) any Hedging Party would incur a materially increased (as compared with circumstances existing on the Issue Date) amount 

of tax, duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, 

unwind or dispose of any Relevant Hedging Transaction, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such Relevant 

Hedging Transaction; unless any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the 

creditworthiness of the Hedging Party. 

7.2 Such determinations by the Calculation Agent may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 (a) any increased illiquidity in the market for any Shares (as compared with circumstances existing on the Issue Date); or 

 (b) a change in any applicable law (including, without limitation, any tax law) or the promulgation of, or change in, the 

interpretation of any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law (including 

any action taken by a taxing authority); or 

 (c) the general unavailability of market participants who will so enter into a Relevant Hedging Transaction on commercially 

reasonable terms. 

7.3 In the event of a Hedging Disruption Event:  

 (a) the Issuer may elect to redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount on such date as the Issuer may notify to Noteholders 

in accordance with Condition 13; and 

 (b) subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment or adjustments to the 

Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount and/or any other terms of the Notes as it considers appropriate in 

order to maintain the theoretical value of the Notes after adjusting for the relevant Hedging Disruption Event. 

7.4 The Calculation Agent shall as soon as reasonably practicable give instructions to the Issuer to notify the Noteholders in 

accordance with Condition 13, if it determines that a Hedging Disruption Event has occurred and such notice shall specify the 

consequence of such Hedging Disruption Event as determined pursuant to this paragraph 7. 
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PART 3B: BASKET OF SHARES 

 
The terms and conditions applicable to Notes linked to a basket of shares shall comprise the Terms and Conditions of the 

Medium Term Notes set out in Part 1 (the ñPrincipal Conditionsò) and the additional Terms and Conditions set out below (the 
ñShare Basket Linked Conditionsò), in each case subject to completion and/or amendment in the applicable Final Terms. In the 
event of any inconsistency between the Principal Conditions and the Share Basket Linked Conditions, the Share Basket Linked 
Conditions set out below shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between (i) the Principal Conditions and/or the Share 
Basket Linked Conditions and (ii) the Final Terms, the Final Terms shall prevail. 

1.  Final Redemption 

Subject to any applicable automatic redemption and/or early redemption and/or put options and/or call options set forth in the 
Final Terms not having occurred prior to any applicable date specified therein, on the Maturity Date (subject to the provisions of 
Conditions 5(l) and 5(m)) the relevant Issuer shall (i) pay the Final Redemption Amount, which shall be an amount payable per 
Note in the Specified Currency determined by the Calculation Agent as set forth in the Final Terms and/or (if ñShare Deliveryò is 
specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, then in the circumstances described in the Final Terms) (ii) deliver the Share 
Amount(s) (subject to and in accordance with Condition 5(n)), all as further specified in the Final Terms. 

2.  Definitions 

For the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Notes, the following terms shall have the meanings set out below: 

 ñAdditional Disruption Eventò means any Insolvency Filing and any such other event(s) if any specified as such in the 
applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAveraging Datesò means, in respect of a Share and each Valuation Date, each of the dates specified as such in the applicable 
Final Terms, if any, or if any such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case 
subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñBarrier Levelò means the price of the Basket specified as such or otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final 
Terms, subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñBasketò means a basket composed of Shares in the relative proportions and/or numbers of Shares of each Share Issuer 
specified in the Final Terms. 

 ñDe-listingò means that an Exchange announces that pursuant to its rules one or more of the Shares in the Basket has ceased 
(or will cease) to be listed, traded or publicly quoted on the relevant Exchange for any reason (other than a Merger Event or Tender 
Offer) and such Shares are not immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on an exchange or quotation system located in the 
same country as the relevant Exchange (or, where the relevant Exchange is within the European Union, in any member state of the 
European Union) and such Shares are no longer listed on an Exchange acceptable to the relevant Issuer. 

 ñDelivery Dayò means, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, a day, if any, on which Shares 
comprised in any Share Amount(s) may be delivered to the Noteholders in a manner which the Calculation Agent determines to be 
appropriate. 

 ñDisrupted Dayò means, in respect of a Share, any Scheduled Trading Day on which (i) the relevant Exchange fails to open 
for trading during its regular trading session, (ii) any Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session 
or (iii)  on which any Market Disruption Event has occurred. 

 ñDisruption Cash Settlement Priceò means, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, in 
respect of each Note, an amount in the Specified Currency equal to the fair economic value of the relevant Share Amount, as 
determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion. 

 ñEarly Closureò means, in respect of any Share, the closure on any Exchange Business Day of any relevant Exchange or any 
Related Exchange prior to its Scheduled Closing Time unless such earlier closing time is announced by such Exchange or such 
Related Exchange at least one hour prior to the earlier of (i) the actual closing time for the regular trading session on such 
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Exchange or such Related Exchange on such Exchange Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into 
such Exchange or such Related Exchange system for execution at the Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day. 

 ñExchangeò means, in respect of any Share comprised in the Basket, the exchange or quotation system specified for such 

Share in the Final Terms or otherwise the stock exchange on which such Share is, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, 

traded or quoted or any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which 

trading in such Share has temporarily been relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is comparable 

liquidity relative to such Share on such successor or substitute exchange or quotation system as on the original Exchange). 

 ñExchange Business Dayò means, in respect of any Share comprised in the Basket, any Scheduled Trading Day on which the 

relevant Exchange and each Related Exchange are open for trading during their respective regular trading sessions, 

notwithstanding the relevant Exchange or any relevant Related Exchange closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time. 

 ñExchange Disruptionò means, in respect of any Share comprised in the Basket, any event (other than an Early Closure) that 

disrupts or impairs (as determined by the Calculation Agent) the ability of market participants in general (i) to effect transactions 

in, or obtain market values for, such Share on the relevant Exchange or (ii) to effect transactions in, or obtain market values for, 

futures or options contracts relating to such Share on any relevant Related Exchange. 

 ñExpiration Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms, or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading 

Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñExtraordinary Dividendò means, in respect of any Share comprised in the Basket, the characterization of a dividend or 

portion thereof as an Extraordinary Dividend by the relevant Issuer. 

 ñFinal Share Priceò means, in respect of any Share comprised in the Basket, the price of one such Share in the Share 

Currency quoted on the relevant Exchange at the Valuation Time on the Expiration Date (or such other definition, if any, as may 

be specified in the Final Terms), as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 ñFractional Amountò means, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, any fractional interest 

in one Share to which a Noteholder would be entitled pursuant to Condition 5(n)(iii) as set out below. 

 ñFractional Cash Amountò means, in respect of each Noteholder, the amount (rounded to the nearest smallest transferable 

unit of the Specified Currency, half such a unit being rounded downwards) calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with 

the following formula and translated into the Specified Currency by the Calculation Agent: 

Fractional Cash Amount = (Final Share Price x Fractional Amount).  

 ñInitial Share Priceò means, in respect of any Share comprised in the Basket, the price of one such Share in the Share 

Currency quoted on the relevant Exchange at the Valuation Time on the Strike Date (or such other definition, if any, as may be 

specified in the Final Terms), as determined by the Calculation Agent and subject to adjustment in accordance with Condition 5(l) 

as set out below. 

 ñInsolvencyò means, in respect of a Share Issuer, that by reason of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, bankruptcy, 

insolvency, dissolution or winding-up of or any analogous proceeding affecting such Share Issuer, (A) all the Shares of such Share 

Issuer are required to be transferred to a trustee, liquidator or other similar official or (B) holders of the Shares of such Share Issuer 

become legally prohibited from transferring them. 

 ñInsolvency Filingò means, in respect of a Share, that the Calculation Agent determines that the relevant Share Issuer has 

instituted or has had instituted against it by a regulator, supervisor or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or 

regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, or 

it consents to a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency 

law or other similar law affecting creditorsô rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such 

regulator, supervisor or similar official or it consents to such a petition. 
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 ñMarket Disruption Eventò means the occurrence or existence on any Scheduled Trading Day of (i) a Trading Disruption or 

(ii)  an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent determines is material, at any time during the one hour 

period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time or (iii) an Early Closure. 

 ñMerger Dateò means, in respect of a Merger Event, the closing date of such Merger Event or, where the Calculation Agent 

determines that a closing date cannot be determined under the local law applicable to such Merger Event, such other date as 

determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 ñMerger Eventò means, in respect of one or more of the Shares in the Basket, any (i) reclassification or change of such 

Shares that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all of such Shares outstanding to another entity or 

person, (ii) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange of the relevant Share Issuer with or into another entity 

or person (other than a consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share exchange in which such Share Issuer is the 

continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all of such Shares outstanding), (iii) takeover offer, 

tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other event by any entity or person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per 

cent. of the outstanding Shares of the relevant Share Issuer that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all 

such Shares (other than such Shares owned or controlled by the such other entity or person), or (iv) consolidation, amalgamation, 

merger or binding share exchange of the relevant Share Issuer or its subsidiaries with or into another entity in which such Share 

Issuer is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or change of all such Shares outstanding but results in 

the outstanding Shares (other than Shares owned or controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such event collectively 

representing less than 50 per cent. of the outstanding Shares immediately following such event (a ñReverse Mergerò), in each 

case if the Merger Date is on or before the Expiration Date (or such other date as may be specified in the Final Terms). 

 ñNationalisationò means that all the Shares of a Share Issuer or all or substantially all the assets of such Share Issuer are 

nationalized, expropriated or are otherwise required to be transferred to any governmental agency, authority, entity or 

instrumentality thereof. 

 ñNew Sharesò means ordinary or common shares, whether of the entity or person (other than the relevant Share Issuer) 

involved in the Merger Event or a third party, that are, or that as of the Merger Date are promptly scheduled to be, (i) publicly 

quoted, traded or listed on an exchange or quotation system located in the same country as the relevant Exchange (or, where the 

relevant Exchange is within the European Union, in any member of state of the European Union) or on another exchange 

acceptable to the relevant Issuer and (ii) not subject to any currency exchange controls, trading restrictions or other trading 

limitations. 

 ñObservation Dateò means each date, if any, specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or if any such date is not a 

Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñObservation Periodò means each period specified as such in the Final Terms.  

 ñOther Considerationò means cash and/or any securities (other than New Shares) or assets (whether of the entity or person 

(other than the relevant Share Issuer) involved in the Merger Event or a third party). 

 ñPotential Adjustment Eventò means any of the following:  

 (i) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of one or more of the Shares in the Basket (unless resulting in a Merger 

Event), or a free distribution or dividend of any such Shares to existing holders by way of bonus, capitalization or similar 

issue; 

 (ii)  a distribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of one or more of the Shares in the Basket of (A) such Shares, or 

(B) other share capital or securities granting the right to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of liquidation of the 

relevant Share Issuer equally or proportionately with such payments to holders of such Shares, or (C) share capital or other 

securities of another issuing institution acquired or owned (directly or indirectly) by the relevant Share Issuer as a result of 

a spin-off or other similar transaction, or (D) any other type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any case for 

payment (cash or other consideration) at less than the prevailing market price as determined by the Calculation Agent; 

 (iii)  an Extraordinary Dividend;  
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 (iv) a call by a Share Issuer in respect of relevant Shares that are not fully paid; 

 (v) a repurchase by a Share Issuer or any of its subsidiaries of relevant Shares whether out of profits or capital and whether the 

consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or otherwise; 

 (vi) with respect to a Share Issuer, an event that results in any shareholder rights pursuant to a shareholder rights plan or 

arrangement directed against hostile takeovers that provides upon the occurrence of certain events for a distribution of 

preferred stock, warrants, debt instruments or stock rights at a price below their market value (as determined by the 

Calculation Agent) being distributed or becoming separated from shares of common stock or other shares of the capital 

stock of such Share Issuer (provided that any adjustment effected as a result of such an event shall be readjusted upon any 

redemption of such rights); 

 (vii)  the effective date of a consolidation of an Underlying with another company or merger of an Underlying with 

another company; or 

 (viii) any other event that may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of one or more of the Shares in 

the Basket. 

Following the declaration by a Share Issuer of the terms of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will, in its 

sole and absolute discretion, determine whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the 

theoretical value of the relevant Shares and, if so, will make the corresponding adjustment, if any, using its sole and absolute 

discretion. 

 ñPriceò means, in respect of any Share, on any Exchange Business Day, the price of one such Share in the Share Currency 

quoted on the relevant Exchange (i) if ñConstant Monitoringò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, at any given time 

on such Exchange Business Day or (ii) if ñValuation Time Onlyò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, at the 

Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day, all as determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 ñRelated Exchangeò means, in respect of any Share, each exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect 

(as determined by the Calculation Agent) on the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to such Share or such other 

options or futures exchange(s) as the relevant Issuer may select, any transferee exchange or quotation system or any successor to 

any such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in futures or options 

contracts relating to such Share has temporarily relocated (provided that the Calculation Agent has determined that there is 

comparable liquidity relative to the futures or options contracts relating to such Share on such temporary substitute exchange or 

quotation system as on the original Related Exchange). 

 ñScheduled Closing Timeò means, in respect of an Exchange or a Related Exchange and a Scheduled Trading Day, the 

scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or Related Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after 

hours or any other trading outside of the regular trading session hours. 

 ñScheduled Trading Dayò means, in respect of any Share comprised in the Basket, any day on which the relevant Exchange 

and each relevant Related Exchange is scheduled to be open for trading for its regular trading sessions. 

 ñSettlement Disruption Eventò means, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, in 

respect of any Share, an event determined by the Calculation Agent to be beyond the control of the relevant Issuer as a result of 

which the relevant Issuer cannot transfer (or it would be contrary to applicable laws and regulations for the relevant Issuer to 

transfer) the Shares comprised in the Share Amount(s) in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes. 

 ñShare Amountò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms.  

 ñShare Currencyò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms.  

 ñShare Delivery Dateò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms and subject to adjustment in accordance 

with Condition 5(n)(ii) as set out below. 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 107 - 70-40523764 

 

 ñShare Issuerò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms.  

 ñSharesò has the meaning ascribed to it in the applicable Final Terms.  

 ñStrike Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or if such date is not a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, in each case subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below. 

 ñStrike Priceò means the price (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms.  

 ñTender Offerò means, in respect of any Shares, a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other 

event by any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining or having the right to obtain, 

by conversion or other means, greater than 10 per cent. and less than 100 per cent. of the outstanding voting shares of the relevant 

Share Issuer, as determined by the Calculation Agent, based upon the making of filings with governmental or self regulatory 

agencies or such other information as the Calculation Agent deems relevant. 

 ñTender Offer Dateò means, in respect of a Tender Offer, the date on which voting shares in an amount determined by the 

Calculation Agent are actually purchased or otherwise obtained (as determined by the Calculation Agent). 

 ñValuation Dateò means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if any such date is not a Scheduled 

Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day, subject to the provisions of paragraph 3 (Disrupted Days) as set out 

below. 

 ñTrading Disruptionò means, in respect of a Share, any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by an Exchange or a 

Related Exchange or otherwise and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the relevant Exchange 

or such Related Exchange or otherwise (i) relating to such Share on such Exchange or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to 

such Share on a Related Exchange. 

 ñValuation Timeò means the Scheduled Closing Time on the relevant Exchange on the relevant date in relation to that Share. 

If the relevant Exchange closes prior to its Scheduled Closing Time, and the specified Valuation Time is after the actual closing 

time for its regular trading session, then (subject to Condition 5(l) as set out below) the Valuation Time shall be such actual closing 

time. 

3.  Disrupted Days 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5(l) as follows: 

 ñ(l) Disrupted Days 

If the Calculation Agent determines that an Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, an Observation Date, the Strike Date or a 

Valuation Date, as the case may be, is a Disrupted Day in respect of any Share, then such Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, 

such Observation Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date as the case may be, in respect of that Share shall be the first 

succeeding Scheduled Trading Day that is not a Disrupted Day in respect of that Share, unless each of the eight Scheduled Trading 

Days immediately following the original date that, but for the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, would have been such Averaging 

Date, the Expiration Date, such Observation Date, the Strike Date or such Valuation Date, as the case may be, is a Disrupted Day. 

In that case: 

 (a) that eighth Scheduled Trading Day shall be deemed to be the Strike Date, the Expiration Date, such Averaging Date, such 

Valuation Date or such Observation Date, as the case may be, for such Share notwithstanding the fact that such day is a 

Disrupted Day; and 

 (b) the Calculation Agent shall determine the price of one Share as its good faith estimate of the price of one such Share that 

would have prevailed, but for the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, at the Valuation Time on that eighth Scheduled Trading 

Day. 
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Notwithstanding the provisions of any other Condition, if the Calculation Agent determines that a Disrupted Day has occurred 

on an Averaging Date, the Expiration Date, an Observation Date, this Strike Date or a Valuation Date, payment of the 

Redemption Amount, Final Redemption Amount and/or any amount of interest (if the payment of interest is share-linked), as the 

case may be, shall be postponed to the later of (i) the Early Redemption Date, Maturity Date and/or the relevant Interest Payment 

Date and (ii) the date that is three Business Days (or such other period as specified in the Final Terms) following the postponed 

Averaging Date, Expiration Date, Observation Date, Strike Date or Valuation Date, as the case may be. For the avoidance of 

doubt, no additional amounts shall be payable in respect of the postponement of any payment of the Redemption Amount, Final 

Redemption Amount and/or any amount of interest in accordance with this Clause. 

The relevant Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes, in accordance with Condition 13, of the occurrence of a 

Disrupted Day if it results in the postponement of any payment in respect of the Notes. 

4.  Adjustments 

For the Purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5(m) as follows: 

 ñ(m) Adjustments, Consequences of Certain Events and Currency 

 (i) Adjustments 

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Potential Adjustment Event has occurred in respect of one or more of the 
Shares in the Basket or that there has been an adjustment to the settlement terms of listed contracts on one or more of the 
Shares in the Basket traded on a Related Exchange, the Calculation Agent will determine whether such Potential Adjustment 
Event or adjustment has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Shares and, if so, will 
(a) make the corresponding adjustment(s), if any, to any one or more of the Final Redemption Amount, the 
Redemption Amount and/or the Strike Price and/or any of the terms and conditions of the Notes as the Calculation Agent 
determines appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative effect (provided that no adjustments will be made to 
account solely for changes in volatility, expected dividend, stock loan rate or liquidity) and (b) determine the effective date(s) 
of the adjustment(s). The Calculation Agent may (but need not) determine the appropriate adjustment by reference to the 
adjustment in respect of such Potential Adjustment Event or adjustment to settlement terms made by an options exchange to 
options on the relevant Shares traded on that options exchange. 

 (ii)  Consequences of a Merger Event 

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Merger Event has occurred in respect of one or more of the Shares in the 
Basket, the relevant Issuer may: (a) redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount (unless provided for otherwise in the Final 
Terms), on such date as the relevant Issuer may notify to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13; and/or (b) make such 
adjustment to the exercise, settlement, payment or any other term or condition of the Notes as the Calculation Agent 
determines appropriate to account for the economic effect on the Notes of such Merger Event (provided that no adjustments 
will be made to solely account for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relevant to the relevant 
Shares or to the Notes), which may, but need not, be determined by reference to the adjustment(s) made in respect of such 
Merger Event by an options exchange to options on the relevant Shares traded on such options exchange and determine the 
effective date of that adjustment; and/or (c) save in respect of a Reverse Merger, on or after the relevant Merger Date, deem the 
New Shares and/or the amount of Other Consideration, if applicable (as subsequently modified in accordance with any 
relevant terms and including the proceeds of any redemption, if applicable), and their issuer (if any) to be the relevant ñSharesò 
and the relevant ñShare Issuerò, respectively, and if the Calculation Agent determines to be appropriate, the relevant Issuer will 
adjust any relevant terms of the Notes as it may determine. The relevant Issuer shall give notice of such redemption, 
adjustment or deemed change to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

 (iii)  Consequences of a Tender Offer 

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Tender Offer has occurred in respect of one or more of the Shares in the 
Basket, then on or after the relevant Tender Offer Date the relevant Issuer may: (a) redeem each Note at its 
Redemption Amount (unless provided for otherwise in the Final Terms), on such date as the relevant Issuer may notify to 
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13; and/or (b) make such adjustment to the exercise, settlement, payment or any 
other term or condition of the Notes as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate to account for the economic effect on the 
Notes of such Tender Offer (provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility or liquidity 
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relevant to the Shares or to the Notes), which may, but need not, be determined by reference to the adjustment(s) made in 
respect of such Tender Offer by an options exchange to options on the relevant Shares traded on such options exchange and 
determine the effective date of that adjustment. The relevant Issuer shall give notice of such redemption or adjustment to 
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

 (iv) Nationalisation, Insolvency or De-listing 

If in respect of one or more of the Shares in the Basket or a Share Issuer the Calculation Agent determines that there has 
been a Nationalisation, an Insolvency or a De-listing, the relevant Issuer may (i) request the Calculation Agent to determine the 
appropriate adjustment, if any, to be made to any one or more of the Final Redemption Amount and/or the Strike Price and/or 
any of the other terms and conditions of the Notes to account for the Nationalisation, Insolvency or De-listing, as the case may 
be, and determine the effective date of that adjustment or (ii) redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount as at the date of 
redemption taking into account the Nationalisation, Insolvency or Delisting (unless provided for otherwise in the Final Terms). 
Notice of any redemption of the Notes or determination pursuant to this paragraph shall be given to Noteholders in accordance 
with Condition 13. 

 (v) Price Correction 

In the event that any price or level published on an Exchange and which is utilised for any calculation or determination 

made under the Notes is subsequently corrected and the correction is published by the relevant Exchange within three Business 

Days (or such other period as may be specified in the Final Terms) after the original publication, the Calculation Agent will 

determine the amount (if any) that is payable following that correction, and, to the extent necessary, the relevant Issuer will 

adjust the terms and conditions of the Notes to account for such correction. 

 (vi) Currency 

If the Calculation Agent determines that any event occurs affecting the Specified Currency or the currency in which any 

of the Shares are quoted, listed and/or dealt in on the Exchange (whether relating to the convertibility of any such currency into 

other currencies or otherwise) which the Calculation Agent determines necessitates an adjustment or adjustments to the Final 

Redemption Amount, Redemption Amount, Strike Price (if applicable) and/or any other relevant term of the Notes (including 

the date on which any amount is payable by the relevant Issuer), the relevant Issuer may make such adjustment or adjustments 

to the Final Redemption Amount, Redemption Amount, Strike Price (if applicable) and/or any other relevant term of the Notes 

as it deems necessary. The relevant Issuer shall give notice to the holders of the Notes of any such adjustment in accordance 

with Condition 13. 

 (vii)  Additional Disruption Events 

If the Calculation Agent determines that an Additional Disruption Event has occurred in respect of one or more of the 

Shares in the Basket, the relevant Issuer may redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount as at the date of redemption taking 

into account the Additional Disruption (unless provided for otherwise in the Final Terms). Notice of any redemption of the 

Notes or determination pursuant to this paragraph shall be given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

 (viii)  Change in currencies 

If, at any time after the Issue Date, there is any change in the currency in which the Shares are quoted, listed and/or dealt 

on the Exchange, then the relevant Issuer will adjust such of the terms and conditions of the Notes as the Calculation Agent 

determines appropriate to preserve the economic terms of the Notes. The Calculation Agent will make any conversion 

necessary for purposes of any such adjustment as of the Valuation Time at an appropriate mid-market spot rate of exchange 

determined by the Calculation Agent prevailing as of the Valuation Time. No adjustments under this section will affect the 

currency denomination of any payment obligation arising out of the Notes. 

5.  Delivery of Share Amount 

For the purposes of the Notes, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, Condition 5 shall be 

amended by the addition of a new Condition 5(n) as follows: 
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 ñ(n) Delivery of Share Amounts 

If the Notes are to be redeemed by the delivery of the Share Amounts, the relevant Issuer shall, on the Share Delivery 

Date, deliver or procure the delivery of the Share Amount in respect of each Note to such account in such clearing system as 

may be specified by the relevant Noteholder, at the risk and expense of the relevant Noteholder. If a Noteholder does not 

provide the relevant Issuer with sufficient instructions in a timely manner to enable the relevant Issuer to effect any required 

delivery of Shares, the due date for such delivery shall be postponed accordingly. The relevant Issuer shall determine whether 

any instructions received by it are sufficient and whether they have been received in time to enable delivery on any given date. 

As used herein, ñdeliveryò in relation to any Share Amount means the carrying out of the steps required of the relevant Issuer 

(or such person as it may procure to make the relevant delivery) in order to effect the transfer of the relevant Share Amount 

and ñdeliverò shall be construed accordingly. The relevant Issuer shall not be responsible for any delay or failure in the 

transfer of such Share Amount once such steps have been carried out, whether resulting from settlement periods of clearing 

systems, acts or omissions of registrars or otherwise and shall have no responsibility for the lawfulness of the acquisition of the 

Shares comprising the Share Amount or any interest therein by any Noteholder or any other person. 

In respect of each Share comprising the Share Amount, the relevant Issuer shall not be under any obligation to register or 

procure the registration of the Noteholder or any other person as the registered shareholder in any register of members of the 

relevant Share Issuer. 

Noteholders should note that the actual date on which they become holders of the Shares comprising their Share Amount 

will depend, among other factors, on the procedures of the relevant clearing systems and any share registrar and the effect of 

any Settlement Disruption Events. 

The relevant Issuer shall not at any time be obliged to account to a Noteholder for any amount or entitlement that it 

receives by way of a dividend or other distribution in respect of any of the Shares. Dividends and distributions in respect of the 

Shares which constitute a Potential Adjustment Event may however result in an adjustment being made pursuant to Condition 

5(m). 

Neither the relevant Issuer nor any other person shall (a) be under any obligation to deliver (or procure any other person to 

deliver) to the Noteholders or any other person any letter, certificate, notice, circular or any other document received by that 

person in its capacity as the holder of the Shares, (b) be under any obligation to exercise or procure exercise of any or all rights 

(including voting rights) attaching to the Shares or (c) be under any liability to the Noteholders or any subsequent beneficial 

owners of the Shares in respect of any loss or damage which any Noteholder or subsequent beneficial owner may sustain or 

suffer as a result, whether directly or indirectly, of that person being registered at any time as the legal owner of the Shares. 

 (ix) Consequences of a Settlement Disruption Event 

If the relevant Issuer determines that delivery of any Share Amount (or part thereof) in respect of any Note by the relevant 

Issuer in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes is not practicable or permitted by reason of a Settlement 

Disruption Event subsisting, then the Share Delivery Date in respect of such Share Amount (or part thereof) shall be postponed 

to the first following Delivery Day in respect of which no such Settlement Disruption Event is subsisting and notice thereof 

shall be given in accordance with Condition 13, provided that the relevant Issuer may elect in its sole discretion to satisfy its 

obligations in respect of the relevant Note by delivering or procuring the delivery of such Share Amount (or part thereof) using 

such other commercially reasonable manner as it may select and in such event the Share Delivery Date shall be such day as the 

relevant Issuer deems appropriate in connection with delivery of such Share Amount (or part thereof) in such other 

commercially reasonable manner. No Noteholder shall be entitled to any payment whether of interest or otherwise on such 

Note in the event of any delay in the delivery of the Share Amount pursuant to this paragraph and no liability in respect thereof 

shall attach to the relevant Issuer. 

Where a Settlement Disruption Event affects some but not all of the Shares comprising the Share Amount, the Share 

Delivery Date for the Shares comprising such Share Amount which are not affected by the Settlement Disruption Event will be 

the originally designated Share Delivery Date. 

For so long as delivery of the Share Amount (or part thereof) in respect of any Note is not practicable or permitted by 

reason of a Settlement Disruption Event, then in lieu of physical settlement and notwithstanding any other provision hereof, 
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the relevant Issuer may elect in its sole discretion to satisfy its obligations in respect of each Note by payment to the relevant 

Noteholder of the Disruption Cash Settlement Price on the third Business Day following the date that notice of such election is 

given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. Payment of the Disruption Cash Settlement Price will be made in 

such manner as shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

The relevant Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 if a 

Settlement Disruption Event has occurred. 

 (x) Aggregate Share Amount 

The aggregate Share Amount to which a Noteholder may be entitled will be determined on the basis of the separate (for 

the avoidance of doubt, not aggregate) number of Notes held by the relevant Noteholder. The relevant Issuer shall not be 

obliged to deliver fractions of a Share but shall be obliged to account for the Fractional Cash Amount of any such fractions to 

the relevant Noteholder on the Share Delivery Date and each such Share Amount to be delivered shall be rounded down to the 

next integral number of Shares. 

 (xi) Entitlement to Dividends and Rights under the Shares 

The Issuer is entitled to any rights under the Shares existing before or on the Maturity Date, if the day on which the 

Shares are first traded on the Exchange ñexò such right is prior to or on the Maturity Date of the Notes. If the delivery of the 

Shares, for whatever reason, is effected after the Maturity Date of the Notes, the Noteholders are, with respect to such rights, to 

be treated as if they had already become owners of the Shares on the Maturity Date of the Notes. 

 (xii)  Notes redeemed by the Shares ð Obligations of Issuer and Fiscal Agent 

If the Notes are to be redeemed by the Shares, the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent is under no obligation to pass on to the 

Noteholders any notices, circulars or other documents received by the Issuer prior to delivery of the Shares, even if such 

notices, circulars or other documents relate to events occurring after delivery of the Shares. If the delivery of the Shares, for 

whatever reason, is only effected after the Maturity Date of the Notes, the Issuer is not obliged to exercise any rights under the 

Shares during the intervening period. 

 (xiii)  Delivery of the Shares 

The delivery, if any, of the Shares will be made to the relevant account of the Noteholderôs bank or in such other 

commercial reasonable manner as the Issuer shall, in its sole discretion, determine to be appropriate for such delivery. All 

expenses including any applicable depositary charges, transaction or exercise charges, stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax 

and/or other taxes or duties arising from the delivery of the Shares shall be for the account of the relevant Noteholder. In case 

of delivery, the Shares will be deliverable at the risk of the relevant Noteholder on the Maturity Date. 

 (xiv) Publication of the Final Redemption Amount 

The Final Redemption Amount will be published as soon as possible after its determination on the following website: 

www.bnpparibasfortis.be or through the clearing systems (in this case, for any offer to the pubic which does not require the 

publication of a prospectus in accordance with the Prospectus Directive).ò 

6.  Prescription 

For the avoidance of doubt, Condition 8 shall apply to the Notes and claims for delivery of any Share Amount in respect of the 

Notes shall become void upon the expiry of five years from the Share Delivery Date. 

For the purposes of the Notes, if ñShare Deliveryò is specified as being applicable in the Final Terms, then, on the date that is 

6 months after the Maturity Date, the Fiscal Agent on behalf of the relevant Issuer shall be entitled (i) to sell the Shares with 

respect to Notes not presented for reimbursement and (ii) to determine the cash amount at which the Notes will be redeemed as 

from such date. 

http://www.bnpparibasfortis.be/
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7.  Hedging Disruption Events 

7.1 A ñHedging Disruption Eventò shall occur if the Calculation Agent reasonably determines in good faith that: 

 (a) the Issuer or any affiliate (a ñHedging Partyò) is unable (including without limitation by reason of illegality), or that it is 

impracticable for a Hedging Party, after using commercially reasonable efforts, to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish, 

substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or asset(s) (each a ñRelevant Hedging Transactionò) it 

deems necessary or appropriate to hedge its exposure to price variations of the Shares inherent in its obligations, in the 

case of the Issuer, under the Notes or, in the case of an affiliate, under any transaction pursuant to which it hedges the 

Issuerôs exposure to the Shares under the Notes, or (ii) realise, recover or remit to any person the proceeds of such 

transaction or asset; and/or 

 (b) it has become illegal for any Hedging Party to hold, acquire or dispose of Shares; and/or 

 (c) the Issuer would incur an increased cost in respect of the Relevant Hedging Transactions related to the performance of its 

obligation under the Notes (including, without limitation, due to any increase in tax liability, decrease in tax benefit or 

other adverse effect on its tax position); and/or 

 (d) any Hedging Party would incur a materially increased (as compared with circumstances existing on the Issue Date) amount 

of tax, duty, expense or fee (other than brokerage commissions) to (A) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, 

unwind or dispose of any Relevant Hedging Transaction, or (B) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such Relevant 

Hedging Transaction; unless any such materially increased amount that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the 

creditworthiness of the Hedging Party. 

7.2 Such determinations by the Calculation Agent may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 (a) any increased illiquidity in the market for any Shares (as compared with circumstances existing on the Issue Date); or 

 (b) a change in any applicable law (including, without limitation, any tax law) or the promulgation of, or change in, the 

interpretation of any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable law (including 

any action taken by a taxing authority); or 

 (c) the general unavailability of market participants who will so enter into a Relevant Hedging Transaction on commercially 

reasonable terms. 

7.3 In the event of a Hedging Disruption Event:  

 (a) the Issuer may elect to redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount on such date as the Issuer may notify to Noteholders 

in accordance with Condition 13; and 

 (b) subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation Agent may make such adjustment or adjustments to the 

Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount and/or any other terms of the Notes as it considers appropriate in 

order to maintain the theoretical value of the Notes after adjusting for the relevant Hedging Disruption Event. 

7.4 The Calculation Agent shall as soon as reasonably practicable give instructions to the Issuer to notify the Noteholders in 

accordance with Condition 13, if it determines that a Hedging Disruption Event has occurred and such notice shall specify the 

consequence of such Hedging Disruption Event as determined pursuant to this paragraph 7. 
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PART 4: FUND-LINKED NOTES  

PART 4A: SINGLE FUND  

The terms and conditions applicable to Notes linked to a single fund shall comprise the Terms and Conditions of the Medium 

Term Notes set out in Part 1 (the ñConditionsò) and the additional terms and conditions set out below (the ñSingle Fund-Linked 

Conditionsò) in each case subject to the applicable Final Terms. In the event of any inconsistency between (i) the Conditions and 

the Single Fund-Linked Conditions, the Single Fund-Linked Conditions shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between 

(i) the Conditions and/or the Single Fund-Linked Conditions and (ii) the applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms shall 

prevail. 

1.  Final Redemption 

For the purposes of Condition 5(a) and unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled in accordance with the 

Conditions, the Final Redemption Amount payable per Note in respect of the Maturity Date (subject to postponement of settlement 

as provided in paragraph 3 (Postponement of settlement at Maturity Date) below, if applicable) shall be an amount in the Specified 

Currency determined by the Calculation Agent as set forth in the applicable Final Terms and the following provisions. 

2.  Definitions 

 ñAdditional Fund Eventò means any event specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAdditional Fund Service Providerò means, in respect of any Fund, any person or entity (if any) specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAffiliateò means, in relation to any person, any entity controlled, directly or indirectly, by the person, any entity that 

controls, directly or indirectly, the person or any entity directly or indirectly under common control with the person (for such 

purposes, ñcontrolò of any entity or person means ownership of a majority of the voting power of the entity or person). 

 ñAUM Levelò has the meaning given to it in the applicable Final Terms, or if not so specified, EUR 50,000,000, or the 
equivalent in any other currency. 

 ñAveraging Dateò means, in respect of each Valuation Date, each date (if any) specified as such or otherwise determined as 

provided in the applicable Final Terms or, if such day is not a Currency Business Day, the next following Currency Business Day, 

subject to the provisions of Condition 5(n) (Consequences of Disrupted Days for Averaging Dates). 

 ñCompanyò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, the entity (if any) specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms (if any). 

 ñCurrency Business Dayò means any day on which commercial banks are open for business (including dealings in foreign 

exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre for the Specified Currency specified in the applicable 

Final Terms. If such Specified Currency is euro, any day that is a TARGET Settlement Day shall be a Currency Business Day. 

 ñCut-off Periodò means, in respect of any date, the period specified in the applicable Final Terms, or if no such period is 

specified, a period of one calendar year; provided that if a ñFinal Cut-off Dateò is specified in the applicable Final Terms, then 

any Cut-off Period that would otherwise end after such Final Cut-off Date shall end on such Final Cut-off Date. 

 ñDisrupted Dayò means any day on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred or is continuing. 

 ñEligible Fund Interestò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the interest issued to or held by an investor in a fund, pooled 

investment vehicle or any other interest (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñETFò or ñExchange Traded Fundò means any Fund specified as an Exchange Traded Fund in the applicable Final Terms 

or, if not so specified, any Fund which the Calculation Agent determines to be an Exchange Traded Fund. 
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 ñExchangeò means, in respect of any ETF, the exchange or quotation system specified for such ETF in the applicable Final 

Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the 

Fund Interest Units in respect of such ETF has temporarily relocated. 

 ñExtraordinary Dividendò means an amount per relevant Fund Interest Unit or other amount of Fund Interest specified or 

otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms provided that if no Extraordinary Dividend is specified in or 

otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the characterisation of a dividend or portion thereof as an 

Extraordinary Dividend shall be determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 ñFinal Cut-off Dateò means the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñFinal Valuation Dateò means, if there is more than one Valuation Date, the last Valuation Date or, if there is only one 

Valuation Date, the Valuation Date. 

 ñFinal Valuation Timeò means, if there are more than one Valuation Date, the Valuation Time in relation to the last 

Valuation Date or, if there is only one Valuation Date, the Valuation Time. 

 ñFundò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the issuer of, or other 

legal arrangement (including, if applicable, any relevant class or series) giving rise to, the Fund Interest. 

 ñFund Administratorò means, in respect of any Fund, any person specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no 

person is so specified, the fund administrator, manager, trustee or similar person with the primary administrative responsibilities to 

such Fund according to the Fund Documents. 

 ñFund Adviserò means, in respect of any Fund, any person specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or if no person is 

so specified, any person appointed in the role of discretionary investment manager or non-discretionary investment adviser 

(including a non-discretionary investment adviser to a discretionary investment manager or to another non-discretionary 

investment adviser) for such Fund. 

 ñFund Business Dayò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, any day specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms or, if no day is so specified, any day on which the Fund or the primary Fund Administrator acting on behalf of the 

Fund is open for business. 

 ñFund Custodianò means, in respect of any Fund, any person specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no person 

is so specified, the fund custodian or similar person with the primary custodial responsibilities in relation to such Fund according to 

the Fund Documents. 

 ñFund Documentsò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the constitutive and governing documents, subscription 

agreements and other agreements of the related Fund specifying the terms and conditions relating to the Fund Interest (including, 

without limitation, the Fund Prospectus) and any additional documents specified in the applicable Final Terms (each an 

ñAdditional Fund Documentò), in each case as amended from time to time. 

 ñFund Eventò means, subject as otherwise provided in the Final Terms, the occurrence or continuance at any time on or after 

the Trade Date of any of the following events as determined by the Calculation Agent: 

a) the Fund or any Fund Service Provider (i) ceases trading and/or, in the case of a Fund Service Provider, ceases 

administration, portfolio management, investment services, custodian, prime brokerage, or any other relevant business (as 

applicable) (ii) is dissolved or has a resolution passed, or there is any proposal, for its dissolution, winding-up, official 

liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamation or merger); (iii) makes a general assignment or  

arrangement with or for the benefit of its creditors; (iv) (1) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor 

or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its 

incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency 

or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditorsô rights, 

or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official, or (2) has 

instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy 
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or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditorsô rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or 

liquidation, and such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in sub-clause (iv) 

(1) above and either (x) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making 

of an order for its winding-up or liquidation or (y) is not immediately dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained; (v) seeks 

or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian 

or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets; (vi) has a secured party take possession of all or 

substantially all its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or 

sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any such process is not 

immediately dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained; or (vii) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, 

under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an effect analogous to any of the events specified in sub-clauses (i) to 

(vi) above; or  

b) the occurrence (such occurrence, a "Merger Event"), in respect of any relevant Shares and Entity (as defined below), of 

any (i) reclassification or change of such Shares that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all of 

such Shares outstanding to another entity or person, (ii) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share/unit/interest 

exchange of an Entity with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding 

share/unit/interest exchange in which such Entity, is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or 

change of all of such Shares outstanding), (iii) takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other 

event by any entity or person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per cent. of the outstanding Shares of an Entity that 

results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all such Shares (other than such Shares owned or 

controlled by such other entity or person), or (iv) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share/unit/interest 

exchange of an Entity or its subsidiaries with or into another entity in which the Entity is the continuing entity and which 

does not result in a reclassification or change of all such Shares outstanding but results in the outstanding Shares (other 

than Shares owned or controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such event collectively representing less than 

50 per cent. of the outstanding Shares immediately following such event, in each case if the Fund Event effective date, as 

determined by the Calculation Agent, is on or before the Final Calculation Date. For the purposes of this definition 

"Merger Event" only, "Shares" shall mean the applicable Fund Interest Units or the shares of any applicable Fund 

Service Provider, as the context may require, and "Entity " shall mean the applicable Fund or any applicable Fund Service 

Provider, as the context may require.   

c) the occurrence (such occurrence, a "Tender Offer") of a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal 

or other event by any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining or having the 

right to obtain, by conversion or other means, greater than 50 per cent. and less than 100 per cent. of the outstanding 

voting shares, units or interests of the Fund or Fund Service Provider, as determined by the Calculation Agent, based upon 

the making of filings with governmental or self-regulatory agencies or such other information as the Calculation Agent 

deems relevant; 

d) there exists any litigation against the Fund or a Fund Service Provider which in the sole and absolute discretion of the 

Calculation Agent could materially affect the value of the Fund Interest Units or the rights or remedies of any investor in 

such Fund Interest Units; 

e)  (i) an allegation of criminal or fraudulent activity is made in respect of the Fund, or any Fund Service Provider, or any 

employee of any such entity, or the Calculation Agent reasonably determines that any such criminal or fraudulent activity 

has occurred, or (ii) any investigative, judicial, administrative or other civil or criminal proceedings is commenced or is 

threatened against the Fund, any Fund Service Provider or any key personnel of such entities if such allegation, 

determination, suspicion or proceedings could, in the sole and absolute discretion of the Calculation Agent, materially 

affect the value of the Fund Interest Units or the rights or remedies of any investor in such Fund Interest Units; 

f)  (i) a Fund Service Provider ceases to act in such capacity in relation to the Fund and is not immediately replaced in such 

capacity by a successor acceptable to the Calculation Agent and/or (ii) any event occurs which causes, or will with the 

passage of time (in the opinion of the Calculation Agent) cause, the failure of the Fund and/or any Fund Service Provider 

to meet or maintain any obligation or undertaking under the Fund Documents which failure is reasonably likely to have an 

adverse impact on the value of the Fund Interest Units or on the rights or remedies of any investor in such Fund Interest 

Units; 
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g) one or more of the key individuals involved with, or having supervision over, the Fund or a Fund Service Provider ceases 

to act in such capacity, and the relevant Fund Service Provider fails to appoint a replacement having similar qualifications 

to those of the key individual or individuals ceasing to act; 

h) a material modification of or deviation from any of the investment objectives, investment restrictions, investment process 

or investment guidelines of the Fund (howsoever described, including the underlying type of assets in which the Fund 

invests), from those set out in the Fund Documents, or any announcement regarding a potential modification or deviation, 

except where such modification or deviation is of a formal, minor or technical nature; 

i) a material modification, cancellation or disappearance (howsoever described), or any announcement regarding a potential 

future material modification, cancellation or disappearance (howsoever described), of the type of assets (i) in which the 

Fund invests, or (ii) the Fund purports to track; 

j) a material modification, or any announcement regarding a potential future material modification, of the Fund (including 

but not limited to a material modification of the Fund Documents or to the Fundôs liquidity terms) other than a 

modification or event which does not affect the Fund Interest Units or the Fund or any portfolio of assets to which the 

Fund Interest Unit relates (either alone or in common with other Fund Interest Units issued by the Fund); 

k) the creation by the Fund of any illiquid share class or unit howsoever described; 

l) the currency denomination of the Fund Interest Units is amended from that set out in the Fund Documents so that the 

NAV per Fund Interest Unit is no longer calculated in the same currency as it was as at the Trade Date; 

m) if applicable, the Fund ceases to be an undertaking for collective investments under the legislation of its relevant 

jurisdiction; 

n) following the issue or creation of a new class or series (howsoever described in the Fund Documents) of shares or units by 

the Fund, the Calculation Agent determines taking into consideration the potential cross-liability between classes of shares 

or units (howsoever described in the Fund Documents) that such new class or series has or may have an adverse effect on 

the hedging activities of the Hedge Provider in relation to the Notes; 

o) a material modification of the method of calculating the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 

p) any change in the periodicity of the calculation or the publication of the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 

q) any suspension of the calculation or publication of the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 

r) the occurrence of any event affecting a Fund Interest Unit that, in the sole and absolute discretion of the Calculation 

Agent, would make it impossible or impracticable for the Calculation Agent to determine the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 

s) any of the Fund, any Fund Service Provider or any other party acting on behalf of the Fund fails for any reason to 

calculate and publish the NAV per Fund Interest Unit within the Number of NAV Publication Days following any date 

scheduled for the determination of the valuation of the Fund Interest Units unless the cause of such failure to publish is of 

a technical nature and outside the immediate and direct control of the entity responsible for such publication 

t) any Fund Service Provider uses asset prices provided by the investment manager (howsoever described in the Fund 

Documents) to calculate the NAV per Fund Interest Unit when such asset prices could have been obtained from 

independent sources and the asset prices from independent sources materially diverge from the asset prices provided by 

the investment manager (howsoever described in the Fund Documents); 

u) the assets under management of the Fund falls below the AUM Level; 

v) the Calculation Agent determines, at any time, that the NAV per Fund Interest Unit is inaccurate, or (ii) the reported net 

asset value of the Fund Interest Units misrepresents the net asset value of the Fund Interest Units; 
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w) the occurrence (such occurrence, a "NAV Trigger Event"), in respect of the Fund Interest Units, of the event that (i) the 

NAV per Fund Interest Unit has decreased by an amount equal to, or greater than, the NAV Trigger Percentage(s) at any 

time during the related NAV Trigger Period, or (ii) the Fund has violated any leverage restriction that is applicable to, or 

affecting, such Fund or its assets by operation of any law, any order or judgement of any court or other agency of 

government applicable to it or any of its assets, the Fund Documents or any other contractual restriction binding on or 

affecting the Fund or any of its assets; 

x) in the case of a Hedge Fund only, the audited net asset value of the Fund and/or the NAV per Fund Interest Unit is 

different from the audited net asset value of the Fund and/or the NAV per Fund Interest Unit communicated by the 

relevant Fund Service Provider in respect of the same date, (ii) the auditors of the Fund qualify any audit report, or refuse 

to provide an unqualified audit report, in respect of the Fund, and/or (iii) the Calculation Agent, in its sole and absolute 

discretion, does not deem the audited net asset value of the Fund and/or the NAV per Fund Interest Unit to be 

representative of the actual net asset value of the Fund and/or the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 

y) any failure of the Fund, or its authorised representative, to deliver or publish, or cause to be delivered or published, (i) 

information that the Fund has agreed to deliver or publish, or agreed to cause to be delivered or published, to the 

Calculation Agent or Hedge Provider, or (ii) information that has been previously delivered to the Hedge Provider or the 

Calculation Agent, as applicable, in accordance with the Fundôs, or its authorised representativeôs, normal practice and 

that the Hedge Provider deems necessary for it or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, to monitor such Fundôs compliance 

with any investment guidelines, asset allocation methodologies or any other similar policies relating to the Fund Interest 

Unit; 

z) any Fund Service Provider fails to provide the Calculation Agent, within a reasonable time, with any information that the 

Calculation Agent has reasonably requested regarding the investment portfolio or other activities or undertakings of the 

Fund; 

aa) there is a change in or in the official interpretation or administration of any laws or regulations relating to taxation that has 

or is likely to have a material adverse effect on any hedging arrangements entered into by any Hedge Provider in respect 

of the Notes (a "Tax Event") and, subject as provided below, the Hedge Provider has, for a period of one calendar month 

following the day the relevant Tax Event became known to it, used reasonable efforts to mitigate the material adverse 

effect of the Tax Event by seeking to transfer such hedging arrangements to an affiliated company, provided that the 

Hedge Provider shall not under any circumstances be obliged to take any steps which would result in sustaining a loss or 

expense of any kind and the period set out above for such mitigation shall be deemed satisfied on any date it is or becomes 

apparent at any time that there is no practicable means of mitigating the Tax Event; 

bb)  (i) any relevant activities of or in relation to the Fund or a Fund Service Provider are or become unlawful, illegal or 

otherwise prohibited in whole or in part as a result of compliance with any present or future law, regulation, judgment, 

order or directive of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial authority or power, or in the interpretation 

thereof, in any applicable jurisdiction (including, but not limited to, any cancellation, suspension or revocation of the 

registration or approval of the Fund by any governmental, legal or regulatory entity with authority over the Fund), (ii) a 

relevant authorisation or licence is revoked, lapses or is under review by a competent authority in respect of the Fund or a 

Fund Service Provider or new conditions are imposed, or existing conditions varied, with respect to any such authorisation 

or licence, (iii) the Fund is required by a competent authority to redeem any Fund Interest Units, (iv) the Hedge Provider is 

required by a competent authority or any other relevant entity to dispose of or compulsorily redeem any Fund Interest 

Units held in connection with any hedging arrangements relating to the Notes and/or (v) any change in the legal, tax, 

accounting or regulatory treatment of the Fund or any Fund Service Provider that is reasonably likely to have an adverse 

impact on the value of the Fund Interest Units or other activities or undertakings of the Fund or on the rights or remedies 

of any investor in such Fund Interest Units, including any Hedge Provider; 

cc) in connection with any hedging activities in relation to the Notes, as a result of any adoption of, or any change in, any law, 

order, regulation, decree or notice, howsoever described, after the Trade Date, or issuance of any directive or 

promulgation of, or any change in the interpretation, whether formal or informal, by any court, tribunal, regulatory 

authority or similar administrative or judicial body of any law, order, regulation, decree or notice, howsoever described, 

after such date or as a result of any other relevant event (each a "Relevant Event") (i) it would become unlawful or 

impractical for the Hedge Provider to hold (including, without limitation, circumstances requiring the Hedge Provider to 

modify any reserve, special deposit, or similar requirement or that would adversely affect the amount of regulatory capital 
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that would have to be maintained in respect of any holding of Fund Interest Units or that would subject a holder of the 

Fund Interest Units or the Hedge Provider to any loss), purchase or sell the relevant Fund Interest Units or any underlying 

assets of or related to the Fund or for the Hedge Provider to maintain such hedging arrangements and, subject as provided 

below, the Hedge Provider has, for a period of one calendar week following the day the Relevant Event became known to 

it, used reasonable efforts to mitigate the effect of the Relevant Event by seeking to transfer such hedging arrangements to 

an affiliated company, provided that the Hedge Provider shall not under any circumstances be obliged to take any steps 

which would result in sustaining a loss or expense of any kind and the period of one calendar week set out above shall be 

deemed satisfied on any date it is or becomes at any time apparent that there is no practicable means of mitigating the 

Relevant Event; 

dd) in connection with the hedging activities in relation to the Notes, if the cost to the Hedge Provider in relation to the Notes 

and the related hedging arrangements (including, but not limited to, new or increased taxes, duties, expenses or fees) 

would be materially increased or the Hedge Provider would be subject to a material loss relating to the Notes and the 

related hedging arrangements; 

ee) in connection with the hedging activities in relation to the Notes, the Hedge Provider is unable or it becomes impractical 

for the Hedge Provider, to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction or 

asset it deems necessary to hedge the Issuerôs obligations under the Notes or (ii) to realise, recover or remit the proceeds 

of any such transaction or asset, including, without limitation, where such inability or impracticability has arisen by reason 

of (A) any restrictions or increase in charges or fees imposed by the Fund on any investorôs ability to redeem a Fund 

Interest Unit, in whole or in part, or any existing or new investorôs ability to make new or additional investments in such 

Fund Interest Unit, or (B) any mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, of such Fund Interest Unit; 

ff ) at any time on or after the Trade Date, the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates would incur an increased (as compared with  

circumstances existing on the Trade Date) amount of tax, duty, capital and/or funding costs, expense or fee (other than 

brokerage commissions) to maintain the Notes; 

gg)  (i) the non-execution or partial-execution by the Fund for any reason of a subscription or redemption order in respect of 

any Fund Interest Units (including, for the avoidance of any doubt, any non-execution by the Fund pending completion of 

its fiscal audit) (ii) the Fund suspends or refuses transfers of any of its Fund Interest Units (including, without limitation, if 

the Fund applies any gating, deferral, suspension or other similar provisions permitting the Fund to delay or refuse 

redemption or transfer of Fund Interest Units), (iii) the Fund imposes in whole or in part any restriction (including, 

without limitation, any redemption in specie), charge or fee in respect of a redemption or subscription of its Fund Interest 

Units by the Hedge Provider or exercises its right to claw back the proceeds already paid on redeemed Fund Interest Units, 

if in any case it could in the sole and absolute determination of the Calculation Agent have an adverse impact on the 

Hedge Providerôs rights or obligations in relation to its hedging activities in relation to the Notes, or (iv) a mandatory 

redemption, in whole or in part, of the Fund Interest Units is imposed by the Fund on any one or more holders of Fund 

Interest Units at any time for any reason; 

hh) the occurrence of any Additional Fund Event; 

ii ) the Fund or any Fund Service Provider defaults under, materially modifies, or terminates any rebate agreements in place 

with the Issuer, the Hedge Provider or any of its Affiliates; 

jj ) if the Fund is part of an umbrella structure with more than one sub-fund, a crosscontamination or other failure to segregate 

the portfolio of assets held by the Fund occurs between different series, classes and/or sub-funds; 

kk) any security granted by the Fund or any Fund Service Provider over any of its assets is enforced or becomes capable of 

being enforced or any arrangement which in the determination of the Calculation Agent is comparable to security over any 

such assets (including without limitation any repo or prime brokerage arrangement) becomes enforceable or capable of 

early termination or any derivatives, repo, securities lending or other trading or dealing arrangement relating to the assets 

of the Fund becomes enforceable or terminable early by reason of any event of default (howsoever described) relating to 

the Fund or the relevant Fund Service Provider; 
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ll ) the long-term unsecured, unsubordinated and unguaranteed debt rating assigned to any Fund Service Provider or any 

parent company (howsoever described) of the Fund, by Moodyôs Investors Service Inc., or any successor to the ratings 

business thereof (ñMoodyôsò), and/or Standard and Poorôs Rating Group (a division ofMcGraw-Hill, Inc.), or any 

successor to the ratings business thereof (ñS&Pò), is downgraded below A (S&P) or A2 (Moodyôs) and/or the short-term 

unsecured, unsubordinated and unguaranteed debt rating assigned to any Fund Service Provider by Moodyôs or S&P is 

downgraded below A-1 (S&P) or P-1 (Moodyôs). 

References solely for the purpose of the definition of "Fund Event" to: (i) "Fund" shall include the Fund and any funds in 

which it invests any of its investible assets from time to time; and (ii) "Fund Interest Units" shall include the Fund Interest Units 

and the shares or units in any Fund (as defined in paragraph (i) above). 

 

ñFund Event Noticeò has the meaning given to that term in paragraph 5 (Fund Events) below. 

 ñFund Interestò means an interest issued to or held by an investor in a fund, pooled investment vehicle or any other interest 

identified as such in the applicable Final Terms, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñFund Interest Performanceò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, a rate 

determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñFund Interest Unitò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, a share in such Fund or, if Fund Interests in 

such Fund are not denominated as shares, a notional unit of account of ownership in such Fund in the amount specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

 ñFund Prospectusò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, the prospectus or other offering document 

issued by such Fund in connection with the Fund Interest, as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

 ñFund Reporting Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and any Fund Valuation Date, the date on which the Reported 

Fund Interest Unit Value of the Fund Interest as determined as of such Fund Valuation Date is reported or published. 

 ñFund Service Providerò means, in respect of any Fund, any person who is appointed to provide services, directly or 

indirectly, to that Fund, whether or not specified in the Fund Documents, including without limitation any Fund Adviser, 

Fund Administrator, Fund Custodian and Additional Fund Service Provider. 

 ñFund Subscription Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, 

if no such date is specified, the day as of which a request by a Hypothetical Investor for subscription to the Fund Interest that has 

been submitted on the related Subscription Notice Date and in a form and substance acceptable to the related Fund would be 

considered effective by such Fund. 

 ñFund Valuation Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the date as of which the related Fund (or its Fund Service 

Provider that generally determines such value) determines the value of the Fund Interest or, if the related Fund only reports its 

aggregate net asset value, the date as of which such Fund determines its aggregate net asset value. 

 ñHedge Fundò means any Fund specified as a hedge fund in the applicable Final Terms or, if not so specified, any Fund 

which the Calculation Agent determines to be a hedge fund or a fund of hedge funds. 

 ñHedging Partyò means the Issuer or any affiliate. 

"Hedge Provider" means the party (being, inter alios, the Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Calculation Agent, an 

affiliate or any third party) from time to time who hedges the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Notes or where no such party 

actually hedges such obligations, a Hypothetical Investor, who shall be deemed to enter into transactions as if hedging such 

obligations. The Hedge Provider will hold or be deemed to hold such number of Fund Interest Units, or enter or be deemed to enter 

into any agreement to purchase or deliver, or pay an amount linked to the performance of, such number of Fund Interest Units as it 

(or in the case of a Hypothetical Investor, the Calculation Agent) considers would be held by a prudent issuer as a hedge for its 

exposure under the relevant Notes. 
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 ñHypothetical Investorò means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, in respect of the Fund Interest, a 

hypothetical investor in the Fund Interest located in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction and deemed to have (a) the benefits and 

obligations, as provided under the Fund Documents, of an investor holding, as of the related Fund Subscription Date, an interest in 

the relevant Fund in an amount equal to the relevant number of relevant Fund Interest Units or amount of the Fund Interest; (b) in 

the case of any deemed redemption of the Fund Interest, to have submitted to the relevant Fund on the relevant Redemption Notice 

Date, a duly completed notice requesting redemption of the relevant number of Fund Interest Units; and (c) in the case of any 

deemed investment in the Fund Interest, to have submitted, on the Subscription Notice Date, a duly completed notice to the 

relevant Fund, requesting subscription to the relevant number of Fund Interest Units. 

 ñHypothetical Investor Jurisdictionò means the jurisdiction specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no 

jurisdiction is so specified, the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. 

 ñInitial Fund Interest Unit Priceò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the price per Fund Interest Unit specified in the 

applicable Final Terms or, if no such price is so specified, the Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price of such Fund Interest Unit as at the 

Strike Date determined by the Calculation Agent as if the Strike Date was a Valuation Date. 

 ñKey Personnelò means, in respect of any Hedge Fund, the person or persons (if any) so specified, together with their 

positions, in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMarket Disruption Eventò means any of the following events as determined by the Calculation Agent: 

 (a) in respect of the Fund Interest, the failure of a Scheduled Fund Valuation Date to be a Fund Valuation Date or any 

continued postponement of such Fund Valuation Date; or 

 (b) in respect of the Fund Interest, there is a failure by the Fund to pay the full amount (whether expressed as a percentage or 

otherwise) of the Redemption Proceeds with respect to the relevant number of Fund Interest Units or amount of the 

Fund Interest scheduled to have been paid on or by such day according to the Fund Documents (without giving effect to 

any gating, deferral, suspension or other provisions permitting the Reference Fund to delay or refuse redemption of 

Fund Interests); 

 (c) the inability (including by reason of illegality) of, or the impracticability for, a Hedging Party to (i) unwind or dispose of 

any transaction it has entered into, or any asset it holds, in either case for the purpose of hedging its exposure to price 

variations of the Fund Interest inherent in its obligations, in the case of the Issuer, under the Notes or, in the case of an 

affiliate, under any transaction pursuant to which it hedges the Issuerôs exposure to the Fund Interest under the Notes, or 

(ii)  realize, recover or remit to any person the proceeds of any such transaction or asset, 

provided that if any event would otherwise be both a Market Disruption Event and a Fund Event, such event shall be 

treated solely as a Fund Event. 

 ñMaximum Allocation to Single Hedge Fund Percentageò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, the 

percentage (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMaximum Borrowing Allocation Percentageò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, the percentage 

(if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMaximum Quarterly Plus Liquidity Allocation Percentageò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, 

the percentage (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMinimum Monthly Liquidity Allocation Percentageò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, the 

percentage (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMinimum Number of Underlying Hedge Fundsò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, the number 

(if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 
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 ñMinimum Volatility Percentageò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and the related Fund, the percentage (if any) 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñNAV Trigger Percentageò means the percentage (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñNAV Trigger Periodò means the period (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñNet Present Valueò means, in respect of an amount payable on a future date, the discounted value of such amount as 

calculated by the Calculation Agent in its discretion taking into account the relevant interbank offered rate at the time of such 

calculation for one month deposits in the relevant currency or such other reference rate as the Calculation Agent determines to be 

appropriate. 

 ñPotential Adjustment Eventò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, any of the following events in the determination of the 

Calculation Agent: 

 (a) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of the relevant amount of Fund Interest, or a free distribution or dividend of 

the Fund Interest to existing holders by way of bonus, capitalization or similar issue; 

 (b) a distribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of the relevant Fund Interest of (A) an additional amount of the 

Fund Interest, or (B) other share capital or securities granting the right to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of 

liquidation of the Fund equally or proportionately with such payments to holders of the Fund Interest, or (C) share capital 

or other securities of another issuer acquired or owned (directly or indirectly) by the Fund as a result of a spin-off or other 

similar transaction, or (D) any other type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any case for payment (cash or 

other consideration) at less than the prevailing market price as determined by the Calculation Agent; 

 (c) an Extraordinary Dividend;  

 (d) a repurchase by the Fund of Fund Interests whether the consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or otherwise, 

other than in respect of a redemption of Fund Interests initiated by an investor in the Fund Interests; or 

 (e) any other event that may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the Fund Interest. 

 ñProtected Amountò means the amount (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñRedemption Amountò means, in respect of any Note, an amount determined by the Calculation Agent in the Specified 

Currency specified in the applicable Final Terms, to be the fair market value of a Note based on the market conditions prevailing at 

the date of determination reduced to account fully for any reasonable expenses and costs of unwinding any underlying and/or 

related hedging and funding arrangements (including, without limitation, any Fund Interests, options, swaps or other instruments of 

any type whatsoever hedging the Issuerôs obligations under the Notes) and, if a Fund Event has occurred and a Protected Amount 

is specified in the applicable Final Terms, then the Redemption Amount shall be no less than the Net Present Value of a payment 

of the Protected Amount payable on the Maturity Date. 

 ñRedemption Notice Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, the date 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no date is so specified, the last date on which a Hypothetical Investor in the 

Fund Interest would be permitted, pursuant to the Fund Documents of the related Fund, to submit a redemption notice that would 

be timely for a redemption as of the Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date for which the Scheduled Redemption Payment Date 

falls on or immediately prior to such Valuation Date or Averaging Date. 

 ñRedemption Proceedsò means, in respect of the relevant number of Fund Interest Units or amount of the Fund Interest, the 

redemption proceeds that in the determination of the Calculation Agent would be paid by the related Fund to a Hypothetical 

Investor who, as of the relevant Redemption Valuation Date, redeems such number of Fund Interest Units or amount of 

Fund Interest (for the avoidance of doubt after deduction of any tax, levy, charge, assessment or fee of any nature that, in the 

determination of the Calculation Agent, would (or would be very likely to) be withheld or deducted from such amount); provided 

that (a) any such proceeds that would be paid in property other than cash shall be deemed to have a value of zero and (b) if the 

Hypothetical Investor would be entitled to elect payment of such redemption proceeds to be made either in the form of cash or 
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other property, then the Hypothetical Investor shall be deemed to have elected cash payment, except as otherwise specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

 ñRedemption Valuation Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and any Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date, the 

date as of which the related Fund (or its Fund Service Provider that generally determines such value) determines the net asset value 

of the Fund Interest for purposes of calculating the redemption proceeds to be paid to a Hypothetical Investor that has submitted a 

valid notice for redemption on or before the related Redemption Notice Date. 

 ñReference Priceò means the price per Fund Interest Unit determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms as of the 

Final Valuation Time on the Final Valuation Date or, if no means of determining such price are so provided, the Relevant 

Fund Interest Unit Price. When calculating the Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price of any Fund Interest Unit for the purposes of 

determining the Reference Price, the Valuation Time and the Valuation Date will be the Final Valuation Time and the Final 

Valuation Date, respectively. 

 ñRelevant Fund Interest Unit Priceò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, the 

price per related Fund Interest Unit determined by the Calculation Agent as provided in the applicable Final Terms as of the 

Valuation Time on the Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the case may be, or, if no means for determining the Relevant 

Fund Interest Unit Price are so provided, an amount equal to the Redemption Proceeds relating to such Fund Interest Unit that in 

the determination of the Calculation Agent would be received by a Hypothetical Investor in the Fund Interest in respect of a 

redemption of Fund Interest Units targeted to be effected as of the Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date relating to such 

Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the case may be. 

 ñRemoval Valueò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the value calculated by the Calculation Agent in the same manner as 

would be used in determining the Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price of Fund Interest Units in the related Fund, but assuming a valid 

notice requesting redemption of Fund Interest Units in such Fund has been submitted to such Fund on the Fund Business Day next 

following delivery of the relevant Fund Event Notice. 

 ñReported Fund Interest Unit Valueò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and a Fund Reporting Date relating to the 

Fund Interest, the value per Fund Interest Unit as of the related Fund Valuation Date or, if the related Fund reports only its 

aggregate net asset value, the portion of such Fundôs aggregate net asset value relating to one Fund Interest Unit, in each case as 

reported on such Fund Reporting Date by the Fund Service Provider that generally reports such value on behalf of the Fund to its 

investors or a publishing service. 

 ñScheduled Fund Valuation Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the date as of which the related Fund (or its 

Fund Service Provider that generally determines such value) is scheduled, according to its Fund Documents (without giving effect 

to any gating, deferral, suspension or other provisions permitting the Reference Fund to delay or refuse redemption of 

Fund Interests), to determine the value of the Fund Interest or, if the related Fund only reports its aggregate net asset value, the date 

as of which such Fund determines its aggregate net asset value. 

 ñScheduled Redemption Payment Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and any Scheduled Redemption Valuation 

Date, the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if not so specified, the date by which the related Fund is 

scheduled to have paid, according to its Fund Documents, all or a specified portion of the Redemption Proceeds to an investor that 

has submitted a timely and valid notice requesting redemption of the Fund Interest as of such Scheduled Redemption Valuation 

Date. 

 ñScheduled Redemption Valuation Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the date as of which the related Fund (or its 

Fund Service Provider that generally determines such value) is scheduled, according to its Fund Documents (without giving effect 

to any gating, deferral, suspension or other provisions permitting the Fund to delay or refuse redemption of Fund Interests), to 

determine the net asset value of the Fund Interest for the purposes of calculating the redemption proceeds to be paid to an investor 

that has submitted a valid and timely notice for redemption of Fund Interests based on the value determined as of such date. The 

Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date relating to any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the case may be, shall be the date 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such date is specified, the Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date for 

which the Scheduled Redemption Payment Date falls on or immediately prior to such Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the 

case may be. 
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 ñScheduled Valuation Dateò means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, 

would have been a Valuation Date. 

 ñSettlement Cycleò means the period specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no period is so specified, two 

Currency Business Days. 

 ñStrike Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms, or if such date is not a Currency Business Day, the 

next following Currency Business Day, subject to the provisions of Condition 5(m) (Consequences of Disrupted Days for Strike 

Dates) as set out below. 

 ñStrike Priceò means the price (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñSubscription Notice Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest and any Fund Subscription Date, the date specified as 

such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no date is so specified, the last date on which a notice to subscribe to the Fund Interest 

may be submitted pursuant to the Fund Documents of the related Fund and be considered effective as of such Fund Subscription 

Date. If the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Subscription Notice Date or a Fund Subscription Date, the Subscription Notice 

Date shall be deemed to be the Issue Date. 

 ñTrade Dateò means the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms 

 ñValuation Dateò means each date specified as such or otherwise determined or provided for in the applicable Final Terms 

or, if such date is not a Currency Business Day, the next following Currency Business Day, subject to the provisions of Condition 

5(l) (Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates) as set out below. 

 ñValuation Timeò means the time on the Valuation Date or Averaging Date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms 

or, if no time is so specified, the close of business in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction on the relevant Valuation Date or 

Averaging Date. 

3.  Postponement of settlement 

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, if the Calculation Agent determines on the date which is not later 

than 3 Currency Business Days prior to any date on which the Final Redemption Amount, any Redemption Amount or any other 

redemption amounts would otherwise be due to be paid (each a ñScheduled Settlement Dateò) that a Settlement Postponement 

Event has occurred, then ñCalculation Agent Adjustmentò (as defined in paragraph 5.5 below) shall apply as if a Fund Event had 

occurred in respect of which the Calculation Agent had delivered a Fund Event Notice to the Issuer on such date and the 

adjustments made by the Calculation Agent shall include the postponement of the obligation of the Issuer to pay the Final 

Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount or any other redemption amounts, as applicable, until the Postponed Settlement 

Date and no interest or other amount shall be payable to Noteholders in respect of this postponement. 

If the Postponed Settlement Date is the Postponed Settlement Long Stop Date, for the purposes of determining the Final 

Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount or any other redemption amounts, as applicable, whether determined by reference 

to the Reference Price or otherwise, each Fund Interest Unit will be deemed to have a value equal to the redemption proceeds (if 

any) that a Hypothetical Investor which had submitted a Final Redemption Notice in respect of such Fund Interest Unit would have 

received in respect of such redemption on or before the Postponed Settlement Long Stop Date. 

For the purposes hereof:  

 (a) a ñSettlement Postponement Eventò shall be deemed to occur if, as determined by the Calculation Agent, a Hypothetical 

Investor in the Fund Interest which had submitted a Final Redemption Notice in respect of Fund Interest Units would not 

have received in full the redemption proceeds in respect of such redemptions on or before the date which is 4 Currency 

Business Days prior to the Scheduled Settlement Date; 

 (b) the ñPostponed Settlement Dateò means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, which ever is the 

earlier of (x) the date which is 3 Currency Business Days after the date on which, as determined by the Calculation Agent, 
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such Hypothetical Investor would have received such redemption proceeds in full and (y) the Postponed Settlement Long 

Stop Date; 

 (c) the ñPostponed Settlement Long Stop Dateò means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the date 

which is 3 months after the Scheduled Settlement Date; 

(d) a ñFinal Redemption Noticeò means, in respect of a Fund Interest Unit, a valid redemption notice submitted on the last 

date permitted pursuant to the Fund Documents of the related Fund for a redemption notice that would be timely for 

redemption prior to the Scheduled Settlement Date (more specifically, as of the Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date for 

which the Scheduled Redemption Payment Date is the last Scheduled Redemption Payment Date prior to the Scheduled 

Settlement Date). 

4.  Disrupted Days 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5 (l) as follows: 

l.  Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates 

 (i) The Calculation Agent shall as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances notify the Issuer of the occurrence 

of a Disrupted Day on any day that, but for the occurrence or continuance of a Disrupted Day, would have been a 

Valuation Date. 

 (ii)  If any Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day, then the Valuation Date shall be the next succeeding day that is not a Disrupted 

Day, unless no day that is not a Disrupted Day has occurred prior to the last day of one Cut-off Period following the 

Scheduled Valuation Date. In that case, (i) the last day of such Cut-off Period shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date, 

notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and (ii) the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith 

estimate of the value for the Fund Interest as of the Valuation Time on that deemed Valuation Date. 

 (iii)  In addition, the Calculation Agent will account for such occurrence or continuance of a Disrupted Day as it sees fit which 

may include but is not limited to delaying calculation and payment of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any 

Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, and no interest or other amount shall be payable to 

Noteholders in respect of any such delay, or making the appropriate adjustment to the calculation of the Final 

Redemption Amount and/or any Early Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, all in the 

determination of the Calculation Agent. 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5 (m) as follows: 

m.  Consequences of Disrupted Days for Strike Dates 

If any Strike Date is a Disrupted Day, then the provisions set out in Condition 5(l) (Consequences of Disrupted Days for 

Valuation Dates) above shall apply as if such Strike Date was a Valuation Date. 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5 (n) as follows: 

n.  Consequences of Disrupted Days for Averaging Dates 

If Averaging Dates are specified in the applicable Final Terms with respect to a Valuation Date then, notwithstanding any 

other provisions of these Conditions or Part 4A of the Base Prospectus, the following provisions will apply. 

 (i) If any Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day, the Averaging Date shall be the first succeeding Valid Date. If the first 

succeeding Valid Date has not occurred prior to one Cut-off Period following the original date that, but for the occurrence 

of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would have been the final Averaging Date in respect of the relevant 

Scheduled Valuation Date, then (1) the last day of such Cut-off Period shall be deemed the Averaging Date (irrespective of 

whether such day is already an Averaging Date), and (2) the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith estimate of 

the value for the Fund Interest as of the Valuation Time on that deemed Averaging Date. 
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 (ii)  ñValid Dateò means a Currency Business Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another Averaging Date in 
respect of the relevant Valuation Date does not or is not deemed to occur. 

 (iii)  In addition, the Calculation Agent will account for such occurrence or continuance of a Disrupted Day as it sees fit which 
may include but is not limited to delaying calculation and payment of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any 
Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, and no interest or other amount shall be payable to 
Noteholders in respect of any such delay, or making the appropriate adjustment to the calculation of the Final 
Redemption Amount and/or any Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, all in the 
determination of the Calculation Agent. 

5.  Fund Events 

5.1 If at any time the Calculation Agent determines that a Fund Event has occurred and/or is continuing then the Calculation Agent 
shall provide written notice thereof to the Issuer (a ñFund Event Noticeò) and, unless otherwise specified in the applicable 
Final Terms, ñFund Interest Replacementò (as described in paragraph 5.4 below) shall apply as the consequence of that 
Fund Event unless the Calculation Agent determines that the application of ñFund Interest Replacementò is not appropriate 
or commercially reasonable, in which event ñCalculation Agent Adjustmentò (as described in paragraph 5.5 below) shall 
apply as the consequence of that Fund Event. 

5.2 The Calculation Agent shall not have any obligation to monitor the occurrence of a Fund Event nor shall it have any obligation 
to make a determination that a Fund Event has occurred or is continuing. 

5.3 Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, upon triggering any consequence for a Fund Event, the mechanics for 
determining and calculating the valuation of the Fund Interest and any payments under the Notes shall be suspended until 
completion of, and may be superseded by, such consequence. 

5.4 For the purpose of determining the consequence of a Fund Event: 

 (a) ñCalculation Agent Adjustmentò means that the Calculation Agent shall (i) make such adjustment to account for such 
Fund Event as it considers appropriate which may include, without limitation, delaying the calculation and payment of the 
Final Redemption Amount and/or any Early Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, and no 
interest or other amount shall be payable to Noteholders in respect of any such delay, or making an adjustment to the 
calculation of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any Early Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under 
the Notes, all in the determination of the Calculation Agent or (ii) if the Calculation Agent determines that no adjustment 
that it could make under (i) would produce a commercially reasonable result, ñOptional Redemptionò will be deemed to 
apply. 

 (b) ñFund Interest Replacementò means that the Calculation Agent will substitute the Fund Interest with the Successor 
Fund Interest relating to the Fund Interest, provided that if no Successor Fund has been identified in the manner set forth 
below within 10 Currency Business Days of the Fund Event Notice, then ñCalculation Agent Adjustmentò will be deemed 
to apply. For the purposes hereof: 

 (i) ñSuccessor Fund Interestò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the related Eligible Fund Interest or, if the 
applicable Final Terms do not specify any Eligible Fund Interest relating to the Fund Interest, then the Calculation 
Agent will use commercially reasonable efforts to identify a Successor Fund Interest based on the eligibility criteria 
specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if the applicable Final Terms do not specify any such eligibility criteria, 
with characteristics, investment objectives and policies similar to those in effect for the Fund Interest immediately 
prior to the occurrence of the relevant Fund Event; and 

 (ii)  any substitution of the Successor Fund Interest for the Fund Interest shall be effected at such time and in such manner 
as specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if the time and manner for substitution of the Successor Fund Interest is 
not specified in the applicable Final Terms, then the Fund Interest shall be replaced by a number of Fund Interest 
Units of the Successor Fund Interest with a combined value (as determined by the Calculation Agent) equal to the 
relevant Removal Value of the applicable number of Fund Interest Units of the Fund Interest. Such replacement shall 
be effected, from time to time whenever the Removal Value changes, on the date, as determined by the Calculation 
Agent, on which the Fund issuing the Successor Fund Interest would admit a Hypothetical Investor who, on the 
Fund Business Day next following the date on which any Removal Value not previously applied toward any Successor 
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Fund Interest would be received by such Hypothetical Investor redeeming out of the relevant amount of Fund Interest, 
had submitted a valid order to purchase such amount of the Successor Fund Interest; and 

 (iii)  if necessary, the Calculation Agent will adjust any relevant terms, including, but not limited to adjustments to 

account for changes in volatility, investment strategy or liquidity relevant to the Fund Interests or the Notes. 

 (c) ñOptional Redemptionò means that the Issuer shall redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount on such date as the 

Issuer may notify to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

5.5 Notice of the consequences of a Fund Event shall be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. Such notice 

shall (i) identify the relevant Fund Event and contain a summary of the facts constituting such event, (ii) if applicable, identify 

the Successor Fund Interest and specify the effective date of such substitution, (iii) if applicable, specify adjustments made or 

expected to be made by the Calculation Agent and (iv) if applicable, specify the date on which the Notes are to be redeemed. 

6.   Potential Adjustment Events 

Following the declaration by any Fund of the terms of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will determine 

whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant 

Fund Interest Units or amount of Fund Interest and, if so, will (i) make the corresponding adjustment(s), if any, to any one or more 

of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts payable under the Notes, the 

Reference Price, any Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the calculation, valuation, 

payment or other terms of Notes as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative 

effect (provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility, expected dividends or liquidity 

relative to the relevant Fund Interest) and (ii) determine the effective date(s) of the adjustment(s). 

7.  Corrections and Adjustments 

With the exception of any Adjustments (as defined below) made after the day which is three Currency Business Days prior to a 

due date for any payment under the Notes calculated by reference to the price or level of a Fund Interest Unit, if the Calculation 

Agent determines that a Fund adjusts the Redemption Proceeds that would have been paid to a Hypothetical Investor redeeming 

the number of Fund Interest Units that are subject to valuation and such adjustment would be reflected in either an additional 

payment to such Hypothetical Investor or a claim for repayment of excess Redemption Proceeds made against such Hypothetical 

Investor (each an ñAdjustmentò), then the price or level to be used shall be the price or level of the relevant Fund Interest Units as 

so adjusted. 

8.  Exchange Traded Funds 

If a Fund is specified in the applicable Final Terms to be an ETF, Part 3A or Part 3B, as applicable, shall be deemed as far as 

practicable to apply to the Notes, subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms. 

9.  Knock-in Event and Knock-out Event 

9.1 Knock-in Event 

 (a) If ñKnock-in Eventò is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms with respect to any payment under the Notes 

then, unless otherwise specified in such Final Terms, such payment shall be conditional upon the Knock-in Event having 

occurred. 

 (b) ñKnock-in Eventò means (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) that the Relevant Fund Interest Unit 

Price of a Fund Interest Unit in the Fund Interest as of the Knock-in Valuation Time on any Knock-in Determination Day 

is, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, (i) ñgreater thanò, (ii) ñgreater than or equal toò, (iii)  ñless thanò or 

(iv) ñless than or equal toò the Knock-in Price. 

 (c) ñKnock-in Priceò means the level, price or amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 127 - 70-40523764 

 

 (d) ñKnock-in Reference Assetò means the interest issued to or held by an investor in a fund, pooled investment vehicle or 

any other interest identified as such in the applicable Final Terms specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. In the 

event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-in Reference Asset, the Knock-in Reference Asset will be 

deemed to be the Fund Interest. 

 (e) ñKnock-in Determination Dayò means each day specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such days are 

specified, each Fund Business Day from and including the Issue Date to and including the final Valuation Date or, if there 

is no such Valuation Date, the date that is one Settlement Cycle prior to the Maturity Date, in each case unless such day is 

a Disrupted Day due to the occurrence of an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day prior to the Knock-in Valuation Time on 

such day. If any such day is a Disrupted Day due to the occurrence of such an event, then the Knock-in Determination Day 

shall be the first succeeding day that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each day of the Cut-off Period that starts on the 

original date that, but for the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, would have been the Knock-in Determination Day is a 

Disrupted Day. In that case, the last day of such Cut-off Period shall be deemed to be the Knock-in Determination Day, 

notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level, price or 

amount of the Knock-in Reference Asset in the same manner that it would determine a level, price or amount of a 

Fund Interest on a deemed Valuation Date that is also a Disrupted Day in accordance with the provisions of Condition 5(l) 

(Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates) above, as the case may be. 

 (f) ñKnock-in Valuation Timeò means the time on any Knock-in Determination Day specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms. In the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-in Valuation Time, the Knock-in 

Valuation Time shall be the Valuation Time specified in the applicable Final Terms, or if no Valuation Time is specified, 

the close of business in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction. 

9.2 Knock-out Event 

 (g) If ñKnock-out Eventò is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms with respect to any payment under the Notes 

then, unless otherwise specified in such Final Terms, such payment shall be conditional upon the Knock-out Event not 

having occurred. 

 (h) ñKnock-out Eventò means (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) that the Relevant Fund Interest Unit 

Price of a Fund Interest Unit in the Fund Interest as of the Knock-out Valuation Time on any Knock-out Determination 

Day is, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, (i) ñgreater thanò, (ii) ñgreater than or equal toò, (iii)  ñless thanò or 

(iv) ñless than or equal toò the Knock-out Price. 

 (i) ñKnock-out Priceò means the level, price or amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 (j) ñKnock-out Reference Assetò means the interest issued to or held by an investor in a fund, pooled investment vehicle or 

any other interest identified as such in the applicable Final Terms specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. In the 

event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-out Reference Asset, the Knock-out Reference Asset will be 

deemed to be the Fund Interest. 

 (k) ñKnock-out Determination Dayò means each day specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such days are 

specified, each Fund Business Day from and including the Issue Date to and including the final Valuation Date or, if there 

is no such Valuation Date, the date that is one Settlement Cycle prior to the Maturity Date, in each case unless such day is 

a Disrupted Day due to the occurrence of an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day prior to the Knock-out Valuation Time 

on such day. If any such day is a Disrupted Day due to the occurrence of such an event, then the Knock-out Determination 

Day shall be the first succeeding day that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each day of the Cut-off Period that starts on the 

original date that, but for the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, would have been the Knock-out Determination Day is a 

Disrupted Day. In that case, the last day of such Cut-off Period shall be deemed to be the Knock-out Determination Day, 

notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level, price or 

amount of the Knock-out Reference Asset in the same manner that it would determine a level, price or amount of a 

Fund Interest on a deemed Valuation Date that is also a Disrupted Day in accordance with the provisions of Condition 5(l) 

(Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates), as the case may be. 
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 (l) ñKnock-out Valuation Timeò means the time on any Knock-out Determination Day specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms. In the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-out Valuation Time, the Knock-out 

Valuation Time shall be the Valuation Time specified in the applicable Final Terms, or if no Valuation Time is specified, 

the close of business in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction. 

10. Automatic Early Redemption 

10.1 Consequences of the occurrence of an Automatic Early Redemption Event 

If ñAutomatic Early Redemption Eventò is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, then unless previously 

redeemed or purchased and cancelled, if on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date the Automatic Early 

Redemption Event occurs, then the Notes will be automatically redeemed in whole, but not in part, on the Automatic Early 

Redemption Date immediately following such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date and the Redemption Amount 

payable by the Issuer on such date upon redemption of each Note shall be an amount equal to the relevant Automatic Early 

Redemption Amount. 

10.2 Definitions 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Amountò means (a) an amount in the Specified Currency (as specified in the applicable 

Final Terms) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if such amount is not specified, (b) the product of (i) the 

denomination of each Note and (ii) the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Rate relating to that Automatic Early 

Redemption Date. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Dateò means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if such date is 

not a Currency Business Day, the next following Currency Business Day. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Eventò means (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) that, in respect 

of the Fund Interest, the Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price is, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, (i) ñgreater thanò, 

(ii)  ñgreater than or equal toò, (iii)  ñless thanò or (iv) ñless than or equal toò the Automatic Early Redemption Price. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Priceò means the price specified as such or otherwise determined in the applicable Final 

Terms. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Rateò means, in respect of any Automatic Early Redemption Date, the rate specified as 

such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Valuation Dateò means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if 

such date is not a Currency Business Day the next following Currency Business Day, subject to ñConsequences of Disrupted 

Day(s)ò set forth below. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Valuation Timeò means the time on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. In the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify an Automatic Early 

Redemption Valuation Time, the Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Time shall be the Valuation Time specified in the 

applicable Final Terms, or if no Valuation Time is specified, the close of business in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction. 

 ñScheduled Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Dateò means, in respect of the Fund Interest, the original date 

that, but for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, would have been an Automatic Early Redemption Valuation 

Date. 

10.3 Consequences of Disrupted Days 

If any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day, then the provisions set out in Condition 5(l) 

(Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates) shall apply as if such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date was 

a Valuation Date. 
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PART 4B: FUND-LINKED NOTES (BASKET OF FUND  INTERESTS) 

The terms and conditions applicable to Notes linked to a basket of funds shall comprise the Terms and Conditions of the 

Medium Term Notes set out in Part 1 (the ñConditionsò) and the additional terms and conditions set out below (the ñFund Basket 

Linked Conditionsò) in each case subject to the applicable Final Terms. In the event of any inconsistency between (i) the 

Conditions and the Fund Basket Linked Conditions, the Fund Basket Linked Conditions shall prevail. In the event of any 

inconsistency between (i) the Conditions and/or the Fund Basket Linked Conditions and (ii) the applicable Final Terms, the 

applicable Final Terms shall prevail. 

1.  Final Redemption 

For the purposes of Condition 5(a) and unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled in accordance with the 

Conditions, the Final Redemption Amount payable per Note in respect of the Maturity Date (subject to postponement of settlement 

as provided in paragraph 3 (Postponement of settlement at Maturity Date) below, if applicable) shall be an amount in the Specified 

Currency determined by the Calculation Agent as set forth in the applicable Final Terms and the following provisions. 

2.  Definitions 

 ñAdditional Fund Eventò means any event specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAdditional Fund Service Providerò means, in respect of any Fund, any person or entity (if any) specified as such in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAffected Fund Interestò means, at any time, any Fund Interest in respect of which the Calculation Agent has determined 

that a Fund Event has occurred. 

 ñAffiliateò means, in relation to any person, any entity controlled, directly or indirectly, by the person, any entity that 

controls, directly or indirectly, the person or any entity directly or indirectly under common control with the person (for such 

purposes, ñcontrolò of any entity or person means ownership of a majority of the voting power of the entity or person). 

 ñAggregate NAV Trigger Periodò means the period (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAggregate NAV Trigger Valueò means the value (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAUM Levelò has the meaning given to it in the applicable Final Terms, or if not so specified, EUR 50,000,000, or the 
equivalent in any other currency. 

 ñAveraging Dateò means, in respect of each Valuation Date, each date (if any) specified as such or otherwise determined as 

provided in the applicable Final Terms or, if such day is not a Currency Business Day, the next following Currency Business Day, 

subject to the provisions of Condition 5(n) (Consequences of Disrupted Days for Averaging Dates) as set out below. 

 ñBasketò means a basket composed of such Fund Interests in such Funds specified in the applicable Final Terms in the 

relative proportions or number of Fund Interest Units of each Fund Interest specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject to the 

provisions of paragraph 5 (Basket Fund Events) as set out below. 

 ñBasket Fund Eventò means, subject as otherwise provided in the Final Terms, that a Fund Event occurs in respect of one or 

more Funds comprising the Basket which has or, in the event that an Fund Event has occurred in respect of more than one Fund, 

together have, a Weighting in the Basket equal to or greater than the Basket Trigger Level. 

 ñBasket Fund Event Noticeò has the meaning given to that term in paragraph 5 (Basket Fund Events) as set out below. 

 ñBasket Trigger Levelò has the meaning given to it in the applicable Final Terms or if not so specified, 50 per cent.  

 ñCompanyò means, in respect of a Fund Interest and the related Fund, the entity (if any) specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms (if any). 
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 ñCurrency Business Dayò means any day on which commercial banks are open for business (including dealings in foreign 

exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre for the Specified Currency specified in the applicable 

Final Terms. If such Specified Currency is euro, any day that is a TARGET Settlement Day shall be a Currency Business Day. 

 ñCut-off Periodò means, in respect of any date, the period specified in the applicable Final Terms, or if no such period is 

specified, a period of one calendar year; provided that if a ñFinal Cut-off Dateò is specified in the applicable Final Terms, then any 

Cut-off Period that would otherwise end after such Final Cut-off Date shall end on such Final Cut-off Date. 

 ñDisrupted Dayò means any day on which a Market Disruption Event has occurred or is continuing. 

 ñEligible Fund Interestò means, in respect of any Affected Fund Interest, the interest issued to or held by an investor in a 

fund, pooled investment vehicle or any other interest (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñETFò or ñExchange Traded Fundò means any Fund specified as an Exchange Traded Fund in the applicable Final Terms 

or, if not so specified, any Fund which the Calculation Agent determines to be an Exchange Traded Fund. 

 ñExchangeò means, in respect of any ETF, the exchange or quotation system specified for such ETF in the applicable Final 

Terms, any successor to such exchange or quotation system or any substitute exchange or quotation system to which trading in the 

Fund Interest Units in respect of such ETF has temporarily relocated. 

 ñExtraordinary Dividendò means an amount per relevant Fund Interest Unit or other amount of Fund Interest specified or 

otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms provided that if no Extraordinary Dividend is specified in or 

otherwise determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the characterisation of a dividend or portion thereof as an 

Extraordinary Dividend shall be determined by the Calculation Agent. 

 ñFinal Cut-off Dateò means the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñFinal Valuation Dateò means, if there is more than one Valuation Date, the last Valuation Date or, if there is only one 

Valuation Date, the Valuation Date. 

 ñFinal Valuation Timeò means, if there are more than one Valuation Date, the Valuation Time in relation to the last 

Valuation Date or, if there is only one Valuation Date, the Valuation Time. 

 ñFundò means, in respect of any Fund Interest, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the issuer of, or 

other legal arrangement (including, if applicable, any relevant class or series) giving rise to, the relevant Fund Interest. 

 ñFund Administratorò means, in respect of any Fund, any person specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no 

person is so specified, the fund administrator, manager, trustee or similar person with the primary administrative responsibilities to 

such Fund according to the Fund Documents. 

 ñFund Adviserò means, in respect of any Fund, any person specified as such in the applicable Final Terms, or if no person is 

so specified, any person appointed in the role of discretionary investment manager or non-discretionary investment adviser 

(including a non-discretionary investment adviser to a discretionary investment manager or to another non-discretionary 

investment adviser) for such Fund. 

 ñFund Business Dayò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and the related Fund, any day specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms or, if no day is so specified, any day on which the Fund or the primary Fund Administrator acting on behalf of the 

Fund is open for business. 

 ñFund Custodianò means, in respect of any Fund, any person specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no person 

is so specified, the fund custodian or similar person with the primary custodial responsibilities in relation to such Fund according to 

the Fund Documents. 

 ñFund Documentsò means, in respect of any Fund Interest, the constitutive and governing documents, subscription 

agreements and other agreements of the related Fund specifying the terms and conditions relating to such Fund Interest (including, 
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without limitation, the Fund Prospectus) and any additional documents specified in the applicable Final Terms (each an 

ñAdditional Fund Documentò), in each case as amended from time to time. 

 ñFund Eventò means, subject as otherwise provided in the Final Terms, the occurrence or continuance at any time on or after 

the Trade Date of any of the following events as determined by the Calculation Agent: 

a) the Fund or any Fund Service Provider (i) ceases trading and/or, in the case of a Fund Service Provider, ceases 

administration, portfolio management, investment services, custodian, prime brokerage, or any other relevant business (as 

applicable) (ii) is dissolved or has a resolution passed, or there is any proposal, for its dissolution, winding-up, official 

liquidation (other than pursuant to a consolidation, amalgamationor merger); (iii) makes a general assignment or  

arrangement with or for the benefit of its creditors; (iv) (1) institutes or has instituted against it, by a regulator, supervisor 

or any similar official with primary insolvency, rehabilitative or regulatory jurisdiction over it in the jurisdiction of its 

incorporation or organisation or the jurisdiction of its head or home office, a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency 

or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditorsô rights, 

or a petition is presented for its winding-up or liquidation by it or such regulator, supervisor or similar official, or (2) has 

instituted against it a proceeding seeking a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or any other relief under any bankruptcy 

or insolvency law or other similar law affecting creditorsô rights, or a petition is presented for its winding-up or 

liquidation, and such proceeding or petition is instituted or presented by a person or entity not described in sub-clause (iv) 

(1) above and either (x) results in a judgment of insolvency or bankruptcy or the entry of an order for relief or the making 

of an order for its winding-up or liquidation or (y) is not immediately dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained; (v) seeks 

or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, provisional liquidator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian 

or other similar official for it or for all or substantially all its assets; (vi) has a secured party take possession of all or 

substantially all its assets or has a distress, execution, attachment, sequestration or other legal process levied, enforced or 

sued on or against all or substantially all its assets and such secured party maintains possession, or any such process is not 

immediately dismissed, discharged, stayed or restrained; or (vii) causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, 

under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an effect analogous to any of the events specified in sub-clauses (i) to 

(vi) above; or  

b) the occurrence (such occurrence, a "Merger Event"), in respect of any relevant Shares and Entity (as defined below), of 

any (i) reclassification or change of such Shares that results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all of 

such Shares outstanding to another entity or person, (ii) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share/unit/interest 

exchange of an Entity with or into another entity or person (other than a consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding 

share/unit/interest exchange in which such Entity, is the continuing entity and which does not result in a reclassification or 

change of all of such Shares outstanding), (iii) takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal or other 

event by any entity or person to purchase or otherwise obtain 100 per cent. of the outstanding Shares of an Entity that 

results in a transfer of or an irrevocable commitment to transfer all such Shares (other than such Shares owned or 

controlled by such other entity or person), or (iv) consolidation, amalgamation, merger or binding share/unit/interest 

exchange of an Entity or its subsidiaries with or into another entity in which the Entity is the continuing entity and which 

does not result in a reclassification or change of all such Shares outstanding but results in the outstanding Shares (other 

than Shares owned or controlled by such other entity) immediately prior to such event collectively representing less than 

50 per cent. of the outstanding Shares immediately following such event, in each case if the Fund Event effective date, as 

determined by the Calculation Agent, is on or before the Final Calculation Date. For the purposes of this definition 

"Merger Event" only, "Shares" shall mean the applicable Fund Interest Units or the shares of any applicable Fund 

Service Provider, as the context may require, and "Entity " shall mean the applicable Fund or any applicable Fund Service 

Provider, as the context may require.   

c) the occurrence (such occurrence, a "Tender Offer") of a takeover offer, tender offer, exchange offer, solicitation, proposal 

or other event by any entity or person that results in such entity or person purchasing, or otherwise obtaining or having the 

right to obtain, by conversion or other means, greater than 50 per cent. and less than 100 per cent. of the outstanding 

voting shares, units or interests of the Fund or Fund Service Provider, as determined by the Calculation Agent, based upon 

the making of filings with governmental or self-regulatory agencies or such other information as the Calculation Agent 

deems relevant; 

d) there exists any litigation against the Fund or a Fund Service Provider which in the sole and absolute discretion of the 

Calculation Agent could materially affect the value of the Fund Interest Units or the rights or remedies of any investor in 

such Fund Interest Units; 
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e)  (i) an allegation of criminal or fraudulent activity is made in respect of the Fund, or any Fund Service Provider, or any 

employee of any such entity, or the Calculation Agent reasonably determines that any such criminal or fraudulent activity 

has occurred, or (ii) any investigative, judicial, administrative or other civil or criminal proceedings is commenced or is 

threatened against the Fund, any Fund Service Provider or any key personnel of such entities if such allegation, 

determination, suspicion or proceedings could, in the sole and absolute discretion of the Calculation Agent, materially 

affect the value of the Fund Interest Units or the rights or remedies of any investor in such Fund Interest Units; 

f)  (i) a Fund Service Provider ceases to act in such capacity in relation to the Fund and is not immediately replaced in such 

capacity by a successor acceptable to the Calculation Agent and/or (ii) any event occurs which causes, or will with the 

passage of time (in the opinion of the Calculation Agent) cause, the failure of the Fund and/or any Fund Service Provider 

to meet or maintain any obligation or undertaking under the Fund Documents which failure is reasonably likely to have an 

adverse impact on the value of the Fund Interest Units or on the rights or remedies of any investor in such Fund Interest 

Units; 

g) one or more of the key individuals involved with, or having supervision over, the Fund or a Fund Service Provider ceases 

to act in such capacity, and the relevant Fund Service Provider fails to appoint a replacement having similar qualifications 

to those of the key individual or individuals ceasing to act; 

h) a material modification of or deviation from any of the investment objectives, investment restrictions, investment process 

or investment guidelines of the Fund (howsoever described, including the underlying type of assets in which the Fund 

invests), from those set out in the Fund Documents, or any announcement regarding a potential modification or deviation, 

except where such modification or deviation is of a formal, minor or technical nature; 

i) a material modification, cancellation or disappearance (howsoever described), or any announcement regarding a potential 

future material modification, cancellation or disappearance (howsoever described), of the type of assets (i) in which the 

Fund invests, or (ii) the Fund purports to track; 

j) a material modification, or any announcement regarding a potential future material modification, of the Fund (including 

but not limited to a material modification of the Fund Documents or to the Fundôs liquidity terms) other than a 

modification or event which does not affect the Fund Interest Units or the Fund or any portfolio of assets to which the 

Fund Interest Unit relates (either alone or in common with other Fund Interest Units issued by the Fund); 

k) the creation by the Fund of any illiquid share class or unit howsoever described; 

l) the currency denomination of the Fund Interest Units is amended from that set out in the Fund Documents so that the 

NAV per Fund Interest Unit is no longer calculated in the same currency as it was as at the Trade Date; 

m) if applicable, the Fund ceases to be an undertaking for collective investments under the legislation of its relevant 

jurisdiction; 

n) following the issue or creation of a new class or series (howsoever described in the Fund Documents) of shares or units by 

the Fund, the Calculation Agent determines taking into consideration the potential cross-liability between classes of shares 

or units (howsoever described in the Fund Documents) that such new class or series has or may have an adverse effect on 

the hedging activities of the Hedge Provider in relation to the Notes; 

o) a material modification of the method of calculating the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 

p) any change in the periodicity of the calculation or the publication of the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 

q) any suspension of the calculation or publication of the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 

r) the occurrence of any event affecting a Fund Interest Unit that, in the sole and absolute discretion of the Calculation 

Agent, would make it impossible or impracticable for the Calculation Agent to determine the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 
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s) any of the Fund, any Fund Service Provider or any other party acting on behalf of the Fund fails for any reason to 

calculate and publish the NAV per Fund Interest Unit within the Number of NAV Publication Days following any date 

scheduled for the determination of the valuation of the Fund Interest Units unless the cause of such failure to publish is of 

a technical nature and outside the immediate and direct control of the entity responsible for such publication 

t) any Fund Service Provider uses asset prices provided by the investment manager (howsoever described in the Fund 

Documents) to calculate the NAV per Fund Interest Unit when such asset prices could have been obtained from 

independent sources and the asset prices from independent sources materially diverge from the asset prices provided by 

the investment manager (howsoever described in the Fund Documents); 

u) the assets under management of the Fund falls below the AUM Level; 

v) the Calculation Agent determines, at any time, that the NAV per Fund Interest Unit is inaccurate, or (ii) the reported net 

asset value of the Fund Interest Units misrepresents the net asset value of the Fund Interest Units; 

w) the occurrence (such occurrence, a "NAV Trigger Event"), in respect of the Fund Interest Units, of the event that (i) the 

NAV per Fund Interest Unit has decreased by an amount equal to, or greater than, the NAV Trigger Percentage(s) at any 

time during the related NAV Trigger Period, or (ii) the Fund has violated any leverage restriction that is applicable to, or 

affecting, such Fund or its assets by operation of any law, any order or judgement of any court or other agency of 

government applicable to it or any of its assets, the Fund Documents or any other contractual restriction binding on or 

affecting the Fund or any of its assets; 

x) in the case of a Hedge Fund only, the audited net asset value of the Fund and/or the NAV per Fund Interest Unit is 

different from the audited net asset value of the Fund and/or the NAV per Fund Interest Unit communicated by the 

relevant Fund Service Provider in respect of the same date, (ii) the auditors of the Fund qualify any audit report, or refuse 

to provide an unqualified audit report, in respect of the Fund, and/or (iii) the Calculation Agent, in its sole and absolute 

discretion, does not deem the audited net asset value of the Fund and/or the NAV per Fund Interest Unit to be 

representative of the actual net asset value of the Fund and/or the NAV per Fund Interest Unit; 

y) any failure of the Fund, or its authorised representative, to deliver or publish, or cause to be delivered or published, (i) 

information that the Fund has agreed to deliver or publish, or agreed to cause to be delivered or published, to the 

Calculation Agent or Hedge Provider, or (ii) information that has been previously delivered to the Hedge Provider or the 

Calculation Agent, as applicable, in accordance with the Fundôs, or its authorised representativeôs, normal practice and 

that the Hedge Provider deems necessary for it or the Calculation Agent, as applicable, to monitor such Fundôs compliance 

with any investment guidelines, asset allocation methodologies or any other similar policies relating to the Fund Interest 

Unit; 

z) any Fund Service Provider fails to provide the Calculation Agent, within a reasonable time, with any information that the 

Calculation Agent has reasonably requested regarding the investment portfolio or other activities or undertakings of the 

Fund; 

aa) there is a change in or in the official interpretation or administration of any laws or regulations relating to taxation that has 

or is likely to have a material adverse effect on any hedging arrangements entered into by any Hedge Provider in respect 

of the Notes (a "Tax Event") and, subject as provided below, the Hedge Provider has, for a period of one calendar month 

following the day the relevant Tax Event became known to it, used reasonable efforts to mitigate the material adverse 

effect of the Tax Event by seeking to transfer such hedging arrangements to an affiliated company, provided that the 

Hedge Provider shall not under any circumstances be obliged to take any steps which would result in sustaining a loss or 

expense of any kind and the period set out above for such mitigation shall be deemed satisfied on any date it is or becomes 

apparent at any time that there is no practicable means of mitigating the Tax Event; 

bb)  (i) any relevant activities of or in relation to the Fund or a Fund Service Provider are or become unlawful, illegal or 

otherwise prohibited in whole or in part as a result of compliance with any present or future law, regulation, judgment, 

order or directive of any governmental, administrative, legislative or judicial authority or power, or in the interpretation 

thereof, in any applicable jurisdiction (including, but not limited to, any cancellation, suspension or revocation of the 

registration or approval of the Fund by any governmental, legal or regulatory entity with authority over the Fund), (ii) a 
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relevant authorisation or licence is revoked, lapses or is under review by a competent authority in respect of the Fund or a 

Fund Service Provider or new conditions are imposed, or existing conditions varied, with respect to any such authorisation 

or licence, (iii) the Fund is required by a competent authority to redeem any Fund Interest Units, (iv) the Hedge Provider is 

required by a competent authority or any other relevant entity to dispose of or compulsorily redeem any Fund Interest 

Units held in connection with any hedging arrangements relating to the Notes and/or (v) any change in the legal, tax, 

accounting or regulatory treatment of the Fund or any Fund Service Provider that is reasonably likely to have an adverse 

impact on the value of the Fund Interest Units or other activities or undertakings of the Fund or on the rights or remedies 

of any investor in such Fund Interest Units, including any Hedge Provider; 

cc) in connection with any hedging activities in relation to the Notes, as a result of any adoption of, or any change in, any law, 

order, regulation, decree or notice, howsoever described, after the Trade Date, or issuance of any directive or 

promulgation of, or any change in the interpretation, whether formal or informal, by any court, tribunal, regulatory 

authority or similar administrative or judicial body of any law, order, regulation, decree or notice, howsoever described, 

after such date or as a result of any other relevant event (each a "Relevant Event") (i) it would become unlawful or 

impractical for the Hedge Provider to hold (including, without limitation, circumstances requiring the Hedge Provider to 

modify any reserve, special deposit, or similar requirement or that would adversely affect the amount of regulatory capital 

that would have to be maintained in respect of any holding of Fund Interest Units or that would subject a holder of the 

Fund Interest Units or the Hedge Provider to any loss), purchase or sell the relevant Fund Interest Units or any underlying 

assets of or related to the Fund or for the Hedge Provider to maintain such hedging arrangements and, subject as provided 

below, the Hedge Provider has, for a period of one calendar week following the day the Relevant Event became known to 

it, used reasonable efforts to mitigate the effect of the Relevant Event by seeking to transfer such hedging arrangements to 

an affiliated company, provided that the Hedge Provider shall not under any circumstances be obliged to take any steps 

which would result in sustaining a loss or expense of any kind and the period of one calendar week set out above shall be 

deemed satisfied on any date it is or becomes at any time apparent that there is no practicable means of mitigating the 

Relevant Event; 

dd) in connection with the hedging activities in relation to the Notes, if the cost to the Hedge Provider in relation to the Notes 

and the related hedging arrangements (including, but not limited to, new or increased taxes, duties, expenses or fees) 

would be materially increased or the Hedge Provider would be subject to a material loss relating to the Notes and the 

related hedging arrangements; 

ee) in connection with the hedging activities in relation to the Notes, the Hedge Provider is unable or it becomes impractical 

for the Hedge Provider, to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction or 

asset it deems necessary to hedge the Issuerôs obligations under the Notes or (ii) to realise, recover or remit the proceeds 

of any such transaction or asset, including, without limitation, where such inability or impracticability has arisen by reason 

of (A) any restrictions or increase in charges or fees imposed by the Fund on any investorôs ability to redeem a Fund 

Interest Unit, in whole or in part, or any existing or new investorôs ability to make new or additional investments in such 

Fund Interest Unit, or (B) any mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, of such Fund Interest Unit; 

ff ) at any time on or after the Trade Date, the Issuer and/or any of its Affiliates would incur an increased (as compared with  

circumstances existing on the Trade Date) amount of tax, duty, capital and/or funding costs, expense or fee (other than 

brokerage commissions) to maintain the Notes; 

gg)  (i) the non-execution or partial-execution by the Fund for any reason of a subscription or redemption order in respect of 

any Fund Interest Units (including, for the avoidance of any doubt, any non-execution by the Fund pending completion of 

its fiscal audit) (ii) the Fund suspends or refuses transfers of any of its Fund Interest Units (including, without limitation, if 

the Fund applies any gating, deferral, suspension or other similar provisions permitting the Fund to delay or refuse 

redemption or transfer of Fund Interest Units), (iii) the Fund imposes in whole or in part any restriction (including, 

without limitation, any redemption in specie), charge or fee in respect of a redemption or subscription of its Fund Interest 

Units by the Hedge Provider or exercises its right to claw back the proceeds already paid on redeemed Fund Interest Units, 

if i n any case it could in the sole and absolute determination of the Calculation Agent have an adverse impact on the 

Hedge Providerôs rights or obligations in relation to its hedging activities in relation to the Notes, or (iv) a mandatory 

redemption, in whole or in part, of the Fund Interest Units is imposed by the Fund on any one or more holders of Fund 

Interest Units at any time for any reason; 

hh) the occurrence of any Additional Fund Event; 
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ii ) the Fund or any Fund Service Provider defaults under, materially modifies, or terminates any rebate agreements in place 

with the Issuer, the Hedge Provider or any of its Affiliates; 

jj ) if the Fund is part of an umbrella structure with more than one sub-fund, a crosscontamination or other failure to segregate 

the portfolio of assets held by the Fund occurs between different series, classes and/or sub-funds; 

kk) any security granted by the Fund or any Fund Service Provider over any of its assets is enforced or becomes capable of 

being enforced or any arrangement which in the determination of the Calculation Agent is comparable to security over any 

such assets (including without limitation any repo or prime brokerage arrangement) becomes enforceable or capable of 

early termination or any derivatives, repo, securities lending or other trading or dealing arrangement relating to the assets 

of the Fund becomes enforceable or terminable early by reason of any event of default (howsoever described) relating to 

the Fund or the relevant Fund Service Provider; 

ll ) the long-term unsecured, unsubordinated and unguaranteed debt rating assigned to any Fund Service Provider or any 

parent company (howsoever described) of the Fund, by Moodyôs Investors Service Inc., or any successor to the ratings 

business thereof (ñMoodyôsò), and/or Standard and Poorôs Rating Group (a division ofMcGraw-Hill, Inc.), or any 

successor to the ratings business thereof (ñS&Pò), is downgraded below A (S&P) or A2 (Moodyôs) and/or the short-term 

unsecured, unsubordinated and unguaranteed debt rating assigned to any Fund Service Provider by Moodyôs or S&P is 

downgraded below A-1 (S&P) or P-1 (Moodyôs). 

References solely for the purpose of the definition of "Fund Event" to: (i) "Fund" shall include the Fund and any funds in 

which it invests any of its investible assets from time to time; and (ii) "Fund Interest Units" shall include the Fund Interest Units 

and the shares or units in any Fund (as defined in paragraph (i) above). 

 ñFund Interestò means an interest issued to or held by an investor in a fund, pooled investment vehicle or any other interest 

identified as such in the applicable Final Terms, as specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñFund Interest Performanceò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, a rate 

determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñFund Interest Unitò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and the related Fund, a share in such Fund or, if Fund Interests 

in such Fund are not denominated as shares, a notional unit of account of ownership in such Fund in the amount specified in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

 ñFund Prospectusò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and the related Fund, the prospectus or other offering document 

issued by such Fund in connection with such Fund Interest, as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

 ñFund Reporting Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and Fund Valuation Date, the date on which the Reported 

Fund Interest Unit Value of such Fund Interest as determined as of such Fund Valuation Date is reported or published. 

 ñFund Service Providerò means, in respect of any Fund, any person who is appointed to provide services, directly or 

indirectly, to that Fund, whether or not specified in the Fund Documents, including without limitation any Fund Adviser, 

Fund Administrator, Fund Custodian and Additional Fund Service Provider. 

 ñFund Subscription Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest, the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, 

if no such date is specified, the day as of which a request by a Hypothetical Investor for subscription to such Fund Interest that has 

been submitted on the related Subscription Notice Date and in a form and substance acceptable to the related Fund would be 

considered effective by such Fund. 

 ñFund Valuation Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest, the date as of which the related Fund (or its Fund Service 

Provider that generally determines such value) determines the value of such Fund Interest or, if the related Fund only reports its 

aggregate net asset value, the date as of which such Fund determines its aggregate net asset value. 

 ñHedge Fundò means any Fund specified as a hedge fund in the applicable Final Terms or, if not so specified, any Fund 

which the Calculation Agent determines to be a hedge fund or a fund of hedge funds. 
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 ñHedging Partyò means the Issuer or any affiliate. 

"Hedge Provider" means the party (being, inter alios, the Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Calculation Agent, an 

affiliate or any third party) from time to time who hedges the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Notes or where no such party 

actually hedges such obligations, a Hypothetical Investor, who shall be deemed to enter into transactions as if hedging such 

obligations. The Hedge Provider will hold or be deemed to hold such number of Fund Interest Units, or enter or be deemed to enter 

into any agreement to purchase or deliver, or pay an amount linked to the performance of, such number of Fund Interest Units as it 

(or in the case of a Hypothetical Investor, the Calculation Agent) considers would be held by a prudent issuer as a hedge for its 

exposure under the relevant Notes. 

 ñHighest Fund Interest Performanceò means, in respect of any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, the numerically highest 

Fund Interest Performance as determined by the Calculation Agent among the Fund Interest Performances determined in respect of 

such Valuation Date or Averaging Date. 

 ñHighest Performing Fund Interestò means, in respect of any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, the Fund Interest with the 

Highest Fund Interest Performance as at such Valuation Date or Averaging Date. 

 ñHypothetical Investorò means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, in respect of any Fund Interest, a 

hypothetical investor in such Fund Interest located in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction and deemed to have (a) the benefits 

and obligations, as provided under the Fund Documents, of an investor holding, as of the related Fund Subscription Date, an 

interest in the relevant Fund in an amount equal to the relevant number of relevant Fund Interest Units or amount of the 

Fund Interest; (b) in the case of any deemed redemption of such Fund Interest, to have submitted to the relevant Fund on the 

relevant Redemption Notice Date, a duly completed notice requesting redemption of the relevant number of Fund Interest Units; 

and (c) in the case of any deemed investment in such Fund Interest, to have submitted, on the Subscription Notice Date, a duly 

completed notice to the relevant Fund, requesting subscription to the relevant number of Fund Interest Units. 

 ñHypothetical Investor Jurisdictionò means the jurisdiction specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no 

jurisdiction is so specified, the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. 

 ñInitial Fund Interest Unit Priceò means, in respect of any Fund Interest, the price per Fund Interest Unit specified in the 

applicable Final Terms or, if no such price is so specified, the Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price of such Fund Interest Unit as at the 

Strike Date determined by the Calculation Agent as if the Strike Date was a Valuation Date. 

 ñKey Personnelò means, in respect of any Hedge Fund, the person or persons (if any) so specified, together with their 

positions, in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñLowest Fund Interest Performanceò means, in respect of any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, the numerically lowest 

Fund Interest Performance as determined by the Calculation Agent among the Fund Interest Performances determined in respect of 

such Valuation Date or Averaging Date. 

 ñLowest Performing Fund Interestò means, in respect of any Valuation Date or Averaging date, the Fund Interest with the 

Lowest Fund Interest Performance as at such Valuation Date or Averaging Date. 

 ñMarket Disruption Eventò means any of the following events as determined by the Calculation Agent: 

 (a) in respect of any Fund Interest, the failure of a Scheduled Fund Valuation Date to be a Fund Valuation Date or any 

continued postponement of such Fund Valuation Date; or 

 (b) in respect of any Fund Interest, there is a failure by the Fund to pay the full amount (whether expressed as a percentage or 

otherwise) of the Redemption Proceeds with respect to the relevant number of Fund Interest Units or amount of such 

Fund Interest scheduled to have been paid on or by such day according to the Fund Documents (without giving effect to 

any gating, deferral, suspension or other provisions permitting the Reference Fund to delay or refuse redemption of 

Fund Interests); 
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 (c) the inability (including by reason of illegality) of, or the impracticability for, a Hedging Party to (i) unwind or dispose of 

any transaction it has entered into, or any asset it holds, in either case for the purpose of hedging its exposure to price 

variations of the Basket inherent in its obligations, in the case of the Issuer, under the Notes or, in the case of an affiliate, 

under any transaction pursuant to which it hedges the Issuerôs exposure to the Basket under the Notes, or (ii) realize, 

recover or remit to any person the proceeds of any such transaction or asset, 

provided that if any event would otherwise be both a Market Disruption Event and a Fund Event, such event shall be treated 

solely as a Fund Event. 

 ñMaximum Allocation to Single Hedge Fund Percentageò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and the related Fund, the 

percentage (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMaximum Borrowing Allocation Percentageò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and the related Fund, the percentage 

(if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMaximum Quarterly Plus Liquidity Allocation Percentageò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and the related Fund, 

the percentage (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMinimum Monthly Liquidity Allocation Percentageò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and the related Fund, the 

percentage (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMinimum Number of Underlying Hedge Fundsò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and the related Fund, the number 

(if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñMinimum Volatility Percentageò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and the related Fund, the percentage (if any) 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñNAV Trigger Percentageò means the percentage (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñNAV Trigger Periodò means the period (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñNet Present Valueò means, in respect of an amount payable on a future date, the discounted value of such amount as 

calculated by the Calculation Agent in its discretion taking into account the relevant interbank offered rate at the time of such 

calculation for one month deposits in the relevant currency or such other reference rate as the Calculation Agent determines to be 

appropriate. 

 ñNumber of Fund Interest Unitsò means at any time, in respect of the Fund Interest Units of each Fund comprised in the 

Basket at such time, the number of such Fund Interest Units per Basket specified or otherwise determined as provided in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

 ñPotential Adjustment Eventò means, in respect of any Fund Interest, any of the following events in the determination of the 
Calculation Agent: 

 (a) a subdivision, consolidation or reclassification of the relevant amount of Fund Interest, or a free distribution or dividend of 
any such Fund Interest to existing holders by way of bonus, capitalization or similar issue; 

 (b) a distribution, issue or dividend to existing holders of the relevant Fund Interest of (A) an additional amount of such 
Fund Interest, or (B) other share capital or securities granting the right to payment of dividends and/or the proceeds of 
liquidation of the Fund equally or proportionately with such payments to holders of such Fund Interest, or (C) share capital 
or other securities of another issuer acquired or owned (directly or indirectly) by the Fund as a result of a spin-off or other 
similar transaction, or (D) any other type of securities, rights or warrants or other assets, in any case for payment (cash or 
other consideration) at less than the prevailing market price as determined by the Calculation Agent; 

 (c) an Extraordinary Dividend;  
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 (d) a repurchase by the Fund of relevant Fund Interests whether the consideration for such repurchase is cash, securities or 
otherwise, other than in respect of a redemption of Fund Interests initiated by an investor in such Fund Interests; or 

 (e) any other event that may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Fund Interests. 

 ñProtected Amountò means the amount (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñRedemption Amountò means, in respect of any Note, an amount determined by the Calculation Agent in the Specified 
Currency specified in the applicable Final Terms, to be the fair market value of a Note based on the market conditions prevailing at 
the date of determination reduced to account fully for any reasonable expenses and costs of unwinding any underlying and/or 
related hedging and funding arrangements (including, without limitation, any Fund Interests, options, swaps or other instruments of 
any type whatsoever hedging the Issuerôs obligations under the Notes) and, if a Fund Event has occurred and a Protected Amount 
is specified in the applicable Final Terms then the Redemption Amount shall be no less than the Net Present Value of a payment of 
the Protected Amount payable on the Maturity Date. 

 ñRedemption Notice Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, the date 
specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no date is so specified, the last date on which a Hypothetical Investor in such 
Fund Interest would be permitted, pursuant to the Fund Documents of the related Fund, to submit a redemption notice that would 
be timely for a redemption as of the Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date for which the Scheduled Redemption Payment Date 
falls on or immediately prior to such Valuation Date or Averaging Date. 

 ñRedemption Proceedsò means, in respect of the relevant number of Fund Interest Units or amount of any Fund Interest, the 
redemption proceeds that in the determination of the Calculation Agent would be paid by the related Fund to a Hypothetical 
Investor who, as of the relevant Redemption Valuation Date, redeems such number of Fund Interest Units or amount of 
Fund Interest (for the avoidance of doubt after deduction of any tax, levy, charge, assessment or fee of any nature that, in the 
determination of the Calculation Agent, would (or would be very likely to) be withheld or deducted from such amount); provided 
that (a) any such proceeds that would be paid in property other than cash shall be deemed to have a value of zero and (b) if the 
Hypothetical Investor would be entitled to elect payment of such redemption proceeds to be made either in the form of cash or 
other property, then the Hypothetical Investor shall be deemed to have elected cash payment, except as otherwise specified in the 
applicable Final Terms. 

 ñRedemption Valuation Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and any Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date, the 
date as of which the related Fund (or its Fund Service Provider that generally determines such value) determines the net asset value 
of such Fund Interest for purposes of calculating the redemption proceeds to be paid to a Hypothetical Investor that has submitted a 
valid notice for redemption on or before the related Redemption Notice Date. 

 ñReference Priceò means the price per Basket determined as provided in the applicable Final Terms as of the Final Valuation 
Time on the Final Valuation Date or, if no means of determining such price are so provided, the sum of the values calculated as of 
the Final Valuation Time on the Final Valuation Date for each Fund Interest Unit comprising the Basket as the product of the 
Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price of such Fund Interest Unit and the relevant Number of Fund Interest Units comprised in the 
Basket. When calculating the Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price of any Fund Interest Unit for the purposes of determining the 
Reference Price, the Valuation Time and the Valuation Date will be the Final Valuation Time and the Final Valuation Date, 
respectively. 

 ñRelevant Fund Interest Unit Priceò means, in respect of a Fund Interest and any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, the 

price per related Fund Interest Unit determined by the Calculation Agent as provided in the applicable Final Terms as of the 

Valuation Time on the Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the case may be, or, if no means for determining the Relevant 

Fund Interest Unit Price are so provided, an amount equal to the Redemption Proceeds relating to such Fund Interest Unit that in 

the determination of the Calculation Agent would be received by a Hypothetical Investor in such Fund Interest in respect of a 

redemption of Fund Interest Units targeted to be effected as of the Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date relating to such 

Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the case may be. 

 ñRemoval Valueò means, in respect of any Affected Fund Interest, the value calculated by the Calculation Agent in the same 

manner as would be used in determining the Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price of Fund Interest Units in the related Fund, but 

assuming a valid notice requesting redemption of Fund Interest Units in such Fund has been submitted to such Fund on the 

Fund Business Day next following delivery of the relevant Basket Fund Event Notice. 
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 ñReported Fund Interest Unit Valueò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and a Fund Reporting Date relating to such 

Fund Interest, the value per Fund Interest Unit as of the related Fund Valuation Date or, if the related Fund reports only its 

aggregate net asset value, the portion of such Fundôs aggregate net asset value relating to one Fund Interest Unit, in each case as 

reported on such Fund Reporting Date by the Fund Service Provider that generally reports such value on behalf of the Fund to its 

investors or a publishing service. 

 ñScheduled Fund Valuation Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest, the date as of which the related Fund (or its 

Fund Service Provider that generally determines such value) is scheduled, according to its Fund Documents (without giving effect 

to any gating, deferral, suspension or other provisions permitting the Reference Fund to delay or refuse redemption of 

Fund Interests), to determine the value of such Fund Interest or, if the related Fund only reports its aggregate net asset value, the 

date as of which such Fund determines its aggregate net asset value. 

 ñScheduled Redemption Payment Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and any Scheduled Redemption Valuation 

Date, the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if not so specified, the date by which the related Fund is 

scheduled to have paid, according to its Fund Documents, all or a specified portion of the Redemption Proceeds to an investor that 

has submitted a timely and valid notice requesting redemption of such Fund Interest as of such Scheduled Redemption Valuation 

Date. 

 ñScheduled Redemption Valuation Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest, the date as of which the related Fund (or 

its Fund Service Provider that generally determines such value) is scheduled, according to its Fund Documents (without giving 

effect to any gating, deferral, suspension or other provisions permitting the Fund to delay or refuse redemption of Fund Interests), 

to determine the net asset value of such Fund Interest for the purposes of calculating the redemption proceeds to be paid to an 

investor that has submitted a valid and timely notice for redemption of Fund Interests based on the value determined as of such 

date. The Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date relating to any Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the case may be, shall be 

the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such date is specified, the Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date 

for which the Scheduled Redemption Payment Date falls on or immediately prior to such Valuation Date or Averaging Date, as the 

case may be. 

 ñScheduled Valuation Dateò means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, 

would have been a Valuation Date. 

 ñSettlement Cycleò means the period specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no period is so specified, two 

Currency Business Days. 

 ñStrike Dateò means the date (if any) specified as such in the Final Terms, or if such date is not a Currency Business Day, the 

next following Currency Business Day, subject to the provisions of Condition 5(m) (Consequences of Disrupted Days for Strike 

Dates) as set out below. 

 ñStrike Priceò means the price (if any) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñSubscription Notice Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest and any Fund Subscription Date, the date specified as 

such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no date is so specified, the last date on which a notice to subscribe to such Fund Interest 

may be submitted pursuant to the Fund Documents of the related Fund and be considered effective as of such Fund Subscription 

Date. If the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Subscription Notice Date or a Fund Subscription Date, the Subscription Notice 

Date shall be deemed to be the Issue Date. 

 ñTrade Dateò means the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñValuation Dateò means each date specified as such or otherwise determined or provided for in the applicable Final Terms 

or, if such date is not a Currency Business Day, the next following Currency Business Day, subject to the provisions of Condition 

5(l) (Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates) as set out below. 

 ñValuation Timeò means the time on the Valuation Date or Averaging Date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms 

or, if no time is so specified, the close of business in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction on the relevant Valuation Date or 

Averaging Date. 
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 ñWeightingò has the meaning specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

3.  Postponement of settlement 

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, if the Calculation Agent determines on the date which is not later 

than 3 Currency Business Days prior to any date on which the Final Redemption Amount, any Redemption Amount or any other 

redemption amounts would otherwise be due to be paid (each a ñScheduled Settlement Dateò) that a Settlement Postponement 

Event has occurred, then ñCalculation Agent Adjustmentò (as defined in paragraph 5.5 below) shall apply as if a Basket 

Fund Event had occurred in respect of which the Calculation Agent had delivered a Basket Fund Event Notice to the Issuer on such 

date and the adjustments made by the Calculation Agent shall include the postponement of the obligation of the Issuer to pay the 

Final Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount or any other redemption amounts, as applicable, until the Postponed 

Settlement Date and no interest or other amount shall be payable to Noteholders in respect of this postponement. 

If the Postponed Settlement Date is the Postponed Settlement Long Stop Date, for the purposes of determining the Final 

Redemption Amount, the Redemption Amount or any other redemption amounts, as applicable, whether determined by reference 

to the Reference Price or otherwise, each Long Stop Date Fund Interest Unit (if any) comprising the Basket will be deemed to have 

a value equal to the redemption proceeds (if any) that a Hypothetical Investor which had submitted a Final Redemption Notice in 

respect of such Long Stop Date Fund Interest Unit would have received in respect of such redemption on or before the Postponed 

Settlement Long Stop Date. 

For the purposes hereof:  

 (a) a ñSettlement Postponement Eventò shall be deemed to occur if, as determined by the Calculation Agent, a Hypothetical 

Investor which had submitted a Final Redemption Notice in respect of each Fund Interest Unit comprised in the Basket 

would not have received in full the redemption proceeds in respect of such redemptions on or before the date which is 4 

Currency Business Days prior to the Scheduled Settlement Date; 

 (b) the ñPostponed Settlement Dateò means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, whichever is the 

earlier of (x) the date which is 3 Currency Business Days after the date on which, as determined by the Calculation Agent, 

such Hypothetical Investor would have received such redemption proceeds in full and (y) the Postponed Settlement Long 

Stop Date; 

 (c) the ñPostponed Settlement Long Stop Dateò means, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the date 

which is 3 months after the Scheduled Settlement Date; 

 (d) ñLong Stop Date Fund Interest Unitò means any Fund Interest Unit in respect of which, if a Hypothetical Investor had 

submitted a Final Redemption Notice in respect of such Fund Interest Unit, such Hypothetical Investor would not have 

received in full the redemption proceeds in respect of such redemption on or before the Postponed Settlement Long Stop 

Date; 

 (e) a ñFinal Redemption Noticeò means, in respect of a Fund Interest Unit, a valid redemption notice submitted on the last 

date permitted pursuant to the Fund Documents of the related Fund for a redemption notice that would be timely for 

redemption prior to the Scheduled Settlement Date (more specifically, as of the Scheduled Redemption Valuation Date for 

which the Scheduled Redemption Payment Date is the last Scheduled Redemption Payment Date prior to the Scheduled 

Settlement Date). 

4.  Disrupted Days 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5 (l) as follows: 

l. Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates 

 (a) The Calculation Agent shall as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances notify the Issuer of the occurrence 

of a Disrupted Day on any day that, but for the occurrence or continuance of a Disrupted Day, would have been a 

Valuation Date. 
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 (b) If any Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day, then the Valuation Date for each Fund Interest not affected by the occurrence of 

a Disrupted Day shall be the Scheduled Valuation Date, and the Valuation Date for each Fund Interest affected by the 

occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding day that is not a Disrupted Day relating to that Fund Interest, 

unless no day that is not a Disrupted Day has occurred prior to the last day of one Cut-off Period following the Scheduled 

Valuation Date. In that case, (i) the last day of such Cut-off Period shall be deemed to be the Valuation Date, 

notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and (ii) the Calculation Agent shall determine its good faith 

estimate of the value for that Fund Interest as of the Valuation Time on that deemed Valuation Date. 

 (c) In addition, the Calculation Agent will account for such occurrence or continuance of a Disrupted Day as it sees fit which 

may include but is not limited to delaying calculation and payment of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any 

Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, and no interest or other amount shall be payable to 

Noteholders in respect of any such delay, or making the appropriate adjustment to the calculation of the Final 

Redemption Amount and/or any Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, all in the 

determination of the Calculation Agent. 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5 (m) as follows: 

m. Consequences of Disrupted Days for Strike Dates 

If any Strike Date is a Disrupted Day, then the provisions set out in Condition 5(l) (Consequences of Disrupted Days for 

Valuation Dates) above shall apply as if such Strike Date was a Valuation Date. 

For the purposes of the Notes, Condition 5 shall be amended by the addition of a new Condition 5 (n) as follows: 

n.  Consequences of Disrupted Days for Averaging Dates 

If Averaging Dates are specified in the applicable Final Terms with respect to a Valuation Date then, notwithstanding any 

other provisions of these Conditions or Part 4B of the Base Prospectus, the following provisions will apply. 

 (i) If any Averaging Date is a Disrupted Day, the Averaging Date for each Fund Interest not affected by the occurrence of a 

Disrupted Day shall be the date specified in the applicable Final Terms as that Averaging Date and the Averaging Date for 

any Fund Interest affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Valid Date in relation to such 

Fund Interest. If the first succeeding Valid Date has not occurred prior to one Cut-off Period following the original date 

that, but for the occurrence of another Averaging Date or Disrupted Day, would have been the final Averaging Date in 

respect of the relevant Scheduled Valuation Date, then (1) the last day of such Cut-off Period shall be deemed the 

Averaging Date (irrespective of whether such day is already an Averaging Date), and (2) the Calculation Agent shall 

determine its good faith estimate of the value for that Fund Interest as of the Valuation Time on that deemed Averaging 

Date. 

 (ii)  ñValid Dateò means a Currency Business Day that is not a Disrupted Day and on which another Averaging Date in 

respect of the relevant Valuation Date does not or is not deemed to occur. 

 (iii)  In addition, the Calculation Agent will account for such occurrence or continuance of a Disrupted Day as it sees fit which 

may include but is not limited to delaying calculation and payment of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any Early 

Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, and no interest or other amount shall be payable to 

Noteholders in respect of any such delay, or making the appropriate adjustment to the calculation of the Final 

Redemption Amount and/or any Early Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, all in the 

determination of the Calculation Agent. 

5.  Basket Fund Events 

5.1 If at any time the Calculation Agent determines that a Basket Fund Event has occurred and/or is continuing then the 

Calculation Agent shall provide written notice thereof to the Issuer (a ñBasket Fund Event Noticeò) and, unless otherwise 

specified in the applicable Final Terms, ñFund Interest Replacementò (as described in paragraph 5.4 below) shall apply as the 

consequence of that Basket Fund Event unless the Calculation Agent determines that the application of ñFund Interest 
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Replacementò is not appropriate or commercially reasonable, in which event ñCalculation Agent Adjustmentò (as described in 

paragraph 5.5 below) shall apply as the consequence of that Basket Fund Event. 

5.2 The Calculation Agent shall not have any obligation to monitor the occurrence of a Basket Fund Event nor shall it have any 

obligation to make a determination that a Basket Fund Event has occurred or is continuing. 

5.3 Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, upon triggering any consequence for a Basket Fund Event, the 

mechanics for determining and calculating the valuation of any Affected Fund Interest and any payments under the Notes shall 

be suspended until completion of, and may be superseded by, such consequence. 

5.4 For the purpose of determining the consequence of a Basket Fund Event: 

 (a) ñCalculation Agent Adjustmentò means that the Calculation Agent shall (i) make such adjustment to account for such 

Basket Fund Event as it considers appropriate which may include, without limitation, delaying the calculation and payment 

of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the Notes, and no 

interest or other amount shall be payable to Noteholders in respect of any such delay, or making an adjustment to the 

calculation of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts due under the 

Notes, all in the determination of the Calculation Agent or (ii) if the Calculation Agent determines that no adjustment that 

it could make under (i) would produce a commercially reasonable result, ñOptional Redemptionò will be deemed to apply. 

 (b) ñFund Interest Replacementò means that the Calculation Agent will substitute any Affected Fund Interest with the 

Successor Fund Interest relating to such Affected Fund Interest, provided that if no Successor Fund has been identified in 

the manner set forth below within 10 Currency Business Days of the Basket Fund Event Notice, then ñCalculation Agent 

Adjustmentò will be deemed to apply. For the purposes hereof: 

 (i) ñSuccessor Fund Interestò means, in respect of any Affected Fund Interest, the related Eligible Fund Interest or, if 

the applicable Final Terms do not specify any Eligible Fund Interest relating to such Affected Fund Interest, then the 

Calculation Agent will use commercially reasonable efforts to identify a Successor Fund Interest based on the 

eligibility criteria specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if the applicable Final Terms do not specify any such 

eligibility criteria, with characteristics, investment objectives and policies similar to those in effect for the Affected 

Fund Interest immediately prior to the occurrence of the relevant Basket Fund Event; and 

 (ii)  any substitution of the Successor Fund Interest for the Affected Fund Interest shall be effected at such time and in 

such manner as specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if the time and manner for substitution of the Successor 

Fund Interest is not specified in the applicable Final Terms, then the Affected Fund Interest shall be replaced by a 

number of Fund Interest Units of the Successor Fund Interest with a combined value (as determined by the Calculation 

Agent) equal to the relevant Removal Value of the applicable number of Fund Interest Units of the Affected 

Fund Interest. Such replacement shall be effected, from time to time whenever the Removal Value changes, on the 

date, as determined by the Calculation Agent, on which the Fund issuing the Successor Fund Interest would admit a 

Hypothetical Investor who, on the Fund Business Day next following the date on which any Removal Value not 

previously applied toward any Successor Fund Interest would be received by such Hypothetical Investor redeeming 

out of the relevant amount of Affected Fund Interest, had submitted a valid order to purchase such amount of the 

Successor Fund Interest; and 

 (iii)  if necessary, the Calculation Agent will adjust any relevant terms, including, but not limited to adjustments to 

account for changes in volatility, investment strategy or liquidity relevant to the Fund Interests or the Notes. 

 (c) ñOptional Redemptionò means that the Issuer shall redeem each Note at its Redemption Amount on such date as the 

Issuer may notify to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. 

5.5 Notice of the consequences of a Basket Fund Event shall be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. Such 

notice shall (i) identify the Affected Fund Interest (if applicable) and the relevant Basket Fund Event and contain a summary of 

the facts constituting such event, (ii) if applicable, identify the Successor Fund Interest and specify the effective date of such 

substitution, (iii) if applicable, specify adjustments made or expected to be made by the Calculation Agent and (iv) if 

applicable, specify the date on which the Notes are to be redeemed. 
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6.  Potential Adjustment Events 

Following the declaration by any Fund of the terms of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will determine 
whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant 
Fund Interest Units or amount of Fund Interest and, if so, will (i) make the corresponding adjustment(s), if any, to any one or more 
of the Final Redemption Amount and/or any Redemption Amount and/or any other amounts payable under the Notes, the 
Reference Price, any Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price and, in any case, any other variable relevant to the calculation, valuation, 
payment or other terms of Notes as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate to account for that diluting or concentrative 
effect (provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility, expected dividends or liquidity 
relative to the relevant Fund Interest) and (ii) determine the effective date(s) of the adjustment(s). 

7.  Corrections and Adjustments 

With the exception of any Adjustments (as defined below) made after the day which is three Currency Business Days prior to a 
due date for any payment under the Notes calculated by reference to the price or level of any Fund Interest Unit, if the Calculation 
Agent determines that a Fund adjusts the Redemption Proceeds that would have been paid to a Hypothetical Investor redeeming 
the number of Fund Interest Units that are subject to valuation and such adjustment would be reflected in either an additional 
payment to such Hypothetical Investor or a claim for repayment of excess Redemption Proceeds made against such Hypothetical 
Investor (each an ñAdjustmentò), then the price or level to be used shall be the price or level of the relevant Fund Interest Units as 
so adjusted. 

8.  Exchange Traded Funds 

If a Fund is specified in the applicable Final Terms to be an ETF, Part 3A or Part 3B, as applicable, shall be deemed as far as 
practicable to apply to the Notes, subject as provided in the applicable Final Terms. 

9.  Knock-in Event and Knock-out Event 

9.1 Knock-in Event 

 (a) If ñKnock-in Eventò is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms with respect to any payment under the Notes 
then, unless otherwise specified in such Final Terms, such payment shall be conditional upon the Knock-in Event having 
occurred. 

 (b) ñKnock-in Eventò means (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) that the amount for the Basket 
determined by the Calculation Agent as the sum of the values for each Fund Interest Unit comprising the Basket as the 
product of the Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price of such Fund Interest Unit and the relevant Number of Fund Interest Units 
comprised in the Basket in each case as of the Knock-in Valuation Time on any Knock-in Determination Day is, as 
specified in the applicable Final Terms, (i) ñgreater thanò, (ii) ñgreater than or equal toò, (iii) ñless thanò or (iv) ñless than 
or equal toò the Knock-in Price. 

 (c) ñKnock-in Priceò means the level, price or amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 (d) ñKnock-in Reference Assetò means the basket or interest issued to or held by an investor in a fund, pooled investment 
vehicle or any other interest identified as such in the applicable Final Terms specified as such in the applicable Final 
Terms. In the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-in Reference Asset, the Knock-in Reference 
Asset will be deemed to be the Basket. 

 (e) ñKnock-in Determination Dayò means each day specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such days are 
specified, each Fund Business Day from and including the Issue Date to and including the final Valuation Date or, if there 
is no such Valuation Date, the date that is one Settlement Cycle prior to the Maturity Date, in each case unless such day is 
a Disrupted Day due to the occurrence of an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day prior to the Knock-in Valuation Time on 
such day. If any such day is a Disrupted Day due to the occurrence of such an event, then the Knock-in Determination Day 
shall be the first succeeding day that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each day of the Cut-off Period that starts on the 
original date that, but for the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, would have been the Knock-in Determination Day is a 
Disrupted Day. In that case, the last day of such Cut-off Period shall be deemed to be the Knock-in Determination Day, 
notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level, price or 
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amount of the Knock-in Reference Asset in the same manner that it would determine a level, price or amount of a 
Fund Interest or basket on a deemed Valuation Date that is also a Disrupted Day in accordance with the provisions of 
paragraph 4.1 (Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates) above, as the case may be. 

 (f) ñKnock-in Valuation Timeò means the time on any Knock-in Determination Day specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms. In the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-in Valuation Time, the Knock-in 

Valuation Time shall be the Valuation Time specified in the applicable Final Terms, or if no Valuation Time is specified, 

the close of business in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction. 

9.2 Knock-out Event 

 (a) If ñKnock-out Eventò is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms with respect to any payment under the Notes 

then, unless otherwise specified in such Final Terms, such payment shall be conditional upon the Knock-out Event not 

having occurred. 

 (b) ñKnock-out Eventò means (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) that the amount for the Basket 

determined by the Calculation Agent as the sum of the values for each Fund Interest Unit comprising the Basket as the 

product of the Relevant Fund Interest Unit Price of such Fund Interest Unit and the relevant Number of Fund Interest Units 

comprised in the Basket in each case as of the Knock-out Valuation Time on any Knock-out Determination Day is, as 

specified in the applicable Final Terms, (i) ñgreater thanò, (ii)  ñgreater than or equal toò, (iii) ñless thanò or (iv) ñless than 

or equal toò the Knock-out Price. 

 (c) ñKnock-out Priceò means the level, price or amount specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. 

 (d) ñKnock-out Reference Assetò means the basket or interest issued to or held by an investor in a fund, pooled investment 

vehicle or any other interest identified as such in the applicable Final Terms specified as such in the applicable Final 

Terms. In the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-out Reference Asset, the Knock-out Reference 

Asset will be deemed to be the Basket. 

 (e) ñKnock-out Determination Dayò means each day specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such days are 

specified, each Fund Business Day from and including the Issue Date to and including the final Valuation Date or, if there 

is no such Valuation Date, the date that is one Settlement Cycle prior to the Maturity Date, in each case unless such day is 

a Disrupted Day due to the occurrence of an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day prior to the Knock-out Valuation Time 

on such day. If any such day is a Disrupted Day due to the occurrence of such an event, then the Knock-out Determination 

Day shall be the first succeeding day that is not a Disrupted Day, unless each day of the Cut-off Period that starts on the 

original date that, but for the occurrence of a Disrupted Day, would have been the Knock-out Determination Day is a 

Disrupted Day. In that case, the last day of such Cut-off Period shall be deemed to be the Knock-out Determination Day, 

notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day, and the Calculation Agent shall determine the level, price or 

amount of the Knock-out Reference Asset in the same manner that it would determine a level, price or amount of a 

Fund Interest or basket on a deemed Valuation Date that is also a Disrupted Day in accordance with the provisions of 

Condition 5(l) (Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates), as the case may be. 

 (f) ñKnock-out Valuation Timeò means the time on any Knock-out Determination Day specified as such in the applicable 

Final Terms. In the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify a Knock-out Valuation Time, the Knock-out 

Valuation Time shall be the Valuation Time specified in the applicable Final Terms, or if no Valuation Time is specified, 

the close of business in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction. 

10. Automatic Early Redemption 

10.1 Consequences of the occurrence of an Automatic Early Redemption Event 

If ñAutomatic Early Redemption Eventò is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, then unless previously 

redeemed or purchased and cancelled, if on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date the Automatic Early 

Redemption Event occurs, then the Notes will be automatically redeemed in whole, but not in part, on the Automatic Early 

Redemption Date immediately following such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date and the Redemption Amount payable 
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by the Issuer on such date upon redemption of each Note shall be an amount equal to the relevant Automatic Early 

Redemption Amount. 

10.2 Definitions 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Amountò means (a) an amount in the Specified Currency (as specified in the applicable 

Final Terms) specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if such amount is not specified, (b) the product of (i) the 

denomination of each Note and (ii) the relevant Automatic Early Redemption Rate relating to that Automatic Early 

Redemption Date. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Dateò means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if such date is not 

a Currency Business Day, the next following Currency Business Day. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Eventò means (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) that the Basket 

Price is, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, (i) ñgreater thanò, (ii) ñgreater than or equal toò, (iii) ñless thanò or (iv) ñless 

than or equal toò the Automatic Early Redemption Price. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Priceò means the price per Basket specified as such or otherwise determined in the 

applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Rateò means, in respect of any Automatic Early Redemption Date, the rate specified as such 

in the applicable Final Terms. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Valuation Dateò means each date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if such 

date is not a Currency Business Day the next following Currency Business Day, subject to ñConsequences of Disrupted Day(s)ò set 

forth below. 

 ñAutomatic Early Redemption Valuation Timeò means the time on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date 

specified as such in the applicable Final Terms. In the event that the applicable Final Terms do not specify an Automatic Early 

Redemption Valuation Time, the Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Time shall be the Valuation Time specified in the 

applicable Final Terms, or if no Valuation Time is specified, the close of business in the Hypothetical Investor Jurisdiction. 

 ñBasket Priceò means, in respect of any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date, an amount for the Basket determined 

by the Calculation Agent as the sum of the values for each Fund Interest Unit comprising the Basket as the product of the Relevant 

Fund Interest Unit Price of such Fund Interest Unit and the relevant Number of Fund Interest Units comprised in the Basket in each 

case as of the Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Time on any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date. 

 ñScheduled Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Dateò means, in respect of any Fund Interest, the original date that, 

but for the occurrence of an event causing a Disrupted Day, would have been an Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date. 

10.3 Consequences of Disrupted Days 

If any Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date is a Disrupted Day, then the provisions set out in Condition 5 

(Consequences of Disrupted Days for Valuation Dates) above shall apply as if such Automatic Early Redemption Valuation Date 

was a Valuation Date. 



 

UK-3046124-v11 - 146 - 70-40523764 

 

PART 5: CREDIT -LINKED NOTES  

The terms and conditions applicable to Credit-Linked Notes shall comprise the Terms and Conditions of the Medium Term 

Notes set out in Part 1 (the "Principal Conditions") and the additional Terms and Conditions set out below (the "Credit -Linked 

Conditions"), in each case subject to completion and/or amendment in the applicable Final Terms. In the event of any 

inconsistency between the Principal Conditions and the Credit-Linked Conditions set out below, the Credit-Linked Conditions 

shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between (i) the Principal Conditions and/or the Credit-Linked Conditions and 

(ii)  the Final Terms, the Final Terms shall prevail. 

Credit -Linked Conditions 

The following terms shall supplement and amend the Principal Conditions if this Part 5 is stated to be applicable in the relevant 

Final Terms: 

1. General 

 (a) Credit Terms  

The Final Terms shall specify: 

 (i) the type of Credit-Linked Notes, being Single Reference Entity CLNs, Nth-to-Default CLNs, Linear Basket CLNs or such 

other type as may be specified in the Final Terms; 

 (ii)  the Settlement Method and, where Auction Settlement applies, the applicable Fallback Settlement Method; 

(iii)  the Reference Entity or Reference Entities in respect of which a Credit Event may occur; 

 

(iv) the Reference Obligation(s) (if any) in respect of each Reference Entity; 

 (v) the Trade Date and the Scheduled Maturity Date; 

 (vi) the Transaction Type applicable to each Reference Entity; and 

 (vii)  the Reference Entity Notional Amount in respect of each Reference Entity. 

 (b) Physical Settlement Matrix 

Where a Transaction Type is specified in the Final Terms in respect of any Reference Entity, then the provisions of these Credit-

Linked Conditions shall apply with respect to such Reference Entity in accordance with the Physical Settlement Matrix as it 

applies to such Transaction Type, as though such Physical Settlement Matrix were set out in full in the Final Terms. 

 (c) Additional Provisions 

If, in accordance with the specified Transaction Type or otherwise, any Additional Provisions are applicable, these Credit-Linked 

Conditions shall take effect subject to the provisions thereof. 

 (d) Linear Basket CLNs 

If the Credit-Linked Notes are Linear Basket CLNs, then the provisions of these Credit-Linked Conditions relating to redemption 

of Credit-Linked Notes following satisfaction of the Conditions to Settlement, extension of maturity of Credit-Linked Notes on 

delivery of an Extension Notice, cessation or suspension of accrual of interest or accrual and payment of interest following the 

Scheduled Maturity Date shall apply separately with respect to each Reference Entity and a principal amount of each Credit-

Linked Note corresponding to the Reference Entity Notional Amount divided by the number of Credit-Linked Notes then in issue.  

The remaining provisions of these Credit-Linked Conditions shall be construed accordingly. 
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2. Redemption 

 (a) Redemption absent Satisfaction of Conditions to Settlement 

The Issuer will redeem each Credit-Linked Note on the related CLN Maturity Date (as such date may be extended in accordance 

with the definition thereof) by payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal amount of such Note (or, in the case of 

Linear Basket CLNs, the relevant portion thereof) (together with interest, if any, payable thereon) unless: 

 (i) the Credit-Linked Notes have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled in full (including pursuant to Credit-

Linked Conditions  2(b) or  (c)); or 

 (ii)  the Conditions to Settlement have been satisfied, in which event the Issuer shall redeem the Credit-Linked Notes in 

accordance with Credit-Linked Condition  2(b). 

 (b) Redemption following Satisfaction of Conditions to Settlement 

Upon satisfaction of the Conditions to Settlement in relation to any Reference Entity, each Credit-Linked Note (or, in the case of 

Linear Basket CLNs, the relevant portion thereof) will be subject to redemption: 

 (i) if the applicable Settlement Method is Auction Settlement, by payment of its pro rata share of the Auction Settlement 

Amount on the Auction Settlement Date, unless a Fallback Settlement Event occurs, in which event the Issuer shall 

perform its respective payment and/or delivery obligations in accordance with the applicable Fallback Settlement Method. 

If the Conditions to Settlement with respect to a new Credit Event are satisfied following the occurrence of a Fallback 

Settlement Event with respect to a first Credit Event and no Fallback Settlement Event occurs with respect to such new 

Credit Event, the Issuer shall, if it so elects on or prior to a related Valuation Date or Delivery Date, redeem the Credit-

Linked Notes in accordance with this Credit-Linked Condition  2(b)(i) by Auction Settlement;  

 (ii)  if the applicable Settlement Method is Physical Settlement, in accordance with Credit-Linked Condition  4; and  

 

(iii)  if the applicable Settlement Method is Cash Settlement, by payment of its pro rata share of the Cash Settlement Amount 

on the Cash Settlement Date. 

Where the Notes are Nth-to-Default CLNs and the Conditions to Settlement are satisfied with respect to more than one Reference 

Entity on the same day, the Calculation Agent shall determine in its sole discretion the order in which such Conditions to 

Settlement were satisfied. 

 (c) Redemption following a Merger Event 

If this Credit-Linked Condition  2(c) is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, in the event that in the determination 

of the Calculation Agent a Merger Event has occurred, the Issuer may give notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 

13 and redeem all but not some only of the Credit-Linked Notes at the Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount (as 

specified in the applicable Final Terms) on the Merger Event Redemption Date. 

 (d) Suspension of Obligations 

If a Credit Event Resolution Request Date occurs in relation to any Reference Entity then, unless the Issuer otherwise elects by 

notice to the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders, any obligation of the Issuer to redeem any Credit-Linked Note (including 

pursuant to Credit-Linked Condition  2(b)) or pay any amount of interest which would otherwise be due thereon shall, insofar as it 

relates to the relevant Reference Entity, be and remain suspended until such time as ISDA subsequently publicly announces that 

the relevant Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has Resolved with respect to such Reference Entity:  

 (i) the matters described in sub-paragraphs  (a) and  (b) of the definition of "Credit Event Resolution Request Date"; or  

 (ii)  not to determine such matters.   
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During such suspension period, the Issuer shall not be obliged to, nor entitled to, take any action in connection with the settlement 

of the Credit-Linked Notes, in each case insofar as they relate to the relevant Reference Entity. Once ISDA has publicly announced 

that the relevant Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee has Resolved the matters set out in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, 

such suspension shall terminate and any obligations so suspended shall resume on the basis of such Resolution on the CLN 

Business Day following such public announcement by ISDA, with the Issuer having the benefit of the full day notwithstanding 

when the suspension began. Any amount of interest so suspended shall, subject always to Credit-Linked Condition  3(a), become 

due on the date determined by the Calculation Agent, in its sole discretion but not later than fifteen Business Days following such 

public announcement by ISDA. 

For the avoidance of doubt, no interest shall accrue on any payment of interest or principal which is deferred in accordance with 

this Credit-Linked Condition  2(d). 

 (e) Miscellaneous provisions relating to Redemption 

If the Credit-Linked Notes are partially redeemed, the relevant Credit-Linked Notes or, if the Credit-Linked Notes are represented 

by a Global Note, such Global Note, shall be endorsed to reflect such partial redemption.  Upon such partial redemption, the 

outstanding principal amount of each Note shall be reduced for all purposes (including accrual of interest thereon) accordingly.  

Redemption of any Credit-Linked Note in accordance with Credit-Linked Condition 2, together with payment of interest, if any, 

due thereon shall discharge all or the relevant portion of the obligations of the Issuer in relation thereto. 

Any amount payable under Credit-Linked Condition  2(b) shall be rounded downwards to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant 

currency.   

3. Interest 

 (a) Cessation of Interest Accrual 

Upon the occurrence of an Event Determination Date in respect of any Reference Entity, interest on such Credit-Linked Note (or, 

in the case of Linear Basket CLNs, the relevant portion thereof) shall cease to accrue with effect from and including either: 

(i) the Interest Payment Date immediately preceding such Event Determination Date (or, in the case of the first Interest 

Period, the Interest Commencement Date); or 

(ii)  if so specified in the Final Terms, such Event Determination Date. 

 (b) Interest following Scheduled Maturity Date 

Subject always to Credit-Linked Condition  3(a), if an Extension Notice has been given, each Credit-Linked Note (or, in the case of 

Linear Basket CLNs, the relevant portion thereof) which is outstanding following the Scheduled Maturity Date shall continue to 

bear interest from (and including) the Scheduled Maturity Date to (but excluding) the related CLN Maturity Date at a rate of 

interest equal to either: 

 (i) the rate that the Issuer would pay to an independent customer in respect of overnight deposits in the currency of the 

Credit-Linked Notes; or 

 (ii)  such other rate as shall be specified for such purpose in the Final Terms. 

 (c) Interest Payment Dates 

If the Credit-Linked Notes are redeemed pursuant to the Principal Conditions or these Credit-Linked Conditions, the Scheduled 

Maturity Date, the CLN Maturity Date (if not the Scheduled Maturity Date), the Auction Settlement Date, the Cash Settlement 

Date or the last Delivery Date, as the case may be, shall be an Interest Payment Date in respect of each Credit-Linked Note (or, in 

the case of Linear Basket CLNs, the relevant portion thereof) and the Issuer shall pay any interest that has accrued in respect of 

each Credit-Linked Note (or, as applicable thereof) on such Interest Payment Date. 
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4. Physical Settlement 

 (a) Delivery and payment 

If Physical Settlement applies to any Credit-Linked Note, then, upon the satisfaction of the related Conditions to Settlement, the 

Issuer shall, on or prior to the related Physical Settlement Date and subject to Credit-Linked Conditions  4(b),  4(c) and 4(f), redeem 

such Credit-Linked Note (or, in the case of Linear Basket CLNs, the relevant portion thereof), respectively, by: 

 (i) Delivering a pro rata share of the Deliverable Obligations specified in the related Notice of Physical Settlement; and 

 (ii)  paying such Note's pro rata portion of the related Physical Settlement Adjustment Rounding Amount. 

 (b) Partial Cash Settlement Due to Impossibility or Illegality 

If, due to an event beyond the control of the Issuer, it is impossible or illegal for the Issuer to Deliver or, due to an event beyond 

the control of the Issuer or any Noteholder, it is impossible or illegal for the Issuer or the relevant Noteholder to Deliver or accept 

Delivery of any of the Deliverable Obligations specified in a Notice of Physical Settlement on the related Physical Settlement 

Date, then on such date the Issuer shall Deliver any of the Deliverable Obligations specified in the Notice of Physical Settlement 

for which it is possible and legal to take Delivery.  If any Undeliverable Obligations have not been delivered on or prior to the 

Latest Permissible Physical Settlement Date, then Partial Cash Settlement shall apply with respect to such Undeliverable 

Obligations and, accordingly, the Issuer shall pay the Noteholders an amount equal to the Partial Cash Settlement Amount to be 

apportioned pro rata amongst the Noteholders on the Partial Cash Settlement Date. 

 (c) Non-Delivery of Deliverable Obligations 

If the Issuer does not Deliver any Deliverable Obligation specified in a Notice of Physical Settlement other than as a result of an 

event or circumstance contemplated in Credit-Linked Condition  4(b) above (including following the occurrence of a Hedge 

Disruption Event), such failure shall not constitute an Event of Default for the purpose of the Notes and the Issuer may continue to 

attempt to Deliver the Deliverable Obligations that are Bonds or Loans until the Extended Physical Settlement Date.  

If, as at the relevant Extended Physical Settlement Date, any such Deliverable Obligations have not been Delivered, then Partial 

Cash Settlement shall apply with respect to such Deliverable Obligations and the Issuer shall pay to the Noteholders an amount 

equal to the Partial Cash Settlement Amount to be apportioned pro rata amongst the Noteholders on the Partial Cash Settlement 

Date. 

 (d) Aggregation and Rounding 

Where a Noteholder holds Credit-Linked Notes in an aggregate nominal amount greater than the Specified Denomination, the 

Outstanding Principal Balance of the Deliverable Obligations to be Delivered in respect of the Credit-Linked Notes shall be 

aggregated for the purposes of this Credit-Linked Condition 4.  If the nominal amount of the Deliverable Obligations to be 

Delivered in respect of each Credit-Linked Note to be redeemed pursuant to this Credit-Linked Condition  4(d) on any occasion is 

not equal to an authorised denomination (or integral multiple thereof) of such Deliverable Obligations then the nominal amount of 

Deliverable Obligations to be Delivered will be rounded down to the nearest authorised denomination or multiple thereof, or, if 

none, to zero. In such circumstances, the Deliverable Obligations that were not capable of being Delivered shall, if and to the 

extent practicable, be sold by the Issuer or such other agent as may be appointed by the Issuer for such purpose and, if they are so 

sold, the Issuer shall make payment in respect of each Credit-Linked Note in an amount equal to its pro rata share of the related net 

sale proceeds as soon as reasonably practicable following receipt thereof. 

 (e) Delivery and Fees 

The Delivery of any of the Deliverable Obligations pursuant to the provisions of this Credit-Linked Condition  4 shall be made in 

such commercially reasonable manner as the Issuer shall, in its sole discretion, determine to be appropriate for such Delivery. 

Subject as set out in the definition of "Deliver":  
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 (i) any recordation, processing or similar fee reasonably incurred by the Issuer and/or any of its affiliates and payable to the 

agent under a Loan in connection with an assignment (where Deliverable Obligations include Assignable Loans or 

Consent Required Loans) shall be payable by the relevant Noteholders, and if any stamp tax is payable in connection with 

the Delivery of any Deliverable Obligations, payment thereof shall be made by the relevant Noteholders; and  

 (ii)  any other expenses arising from the Delivery and/or transfer of the Deliverable Obligations shall be for the account of the 

Noteholders or the Issuer, as appropriate, determined in accordance with then current market conventions.  

Delivery and/or transfer of the Deliverable Obligations shall be delayed until all expenses relating to such Delivery or transfer 

payable by the Noteholders have been paid to the satisfaction of the Issuer.  

 (f) Physical Delivery and Asset Transfer Notices 

A Noteholder will not be entitled to any of the amounts or assets specified as being due to it in this Credit-Linked Condition 4(f) 

upon the satisfaction of the Conditions to Settlement unless it has presented or surrendered (as is appropriate) the relevant Credit-

Linked Note and delivered an Asset Transfer Notice in accordance with the provisions set out below. For so long as the Credit-

Linked Notes are held in any clearing system, any communication from such clearing system on behalf of the Noteholder 

containing the information required in an Asset Transfer Notice will be treated as an Asset Transfer Notice. For as long as Bearer 

Notes are represented by a Global Note, surrender of Credit-Linked Notes for such purpose will be effected by presentation of the 

Global Note and its endorsement to note the principal amount of Credit-Linked Notes to which the relevant Asset Transfer Notice 

relates. 

 (i)  Asset Transfer Notices 

In relation to Credit-Linked Notes to which Physical Settlement applies (including as Fallback Settlement Method) which are to be 

redeemed by Delivery of their pro rata share of the Deliverable Obligations, in order to obtain Delivery of such Deliverable 

Obligations in respect of any Credit-Linked Note, the relevant Noteholder must: 

 (X) if such Credit-Linked Note is represented by a Global Note, the relevant Noteholder must deliver to Euroclear or 

Clearstream, Luxembourg (as applicable), with a copy to the Principal Paying Agent and any entity appointed by the Issuer to 

Deliver, as the case may be, the Entitlement on its behalf (the "Delivery Agent") not later than the close of business in each place 

of reception on the Cut-Off Date, a duly completed Asset Transfer Notice in the form set out in the Agency Agreement; and 

 

(Y) if such Credit-Linked Note is in definitive form, the relevant Noteholder must deliver (i) if this Credit-Linked Note is a 

Bearer Note, to any Paying Agent or (ii) if this Credit-Linked Note is a Registered Note, to the Registrar or any Paying Agent, in 

each case, with a copy to the Principal Paying Agent and the Delivery Agent (as defined above) not later than the close of business 

in each place of reception on the Cut-Off Date, a duly completed Asset Transfer Notice in the form set out in the Agency 

Agreement. 

For the purposes hereof, "Cut-off Date" means the date specified as such in the applicable Final Terms or, if not so specified, the 

first Business Day immediately preceding the Physical Settlement Date. 

Copies of the Asset Transfer Notice may be obtained during normal business hours from the specified office of the Registrar or any 

Paying Agent. 

An Asset Transfer Notice may only be delivered (i) if such Credit-Linked Note is represented by a Global Note, in such manner as 

is acceptable to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, or (ii) if such Credit-Linked Note is in definitive form, 

in writing. 

If a Credit-Linked Note is in definitive form, such Credit-Linked Note must be delivered together with the duly completed Asset 

Transfer Notice.  In the event that delivery of a Credit-Linked Note or, if applicable, a Deliverable Obligation in physical form is 

restricted or prohibited in any jurisdiction, alternative arrangements will be made and communicated to the relevant Noteholder at 

the relevant time for delivery of such Credit-Linked Note by, or such Deliverable Obligation to, such Noteholder. 
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"Asset Transfer Notice" means a notice which shall: 

 (i) specify the name, address and contact telephone number of the relevant Noteholder and the person from whom the Issuer 

or Delivery Agent may obtain details for the delivery or Delivery of the Deliverable Obligations; 

 (ii)  specify the series number of the Credit-Linked Notes and the number of Credit-Linked Notes which are the subject of 

such notice; 

 (iii)  in the case of Credit-Linked Notes represented by a Global Note, specify the nominal amount of Credit-Linked Notes 

which are the subject of such notice and the number of the Noteholder's account at the relevant clearing system to be 

debited with such Credit-Linked Notes and irrevocably instruct and authorise the relevant clearing system to debit the 

relevant Noteholder's account with such Credit-Linked Notes on or before the Physical Settlement Date; 

 (iv) include an undertaking to pay all expenses including stamp duty, stamp duty reserve tax and/or other costs, duties or taxes 

(the "Expenses") and, in the case of Credit-Linked Notes represented by a Global Note, an authority to the relevant 

clearing system to debit a specified account of the Noteholder with the relevant clearing system in respect thereof and to 

pay such Expenses; 

 (v) include such details as are required for Delivery of the Deliverable Obligations which may include account details and/or 

the name and address of any person(s) into whose name evidence of the Deliverable Obligations is to be registered and/or 

any bank, broker or agent to whom documents evidencing the Deliverable Obligations are to be Delivered and specify the 

name and number of the Noteholder's account to be credited with any cash payable by the Issuer, including pursuant to 

Credit-Linked Condition 4; 

 (vi) certify that the beneficial owner of each Credit-Linked Note is not a U.S. person (as defined in the Asset Transfer Notice), 

the Credit-Linked Note is not being redeemed within the United States or on behalf of a U.S. person and no cash, 

securities or other property have been or will be delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, a 

U.S. person in connection with any redemption thereof;  

(vii)  authorise the production of such certification in any applicable administrative or legal proceedings, 

all as provided in the Agency Agreement. 

 (2) Verification of the Noteholder 

In the case of Credit-Linked Notes represented by a Global Note, upon receipt of an Asset Transfer Notice, the relevant clearing 

system shall verify that the person delivering the Asset Transfer Notice is the holder of the Credit-Linked Notes described therein 

according to its records. Subject thereto, the relevant clearing system will confirm to the Principal Paying Agent the series number 

and number of Credit-Linked Notes the subject of such notice, the relevant account details and the details for the delivery of the 

Deliverable Obligations in respect of each Credit-Linked Note. Upon receipt of such confirmation, the Principal Paying Agent will 

inform the Issuer and any Delivery Agent thereof. The relevant clearing system will on or before the Settlement Date debit the 

securities account of the relevant Noteholder with the relevant Credit-Linked Notes. 

 (3) Determinations and Delivery 

Any determination as to whether an Asset Transfer Notice is duly completed and in proper form shall be made, in the case of 

Credit-Linked Notes represented by a Global Note, by the relevant clearing system or, in the case of Credit-Linked Notes in 

definitive form, by the relevant Paying Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, or in each case in consultation with the Principal 

Paying Agent, and shall be conclusive and binding on the Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Principal Paying Agent(s), any 

Delivery Agent and the relevant Noteholder. Subject as set out below, any Asset Transfer Notice so determined to be incomplete or 

not in proper form, or which is not copied to the Principal Paying Agent and any Delivery Agent immediately after being delivered 

or sent as provided in paragraph (i) above, shall be null and void. 

If such Asset Transfer Notice is subsequently corrected to the satisfaction of, in the case of Credit-Linked Notes represented by a 

Global Note, the relevant clearing system, or, in the case of Credit-Linked Notes in definitive form, by the relevant Paying Agent 
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or the Registrar, as the case may be, or in each case in consultation with the Principal Paying Agent, it shall be deemed to be a new 

Asset Transfer Notice submitted at the time such correction was delivered as provided above. 

No Asset Transfer Notice may be withdrawn after receipt thereof by the relevant clearing system, the Registrar or a Paying Agent, 

as the case may be, as provided above. After delivery of an Asset Transfer Notice, the relevant Noteholder may not transfer the 

Credit-Linked Notes which are the subject of such notice. 

The Deliverable Obligations will be Delivered at the risk of the relevant Noteholder, in the manner provided below on the Physical 

Settlement Date, provided that the Asset Transfer Notice is duly delivered as provided above on or prior to the Cut-Off Date. 

If a Noteholder fails to give an Asset Transfer Notice as provided herein with a copy to the Principal Paying Agent and the 

Delivery Agent, on or prior to the Cut-Off Date, then the Deliverable Obligations will be Delivered as soon as practicable after the 

date fixed for redemption (in which case, such date of delivery shall be the Physical Settlement Date) at the risk of such Noteholder 

in the manner provided below. For the avoidance of doubt, in such circumstances such Noteholder shall not be entitled to any 

payment, whether of interest or otherwise, as a result of such delivery date falling after the originally designated Physical 

Settlement Date and no liability in respect thereof shall attach to the Issuer or the Guarantor (if applicable), if any. 

The Issuer (or any Delivery Agent on its behalf) shall, at the risk of the relevant Noteholder, Deliver the Deliverable Obligations in 

such commercially reasonable manner as the Calculation Agent shall in its sole discretion determine and notify to the person 

designated by the Noteholder in the relevant Asset Transfer Notice or in such manner as is specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

All Expenses arising from the Delivery of the Deliverable Obligations in respect of such Credit-Linked Notes shall be for the 

account of the relevant Noteholder and no Delivery of Deliverable Obligations shall be made until all Expenses have been paid to 

the satisfaction of the Issuer by the relevant Noteholder. 

 (4) General 

For such period of time after Delivery of Deliverable Obligations as the Issuer or any person acting on behalf of the Issuer shall 

continue to be the legal owner of such Deliverable Obligations (the "Intervening Period"), none of the Issuer, the Guarantor (if 

applicable), the Paying Agents, the Registrar, any Delivery Agent or any other person shall at any time (i) be under any obligation 

to deliver or procure delivery to any Noteholder any letter, certificate, notice, circular or any other document or, except as provided 

herein, payment whatsoever received by that person in respect of such Deliverable Obligations, (ii) be under any obligation to 

exercise or procure exercise of any or all rights attaching to such Deliverable Obligations or (iii) be under any liability to a 

Noteholder in respect of any loss or damage which such Noteholder may sustain or suffer as a result, whether directly or indirectly, 

of that person being registered during such Intervening Period as legal owner of such Deliverable Obligations. 

5. Provisions relating to Obligation Category and Characteristics and Deliverable Obligation Category and 

Characteristics 

 (a) Obligation Characteristics 

If the Obligation Characteristic "Listed" is specified in the applicable Final Terms or is applicable in respect of the applicable 

Transaction Type, the Final Terms shall be construed as though Listed had been specified as an Obligation Characteristic only with 

respect to Bonds and shall only be relevant if Bonds are covered by the selected Obligation Category. 

 (b) Deliverable Obligation Category and Characteristics 

If:  

 (i) either of the Deliverable Obligation Characteristics "Listed" or "Not Bearer" is specified in the applicable Final Terms or 

is applicable in respect of the applicable Transaction Type, the Final Terms shall be construed as though such Deliverable 

Obligation Characteristic had been specified as a Deliverable Obligation Characteristic only with respect to Bonds and 

shall only be relevant if Bonds are covered by the selected Deliverable Obligation Category;  

 (ii)  the Deliverable Obligation Characteristic "Transferable" is specified in the applicable Final Terms or is applicable in 

respect of the applicable Transaction Type, the Final Terms shall be construed as though such Deliverable Obligation 




